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Hearing Before the United 
States Commission on Civil 
Rights 

Enforcement of the Indian 
Civil Rights Act 

Flagstaff, Arizona, July 20, 1988 

The United States Commission on Civil Rights hearing on enforcement 
of the Indian Civil Rights Act convened at 9:10 a.m. in the 100 North 
Banquet Room of the Monte Vista Hotel in Flagstaff, Arizona, William B. 
Allen, Subcommittee Chairman, presiding. 

Present: William B. Allen, Commissioner and Subcommittee Chairman; 
Robert A. Destro, Commissioner; Susan J. Prado, Acting Staff Director; 
William J. Howard, Gen.era! Counsel; Brian D. Miller, Deputy General 
Counsel; Susan T. Muskett and Kerry L. Morgan, attorney-advisors. 

Proceedings 

Morning Session 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Good morning. I apologize if we 

are a few moments late in starting, but we are now ready to begin. This 
hearing is convened. 

I am William Allen, chairman of the Commission's subcommittee on 
enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act of 1968. 

Joining· me today is Commissioner Robert A. Destro, the other member 
of the subcommittee. 

Also here beside me are Acting Director Susan J. Prado, General 
Counsel William J. Howard, Deputy General Counsel Brian D. Miller, and 
staff counsel Susan T. Muskett and Kerry L. Morgan. 

The purpose of this hearing, like the four that preceded it, is to examine 
enforcement of the ICRA in the wake of the 1978 Supreme Court decision, 
Santa Clara Pueblo v. Martinez, a decision which held that, with th~ 
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exception of the writs of habeas corpus, provisions of the ICRA were 
enforceable only in tribal forums and no longer in the Federal courts. 

A critical part of the Court's reasoning was that "tribal forums are 
available to vindicate rights created by the ICRA." Put simply, the 
question this subcommittee has been examining is whether the Court's 
assumption is true. 

Our Declaration of Independence observes that legitimate governments 
are formed and organized in order to secure the rights of men and women. 
That precept should not be considered peculiar to the Federal or State 
governments. Rather, it is a standard maxim by which all governments are 
to be judged, including, of course, tribal governments. 

We are going to hear from five panels today. The first two panels will 
focus on the ICRA and the matter of baby girl Keetso. 

Then we will break for lunch at 12 noon and return at 1 p.m. for panels 
on the independence of the judiciary and enforcement of the ICRA at the 
Navajo and the Hopi Nations. Another panel will follow, focusing on the 
matter of Michelle Rae Dawn Baier and the ICRA. 

To conclude our hearing, we will have an open session at the end of the 
program, which should be approximately 4 p.m. If anyone wishes to speak 
during the open session, please give your name to our clerk. 

The record of this hearing will remain open for 30 days. 
Let me also say that our procedure here is that following your 

testimony, the initial round of questioning will come from Commission 
staff. Then the Commissioners will join in. 

I will add further that we have provided interpreters for anyone who 
may be hearing impaired. If you will indicate by raising your hand at this 
point whether you require such a service, we would be delighted to know 
that so that our interpreters will know whether to continue or to relax until 
a later time. 

Now, with that, I turn to Commissioner Destro to ask whether he has 
any opening remarks. Bob. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Thank you. 
I only have a couple of opening remarks. One is to underscore for 

everyone present that the intention here is to look into the enforcement of 
the Indian Civil Rights Act, which is a provision of Federal law designed 
to protect the interests of all Americans, whether or not they live on 
reservations. It's one that comes to us as a benefit of our citizenship in the 
United States. 

The second is related to the first, and that is that we are not here today 
primarily to look into Indian Child Welfare Act administration. What we 
are looking at is whether or not the Indian Child Welfare Act is 
administered in a manner consistent with the Indian Civil Rights Act. 

The same thing is true with respect to the matters involving the Navajo 
Nation, and I want to underscore emphatically that the Commission has no 
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interest whatsoever in the ongoing political struggles between factions 
within the Navajo Nation. That is something related to Navajo tribal 
sovereignty, which we duly respect and understand. Our only interest in 
this area is to find out whether or not the judiciary of the Navajo Nation is 
independent. 

So with that I will turn the matter back to the chairman. Thank you for 
your attention. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
I will now swear in the first panel, and I shall swear you in collectively. 

I shall administer the oath and you may respond severally "Yes." As you 
begin your testimony, I will ask you to identify yourself for the record 
indicating your name and your address. 

[Patricia Keetso, Howard Keetso, Susie Keetso, Rick Pitts, Cheryl Pitts, 
and Michael Nelson were sworn.] 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Mr. Howard. 
MR. HOWARD. Thank you, Commissioner Allen. 
We would like to begin this morning with Mr. Rick Pitts and Cheryl 

Pitts. I understand Mr. Pitts has a few remarks that he would like to deliver 
that would give us, in very broad scope, the sequence of events concerning 
the baby girl Keetso case. Mr. Pitts. 

TESTIMONY OF RICK PITIS AND CHERYL PITIS, 
TEMPORARY GUARDIANS 

MR. Pms. Well, in brief, my wife and I started in March of '87, and we 
contacted some attorneys that specialized in adoption, particularly out-of­
State adoption. They told us they had been contacted by a girl of Indian 
descent and [asked if we] would be interested in an Indian child. We said 
we were interested in any child. 

So they put us in contact with Patricia, and she came to California. She 
arrived in May, and she lived with us until the baby was born in July. Then 
she stayed with my parents for approximately a month after the baby was 
born. 

Then she went on back to Utah, and we proceeded through State courts 
to finalize our adoption, like we were under the impression that was the 
proper way to go. In January of 1988 we found out that the Navajo Nation 
was intervening in our case, and that was really the first time that we knew 
that there could possibly be any problems. 

In April we went to court. We had one court hearing in February, the 
25th of February, which was continued to April. In April, on April 11 we 
went to court in Santa Clara County, and at this hearing the jurisdiction 
was gained by the Navajo Nation. 

At that time they requested custody of the child, and we were rather 
drawn back at that. We had not been prepared to give custody of the child 
at that time. We found that there was a custody order issued in January by 
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a tribal court that we had never been allowed the opportunity to respond 
to. 

MR. HOWARD. Did you know about that? 
MR. PITTS. No, we did not know of the custody order at that time. 
MR. HowARD. Did your attorney know about that? 
MR. PITTS. It has come to my attention that he did know of that. We had 

not been informed of it though. 
MR. HowARD. Is it your understanding that the Navajo Nation had 

given notice of that order to your attorney? 
MR. PITTS. Yes. 
MR. HowARD. But not to you? 
MR. PITTS. Yes. So the judge in California ordered that the child be 

turned over immediately, and fortunately, an Assistant Attorney General 
for the State of California was there and said that, in her opinion, it would 
be detrimental to turn the child over immediately. So the judge gave us 4 
days. He gave us until the 14th of April. 

He ordered the turnover time at noon, and for Allyssa's sake we tried to 
arrange things with the Navajo representatives to make the exchange as 
easy on Allyssa as possible. My wife and Patricia would accompany the 
natural grandmother and the representatives of the nation to Arizona, 
where they would care for Allyssa until such time that a hearing would be 
scheduled. 

That ended up not being the case, because we were not allowed to go on 
the flight that was agreed upon. It came to our attention at the airport in 
San Jose. Quite by accident, we found out they were taking her on a flight 
immediately, instead of the agreed-upon flight which was 3 hours later. 

MR. HowARD. You say agreed-upon flight. Who was involved in that 
agreement? 

MR. PITTS. I was called by our attorney in California, Steve Ravel. He 
told me on the phone that we needed to make arrangements with the 
Navajo representatives and would I please call the airlines and see what 
kind of flight arrangements were available. 

So I did that. I called and I found that there was a flight at 12:15, that 
there was seating available for all parties involved from San Jose to 
Phoenix, but that the connecting flight from Phoenix to Flagstaff didn't 
have enough room. So I made arrangements with the airlines that there 
was space available for everybody on the 3:40 flight. So I called him back 
and said this is what is available with the airlines. He said, "Let me call 
Patrick Gillory, the Navajos' attorney, and I'll call you back." 

Approximately 30 minutes later, he called back and said that he had 
talked to Gillory, he had talked with Delores Greyeyes and with Louise 
Grant, and that those arrangements were satisfactory. So, with that in 
mind, we planned to all leave at 3:40 from San Jose. 
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So at n<f)n when we turned over the child, they had planned to go on 
the 12:15 flight. There was a stalemate at the airport, and in brief, I refused 
to turn the child over at the airport. So the airlines arranged seating for 
Cheryl and Patricia, and they accompanied them to Phoenix. 

In Phoenix, instead of catching a connecting flight to Flagstaff, the 
Navajo representatives took Allyssa and jumped into a van and sped off, 
leaving Patricia and Cheryl standing in the airport wondering what was 
going on. So I think everything is history from there. 

MR. HowARD. If I could go back to the order of the California court. As 
I understand that order, the California court ordered that the Navajo 
Nation has jurisdiction. 

MR. PITTS. Yes. 
MR. HOWARD. Exclusive jurisdiction based on a finding that Patricia 

was domiciled on the reservation; is that correct? 
MR. PITTS. Yes. 
MR. HowARD. And pursuant to that finding they ordered that the child 

Allyssa be transferred to Delores Greyeyes as a representative of the 
Navajo Nation; is that correct? 

MR. PITTS. That's right. 
MR. HowARD. Why didn't Patricia Keetso as the biological mother of 

the child have custody awarded to her? That isn't clear to me. 
MR. PITTS. That was very unclear to us also. We attempted to go back 

to Judge Nichols in California. After he had awarded custody, we went 
back and we withdrew our petition for adoption. We attempted to invoke a 
section of the Indian Child Welfare Act that gives Patricia the right to 
reclaim the child anytime for any reason prior to the entering of a final 
decree of adoption, and the judge refused to listen. He just said, "My order 
stands." 

We told him that the allegations in the custody order that was handed in 
January by the tribal court were incorrect. For what they were, there 
really were no allegations because there was no allegation of neglect or 
abuse of the child, which even the Navajo Children's Code mandates that 
there be some form of police report or some conclusive evidence of 
neglect or abuse of a child before a custody order can be given. There was 
none, and we were not ever afforded the opportunity to respond to that 
order. 

The judge in California said, "If the custody order is wrong, then let 
them handle it in their own court." He said, "My order stands and the 
child must be turned over at noon on Thursday or I will hold Patricia," 
myself, and my wife in violation of the Parent-Child Kidnapping Act. 

MR. HowARD. And he included Patricia in that statement to you, even 
though she was the mother of the child? 

MR. PITTS. Yes, he did. 
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MR. HOWARD. Going back to the January 28 order of the Navajo court, 
who was present at that proceeding? 

MR. PITTS. I have no idea. 
MR. HowARD. You hadn't been advised ofit, obviously, and you didn't 

learn about it until a few months later. 
MR. PITTS. The only people present at that proceeding, I believe, were 

representatives of the social department of the Navajo Nation. 
MR. HOWARD. Was Patricia there? 
MR. PITIS. No. Patricia was in Utah, living in Utah at that time. So that 

order was never sent to her in Utah, and the order was never sent to us. It 
has come to my attention that-I believe that order was sent to our 
attorney, but still was never shown to us, and it was never presented to us 
in the respect that the nation is going to try and take the child away. We 
were never under that impression. 

MR. HowARD. Cheryl, did you want to comment? 
MRS. PITIS. He has pretty much said it all. 
MR. HowARD. Then, if I could direct a question or two to Patricia 

Keetso, inasmuch as your domicile was very much in issue. Could you tell 
us briefly where you lived since grade school? 

TESTIMONY OF PATRICIA KEETSO, BIOLOGICAL MOTHER 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. I was raised on the reservation as a young child 

until I got into fifth grade. That is when I went on the Indian placement 
program which was run by the LDS, the Mormons. So when I got into 
fifth grade, I went to school in California, and I stayed there until I 
graduated. I would come back and forth during the summer to visit my 
parents. I always came back during the summer and spent summers with 
my parents. I also had sisters and brothers that were on the placement too. 

But I did know a lot about my culture and language and everything else. 
After I graduated from high school, I went straight to Brigham Young 
University. I stayed there. I lived in Utah, but still continued to visit my 
parents from there. 

Then it was September of 1985, I think it was, that's when I moved to 
Los Angeles because I had some friends living there. I stayed there until­
it was like almost a year, until the following summer in '86 when I returned 
to my parents to visit them. 

MR. HowARD. And how long was that visit? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. I had come home to visit with my parents for a 

week because I used to carpool back and forth with friends of mine. 
MR. HOWARD. I see. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. That's about the time when Allyssa was 

conceived. My intention was to go back to work in Los Angeles, but after 
I discovered my pregnancy, my whole plans changed. I knew I had to 
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make some serious decisions about how I'm going to deal with my baby 
and how to take care of it. 

So I talked to several people at the hospital-the midwives, a couple of 
them, but I never told anyone about my pregnancy, even my parents or 
anybody else. I looked into different adoptions. • 

I thought, you know-being a young mother, I realized I couldn't take 
the responsibility of a child because I had my goals to accomplish, and I 
wanted what was best for my baby. 

MR. HOWARD. Yes. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. So I went about looking into adoptions in 

different places, but for some reason Ravel and Latch came through. 
MR. HOWARD. How did you learn of Ravel and Latch; that is the law 

firm that-
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. It was in the newspaper. 
MR. HowARD. Which newspaper? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. There was an ad in the newspaper. It was in the 

Navajo-Hopi Observer newspaper. 
MR. HOWARD. I see, and where were you living at that time? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. I was visiting my parents during that time. I was 

in Tuba City. I have some friends in Tuba City too. 
So one day I just picked up the papers, and I saw the adoption ads listed. 

So I kept the article for several weeks before I wrote to them just to check 
it out, and they responded right away. Then I wrote to them again and 
then we started communicating. That's how I learned about Rick and 
Cheryl. Then I told the lawyer over there in San Jose that I wanted to 
meet this couple that were going to take my baby. 

MR. HowARD. You told whom, I'm sorry? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Steve Ravel, that's the adoption lawyer, and I 

guess he talked to Rick and Cheryl, and they agreed to it because I wanted 
to know what this couple was like, just to learn their family background 
and just to basically learn about them. 

I was flown up there in May; I think it was May 24. I flew up there, but I 
had never met Rick and Cheryl before, and I had no idea what they looked 
like. They picked me up from the airport, and we went back to their home. 
They said they had found a place for me to stay. We went out to dinner 
that night, and I immediately fell in love with them. They were just 
wonderful. I ended up staying in their home, and I stayed there until I had 
Allyssa, which was just a year ago on July 20 of '87. 

MR. HOWARD. One year ago today. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Yes, a year ago today. 
MR. HowARD. So how long had you lived with Rick and Cheryl prior 

to giving birth to Allyssa? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. It was like 2 months and a half, wasn't it? 
MR. PITTS. Yes. May 26 to July 20. 
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Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Yes, May 26 through July 20. 
MR. HowARD. All right. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. And after I had Allyssa, I went over and stayed 

with Rick's parents. They also live in San Jose. But we still got together, 
and I went over there to visit them and the baby. I stayed there for about a 
month, and I came back. I was really concerned about my parents' 
feelings. My intention was to go down to LA again, like I had planned 
before, but my worries were full of my mom because I wanted my mom to 
understand my decision about what I went through. 

I wanted to be there just to comfort her and just to be by her side, and I 
ended up staying there with my parents until December of last year. Then, 
finally, in January I went back to Utah, hoping to go back to school at 
Brigham Young, but somehow my scholarship didn't go through. So I just 
worked. 

It was in March-I talked off and on with Cheryl and exchanged letters 
and pictures and words just to say hi and to see how things were going. 
Then one day Cheryl asked me if I wanted to visit them, and I said I would 
like that. So they made arrangements for me to go out to San Jose, and I 
went out there just to visit for a week. It was like a week. It was supposed 
to be a week. 

It was that time that they were going to go to a hearing with the social 
department, which was-what day was that? 

MR. PITTS. That was April 11. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. April 11, and I didn't see any problems. I didn't 

expect this to happen, and I just wanted to know what the outcome of it 
would be. So I stayed for that, and Rick told you everything from there, 
and I ended up staying there. 

MR. HowARD. Rick, could you walk us through the adoption proceed­
ing in California in a little greater detail? At what point did you initiate the 
adoption proceeding in the State of California? 

MR. PITTS. I'm not sure I understand your question. At what point? 
MR. HowARD. The Ravel firm had arranged to introduce Patricia to 

you. At what point did you then go into court to attempt to adopt Allyssa? 
MR. PITTS. Well, our petition for adoption was filed the day after she 

was born. That would be the 21st of July, '87. 
We really never went into court until February 25. We were told that 

we didn't have to go to court to file the adoption. The only time we would 
have to go is when the final consents were signed, and that would be 6 or 7 
months after the child was born. 

That never happened because 7 months after she was born we were 
notified that the tribe was going to intervene. So that is when the case, 
instead of adoption, it tun1ed into a jurisdictional case. When we appeared 
in court on February 25, it was the first time. 
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Everything as far as the adoption goes was handled through the social 
department of California. They did all the proper home studies the week 
after Allyssa was born, and I assume that they filed and filled out all the 
proper forms. 

We also notified the tribe of the pending adoption. We were under the 
impression that that [notification] was a requirement of the Indian Welfare 
Act, that anytime an Indian child is up for adoption the tribe be notified. 
So we did try to comply with the Indian Child Welfare Act to the best of 
our ability. 

MR. HOWARD. When did you attempt to give them notice? 
MR. PITTS. We gave them notice-I think it was about 10 days after 

Allyssa was born. Our understanding was that they had approximately 15 
days to respond to our notification. So after 6 months and we hadn't heard 
a word, we assumed that there wasn't going to be any problems. 

MR. HowARD. Patricia, did you receive any letters or telephone calls 
from the Navajo Nation attempting to persuade you that you should not 
place the child up for adoption? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. No. When I first decided on the adoption for my 
baby, I didn't think there was going to be any problems because Rick, he is 
not an Anglo; and another thing is she is not-her nationality, she is not 
full Navajo. So I didn't think there would be any problems. 

Also, there were some agreements between my family and Rick and 
Cheryl. Before she was even born, we had intended for her to visit the 
reservation so that she can always know about her culture and her 
background and her family. Those were our plans. I thought if there was 
agreement [on this point], there wouldn't be any problems. 

I had no idea this was going to happen. It just happened like overnight 
and it was a shock. As far as I am concerned, we were doing what was 
right, and we were willing to go through the Navajo courts if they wanted 
us to do that, but there was no communication there, especially from the 
San Jose Airport. 

MR. HowARD. But while you were in Utah, it is my understanding that 
you did receive telephone calls; is that correct? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. That all started in February. 
MR. HowARD. February of? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. I can't remember the exact date. 
MR. HowARD. Of '87? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETS0. Yes, this past year. It was in February. 
MR. HOWARD. '88? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. I received a phone call from a social worker, 

Delores Greyeyes, and she called off and on, and I told her what happened 
and what I had been through and my decision and how I went about it. 

It was in March, or I think it was the end of February, that I went home, 
and that is when my mom told me that there was a social worker that 
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comes around and just bothers them that she didn't like, and that she was 
pressuring them to have her grandchild-

MR. NASH. Mr. Chairman, excuse me for speaking out or order, but if I 
may address the Chairman? 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. No, you may not. You might, 
however, speak to staff and indicate who you are. Would one of the 
Commission's counsel like to meet with the gentleman? 

Please don't interrupt the testimony. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. So, anyways, she started calling, and I was nice. 

The way she came out was she was a very nice person, and I told her how 
I felt and my main concern was my parents, my parents' feelings, too. But 
when she pressured my parents like that, I wasn't very pleased with that, 
and I knew there was something behind it when she was pressuring my 
parents, especially telling them that if they didn't cooperate with her, with 
the social department, that there is a possibility that they might go to jail. 

I thought that was kind of wrong, and I thought, why is she stating that? 
And I just told my parents, "Don't worry about it." But it continued and it 
got really heavy, just talking to my mom and exchanging letters and stuff. I 
knew they were up to something, and I got really worried. 

One day she called, and that was the last time I heard from her. I guess 
she went out searching for who the father was. Nobody knows who the 
father is. And she must have talked to several people. She contacted this 
guy, a friend of mine that I knew, and he called me. He said, "I have this 
social worker who is on my tail and I want to know what is going on. She 
is stating to me that I have a child in California, and what's going on?" 
That's when I told him, "There is nothing; it's none of your business and 
this is my life, you know, and just don't worry about it," and that is the last 
time I've heard from him. 

That is when I told Delores Greyeyes never to call me again, that I 
didn't appreciate the things she was doing. There was a lot of pressure 
there. That was the last time I heard from her, and I just told her, "I won't 
take any more of your calls; I don't appreciate what you're doing." That 
was it. 

MR. HowARD. Susie Keetso, I wonder if I could ask you for your 
version of the events that Patricia has just related to us. 

TESTIMONY OF SUSIE KEETSO, BIOLOGICAL 
GRANDMOTHER 

Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. Delores Greyeyes, she came to visit me starting 
from March. She was pressuring me to get Allyssa back from California, 
but at that time I didn't even know what was going on, you know. I just 
talked with her. She comes around everytime, and she asked me a lot of 
questions, and then I just told her it's up to my daughter; that's her baby. 
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And she pressed me around and she wants me to go to the jail, and I got 
scared. 

MR. HowARD. Tell me more about that. What did she say to you about 
that? 

Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. She says she wants to have Allyssa back to Arizona. 
MR. HOWARD. Yes. 
Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. And she told me that if I don't want the grandchild 

back, then she just wanted to give it to someone else that is Navajo. And 
after that, about four times when she came around again, she says she 
wants to take me to San Jose with them to the court, and I went with them 
over to San Jose. We left from here on April the 10th on Sunday. I have 
never been in the airplane before and I got scared, and I was there and 
spent the night with them. I don't even know what was going on really. 

The next day we went to the court, and they don't want me in the court. 
I just stayed out and I didn't go into the court. They didn't tell me what 
was going on and what they had been saying. I would like to visit with my 
daughter and Cheryl and Pitts, but they don't want me to be with them. So 
I got away from them to stay with Delores and the other lady in the motel 
and stayed there for 4 days. 

We left on Thursday with Allyssa, and Pitts and Cheryl and my 
daughter, they got on the plane with us. They were sitting in the front of 
us, and those ladies, they didn't want to look at them, you know. I said, 
"Let's talk with them," and they don't want to talk with them, and they 
wanted to sit in the back. So we moved way in the back of the plane. 

We get up at Phoenix and I said, "Let's talk with them,'' you know, and 
the way she said she doesn't want to see Cheryl and Pitts .in the face. We 
got off the plane, and she grabbed the baby and she just ran off. I was 
trying to catch them but, you know, I was scared to grab them, and I just 
stopped there. My daughter just pushed me and said, "Follow them, 
follow the baby," and I just took off and ran, and we went into the van 
with them. 

We went to one of Delores Greyeyes' brothers' house, and we stayed 
there. We left from there at 5:30 in the evening, and we came back around 
about 9:30 here in Flagstaff-we spent in the motel. There are some ladies 
that came around from Window Rock, and we spent the night with them, 
and we left the next morning, on Friday morning, and I thought I was 
going to take Allyssa home at that time. 

We just stopped in Tuba City, and they just took the baby away from me 
and they said they are going to keep the baby, and I just went back by 
myself to Red Lake. Then the next day I came around again to Tuba City, 
and Cheryl and Pitts and my daughter was there and they were looking for 
the baby, and we couldn't find the baby at that time, and we just stayed at 
one of our friend's house. 
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Then on Sunday morning I was going to look for the baby in the low­
rent housing. There is some low-rent housing in Tuba City, and I was 
looking around and looked everywhere. I know I can recognize the voice 
of the baby. It was crying inside, and I was knocking at the door, and 
nobody was answering me. I just went in there, and there was a lady who 
was in there. Maybe she was sleeping or something, and Allyssa was 
crying in there, and she was sick at that time. 

I just went in there, you know, and I grabbed the baby. She said, "What 
do you want? You're not supposed to be in here," she said, that lady. And I 
said, "I want to see my baby. She is my baby." She says, "Get out," and I 
was just standing there with the baby holding it, and that baby was sick. 
She had never been changed for 2 days and she was just dirty, and I said, 
"I'm going to have this baby back. Where is Delores Greyeyes? I want her 
phone number." And she doesn't know the phone number. 

Then I said, "Where is the head of this? Who is your boss?" I asked her, 
and she doesn't know, and I said, "I'll just go and take her to the hospital." 
I just took her and there was nothing that I can use to cover the baby, and 
I just used my mom's jacket to take her to the Tuba City Hospital. Her 
temperature was 102. I think the doctor called Pitts and Rick and Cheryl, 
and they came around right away. At that time they are taking a picture, 
you know, and that's it. 

MR. HOWARD. Rick Pitts, did you want to tell us a little bit more about 
what you saw when you arrived at the hospital and Allyssa's condition? 

MR. Pms. Actually, Cheryl should do that or Patricia because when 
Susie refers to "Pitts" she means my mother. I was not in Tuba City yet at 
that point. 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Just like my mom said, we didn't know where 
the baby was. At the time we left Flagstaff Airport, we stayed in Flagstaff 
for a couple more days. During that time, we were trying to get ahold of 
my parents. At the time, we thought my mom had Allyssa, and later-it 
was on Friday when I learned that my mom didn't have Allyssa. 

Friday night we got the anonymous phone call from somebody that 
knows Delores Greyeyes, and during that time it was all over the news. 
She was crying and she said, "I am really sorry for what happened, but 
your poor child isn't with the grandmother. The baby, Delores Greyeyes 
has the baby." So that's when I tried to contact my parents. So that 
Saturday morning we drove out there. 

MR. HOWARD. Did she tell you who had the baby at that point? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. The lady that called said that Delores Greyeyes 

had the baby in Kayenta, in her home. We came out here Saturday 
morning and met with my parents, and we spent the day in Tuba City just 
talking things over about what happened, and she didn't know where 
Allyssa was, and we were really surprised. 
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So the following morning, on Sunday, my parents went out looking for 
her. She said they would, and it was about 1 o'clock when we got a call 
from the hospital stating that Allyssa was there, and right then Cheryl and 
I rushed to the hospital. 

She looked really sick. She was crying and she couldn't calm down for a 
long time. She was even afraid of me. The only person she hung onto was 
Cheryl. She was really frightened. She was throwing up and she smelled 
really awful. 

I was really surprised that the social department allowed this to happen, 
that they had neglected this child. So Cheryl and I stayed there for several 
hours while the doctor examined her. Then we drove back to the house, to 
our friend's house, and she didn't calm down for a long time. That night 
she kept getting up crying and crying, and we were both really sad about 
the way everything was handled. 

The next morning my mom and dad and my grandparents came and said 
that they wanted to perform a ceremony if it was okay, and Cheryl agreed 
to it. So my mom and I took the baby back to the house, and my dad came 
home. It was around noon when he came home, and he said, "I have been 
getting all these calls from the social department wanting to know where 
the baby was," because I guess they saw a picture of Cheryl and Allyssa on 
the front cover of the newspaper, and that is when they realized that 
Cheryl had Allyssa, and they wanted to know if this white woman had run 
off and gone back to California with Allyssa. 

My dad told me that he had told them that the baby was at the house 
with his wife and the daughter having a ceremony. So later that afternoon, 
there were about four or five social workers that came to the ceremony 
while we were having it and wanted to know if Allyssa was really there, 
and that's when my grandparents and my mother told them to get off their 
property, just to leave. They were really upset and disappointed at the way 
they handled this whole thing and how they put a lot of danger to their 
grandchild. That was how it happened basically. 

MR. HOWARD. Mr. Nelson, would you care to comment on anything 
that you have heard? 

TESTIMONY OF MICHAEL NELSON, ATTORNEY 
MR. NELSON. I acted as their lawyer in the tribal court. That was my 

role in this. I first came in contact with them on the Friday when the child 
was being transferred out here. 

The real difficulty with this case was that the case was never transferred. 
It was supposed to be transferred. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Excuse me, Mr. Nelson, would you identify for 
the record-when you say "them," who did you act as the lawyer for and 
in what forum? 
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MR. NELSON. I acted as the lawyer for Rick and Cheryl Pitts and for 
Patricia Keetso in the Tuba City Children's Court. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Thank you. 
MR. NELSON. As I was saying, the California State proceeding was 

never transferred to the Navajo Tribal Courts, and that made dealing with 
this as a legal matter a very difficult task, for me, for the judge, and 
perhaps for the lawyers on the other side. I don't know. The lawyers on 
the other side had been acting on this matter before the California courts as 
well. So I think they probably were the best informed people on the legal 
proceedings, but the judge and I were equally in the dark as to why we 
were in this forum and just how this had happened. 

When Cheryl Pitts and I first met, which was on the Saturday that they 
came to Tuba City, they really didn't know how they had wound up in 
that place in that situation, and it was a very, very difficult time. It was a 
very tense situation. They were very upset, obviously. A little baby was 
out somewhere and no one knew where. I talked to them and I 
interviewed them and tried to piece together as best I could what the legal 
situation was, and we started considering our options. 

One thing I would like to bring up, since I have now heard the focus of 
your inquiry, is we did have a Federal forum, and we did have a possible 
habeas corpus action that we could have brought in Federal district court, 
and that was an option that we considered. 

At the time my feeling was that Judge Watchman would be able to deal 
with this and he would be able to see that a mistake had been made and 
correct his mistake, and that that was the better way to deal with it, and in 
fact that is how it worked out. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Can I interrupt? 
MR. HowARD. Please. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. When you say that a mistake was made, what 

mistake? 
MR. NELSON. Well, a children's court judge, which is what Judge 

Watchman is, 99 percent of their business is neglected children, juvenile 
delinquents, neglected children, abused children, and bad situations 
involving children. 

As a matter of course, they act on petitions such as this, a dependency 
petition that makes allegations of those sort, and they order transfers, not 
transfers of custody, but transfer of responsibility based on petitions 
presented by the division to them. That is what happened here. I don't 
believe there was a hearing initially, and that is really what went wrong 
with this proceeding is there was no hearing as to the best interests of the 
child before the custody was transferred. 

MR. HowARD. So you are referring back to the January 28 order; is that 
right? 
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MR. NELSON. Yes. Had there been a hearing on the best interests of the 
child, I think the result would have been very different and all of this 
would not have taken place. 

MR. HOWARD. Now temporary guardianship has been awarded to the 
Pitts and a hearing has been scheduled for August 19, 1988, on permanent 
guardianship? Is that correct? 

MR. NELSON. Yes. 
MR. HowARD. I want to clear something else up as well. At some point, 

while in California, the Pitts had been pursuing adoption with the consent 
of Patricia Keetso and, correct me if I am wrong, but this approach was 
also in keeping with the desires of the natural grandparents as well. 

Susie Keetso, is that correct? Originally, you had no objection to the 
Pitts adopting Allyssa; is that correct? 

Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. Yes. 
MR. HowARD. That is correct? 
Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. Yes. 
MR. HowARD. But at some point when the case was referred back to the 

Navajo courts, the focus changed to guardianship as opposed to adoption. 
Mr. Nelson, at what point did that happen and why did it happen? 

MR. NELSON. Well, the why I believe is-what Rick and Cheryl and 
Patricia had originally envisioned was what they called an open adoption 
where the natural mother's rights would continue in some form. She would 
be able to continue to visit the child, and the child would still be allowed to 
come to the Navajo Reservation to see what it was to be a Navajo. 

In Navajo courts an adoption is a much more final proceeding. It 
terminates all of the natural mother's rights, and what we found was that 
the terms did not have the same meaning. What they envisioned was much 
closer to what permanent guardianship would provide, and once we got 
sort of beyond that linguistic problem, it fell into place. 

As to why it came about, that was negotiations really between the 
extended family and Rick and Cheryl Pitts and Patricia Keetso. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Mr. Nelson, I wonder if you could 
expand on that in terms of the status of the guardianship provisions under 
comity provisions within the State of California. That is, if you now say 
that guardianship in the Navajo court is roughly equivalent to open 
adoption in the California courts, would it also follow, then, that 
California, say 5 years from now, would look at the category of 
guardianship awarded by the tribal forum as the equivalent of an open 
adoption in a California forum? What do you think about that? 

MR. NELSON. Well, they could. I think the terms of this arrangement 
will be set by the decree, and that is what any court will look to. No matter 
what name you put on it, the rights that flow from the decree and not from 
the classification in the statute. 
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SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. You mean the decree will spell out 
the terms and not just use the term "guardianship," which also exists, of 
course, in the California law? 

MR. NELSON. Yes. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. But you're saying it exists different­

ly. So that the California courts won't look at its guardianship, but will 
look at the express terms of the Navajo decree in order to apply it? 

MR. NELSON. Yes. 
MR. HowARD. I have one further question at this time, and I will defer 

to you. 
At one point Patricia referred to Rick Pitts as not being Anglo. Mr. 

Pitts, could you tell us what she meant by that? 
MR. Prrrs. I think what she was referring to is that I am one-quarter 

Tarascan Indian. 
MR. HowARD. Thank you. 
Commissioners. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. I'll address this generally, but probably the best 

person to start with is Patricia Keetso. 
To your knowledge, what was the basis of the original order that the 

tribal courts entered in the case? Was it simply that they had received 
notice that you had started an adoption proceeding and that the 
proceeding in the Navajo courts was, in effect, their official response to 
your notice commencing the adoption in California? Do you understand 
what I'm asking you? What prompted the tribe to starting to intervene in 
this? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. I really can't answer that clearly because, as far 
as I am concerned, we were doing the right thing. We had contacted them. 
Like Rick said, when Allyssa was born, we had contacted them, and I 
wanted to hear from them, but I didn't hear from them until in February. 
They didn't notify me until in February. 

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. What made you decide to proceed in the 
California forum instead of starting in the tribal court? If you thought that 
the tribe might raise some problems, what prompted you to start in 
California rather than tribal court? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Well, like I said, they had been notified, and I 
depended a lot on our lawyer, Steve Ravel. I thought he knew what was 
going on. I called him and asked him, "Have you heard from the tribe and 
do you know what is going on?" And he said, "No, don't worry about it; 
just don't worry about it; things will be fine." He kept stating that to me. 
So I just assumed that everything was going well. 

I had no idea how to go about this. So he being the lawyer, he knew the 
laws. So I depended on him a lot to handle this whole procedure of 
Allyssa's adoption case. 
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COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Mr. Pitts, do you basically feel the same way? 
As I told you before the hearing, I just went through an adoption 
proceeding myself, and being a lawyer and not knowing a whole lot about 
how that is done, I know that one does rely on the lawyer, but did he talk 
to you about the option of going to California or tribal court, or did you 
just assume at the outset that you were going to start with California? 

MR. PITTS. Right. We assumed that California was the place that it was 
supposed to be taken care of. Steve Ravel never gave us any inclination 
that it was anything otherwise. I don't really know if he even knew that it 
probably should have originated in a tribal forum. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Did you discuss at any time the significance of 
why you had to give the tribe notice? 

MR. PITTS. No. The only thing we knew was that there was some form 
of notice that was supposed to go through the tribe, and that he said that 
he had filed that notice and that was that, and that if they didn't respond 
within a certain period of time, then they would not be able to respond. 

When the time period that he had given us the impression had expired, 
then we figured that there was no problem, that they weren't going to 
intervene in the case and there wasn't going to be any problems. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Let me go back to Patricia Keetso for a min­
ute. With respect to the original order, the award of temporary custody, 
were you given any indication of why temporary custody wasn't just given 
to you? Why was it transferred to the tribe or to the department of social 
services? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. I really don't understand that myself. I think 
back and 1-

MR. PITTS. I think that I can maybe answer that for you. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. I really don't know. 
MR. PITTS. The allegations in the· custody order were this. There were 

three basic allegations in the order. One was that the child was abandoned 
in California; two, that the child was a ward of the State of California and 
that the child was dependent; that the child had no one looking out for its 
best interests. Those were the bases for the custody order in January. 

If at any point anybody, either be it a judge or a social department 
worker or anybody, had bothered to pick up a phone and call, one phone 
call could have verified that none of those things were true, that the child 
was never abandoned in California, that the child was not placed in an 
agency, that the child wasn't dependent, and that the child was not a ward 
of the State. 

It seems to me that the judge in California, obviously, if he had bothered 
to read the custody order, would have seen and would have realized that 
these things were not true. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Ms. Keetso, let me quote for the record the 
relevant parts of the order of January 11. Paragraph 3 states: "That it is in 
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the best interests of the minor child that this court accept jurisdiction of 
the State court proceeding that is pending in the Superior Court of 
California, Juvenile Court, Santa Clara County, State of California." 

And the operative paragraph, "That the natural parent is presently 
unable to properly provide for the care and maintenance of the above­
named child, making the child dependent as defined by the Navajo Nation 
Children's Code, Title IX, Section 1002, Subparagraph 15." 

It's dated the 11th of January and it is signed by Louise Grant as the 
advocate. 

Did you ever speak to Louise Grant before that time? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. No. I never heard of that name, and I didn't 

know who she was until I saw both her and-well, I knew Delores 
Greyeyes, and I briefly spoke to her on the phone several times starting 
from February, but Louise Grant-I didn't know who she was, and I have 
never even heard of her before. 

MR. Prrrs: The first contact with Louise Grant and Delores Greyeyes, 
the first physical contact, was on April 11 when we appeared in court. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. In San Jose? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Yes, that's right. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. So, basically, about 3 months later was your 

first contact with Louise Grant. Had you had any contact with Delores 
Greyeyes prior to January the 11th? 

MR. PITIS. Patricia? 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Yes. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Physical contact? 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Well, telephone or physical contact. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. It was at the end of February; that is when she 

started calling. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. I mean February 1988, right? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Yes. 
CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. But prior to January 11, 1988, had you had any 

contact with Delores Greyeyes or any of the other social service staff! 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. No, I didn't. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. You did not. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. No, I did not. 
CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Ms. Susie Keetso, did you have any contact 

with the social service department people prior to January 11? 
Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. No, not until February or March. 
CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Mr. Nelson, did you have anything you 

wanted to add to this? 
MR. NELSON. Well, yes, I did. Under the Navajo Children's Code, an 

adoption in violation of the Indian Child Welfare Act is considered 
grounds for dependency. 
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COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Oh, all right. You've anticipated what I was 
getting at. Then the notice, it was perceived by the Navajo Nation as the 
equivalent of making the child a dependent or abandoned child then, right? 

MR. NELSON. If the adoption was done in violation of the Indian Child 
Welfare Act. That was the allegation that was made because the adoption 
should have been done in tribal court. That's basically the position. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Let me explore that for a minute though, if I 
can. The Indian Child Welfare Act doesn't say that it has to be done in 
child court, does it? 

MR. NELSON. Well, if the residency or the domicile of the natural 
mother is on the reservation, then it is exclusive in tribal court. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Okay. But as long as there is a dispute over 
that, that is an open question. 

MR. NELSON. Correct. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. The jurisdictional question, as I understand it, 

is if the mother is a domiciliary of the reservation, then there is exclusive 
jurisdiction in the tribal court. 

MR. NELSON. Correct. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. And that can't b~ waived. 
MR. NELSON. Correct. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. And the tribe can't choose not to exercise it, 

right? 
MR. NELSON. That is correct. That is why the residency inquiry was so 

important in the California court. 
Now, at the point that the California State court made their decision that 

Patricia's residency was located at Red Lake, then they ceased to have 
jurisdiction over the case, and the case was floating at that point. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Let me just follow up on this a bit 
because I am still a little unclear. 

Are you saying that Congress has mandated tribes to assume jurisdiction 
whenever domicile is determined to be on the reservation and does not 
leave it to the tribe to exercise any discretion whatever on that question? 

MR. NELSON. Yes. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So they are acting on the order of 

Congress in that respect? 
MR. NELSON. Yes. The proper forum is tribal court. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. The exclusive forum, not the 

proper. 
MR. NELSON. The exclusive and proper. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. There is no discretion on the part of 

the tribe under the act as you understand it? 
MR. NELSON. That is my understanding. 
CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Let me go one step further then. Assuming that 

jurisdiction was properly founded in the tribal court, how far does this 
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assumption of dependency and neglect go? I mean, is it sufficient to assume 
jurisdiction of the cause, and I can understand that, but under governing 
Navajo law, is it sufficient to also transfer jurisdiction to the tribe? I mean, 
is the assumption made in the proceeding that the parent who has 
instigated or cooperated in such an adoption proceeding in violation of the 
code has neglected the child, and then it serves as a further foundation for 
a transfer of custody? 

MR. NELSON. Well, it is one of the allegations that was made. In this 
case, the inability of Patricia to provide care and maintenance for this child 
was based on representations made in the California court as part of that 
adoption proceeding. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. All right. 
MR. NELSON. And whether those were correctly interpreted or not, that 

was the basis for the allegation. 
As to your question, under Navajo law it is not sufficient just to make 

those allegations. There needs to be an opportunity to be heard, a showing 
concerning the best interests of the child, and an opportunity to be heard as 
far as those best interests. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. But that hearing never took place. 
MR. NELSON. Well, it took place after custody was transferred. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. After physical custody was transferred? 
MR. NELSON. Yes. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. So, in other words, the baby was removed 

from the physical custody of the mother, of the birth mother, and the 
proposed adoptive parents, and then the hearing was held afterwards. 

MR. NELSON. Yes, that is correct. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Was that just a slip-up, I mean as far as you can 

see? When I look at the papers of this particular case, having been involved 
in such cases when I was in private practice, there are irregularities but not 
any that I haven't seen in State courts in some of this. Is it simply that the 
situation got out of hand, and by the time they got everybody together it 
was after all this had taken place? 

MR. NELSON. That's part of it. I think part of it is that these are 
unfamiliar proceedings. This is not the usual fare for children's court. I am 
only aware of one other case where something evenly remotely similar 
happened, and that was with the Carters. It's not something that the 
children's court judges are used to dealing with, and it's not something that 
the division of social welfare is used to dealing with, and the first time 
through you make mistakes. I think that is what happened. It appeared to 
me that the division confused jurisdiction of the tribal court with custody 
of the child. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. That is what it appeared to me, too, and I 
wanted to make sure that the record is clear that we are not pointing the 
finger at anybody with respect to intending to do anything wrong. This 
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looked like, or at least in my reading of the record, it looked like a case 
where events got away from things, and those happen in State courts as 
well as in tribal courts. So, again, I just wanted to make sure that the 
record does not reflect any judgment on our part with respect to the kinds 
of questions we are asking. We are just trying to find out what happened. 

Commissioner Allen. 
SuBCOMMITrEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Yes, I do have a few questions. 
Ms. Keetso, you have been through a long and trying series of 

circumstances, and as often happens to people at any level or kind of 
government, whether the United States Federal Government, State 
government, city governments, or tribal governments, sometimes we have 
to go through trying circumstances. People make mistakes; office holders 
sometimes make mistakes. 

Often in the end of that long process, mistakes get corrected, or they 
don't, depending on how it comes out. But we like to think very often they 
get corrected, and in the end, in spite of pain and sufferL11g, everything 
comes out all right. 

I would like to ask you how you judge the circumstances now, and leave 
aside any particular mistakes individuals might have made. Do you think 
that the processes that are in place in the Navajo in the long run will tum 
out for the good, that though you may have suffered, you have had a 
chance to state your case and you have confidence in the results? Do you 
think it's going to be all right in the end and are you satisfied, even though 
you had to suffer, that there is a chance to get your case heard? 

Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. No. The way they handled my grandchild, you 
know, I don't think it's right. It makes bad feeling. I never ate and no one 
was sleeping that night, and I'm just the same way right now. They just 
put my name in the newspapers and they are just making a lot of big news. 
They are not supposed to do that unless· they get my permission to do it. 
They are just making a big mistake in everything and that's not right. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I can see that there might have 
been things that happened that, as you say, are not right, or that you still 
feel the pain from. 

Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. Yes. 
SUBCOMMITrEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. But do you think that in the end 

everything can come out all right? 
Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. No, it's not right. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So you are not confident at this 

moment about the future? 
Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. Yes, I think it's going to work right if everybody 

works right for us. 
SUBCOMMITrEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So that no matter how much 

suffering, you think there is a chance still for everything to fall into place 
proper.ly? 
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Ms. SUSIE K.EETSO. Yes. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Patricia Keetso, I would like to ask 

you a question going back to the very beginning when you were reading 
the advertisements that Mr. Ravel placed in the newspaper and thinking 
about adoption. Did you ever consult the social welfare agency about 
possible adoptions directed by the tribe? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. No. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Could you elaborate and explain to 

me why that didn't occur to you? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. It never occurred to my mind to contact the 

social department. It was not my intention to have my baby adopted out of 
State. The most important thing that I thought about was what was best 
for my baby, the interests of my child, to be able to be raised in a good 
environment with both sets of parents and to sit in a good home. 

It was never my intention to have my baby adopted in an Anglo home or 
other nationality. I could have went through the Navajos, but I never even 
thought of going to the social department. It just came to me. Like I said, 
what was important to me is to have what was best for my baby. That was 
all I wanted. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So that it wasn't a question of the 
most convenient method of adoption, but you were trying to exercise a 
judgment about your child's future which you thought you had the right to 
do? 

Ms. PATRICIA K.EETSO. The only thing I was concerned about was the 
future of my child. That was my only concern. That was about it. And I 
was aware, I basically knew some things about the Indian Child Welfare 
Act, but I didn't know enough. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Your concern about your child's 
future, was that part of the reason that you agreed with the Pitts to pursue 
an open adoption? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. That's what I wanted for my baby, was an open 
adoption right from the beginning. You know, being a woman, a young 
person, I feel that I have a right to do whatever I want to do with my 
baby. I could have went through an abortion. I could have done that, and I 
just couldn't do it right from the beginning. I love this child and I just 
wanted what was best for her. That was all I wanted. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
Cheryl, as you know, even under ordinary circumstances adoptions are 

slow and tedious processes. When you don't have the complications of 
differing States or States and tribes, it's still a long, slow, and difficult 
process ordinarily. 

Looking at the situation you have confronted now and weighing the 
alternatives between carrying the process through the State of California 
or carrying it through the tribe, does it appear to you that the 
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inconveniences are any degree greater in working through the tribe as 
opposed to working through the State of California? 

Ms. CHERYL Prrrs. Explain that to me again. I don't understand. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Does it seem to you that the 

inconveniences of the process, the adoption process or the guardianship 
process, are any greater working through the tribe than working through 
the State of California? 

Ms. CHERYL Prrrs. Well, I think that if they had explained, if our 
lawyer had explained that to us in the beginning, this whole situation 
wouldn't have happened, but we didn't know. We trusted him and thought 
that he knew what he was doing. So that is why we went through the 
California courts. I had no idea to go through the tribal courts. If we had 
known, we would have done that. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. If I can just clarify though, and I think my 
colleague is asking that, given the hassles of going through California-I 
mean, in meeting with the social workers and having all the meetings and 
all the statements and all the examinations and all the things you have to do 
to become an adoptive parent-I mean, do you find that what you have 
gone through with the department of social services and the Navajo courts 
is really that much different than what you went through with California, 
other than it being in a different physical location with different people, 
you know, going through the motions with you? 

Ms. CHERYL Prrrs. No, I don't think so. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. So had your attorney explained that this is the 

way you have to go rather than that having to be the way to go, have you 
found the process, once it got on track and everybody knew what was 
going on, have you found that the process was fair and similar to the one in 
California? That may be a hard question for you. 

Ms. CHERYL Prrrs. I think it may be-somewhat similar and maybe in 
different cultures there. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So you think it could be similar if I 
am reading your correctly? 

Ms. CHERYL Prrrs. Yes. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. And you have no objection to 

pursuing the process through the Navajo system? 
Ms. CHERYL Prrrs. No. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. What I am trying to get at with this 

line of questioning is to draw a distinction between your interest in 
adopting and the forum in which you pursue that interest and what I have 
heard you testify to this morning as the element of surprise, legal surprise, 
that has gotten you entangled between California and the Navajo. 

If I am hearing correctly, and tell me ifl am wrong, but I'm going to tell 
you what I'm hearing and then you correct it if I state it incorrectly. What 
I hear you saying is that your chief concern is that the laws have operated 
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in such a way, independent of anything individuals might have done-and 
leave out any individuals from Social Services or from the State of 
California or your lawyer or anyone else's lawyer-the way the laws in 
general have operated have been such as to multiply the difficulties you 
have confronted and to create the confusions that have made this such a 
trying case for you. Is that what I am hearing this morning? 

MR. PITIS. Yes. I think that the laws were not explained or clarified to 
us, and I personally don't even know if our attorney was clear on the 
proper laws to follow. I would assume that he felt he was going through 
the right court system when he tried to go through California courts. 

But, in answer to your question, I think that the tribal forum operates in 
very much a similar manner as California, and I don't think that it is really 
any more problem or any more trouble to go through the tribal court than 
it is to go through a California court, that their procedures are relatively 
the same. 

I would like to say, though, that I have heard a few comments to the fact 
that, in essence, there may have been just a slip-up or some form of 
problem there, but I honestly don't believe that. I honestly believe that 
there was much more of a power statement here than a slip-up of a court 
sy~tem. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. When you say that, though, I mean-does that 
mean when you say a "power statement," that it's basically, "This is our 
problem to deal with," and it's basically a jurisdictional assertion? 

MR. Pms. Exactly, and it had relatively little to do with the best 
interests of an 8-month-old child. It had to do with the jurisdictional issue 
that, "This is our jurisdiction and we are going to have it at whatever 
costs." 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Let me say, and you obviously 
respond to the line of inquiry I was pursuing, was this just a slip-up and 
will it now be all right, and some of the things you've said this morning 
lead us to think that. 

But there is also something else that seems to lead in that direction. Mr. 
Nelson testified a moment ago, and I have since checked it and find that he 
is largely correct in this regard, that the tribe has no choice. It is mandated 
to assert this jurisdiction by the Congress of the United States, which 
claims a plenary power over Indian tribes. Therefore, rather than being 
merely a power play, it seems that they were really carrying out orders. 

MR. PITIS. I believe that in the interim after the jurisdiction was granted 
them that, yes, they were carrying out the congressional orders. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So you think the problem centers in 
the finding of the California Superior Court with regard to jurisdiction, 
that it falls back on the question of domicile or residence? 

MR. PITIS. Yes. 
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SUBCOMMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Let me ask Patricia a question. 
Patricia, when you speak of your rights as a mother, and you do so very 
feelingly, do you have any sense of what you mean by that and where you 
get those rights? How are you speaking? I have heard you speak before of 
your pride in your Navajo heritage and your desire to protect that and 
nurture it, and I have heard you speak ofyour ambitions as a student and as 
a prospective member of the United States Armed Forces. 

When you talk about your rights as a mother, just what source do you 
refer to for those rights? Are you thinking of yourself as an American and 
therefore having rights as a mother or as a Navajo or what? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Well, basically both. Before this whole thing 
happened, I really didn't know much about the Navajo laws and of their 
practices, not very much. When I speak of my rights as a mother, I think 
that not only for myself but a lot of people. 

I see a lot of young people on the Navajo Reservation, people my age 
with three or two children, and it's really sad to see some of them just 
depending a lot on the welfare. I'm not trying to criticize anybody, but the 
way I feel, I have my pride. 

Even when I was young, I never thought this would happen, but just 
like any other person, a lot of people make mistakes, and I was one of 
them. I got pregnant and I knew it was serious. It took me a long time to 
decide to go through the adoption. It was very hard to tell my parents, but 
I told them about what I was going to do, and they just said, "It's up to 
you. You are old enough to make your own decisions. You've always done 
things right." She said, "We trust you and we are willing to support you," 
and I went through the procedures with the adoption. 

Being a citizen of the United States, I think I have a right to make my 
own choices to do what I want to do with my life and my child, Allyssa. I 
thought what I did was right as far as I was concerned, but apparently-it 
hurt to see the Navajo social department didn't see it that way and having 
them to criticize me, not knowing the things I went through without 
having communication there. It hurts, and I just don't feel that it's right. 

This whole thing was like an invasion into my privacy, too, of my life, 
and I really feel that something needs to be done to prevent the tribal 
officials to do that to their own people. 

It was never my intention to bring shame on the Navajo Nation. I know 
a lot of people see it that way, especially in California. I have spoken to 
people-I have talked with people there, and a lot of people are looking at 
the whole nation as a bad nation, but they're not. It's the tribal officials, 
and what they are doing to their own people is wrong. 

I feel that it's wrong that they are fighting for this one particular child 
who is loved for and cared for by this couple and that they ought to be 
concerned about their own nation here on the reservation, about the old 
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people and the young people there, instead of being concerned and 
spending a lot of money on this one child. That's how I feel. 

I am proud of who I am, and I am proud of my parents, and I am not 
ashamed of who I am at all. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Ms. Prado. 
Ms. PRADO. Thank you. 
I would like to follow up, Mr. Nelson, with you, if I could, please, on a 

couple of things that I need clarification on. 
Commissioner Allen was going through a line of questioning about if 

everyone had understood the law properly, then the procedures would 
have fallen into place in a more orderly fashion, and then there was also 
the question of the tribe having no choice. 

Now, did I understand you to say that that tribal jurisdiction kicks in 
mainly on the establishment of domicile or residency? 

MR. NELSON. Yes. Under the Indian Child Welfare Act, if the mother of 
the child resides or is domiciled within the reservation, then tribal courts 
have jurisdiction. 

Ms. PRADO. It seems to me that there is some confusion, then, over what 
exactly is the factor that clarifies domicile or indicates domicile for the 
purposes of this act. 

MR. NELSON. Well, domicile is what the whole proceeding in California 
was about, and there is a lot of law on that. Domicile is not a short term 
concept, whereas residency is. Residency you can establish in a week. 
Domicile is a more long term thing, and you look to where your roots are, 
basically, especially with someone of Patricia's age who is attending 
college, wl;iose parents are located someplace, who continues to receive 
mail at a certain place, where do they vote, and things like that. 

Looking at California law, I think the determination that was made was 
the correct one. Had it been made in tribal court, and I looked at the 
possibility of raising that as a Navajo law issue, but under Navajo law, her 
residency clearly was at Red Lake. There was no question about that. 

Ms. PRADO. So that really isn't a point of dispute then? 
MR. NELSON. I didn't see it as such, and I don't think their California 

lawyers did either; otherwise, they could have appealed it on that, that 
point. It was a justicable issue. It was something that a court had to decide. 
So it wasn't clear going in how it was going to turn out. But with 
hindsight, having seen what was produced in that court proceeding, it 
appears that her domicile was at Red Lake. 

MR. HowARD. What is the Navajo standard with respect to domicile? 
MR. NELSON. Well, there is a case of the Navajo Court of Appeals, 

Halona v. MacDonald, that deals with residency and venue, and they look 
to things such as voting records and Navajo tradition. It's where your 
umbilical cord is buried. That's how you determine residency. That's 
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Navajo common law, and that's referred to in that case and that is how we 
do it for venue purposes. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Can you lose domicile in the 
Navajo law? 

MR. NELSON. No. It's fixed from the time your umbilical cord is buried. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. That's a conflict, isn't it? 
MR. NELSON. Yes, there is a potential conflict of laws there. Under tribal 

law, you can have a choice of forums and a choice of venues based on the 
various indices of domicile. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. But you can never change your domicile under 
Navajo law from the Navajo Reservation to Kansas, for example, if you 
decided you were going to leave and never come back. 

MR. NELSON. There are a number of indices you look at, including 
where you vote. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. So, in other words, it's an open question then. 
It's not really treated as a question of nationality then. 

MR. NELSON. No. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Because domicile does in the end turn on 

intent, long term intent and action. 
MR. NELSON. Yes. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. So a Navajo could potentially change their 

domicile from their domicile of origin to a new one. 
MR. NELSON. Yes. 
Ms. PRADO. Patricia, let me just ask you a question about that. When 

you went back to the reservation, were you involved in applying for a 
student loan? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Yes. I wanted to receive a Navajo tribal 
scholarship through the Navajo Tribe. So ,I went over there to sign up, and 
there was one of the ladies there who said, "You have to register to vote in 
order to get that." So I did that. 

Ms. PRADO. Where did they tell you you had to register to vote? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. This was Tuba City Navajo Agency. 
Ms. PRADO. It's a social service agency? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. So I went ahead and registered to vote, but I 

never voted. 
Ms. PRADO. And this is the first time you registered to vote? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Yes, and that is how they determined my 

domicile on the reservation. I had no idea. I just did what they told me to 
do. 

Ms. PRADO. Was that, Mr. Nelson, a principle or a criteria used, because 
it seems to me from what you were saying that that was one of the factors? 

MR. NELSON. That was a factor, yes. Where she voted and the 
scholarship were both considered in California. 
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Ms. PRADO. And when you registered to vote was after the baby was 
born? 

Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Yes, it was after the baby was born, but it was 
like in September. Yes, it was in early September. 

Ms. PRADO. That was before you had been contacted by the tribe then? 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. Yes, that was before. 
Ms. PRADO. Is there anything else you want to ask on domicile before 

we leave that? 
MR. HOWARD. Yes. I would like to return to Mr. Nelson. I have here a 

copy of proposed amendments to the Indian Child Welfare Act that are 
under consideration now by the Senate Select Committee on Indian 
Affairs, known as S.1976, and among many other things, those amend­
ments would change or would include in the ICW A a definition of 
residence which reads as follows: "Residence shall be defined by the tribal 
law or custom of the Indian child's tribe or, in the absence of such a law or 
custom, shall be defined as a place of general abode or principal actual 
dwelling place of a continuing or lasting nature." 

Under Navajo law, which does include a consideration of the tradition 
that the person's domicile is where the umbilical cord was buried, would 
there be any escape from the Navajo Reservation with respect to 
establishing one's domicile? 

MR. NELSON. Well, for instance, this child was born in California. I 
think under the definition you read if she had resided in California long 
enough to reach the criteria of a continuing, lasting presence, then the 
domicile would not be located on the reservation. 

As far as a child that was born and raised on the reservation, I think 
there would be difficulty in claiming that the domicile was elsewhere. 

MR. HowARD. Let me read to you the definition of domicile that would 
be included in the ICW A. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Could you make clear for the record that the 
domicile and residence that we are concerned about isn't the domicile of 
the baby, but it's the domicile of the mother that we have got to get clear 
for the record. 

Ms. PRADO. Because Mr. Nelson mentioned that the baby was born in 
California. 

MR. NELSON. Right. Well, the definition that was read I thought was the 
residence of the child. 

MR. PITI'S. Excuse me. In reference to Mike Nelson's saying that the 
child was born in California, there could be a slight problem with 
determining her domicile being that her umbilical cord has been sent to 
Arizona to be buried on the reservation. 

Ms. PRADO. According to Navajo custom. 
MR. PITI'S. So where would you look for domicile? 
Ms. PRADO. That's a very interesting point. 
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COMMISSIONER DESTRO. You see, that's why we asked the question with 
respect to the domicile proposal in the amendments because it's defined as 
"Domicile shall be defined by the tribal law or custom of the Indian child's 
tribe, or in the absence of such law or custom, by Federal common law 
applied in a manner which recognizes, first, that many Indian people 
consider their reservation to be their domicile even when absent for 
extended periods." So the intent of the act is to defer to tribal jurisdiction 
whenever possible. 

But your testimony, Mr. Nelson, is that Navajo law at least, and I'm not 
speaking for any other tribes, but Navajo law is sufficiently flexible to 
allow a person who wants to change domicile, even given this definition, 
to do that? 

MR. NELSON. Yes. I think it would be an issue for the courts to decide, 
just as this one was. They are often not simple inquiries. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Oh, no, that's assumed. 
MR. HowARD. But in the California proceeding, the California court 

looked to California law; is that correct? 
MR. NELSON. Correct. 
MR. HowARD. And under the ICWA as amended by these proposed 

amendments, the court in California would be required to look to the law 
or custom of the Navajo Nation. 

MR. NELSON. Correct. 
MR. HowARD. Which law or custom states that the domicile is where 

the umbilical cord is found. 
MR. NELSON. Well, it's not that black and white. 
MR. HOWARD. I see. 
MR. NELSON. The case that I referred to, Halona v. MacDonald, lists I 

believe five different indices of domicile. 
MR. HowARD. Do you recall what the other indices are? 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I was just going to ask how you 

would expect, and I would like to hear what the others are, but also tell us 
how do you expect a California court to deal with this inquiry? 

MR. NELSON. Well, I think that is the purpose of the notice to the tribe. 
It's the tribe's responsibility to bring this information forward and present 
it to the court. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. To follow up just a moment, then 
you would be saying California would refer to a decision of a Navajo 
court, but there still is an element of review, for example, manifest error. 
How would a California court make that judgment? 

MR. NELSON. Manifest error in-
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. In the proceeding in the tribal court 

making the domiciliary decision that you're now describing. 
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MR. NELSON. Well, I think that the California court would look to 
Navajo law to make the initial decision themselves. It wouldn't be referred 
to tribal court. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. That's what I'm asking. So looking 
at Navajo law and these five or six indices you now mention, and you may 
list them, how would a California court get through that? 

MR. NELSON. How would they waive indices? 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Is it codified? 
MR. NELSON. Yes, it is in a reported decision of the Navajo Court of 

Appeals. It's in 1 Navajo Reporter, which is available at most western law 
schools. So they are available; they are cited in Federal court decisions, 
and they are used. They are in the Harvard blue book now. So they are 
real decisions. 

Ms. PRADO. You were going to list the other indices. 
MR. NELSON. As I recall, they look to where Chairman MacDonald's 

grazing permit was, where his family was from, where he actually resided 
at the time of the lawsuit, and where he made his permanent home, I 
believe, was one of them. The finding of the court was that venue would 
be proper either in the Shiprock District or the Window Rock District. So 
they looked at those elements and they went both ways. But that is the 
authority that we use on venue questions in that case. 

Ms. PRADO. Do you want to leave the issue of domicile now? 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Yes. 
Ms. PRADO. Can you just clarify for me again that if we are saying that if 

there had been no confusion, then the laws, once the confusion was 
rectified, would have gone into place, and the proceedings have proceeded 
as they should have; would you clarify again in this context where you 
mentioned there was an earlier mistake or error? 

MR. NELSON. Well; the custody shouldn't have been transferred without 
a shelter care hearing. 

Ms. PRADO. And that would have occurred when, again? 
MR. NELSON. That should have occurred after the petition was filed. 
Ms. PRADO. What date? 
MR. NELSON. That was in January, I believe, January '88. Rick and 

Cheryl and Patricia should all have received a copy of that petition, which 
they never did, and they should have had an opportunity to respond to it, 
and the court should have had an opportunity to assess the best interests of 
the child before the custody was transferred. 

Ms. PRADO. And that hearing that should have taken place didn't take 
place until 4 months later; is that correct? 

MR. NELSON. Right. The order was signed without that hearing. 
Ms. PRADO. Ms. Keetso, if I can tum to you for a moment. You spoke 

before about some newspaper articles. I understand that you say that there 
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have been newspaper articles that have appeared concerning your 
character or making statements about your character; is that correct? 

Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. Yes. 
Ms. PRADO. And these appeared during what period of time? Is this 

something that is still going on or did this just happen for a short time and 
when did it occur? 

Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. I don't really remember. I just saw them in the 
newspaper everytime when it comes out. 

Ms. PRADO. Do you have copies of those articles that you can provide 
for us? 

Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. No. I just leave it that way, you know. I just looked 
at it, and I don't cut it out, but just leave it that way. 

Ms. PRADO. I just want a clarification from you as to whether or not we 
could get those for the record. 

Ms. SUSIE KEETSO. I just got one for Trish. I brought it, but I think 
somebody lost it. 

[Discussion among the witnesses.] 
MR. PITTS. There was a very recent one from a couple of days ago in the 

Observer? 
Ms. SUSIE K.EETSO. The Navajo Observer. 
Ms. PATRICIA KEETSO. It was back in June, June 7. 
MR. PITTS. June 7 in the Observer. 
Ms. PRADO. Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Are there any questions over here? 
[No response.] 
All right. We are pleased that you have been with us. I will ask ifthere is 

any final comment that any of you wish to make before we close this phase 
of our hearing, for we are now reaching that point. Is there anything that 
you expected to be asked this morning that you were not asked, or is there 
anything that you would now like to say, any one of you? 

Yes, Mr. Nelson. 
MR. NELSON. There is one thing I would like to say. I think it's 

important to draw a distinction between the courts of the Navajo Nation 
and the division of social welfare. I don't think the courts did anything 
inexcusable here. 

I do think the way the division handled this case was improper, and that 
the interests of the child were not properly considered, that it was viewed 
as a way to make law, and that came first to the division. 

I don't think the courts believed that, and we reached what I think is a 
satisfactory result because the courts were willing to look at it. But I think 
some of the things the division did are not excusable. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. When you say the division viewed 
it as a way to make law, did I hear you correctly? 

MR. NELSON. Yes. 
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SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Do you mean essentially by that 
what Rick Pitts said earlier, that he thought it was a power play? 

MR. NELSON. Yes, I think that was part of it. I don't think the interests of 
the child came first in this case. 

Let me expand on that a little. The facts going into this case were that 
the natural mother agreed to the adoption and the natural grandmother did 
not agree to the adoption. 

Under Navajo tradition, there is a strong case that can be made that the 
wishes of the natural grandmother should be respected and that the child 
should remain with her, and that was the law I think they were trying to 
put into place. As it turned out, the facts changed and they weren't able to, 
but that was the law. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Very well. 
Any followup? 
[No response.] 
I thank you all very much. While you are still in place allow me to call 

out the names of our next panelists who will be Sandy Hansen, Duane 
Beyal, and Mr. Nelson again. 

The people who were due to appear, but who are, so far as I know, are 
not present at the moment, but I will ask if you are here I would like you to 
identify yourselves to me, Patrick Gillory, Delores Greyeyes, Louise 
Grant, and Violet Lui. 

[No response.] 
Very well, they are not here, and the next panel will be as I indicated. 
Was there someone? 
MR. NASH. Mr. Chairman, my name is David Nash. I am an attorney 

with the Navajo Nation Department of Justice, and I am making a limited 
appearance here today on behalf of the individuals that you named, with 
the exception of Mr. Gillory, who I was unaware had been subpoenaed. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Very well. Then would you speak 
to our counsel. 

I am going to call a 5-minute recess now while we arrange the next 
panels and have you speak to our counsel about that. 

MR. NASH. yes, sir. 
[Recess.] 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Will you all take your places, 
please? Ifyou would line up with your name tags, it would be easier for the 
recorder. The meeting is called back to order. 

We want to begin at this point with the representation from Mr. David 
Nash regarding which I will turn to General Counsel William Howard. 
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STATEMENT OF DAVID NASH, ATTORNEY, NAVAJO NATION 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

MR. HOWARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I would like to clarify for the record at this time, if I could, that we had 

planned to hear testimony at this point from a panel of witnesses who 
would respond to the allegations that we have just heard from the Pitts and 
the Keetsos, and that panel was to consist of Mr. Patrick Gillory, Ms. 
Delores Greyeyes, Louise Grant, and Violet Lui. 

The Commission subcommittee issued subpoenas to Delores Greyeyes, 
Louise Grant, and Violet Lui. Subpoenas were served upon Louise Grant 
and Violet Lui, but service was not obtained upon Delores Greyeyes. 

A letter of invitation was sent to Mr. Patrick Gillory, not a subpoena. 
Mr. Gillory advised us yesterday that he could not come or that he didn't 
see any point in coming given that his client, the Navajo Nation, had 
exercised an attorney-client privilege and had told him that he could not 
testify to matters with respect to his representation of the Navajo Nation. 

Now, you can confirm this for me, Mr. Nash, but I will say at this time 
that the next panel that we were to hear from consisted of three judges of 
the Navajo Nation, Chief Justice Tom Tso, Judge Wayne Cadman, and 
Judge Robert Yazzie. They were in turn to be followed by Sandy Hansen, 
Duane Beyal, and William Riordan. 

Let me say at this time that subpoenas were issued and served upon 
Judges Tom Tso, Wayne Cadman, and Robert Yazzie and upon William 
Riordan. It is my understanding that they will not appear either. 

Is that correct, Mr. Nash? 
MR. NASH. Mr. Howard and Mr. Chairman, thank you for the 

opportunity to respond. The judges that you mentioned-the Chief Justice 
of the Navajo Nation, Tom Tso, Judge Robert Yazzie, and Judge Wayne 
Cadman-determined, based on the arguments and reasons that I have 
submitted in a letter to the Commission and on some oral statements that I 
will make in a moment, that they would not attend this hearing, and as 
counsel for them, the Navajo Nation Department of Justice concurred in 
that result. Mr. William Riordan will also not attend. 

MR. HOWARD. At this time I am ready to hear from Mr. Nash. 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Very well, you may proceed, Mr. 

Nash. 
MR. NASH. With the Commission's approval, I would like to highlight 

some of the points made in this letter and make a couple of other points. 
At the outset, let me just state for the record that I interposed an 

objection during the earli~r testimony, and I apologize for the disruption of 
the proceedings at that point, but I felt that it was important to object on 
the record as to evidence which appeared to be coming forward, 
allegations that might tend to defame or incriminate certain individuals 
that I represent, and I wanted the Commission to recognize-
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SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Permit me to interrupt you, Mr. 
Nash, to say to you that your record was not received earlier when you 
attempted to give it for the good and sufficient reason that, as I instructed 
staff before we began our hearings this morning, we were not to verge into 
areas of defame and degrade violations, and I can assure you that we paid 
very close attention to all that was said, and had there been any violation, 
we would indeed have interrupted the testimony ourselves. It is, therefore, 
our ruling that that did not take place. 

MR. NASH. Thank you for that ruling. 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. You may continue. 
MR. NASH. I would just like to state that I did make my objection in 

detail to Counsel Brian Miller, and I understand from him that he 
conveyed that to the Commissioners. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Indeed. 
MR. NASH. I am here making a limited appearance on behalf of the 

individuals that have been named who are tribal judges and lawyers who 
were subpoenaed to appear here today. 

The purpose of my appearance is to challenge the scope of authority of 
this Commission to investigate enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act 
in Indian country and to issue the subpoenas that have been issued to these 
individuals. Certain other legal objections are raised as well. 

I would refer the Commission to the letter which I have delivered 10 
copies of to Counsel William Howard a few minutes ago, and which I 
believe was telefaxed to Commissioner Allen's office, although perhaps he 
didn't receive it yesterday. 

I would also refer the Commission to the statement submitted by the 
tribe on September 11, 1987, which sets forth a number of legal arguments 
regarding the Commission's jurisdiction and scope of authority. 

At the outset, let me say that the Navajo Nation takes great pride in its 
laws and procedures as they relate to civil rights. The Navajo Nation has 
an independent judiciary, an independent court system, a Bill of Rights 
which was enacted prior to the Indian Civil Rights Act, and a long 
tradition in Navajo custom and tradition, as I understand it, of fair and 
meaningful procedure as to any decision involving individuals. 

The nation has, although it questions this Commission's authority, has 
voluntarily provided significant amounts of information as to tribal law 
and the judicial procedure. The nation was willing to provide information 
on a voluntary basis as to the Commission's most recent inquiry. 

The problem that arose is that the Commission issued subpoenas and 
served them on a number of tribal judges and lawyers, and the tribe, given 
its concerns about the Commission's scope of authority and its arguments 
that the Commission lacks authority to investigate this matter, led us to the 
conclusion and led the individual judges, who made this determination 
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independently, to the conclusion that it could not comply with the 
subpoenas issued. 

Briefly, the powers of the Commission are limited to studying and 
investigating allegations relating to deprivation of voting rights and 
appraising the laws and policies of the Federal Government with respect 
to discrimination or denials of equal protection under the Constitution. 

It is a basic principle of Indian. law that the Constitution itself does not 
apply to Indian tribes. The key case in that regard is Santa Clara Pueblo v. 
Martinez, which also is instructive as to the scope of a Federal entity's 
powers regarding investigation and/or review of the Indian Civil Rights 
Act. These matters are discussed in our letter and in the statement I 
referred to earlier. 

The Commission's actions, we feel, indicate disregard for the sovereign­
ty of the Navajo Nation and unwillingness to work with the Navajo 
Nation on a government-to-government basis to provide information about 
this inquiry. 

Despite our willingness in the past to accommodate the Commission, it 
has overreached its authority by issuing these subpoenas to the tribe. The 
objection to the subpoenas, and I will summarize the objection as to the 
judges, who I understand would be called later, and as to the other officials 
who were named to be on the panel at this moment-the subpoenas are 
overbroad. 

The judges are protected by the doctrine of judicial immunity from 
inquiries into the exercise of their judicial duties. They are also required 
under the principles ofjudicial ethics not to discuss cases that are presently 
before them or issues that may appear before them in the future. 

We understand that one of the subjects of inquiry would be the case of 
Upshaw ex rel., Benally et al. v. Gorman et al., for which I believe Ms. 
Hansen and Mr. Beyal are here. That case is now pending before the 
Navajo Supreme Court and issuance of subpoenas to judges to talk about 
that case indicates a disregard for the Navajo tribal court system. 

Let me make one more comment that is not in the letter, but arose out of 
the testimony that was given earlier by the individuals involved in the 
Baby Keetso case. 

As I understand it, Mr. Nelson had concerns about notice of hearing that 
were provided to those individuals. I also understand that he made a 
motion to the Navajo Tribal Court on that matter. Whether that motion 
was eventually heard, I believe it was made moot by the settlement 
agreement between the tribes, and Mr. Nelson may be able to confirm that. 

In any case, I believe that if there are any concerns about civil rights, 
due process, and procedure in that case, then those concerns should have 
been raised or should be raised to the Navajo court system and appealed, if 
necessary, to the Navajo Supreme Court, and I believe that justice wol4d 
be done if there were a violation in that instance. 
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SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Would you pardon me just a 
moment. I am guilty of a grave oversight. I meant at the outset of this 
session to announce to the assembled audience that if there were anyone 
present who is hearing impaired, I would appreciate their informing us by 
raising their hand for we have interpreters available. If no one would 
identify themselves as such, the interpreter will be free to relax. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
Now you may carry on, Mr. Nash. 
MR. NASH. I appreciate the Commissioner's comments at the outset of 

that inquiry that the Commission is not investigating the Indian Child 
Welfare Act, that the Commission's responsibilities, if any, are to 
investigate civil rights. I am characterizing what you say, and if I misstate 
it, I'm sure you will correct me. 

I do not think it's appropriate, given the publicity that that case has 
received, to bring the parties before this Commission in a public session 
and make public the matters as to the correctness of the decision and/or 
positions of the parties in that case. Those matters were litigated or are in 
litigation. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Mr. Nash, permit me to interrupt 
you one more time. I don't mean to be at all difficult and I want to hear 
what you have to say. I have not at the outset sworn you in as a witness 
because you wished to represent the Navajos with respect to the particular 
issue drafted in your letter. 

But if you wish to testify more broadly and generally, I would be glad to 
swear you in as a witness today. 

MR. NASH. No, I do not wish to testify, and if I overreach that effort, 
then-

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Then I would ask you to represent 
as you requested. 

MR. NASH. And I am sure you will inform me when I am stating too 
broadly. 

I do not believe it is consistent with the due process owed to the 
individuals that I represent and to the Navajo Nation to relitigate the Baby 
Keetso case before this Commission. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I don't believe that is the subject 
which you are representing this morning, if I understand your letter. 

MR. NASH. Well, I'll move on then. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
MR. NASH. As to the issuance of subpoenas to lawyers, the Navajo 

Nation and I, on its behalf, would assert privileges to matters within the 
knowledge of those lawyers and point out to the Commission that it is the 
ethical responsibility of those attorneys and representatives not to publicly 
disclose any information relating to the representation of their client. That 

36 



I derived from the Arizona Rules of Professional Ethics, which are based 
on the Model Rules of Professional Responsibility, rule 1.6. 

There is a presumption that other law, for example, the subpoena of this 
Commission, would not supersede that ethical responsibility unless it were 
issued by a tribunal of competent jurisdiction. Given our concerns that this 
Commission lacks authority in that regard and lacks authority to issue 
those subpoenas, it would be a violation of those attorneys' ethical 
responsibilities to appear and state such matters. 

One further note as to the Baby Keetso case. There are statutory 
restrictions on the disclosure of matters that occurred in those proceedings 
and orders of the Navajo and California courts, as I understand it, to that 
effect. 

I also represent Ms. Delores Greyeyes, who was not served with a 
subpoena by the Commission, as I understand it, from Mr. Howard's 
statements. The Division of Social Welfare of the Navajo Nation-

MR. HOWARD. Just to clarify, we attempted to serve her with a 
subpoena, and having giving her advance notice that she had been invited, 
we did send a letter to her as well that she did presumably receive. We 
were told by the Deputy Attorney General of the Navajo Nation that she 
would be produced, but shortly before our subpoenas were issued, she 
went on vacation and we have not been able to locate her. 

MR. NASH. I am sure that the Deputy Attorney General of the Navajo 
Nation may have some statements about what he said to Commission 
counsel and, if the record is open, that may be submitted at a later date. 

Ms. Delores Greyeyes works for the Navajo Nation Division of Social 
Welfare. The division of social welfare has a contract with the United 
States Bureau of Indian Affairs which makes the Privacy Act, the Federal 
Privacy Act, applicable to their operations. Concerns were raised with 
Commission counsel in advance that Ms, Greyeyes' testimony would 
violate her Privacy Act obligations that are imposed through that contract. 

One further comment. It is very disturbing to the Navajo Nation that 
this Commission has taken a, let us say, heavy-handed approach to this 
investigation by issuing subpoenas to these individuals that are broad and 
tend to go into areas of privilege and immunity and we say are beyond the 
scope of the Commission's authority. 

That is disturbing to us because the hearings before this Commission 
have been used by the United States Justice Department to justify to 
Congress changes in Federal law which we believe would seriously 
diminish tribal sovereignty and the ability of Indian tribes to regulate 
themselves and the ability of Indian people to self-governments and self­
determination in accordance with the policy that President Reagan has 
endorsed and that the Congress has endorsed. 

As we say at the conclusion of our letter, the attorney general and/or 
deputy attorney general are available to discuss these matters further with 
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Commission counsel or with the Commissioners if appropriate. The 
intention of the Navajo Nation at this point is to, unless such discussions 
occur, is to seek a judicial determination as to the scope of the 
Commission's authority. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Mr. Nash, let me just ask a quick question. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you, Mr. Nash. I interrupted 

my colleague only because I think it's important that I officially receive the 
letter for our record and allow that it be entered into the record without 
objection, and additionally indicate for the record that I have written to 
Judge Tom Tso, a letter dated July 18, 1988, in response to his concerns 
previously addressed to me and the Commission and which responded in 
advance to the letter we received from you this morning. 

I will read that letter into the record to close this portion of our 
discussion. 

Dear Chief Justice Tso: 

I am in receipt of your letter dated July 6 delivered to the Commission by 
overnight express on July 12 in which you refused my written invitation of June 29 
to appear and give testimony at the Commission's hearing on July 20. 

I am pleased that you have since reconsidered. Still, I wish to answer the legitimate 
concerns in your July 6 letter, for I firmly believe that your disinclination to appear 
was based on a misapprehension of the scope and jurisdiction of our hearings. 

As Commission staff has explained to you, no question will be asked of you that 
will require you to violate the American Bar Association Code of Judicial Ethics. 
As they have further explained to you, you will not be asked to comment on 
pending cases or to render advisory opinions. 

To the contrary, the only areas that the Commission wishes to explore with you are 
the areas of the independence of the Navajo Nation judiciary, both historically and 
presently and the administration of justice insofar as it does not involve pending 
litigation or require that you render advisory opinions. 

As you know, Commission staff volunteered to provide you with written questions 
in advance of the hearing and to ask additional questions during the hearing only as 
necessary as to clarify your responses to the written questions. 

You also are aware that Commission staff volunteered to place you first on the 
agenda so that you would not inadvertently hear the testimony of others that might 
be inappropriate for you as a sitting judge to hear. 

In sum, I think it clear that Commission staff has fully explained the areas that we 
intend to explore with you, has made every effort to facilitate your appearance, and 
has made it evident that the dignity of your office as Chief Justice would be fully 
respected. 

Indeed, I would think that in light of these explanations you would, as Chief Justice 
of the Navajo Nation, relish the opportunity to provide testimony before the 
Commission. 
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While the information your office has previously supplied to Commission staff has 
been helpful, questions remain which we wish to explore with you. The 
Commission staff has received allegations that the independence of the judiciary of 
the Navajo Nation has been recently threatened. 

Clearly, it is in the interest of the Navajo Nation's judiciary that the Commission on 
Civil Rights requested that you appear to provide us with testimony. It is precisely 
the independence of tribal judiciaries that has been a principal interest of the 
Commission's subcommittee on enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act. 
Indeed, with strong and independent judiciaries, enforcement of the ICRA 
flourishes. I trust that my comments respond to your concerns. 

I look forward to seeing you on July 20 and believe that you will leave the hearing 
pleased with the result. 

Sincerely, William B. Allen, ICRA Subcommittee Chairman. 

MR. NASH. May I interrupt the Commission briefly? 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. If you will hold for a moment, 

because we are in fact considerably off our schedule and we wish to return 
to it shortly, but I would like to allow another 5 minutes for my colleague, 
Commissioner Destro, to ask the question he wishes to pursue and then for 
the General Counsel to raise any further issues with you that they may 
have in mind. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Perhaps you can't answer the question, Mr. 
Nash. I think the record in terms of the back and forth between the 
Commission and the Navajo Nation more or less speaks for itself, and if it 
is necessary, then we will have some kind of determination made. 

Acknowledging that you are speaking for the tribe, and assuming there 
is certainly no discrepancy between Commissioner Allen and myself, we 
have no interest in getting into privileged materials, whether they are 
judicially privileged or attorney-client privileged or dealing with matters 
in pending litigation. 
, As I read your letter or as I read the tribe's letter, the real issue here is 
whether or not the Commission has jurisdiction to investigate the 
operation of the Indian Civil Rights Act. Isn't that really the tribe's bottom 
line position? 

MR. NASH. That is one of the most significant issues facing the tribe at 
this point. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Even if we just threw all those other issues out 
and were able to reach a very amicable understanding, the real issue still is 
whether or not the Commission has the jurisdiction to investigate the 
operation of the act. 

MR. NASH. That issue would certainly remain. I don't think that this 
letter forecloses discussions about voluntary provision of information if it 
were not made pursuant to a subpoena and if other real assurances were 
made. 
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Let me just say the Commissioner read a letter that he sent to Chief 
Justice Tso. I have not had an opportunity to consult with Chief Justice 
Tso since that was received yesterday afternoon. So I can't respond on his 
behalf, but if he has a response, I'm hopeful that the Commission will leave 
the record open so that that can be submitted. 

Two points. The letter does not address the subpoena issue, and as I 
understand it, the questions that counsel promised to provide to the Chief 
Justice were never provided. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. All right. I just wanted to make sure that the 
record is clear that the Commission certainly has no intention of asking any 
kind of questions subject to privilege, and I certainly would not approve of 
asking any such questions, but that we take our jurisdiction very seriously 
and that I think we need to, if you are going to be going back, and I know 
you will, in terms of understanding the tribe's position with respect to the 
Commission's authority; it's that we still, or at least I, certainly, as a 
member of this subcommittee, have some questions as to just how far the 
tribe's position with respect to jurisdiction goes. 

The letter has within it the words "under the Constitution" underlined, 
and my understanding is that Congress has the right to make laws under 
the Constitution which govern the rights of American citizens, whether 
they be Indian or Asian or European or whatever, whatever their descent 
is. 

So basically, if I understand the underlining correctly, the tribe's 
position is that this is not an investigation and the tribe is not covered by 
the Constitution insofar as the Indian Civil Rights Act. Is that correct? Do 
I read the documents correctly that way? 

MR. NASH. Would you restate the last part of your question? 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. One of the opinions of the attorney general 

that we have in our file notes that the tribe takes the position that the 
Indian Civil Rights Act is not mandatorily binding on the tribe and that it 
is advisory and was superseded in effect by the Navajo Bill of Rights. 

MR. NASH. I don't believe at this point that it would be productive for 
you and I to debate the merits of that question. I would refer you to the 
tribe's arguments-to the statement that we submitted on September 11, 
1987, to the Commission. 

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Okay. So for the record, then, what we are 
looking at is a resolution of the tribal council. The numbers on it appear to 
be CMY28-88, amending 1 Navajo Tribal Code, sections 352, 353, and 354 
of the Navajo Sovereign Immunity Act and paragraph 9. 

MR. MILLER. It's May of 1988. 
CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. May of 1988. I am quoting: 

The recognition and redress for individual rights of the people of the Navaj9 
Nation enacted in the Navajo Nation Bill of Rights in the Navajo Sovereign 
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Immunity Act exceeds and therefore supersedes the provisions of the Federal 
Indian Civil Rights Act as the source of jurisdiction of the courts of the Navajo 
Nation in such matters. 

Would you like to refer to this? 
MR. NASH. I will assume that you read it accurately. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Should we take that as the definitive statement 

of the governing body of the tribe? 
MR. NASH. Well, assuming that you read accurately from a resolution of 

the Navajo Tribal Council, then that resolution speaks for itself. I don't 
think it's helpful for me to give an opinion as counsel for the nation as to 
what that means. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. I understand that. I just wanted to know 
whether or not is that the most recent, to your knowledge, statement of the 
tribal council's position? 

MR. NASH. To my knowledge, that is the !llOSt recent amendment of the 
Navajo Sovereign Immunity Act. I don't know that the tribal council has 
stated anything else. 

Let me just say that whether or not the Indian Civil Rights Act applies 
to the Navajo Nation, which I don't know what the position of the Navajo 
Nation is on this at that point, in Navajo tradition there is a great respect 
for procedural fairness and for fairness generally. 

Further, the Navajo Nation has enacted its own Bill of Rights prior to 
the Indian Civil Rights Act. The protections are there in place for Navajo 
individuals, and there is an independent judiciary which was, in 1985, 
strengthened by tribal law, and those protections are there whether or not 
the Indian Civil Rights Act applies to the tribe. Let me clarify again: I 
don't know what the tribe's position is on that technical question. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Mr. Miller. 
MR. MILLER. There are so many statements that are crying out for 

clarification, and I would like to just pick one or two and try to clarify. 
First of all, concerning the questions that were to be provided to the 

Navajo judiciary, there is an agreement between Deputy Attorney 
General Erik Dahlstrom and myself concerning the date when those 
questions were to be provided. 

Before that date came, I received a call from Mr. Dahlstrom stating that 
the judges would not appear and that our agreements were no longer in 
effect. Therefore, the questions were not then provided, as the agreements 
were called off. 

On page 2, paragraph 1, of the letter you refer to certain information 
that was not followed up upon. I would like to state that requests were 
made. There were disputes about whether or not those documents were 

I publicly releasable, and we left it to the Navajo Nation to send those 
documents to us, and we have not received them. 
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For the record, I would like to state that a number of telephone 
conversations took place between Erik Dahlstrom and myself beginning at 
least during the week of June 27. In those conversations, the scope of the 
hearing and the issues that would be discussed at the hearing were 
discussed. Various items and concerns were raised, and we reached certain 
agreements. We discussed all the matters. The Commission tried to 
accommodate every concern of the Navajo Nation, and we were working 
toward an adequate compromise. 

All of a sudden, around July 15, Erik Dahlstrom called and informed me 
that all of our discussions and compromises were off and that the Navajo 
officials would not appear. 

Mr. Chairman, I would like to enter for the record the tribal council 
resolution of last year dated August 12, 1987, where the tribal council 
reached a resolution basically barring Navajo employees from participat­
ing in our hearing last year. I would like to submit that for the record and 
comment that, in light of that resolution, the subcommittee felt that 
subpoenas were necessary to ensure that Navajo officials did indeed appear 
and give testimony, given the fact that the Commission went to great 
expense to hold the hearing. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you, Mr. Miller. 
We do need to proceed with our discussion of independence of the 

judiciary. 
I would like to comment, in general, for the benefit of the audience 

assembled and who has listened to this colloquy, that the Commission is, as 
Commissioner Destro has indicated, confident about its authority and 
jurisdiction, but perhaps one needs to be reminded that that jurisdiction 
does not extend over any corporate body per se, whether the Navajo or 
any State or the Federal Government. 

It is primarily concerned with Americans wherever they be found. 
Many people have spent time calculating the percentages ofblood that this 
or that Indian might have in a given nation. 

We don't make those calculations at this Commission, and we don't 
think there are any calculations of American bloodedness, but that every 
American, in any degree whatever, is a full-blooded American, and that is 
where our writ runs and that is where we conduct our inquiries. 

I would like to tum to the panel and ask you to all take the oath 
swearing you in collectively to the following terms, that is, to Sandy 
Hansen, Duane Beyal, and Michael Nelson. 

[Sandy Hansen, Duane Beyal, and Michael Nelson were sworn.] 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
MR. NASH. Mr. Chairman, may I respond briefly to the statements that 

were made at the close of the former-
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I don't think that is appropriate or 

necessary, Mr. Nash. You have given us a full response and we have it on 
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the record. The record does remain open for 30 days, and if you have 
something additional to submit, you may do so. 

MR. NASH. Thank you very much. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. But we do need to carry on. Thank 

you. 
Mr. Miller. 
MR. MILLER. Ms. Hansen, would you state your name, your experience 

in tribal court, and give us a brief statement for the record. 

TESTIMONY OF SANDY HANSEN, ATIORNEY, BOULDER, 
COLORADO 

Ms. HANSEN. My name is Sandy Hansen. That is H-a-n-s-e-n. I am an 
attorney in Boulder, Colorado. I guess my experience in tribal court has 
been limited to appearing on behalf of the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation in the District Court of Window Rock for the 
Navajo Nation. 

MR. MILLER. Do you have a written statement that you would like to 
submit? 

Ms. HANSEN. Yes. I believe I mailed it to you all and I would just like to 
submit it in its entirety as you received it. 

MR. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, I move that we submit Ms. Hansen's 
statement for the record. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Very good. It is received and, 
without objection, entered into the record. 

MR. MILLER. I understand that you are testifying today with some 
mixed feelings. Would you care to comment on that? 

Ms. HANSEN. I have worked with Indian tribes since 1976 and took 3 
years off to go to law school, but while I was in law school I worked with 
various Indian law professors and remain current in the field. 

I have a great deal of respect for tribes' authority and ability to govern 
their own affairs, but I also have a great deal of respect for individual 
Indians' rights vis-a-vis their tribal government. 

On my first trip to Window Rock, which was precipitated by the events 
that resulted in Upshaw ex rel., Benally v. Gorman case, we filed an action 
against the tribe and were dismissed on grounds of sovereign immunity. 

I went back to the foundation's offices, and several Navajo people, some 
of whom were members of the board of directors, who are our clients, and 
some of whom were not, asked, "We are Americans; don't we have rights, 
too?" 

To me it was extremely poignant, and based on those two conflicting 
beliefs in the sovereignty of tribes and their ability and authority to run 
their own affairs and also based upon the Navajo people's traditional 
respect for their individual rights, I am testifying today. 
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I believe that, regardless of what government you have, that govern­
ment's authority is and ought to be limited when it intrudes on basic 
individual liberties. 

MR. MILLER. Thank you. 
I would like to make it clear for the record that our concern in hearing 

your testimony and our concern in the foundation case is not one of the 
merits and not one of who is right and who is wrong. Our concern is a 
concern for due process, for civil rights, for the availability of forums and 
the ability to bring an action against the Navajo Nation for violation of 
civil rights. With that in mind, could you give us a thumbnail sketch of 
your involvement in the foundation case? 

Ms. HANSEN. The foundation was created by resolution of the advisory 
committee in 1983 and operated along fine for a little over 3 years. It built 
the building to house the educational programs of the Navajo Nation, and 
it collected money from private sources to fund a scholarship program. 
That happened between 1983 and February 25, 1987. 

I should backtrack. At the time the foundation was created, the tribe had 
no Corporation Code. So it was chartered by the advisory committee. 

In January of 1986 the tribe enacted a Corporation Code which included 
a provision for chartering nonprofit corporations. Eleven months later the 
advisory committee authorized the foundation to apply for incorporation 
under the tribe's Corporation Code, which the foundation did, and it was 
issued a certificate of incorporation on, I believe, December 16, 1986. 

On February 25, 1987, a new advisory committee enacted two 
resolutions which affected the foundation. The first one declared that the 
foundation was an entity of the Navajo Nation, and the second one, subject 
to the plenary control of the advisory committee. In the second resolution, 
the advisory committee purported to approve the Chairman's removal of 
the then-sitting members of the board of trustees of the foundation and 
appoint successor members. 

The persons appointed by that resolution, ACF-5387, have been 
referred to as the Benally board, and the persons removed by that 
resolution have been referred to as the Gorman board indicating those 
names were picked by virtue of their chairmen, the chairmen of those 
boards. 

We filed suit against the tribe on February 27 asking to enjoin 
enforcement of those two resolutions and declaring that they violated the 
Corporation Code and the due process provisions of the Navajo Bill of 
Rights and ICRA. 

We were dismissed on sovereignty immunity grounds because we had 
named the Chairman and vice chairman and delegates to the advisory 
committee in their official capacities. We submitted a brief arguing that 
they had exceeded the scope of their authority, but resolving whether or 
not they had exceeded the scope of their authority required going to the 
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merits of the case, and the judge determined that he couldn't go to the 
merits of the case because it was a jurisdictional condition precedent to 
determine that they were acting outside the scope of their authority. 

I believe the action was dismissed on March 5, and on March 6 Mike 
Nelson and I prepared an identical complaint naming the parties and a lot 
of the rest of the world in their individual capacities. 

Just as we were ready to file that with the judge, we were called to a 
conference with the attorney general and counsel that represented by the 
Chairman and vice chairman, and were persuaded that the parties ought to 
try to settle the dispute outside the judicial system, and as a demonstration 
of our good faith, we agreed not to file the complaint. 

One week later the first negotiating session was held, at which time the 
Benally board presented the nonnegotiable demands that the Gorman 
board concede that the foundation was a tribal entity subject to the plenary 
authority of the advisory committee and that they fire Peterson Zah as 
chairman of the foundation's fundraising arm. They didn't want to throw 
out the baby with the bath water. So they asked us to file our individual 
complaint. That was on March 12. 

On March 13, as we were going down to the courthouse, the justice 
department beat us and filed their complaint in the nature of an action quo 
wa"antro. 

MR. MILLER. An action quo wa"antro is to dissolve a corporation; is that 
correct? 

Ms. HANSEN. Well, we were directed to show by what authority we 
claimed ownership of the corporation. 

MR. MILLER. Thank you. 
Ms. HANSEN. That case was decided on September 18 by Judge Robert 

Yazzie. He ruled that the foundation had been, since its inception, an entity 
separate from the Navajo Nation, and that as a result of the tribe's Bill of 
Rights and the Corporation Code, the February 25 resolutions were, in his 
words, invalid and of no effect. 

After the September 18 decision was handed down, the tribe filed both 
an appeal with the supreme court and motions for reconsideration. 
Everything was left in limbo for about a month because the supreme court 
assumed Judge Yazzie had jurisdiction and Judge Yazzie assumed the 
supreme court did. 

When a procedural order worked that out, we all responded to the 
tribe's motions for reconsideration, motions for stay of execution, and their 
post-trial motions, and we filed a post-trial motion for award of attorneys' 
fees. The attorneys' fees are substantial in this case for a number of reasons. 

Anyway, everything rocked along with just lawyers passing papers back 
and forth until February 4 when, without any notice to us, the tribal 
council considered a resolution which had the effect-well, it recommend­
ed that the advisory committee solve the problem of the foundation. 
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We were concerned about that because at the January meeting where 
the advisory committee considered this resolution, the legally operative 
portion of the resolution merely expressed the tribal council's support for 
the attorney general's post-trial motions, but when it was presented to the 
tribal council, it was presented in the form that the advisory committee and 
the attorney general's office should do what they could to see that the 
foundation was operated as an entity of the Navajo Nation. 

Again, that resolution was presented to Judge Yazzie by Assistant 
Attorney General Bill Riordan in a letter dated February 16, 1988, and in 
that letter he asked Judge Yazzie to take judicial notice of the resolution, 
and I believe the language of his letter was "particularly these are motions 
for reconsideration of your decision of September 18, 1987." That is all the 
letter said. 

We responded with a 26-page brief saying that the February 4 resolution 
of the tribal council was invalid as a legislative usurpation of judicial 
authority under Navajo law, not under INS v. Chadha or other Anglo 
cases, but under Navajo law. 

We also argued that if it was presented as an attempt for the 1988 
legislature to proscribe what the intent of the 1983 legislature that created 
the foundation was, that it was entitled to no deference, and there we had 
to rely on non-Navajo law. 

The attorney general didn't respond to the substance of our memo, but a 
hearing was held on April 22 of 1988 on all of the post-trial motions, and 
we just got up and did what lawyers do. 

We didn't hear anything again until May 24 or 25, and the advisory 
committee, again with no notice to us, passed a resolution terminating the 
foundation's lease to its space in the Navajo Education Center and 
directing the Benally board to assert control over the foundation and again 
declaring the foundation to be an entity of the tribe. 

That night Mr. Peterson Zah got a tip that someone was tampering with 
the lock on the foundation's door. At this time we were unaware that this 
resolution had even passed. I'm told that it was passed at 5:25 on the 
evening of May 24. 

Around 6:30 Mr. Zah got a tip that somebody was tampering with the 
door to the foundation's offices. He and Duane acted on the tip and went 
down to the foundation's office and found a man named Lloyd House and 
a workman preparing to change the lock on the foundation's office. 

Mr. Zah told Mr. House to stop and then called me, and I stayed up and 
wrote a motion for a temporary restraining order and a complaint. 

Mr. Zah spent the night at the foundation's offices to avoid being locked 
out. The next day Judge Yazzie issued our temporary restraining order 
restraining anyone from interfering with the foundation's employees' 
access to the building. 

May I pause for a moment? 
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COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Ms. Hansen, would you state for the record 
what you are referring to, the document that you are referring to just so 
the record is clear. 

Ms. HANSEN. I am referring to my written statement that I submitted 
and you all admitted into the record. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Thank you. 
[Pause.] 
MR. MILLER. Ms. Hansen, the documents that you have referred to, are 

they exhibits to your written testimony? 
Ms. HANSEN. Oh, yes, they are. 
The resolution terminating the lease was passed on May 24. That is the 

night that Mr. Zah spent at the foundation's office. And on May 25 we 
filed a motion for a TRO in Judge Y azzie's court. 

On the night of May 25, Lloyd House and a tribal police officer 
appeared at the foundation and delivered Mr. Zah a letter saying that he 
had been fired by the Benally board and directing him to tum over all the 
foundation's records to Mr. House, who was purportedly appointed as 
executive director of the foundation. 

That night Judge Yazzie signed our temporary restraining order in 
which we had requested an injunction against anybody from interfering 
with the Gorman board's authority to direct the foundation. 

Also on that night, and unbeknownst to Mr. Zah and anyone else 
associated with the foundation or myself, Judge Wayne Cadman of the 
Chinle District enjoined Mr. Zah and anyone from interfering with the 
Benally board's access to the foundation. 

We found out about the Chinle order on May 26 when Lloyd House and 
at least two, Duane knows how many, Navajo policemen attempted to 
serve it on Mr. Zah at the foundation's offices. 

I called Judge Cadman, concerned that this TRO had been issued by his 
court when the action was filed or all the foundation's actions had been 
filed in Window Rock and it was, under Navajo law, the court of proper 
venue. Based on those concerns, he dissolved the order later in the day on 
the 26th, by noon on the 26th, and transferred that action to Window Rock 
in Judge Yazzie's court. 

On Friday, May 27, or I guess on the 26th, the attorney general's office 
filed a motion to dissolve our temporary restraining order, and Judge 
Yazzie held a hearing on that, and I appeared by telephone and Erik 
Dahlstrom appeared in the judge's chambers. 

In the meantime, after the judge issued the TRO enjoining anyone from 
interfering with the Gorman board's access to the foundation, that night or 
the next night-I guess it's May 26-Bobby Charley, the chief executive 
administrator of the tribe, issued an executive order closing the Navajo 
Education Center. At that time the closure was supposed to be effective 
through June 3. 
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MR. MILLER. Ms. Hansen, if I could interrupt for just. a moment because 
lunchtime is approaching. 

If I could just summarize some of the highlights that you have 
mentioned so far, and correct me if I'm wrong. 

In September the Window Rock District Court issued a decision, I 
guess, determining the status of the foundation. 

In February the tribal council issued a resolution clarifying the status of 
the foundation. 

Then in May certain temporary restraining orders were entered. There 
were two conflicting temporary restraining orders entered, and the 
building was sealed off. 

Perhaps if the Chairman decides to break for lunch, you could pick up 
there and summarize the events in May. 

Have I accurately summarized it? 
Ms. HANSEN. Well, in May, before the temporary restraining orders 

were issued, the advisory committee passed a resolution asserting control 
over the foundation again. The February resolution of the tribal council 
only expressed-there is conflict over what it did. At one point, we were 
told by the attorney general's office that it only expressed the sense of the 
legislature, but the advisory committee's actions indicate that it included­
their perception was that the February 4 resolution included specific 
directives to the advisory committee. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
This is a propitious moment for the Commission to break. We are a little 

ahead of our scheduled lunchtime. So that means we can come back a few 
minutes earlier as well. But given what we have yet to develop, if it's all 
right with the panel-

VOICE. We are running a little bit late. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We are a little bit late someone said, 

not by the new schedule, but only by the old schedule. We are early by the 
new schedule. 

We would want to bring Mr. Beyal, Mr. Nelson, and Ms. Hansen back 
after lunch if that is all right with them, and I want to make sure. 

[Panelists nodding in agreement.] 
Good. Then let us recess until 15 minutes after 1. 
[Recess.] 

Afternoon Session 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. The Commission is again in session 

for our hearing on enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act. I thank 
you, Ms. Hansen and Mr. Beyal, for indulging us a little lunch. We are now 
ready to go again, and I return to the General Counsel. 

MR. HOWARD. Mr. Miller. 
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MR. MILLER. Ms. Hansen, I believe right before the break you were 
beginning to briefly describe the events around May 24, I believe. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Excuse me, Mr. Miller, if you 
wouldn't mind. 

I would once again invite those in the audience to signal whether we 
have present anyone who is hearing impaired. Simply raise your hand if 
that be the case and, if not, I will ask the interpreter to take her seat. 

MR. MILLER. Ms. Hansen, if you could briefly summarize those events, 
we would appreciate it. 

Ms. HANSEN. On May 25 we had the conflicting temporary restraining 
orders. The one from the Chinle court was dissolved by noon of that day. 

On May 27 we had a hearing on a motion to dissolve Judge Yazzie's 
temporary restraining order, and at that point I brought up the issue also of 
Mr. Charley's closure of the building and the inconvenience that would 
impose on the foundation employees. 

Judge Yazzie issued a verbal order that was later committed to writing, 
ordering the tribe to keep the building open to the foundation employees 
until 5 o'clock on Friday, but permitting it to be closed until the hearing on 
our motion for a preliminary injunction that was scheduled for 4 days later. 

The employees were permitted access to the building at around 2:30, 
which was several hours after the judge issued his verbal order, but only a 
few minutes after he committed it to writing, and they left at 5 and have 
not been in since, have not been permitted in their office since 5 o'clock 
May 27. 

On May 31, at a hearing held on our motion for a preliminary injunction, 
Judge Yazzie reappointed an interim board comprised of three members of 
each of the competing boards to direct the affairs of the foundation, hoping 
that that would temper the situation. 

A similar interim board had been usei:l to operate the foundation from 
February 27 through September 18, 1987. 

He stated at the hearing on May 31 that that interim board, the order 
appointing the interim board, would be in effect until 30 days after he 
issued his final order on the post-trial motions before him. He entered the 
final orders on those post-trial motions on June 2. 

So, according to his statements in chambers, the order appointing the 
interim board should have expired on July 2. However, I got a letter from 
Erik Dahlstrom, the deputy attorney general, on June 15 stating that it was 
the tribe's opinion that the order appointing the interim board had expired 
on June 2 when the judge issued his final orders on the post-trial motion. 

So, basically, throughout the month of June the foundation was in limbo, 
with us taking Judge Yazzie at his word and the tribe taking an opposing 
view of the duration of his order appointing the interim board. 

To our knowledge, no one has had access to the foundation's records 
except for an auditor that was commissioned by the tribe to, against the 
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foundation's will, audit its accounts. The foundation was willing to have an 
audit conducted, but just not in the manner in which it was conducted. As 
a matter of fact, we asked if the order requesting the audit couldn't come 
from the interim board. 

That brings us up to date, except on July 1 and July 5 the tribe appealed 
Judge Yazzie's order and we appealed his ruling on our motion for 
attorneys' fees. 

MR. MILLER. Ms. Hansen, if we could back over some of the major 
events. 

Do you feel that you got due process and a fair hearing by Judge Yazzie 
in the issuing of the September opinion? 

Ms. HANSEN. Absolutely. Judge Yazzie conducted himself as you would 
expect any jurist to in terms of according everybody the rules that are 
granted to them under the Navajo Rules of Civil Procedure. 

MR. MILLER. What about with the February tribal council hearing and 
resolution? 

Ms. HANSEN. There I don't believe we were accorded due process. 
Attached to my statement is a transcript of the February 4 proceeding of 
the tribal council, and it demonstrates that Bill Riordan, who was opposing 
counsel in the case; Rebecca Martgan, who was a member of the Benally 
board and director of the tribe's educational programs; either Mike 
Upshaw or Erik Dahlstrom, who are from the attorney general's office; 
and four council delegates who voted in favor of the February 4 resolution 
were permitted to speak. 

The transcript shows, and newspaper accounts of the meeting show, that 
several councilmen who opposed the measure indicated their desire to be 
recognized by the Chairman so that they could speak out against it. One of 
those persons is a member of the Gorman board and a delegate from 
Jeddito, and he had his hand raised indicating his desire to speak out 
during the speeches made by three council members, and when it became 
apparent that the debate was going to be terminated before he was given 
an opportunity to speak, he stood, which is extremely uncharacteristic; he 
stood, indicating his extreme desire to be recognized, and yet he was not. 

No one was permitted to speak out against the measure, and it finally 
ended up in a 38 to 38 tie, with the Chairman casting the tie-breaking vote. 

MR. MILLER. What about with the more recent events with the 
temporary restraining orders? 

Ms. HANSEN. I believe that Judge Yazzie followed the rules in granting 
our temporary restraining order. I can't say the same about Judge Cadman, 
but I don't know what pleadings were presented to him because copies of 
them have never been served on Mr. Zah, who is a named party, or any 
other members of the foundation's board, the Gorman board. 

MR. MILLER. Were you given notice of the petition for the TRO? 
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Ms. HANSEN. No, and I wasn't contacted, and to this day I have not 
gotten notice, nor has Mr. Zah nor has any other member of the 
foundation's board. The only thing we have seen from the Chinle action is 
the temporary restraining order. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Is there any indication in the record that you 
have, because we don't have it in your statement, that the Chinle order was 
dissolved later? You said it was later dissolved, but we don't have any 
indication that it was, I don't think. 

Ms. HANSEN. We do have an order from Judge Cadman stating that it is 
dissolved and transferred, and if that is not included in this record, I can 
send it to you. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Okay. Then, once it was dissolved and 
transferred, do you think then the procedure went back to basically the 
normal way of doing things? 

Ms. HANSEN. Yes. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. So, then, even in the end with Judge Cadman 

things worked out? 
Ms. HANSEN. Yes, and Judge Cadman's order presented a problem for 

less than 4 hours. 
MR. MILLER. What about with the actions of the police and the 

executive branch generally? 
Ms. HANSEN. From my perspective, since February 25 they have been in 

direct violation of a tribal court order, and that order is Judge Y azzie's 
temporary restraining order of May 25 and his subsequent orders. 

Judge Yazzie ruled on September 18, 1987, and again on June 2, 1988, 
that the foundation is and always has been an entity separate from the 
Navajo Nation. It's the Navajo Nation that is denying the persons whom 
Judge Yazzie has declared to be lawfully entitled to direct the foundation 
access to the foundation. 

The Navajo Nation is, in fact, encouraging persons whom Judge Yazzie 
determined were appointed pursuant to invalid resolutions to direct the 
affairs of the foundation. I guess my comment on that is it's an example of 
lawlessness.. The Navajo Nation executive is not obeying the orders of its 
own court. 

MR. MILLER. Is this particular with the foundation case and do you see a 
pattern developing? 

Ms. HANSEN. Yes. The degree to which the tribe has violated its own 
court orders is unique to my experience in the foundation case, but I don't 
live on the reservation, so I don't know the degree to which it happens in 
regards to other cases. 

I do know from the reported decisions of the tribal courts and the 
resolutions passed by the tribal council that a pattern seems to have 
emerged within the last several months that if the administration doesn't 
like the opinions of the tribal council, it seeks a legislative reversal. 
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My experience is also that when it seeks a legislative reversal, it fails to 
fully inform the tribal council so that the council is fully aware. I think 
when the council takes actions on these legislative reversals, it's not fully 
informed, and the pattern I am speaking of is the legislative reversal of the 
Gould case. 

In that case the supreme court determined that the insurance exception 
to the Sovereign Immunity Act doesn't expire if the insurance company 
goes bankrupt. Within a matter of weeks after the supreme court came 
down with that decision, a resolution was passed, presented to the council 
and passed by them with no discussion, reversing that. There was no 
debate on that resolution, and now the law, according to the council, is 
that if you bring a cause of action under the insurance exception to the 
Sovereign Immunity Act, your case dies if before you get final judgment 
the insurance company goes belly up. 

And then our case, too, where the February 4 resolution appears to have 
been interpreted as legislatively reversing Judge Yazzie's opinions. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Let's, again, make the record clear here that 
courts or legislatures often pass legislation to remedy what they consider 
to be erroneous court decisions. They didn't reverse the result in that case, 
did they? 

Ms. HANSEN. In the Gould case they did. I think it will be interpreted as 
reversing Gould. The Gould case has never been tried on the merits. So 
there is no judgment. The supreme court said that Mr. Gould's cause of 
action hasn't died yet, and the resolution of the tribal council appears to 
say, oh, yes, it has. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. But it still remains to be seen as to whether the 
resolution would be given retroactive effect to a case pending though. We 
don't know that yet, do we? 

Ms. HANSEN. We don't know it for sure, but that is the pattern that has 
been argued, or that is what has been argued in our case. 

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. Fine. Thank you. 
Ms. HANSEN. And I would expect it to be argued in the Gould case. 
MR. MILLER. A minute ago you referred to it had been argued 

concerning the February resolution, that that was an overruling of the 
September decision. Who argued that and what are you referring to? 

Ms. HANSEN. That is my interpretation of Bill Riordan's February 16 
letter to Judge Yazzie and the subsequent actions of the advisory 
committee. If, as Judge Yazzie determined, the February 25, '87, 
resolutions of the AC were invalid, then any taking of the foundation or 
any attempt to control the foundation with anyone other than the Gorman 
board is also invalid. 

According to law, Judge Yazzie's opinion remains law until it is 
overturned, if it is, by the supreme court, or unless the February 4 and May 
24 resolutions dispose of the case. The tribal government is acting as if the 
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I
February 4 and May 24 resolutions are the law of the case rather than 
Judge Y azzie's opinions. 

MR. MILLER. I see. You mentioned that the foundation's building was 
basically sealed off; is that correct? 

Ms. HANSEN. Yes. It was sealed off and access was denied to not only 
the foundation's employees, but all employees of the education division for 
17 days until June 13, and on June 13 the public was invited back to the 
building, except that the foundation's offices are sealed and no one is 
permitted into those offices. 

MR. MILLER. Do you feel that you could bring an action in tribal court 
for a taking of that property without due process? Could you get an 
injunction? Could you comment on that? Why haven't you done that or 
what would be the outcome as you see it? 

Ms. HANSEN. We considered doing that, but there are a lot of 
procedural hoops you have to jump through. 

First of all, the persons who are responsible for the action-under the 
Sovereign Immunity Act you can't get injunctive relief against the 
Chairman, vice chairman, or delegates to the tribal council. That 
necessarily includes the advisory committee, and it is by resolution of the 
advisory committee that access to the office is being denied. 

So, in order to get any kind of injunctive relief, you have to allege that 
the advisory committee is acting outside the scope of its authority. The 
advisory committee is a committee of enumerated powers, and one of its 
enumerated powers is control over leases. But, of course, its control over 
leases is limited by the Bill of Rights. If it is going to cancel the lease, it has 
to do it in accordance with the Bill of Rights. 

But there for the judge to determine whether or not he has got 
jurisdiction over the case, he would have to go to the merits of the case 
because he doesn't have jurisdiction to issue afi iii junction against the AC if 
they are acting within the scope of their authority. So you've got this poor 
judge trying to juggle things. 

Other procedural hurdles you have to jump through is you have to give 
the tribe 30-days' notice that you intend to sue. After that 30 days has 
passed, you can file your complaint. Then you have to wait 60 days for the 
tribe to answer, and the court cannot enjoin any tribal officials until the 
expiration of those 60 days the way the rules are written. So you've got 90 
days elapsed, assuming that you don't get dismissed on sovereignty 
immunity grounds. 

MR. MILLER. Assuming you jump through all those hoops and assuming 
that you are not dismissed on the basis of sovereignty immunity, in your 
opinion, what would be the effect of an injunction enjoining the police 
from sealing off the foundation's building? 

Ms. HANSEN. I can't guess at what the effect would be. You can always 
hope that the rule of law would prevail, but that hasn't been the case in the 
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past. There are court orders saying that the Gorman board are the only 
people entitled to direct the affairs of the foundation, but they have been 
prohibited from exercising those adjudicated rights since May 25. 

MR. MILLER. Are the foundation's assets frozen? 
Ms. HANSEN. No, they are not. I don't believe they are. They are having 

difficulty. A donor several years ago gave the foundation some Exxon 
stock to be used for the administration of the foundation and not for 
scholarship purposes, and after Judge Yazzie issued his September 18 
order, the foundation passed a resolution asking that those stock be sold 
and the holder of those stock is Fiduciary Trust of California. 

They refused to sell the stock based on orders of the attorney general's 
office. We tried to explain to them that the mere filing of a motion for 
reconsideration or stay does not in fact stay a judge's decision, but to date 
they have refused to sell those stock, although I understand that 
discussions with the attorney general's office and Fiduciary Trust are 
getting Fiduciary Trust to lighten up a little bit. 

MR. MILLER. Did the foundation plan to use any of the proceeds of that 
sale to pay attorney's fees, do you know? 

Ms. HANSEN. I haven't discussed it with them. That would be in the 
parameters of the gift. We are talking about $10,000 or $15,000. 

MR. MILLER. Is there a problem with the foundation's ability to pay 
attorneys? 

Ms. HANSEN. Absolutely. They have incurred more than $100,000 
worth of legal fees as a result of this case. 

MR. MILLER. Why can't they pay that? 
Ms. HANSEN. Pardon? 
MR. MILLER. Why can't they pay their attorneys? 
Ms. HANSEN. They don't have the money. They are a nonprofit 

charitable foundation, and the bulk of their contributions go as they were 
intended to go, to give scholarships to Navajo students who don't qualify 
for tribal or Federal scholarships. They have several hundred thousand 
dollars in their scholarship accounts, but I'm not going to go ask a judge to 
raid those funds to pay for my dog food. 

MR. MILLER. Okay. Are you familiar with the resolution of May, I 
believe it's May 8, 1988, and, Mr. Chairman, I would like to submit for the 
record a copy of the resolution of the tribal council dated May 6, 1988. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. You didn't produce that previous­
ly? 

MR. MILLER. Commissioner Destro quoted from it, but it was never 
formally introduced. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Very well, you can introduce it for 
the record, without objection. 

MR. MILLER. Would you like a copy to look at? 
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I 
Ms. HANSEN. Is that the resolution amending the Sovereign Immunity 

Act? 
MR. MILLER. Yes, it is. 
Ms. HANSEN. I am familiar with it. Thank you. 
MR. MILLER. Mr. Nelson, I understand that you are familiar with that 

resolution also; is that true? 
MR. NELSON. Yes. 
MR. MILLER. Please feel free to comment on any of the questions. What 

was the impetus for that resolution, do you know? 
Ms. HANSEN. I believe it was the Gould case and the ruling in that case 

that was adverse to the tribe's position. 
MR. MILLER. Does the resolution make it easier or harder to bring a 

civil rights action? 
Ms. HANSEN. I believe it makes it harder, the section that Commissioner 

Destro read where it declares that the Navajo Bill of Rights supersedes the 
Indian Civil Rights Act. 

Although in the Gould case the court rejected the argument that the 
Civil Rights Act was an implied waiver of sovereignty immunity, I have 
read the briefs that were submitted, and that wasn't Mr. Gould's strongest 
argument and it wasn't briefed as thoroughly as someone might have 
briefed it. 

I think the argument could have been made to the Navajo courts that the 
Sovereign Immunity Act, by requiring jumping through all these hoops in 
a 9O-day waiting period before you could get injunctive relief, would be a 
violation of the Civil Rights Act because somebody's rights could be gone 
by the end of a 9O-day waiting period. So I think it makes it harder in that 
respect. 

MR. MILLER. Mr. Nelson, would you care to .comment? Are you in total 
agreement with Ms. Hansen's testimony so far? 

MR. NELSON. Basically, yes. The Gould case that she was referring to 
dealt with insurance coverage. There was one other change made in this 
amendment that I felt was very important, if I could find it. In the Gould 
case, the court had found a remedy under the Indian Civil Rights Act that 
had interpreted the Navajo Bill of Rights and the Indian Civil Rights Act 
to find a cause of action, and the amendment made by this resolution took 
away from the courts the power to interpret the act and said the court shall 
apply the act. 

So ifit is not expressly given, you know, if it's a remedy that is not given 
by the Sovereign Immunity Act, the remedy does not exist. The court 
can't look behind the act itself, and it can't interpret other caselaw. It 
narrows down any avenues that we might have to seek redress under this 
statute. 

MR. MILLER. I see. 
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Ms. HANSEN. And if I could add, based on that, when you asked about 
injunctive relief, under the Sovereign Immunity Act the express terms are 
you can seek injunctive relief to compel an official to perform his lawful 
duty. That is mandamus relief and not injunctive relief. So it requires you 
again, if what you wanted to do is to stop doing something, you have to go 
in through the back door and say, "I don't want them to stop doing it; I 
just want them to do something else," and it can become mind boggling. 

MR. MILLER. Mr. Nelson, did you agree with Ms. Hansen's statement 
that the sovereign immunity amendments would be retroactively applied 
to the Gould case? 

MR. NELSON. Well, my understanding is that the Gould case was 
remanded for further action. This is the law now, and under the law as it 
presently exists, they cannot get their remedy. 

One peculiarity of the limitation of liability based on insurance coverage 
is that it does change as the coverage changes. So, during the course of a 
lawsuit, the liability of the tribe can disappear, and that's basically what 
happened with Gould. Ambassador Insurance went out of business and the 
coverage was no longer there. Even though the wrong had clearly taken 
place and the lawsuit had proceeded normally, the remedy was no longer 
there. 

MR. MILLER. Is it possible, then, that if the Navajo Nation cancels an 
insurance policy during trial, that the remedy would disappear? 

MR. NELSON. Yes. 
MR. MILLER. Are there other statutes or anything in that resolution that 

would require the Navajo Nation to keep an insurance policy in force? 
MR. NELSON. Not that I am aware of. 
MR. MILLER. What would happen, in your opinion, if a case was 

pleaded, if a civil rights action was pied on the basis of the Indian Civil 
Rights Act alone? What would the likely action be? 

Ms. HANSEN. Dismissed. 
MR. NELSON. Right. The position of the tribe now is that those rights 

flow from the Navajo Bill of Rights, as I understand it, and not from the 
Indian Civil Rights Act. That is one effect of this amendment. There is a 
choice of laws question because there is authority in the Judicial Reform 
Act that says Federal law will be applied before tribal law, and that is 
normally the way Indian law is handled. It's Federal law, then tribal law, 
and then whatever other law may be applicable. 

MR. MILLER. So are you saying that on that basis you still could plead 
on the Indian Civil Rights Act? I'm a little unclear. 

MR. NELSON. In my opinion, you could. 
MR. MILLER. Do you know if that has ever been tried? 
MR. NELSON. The way, as a practitioner, what we do is we plead in the 

alternative, Indian Civil Rights Act and Navajo Bill of Rights. We are not 
looking for trouble on this issue. We just want to stay in court. 
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MR. MILLER. That's right. You wouldn't want to be dismissed. 
MR. NELSON. No. 
MR. MILLER. I have no further questions. 
Mr. Beyal wanted to present a statement from Mr. Zah but, Mr. 

Chairman, if you would like to proceed with the discussion, you may, or 
we can proceed with Mr. Beyal right now. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Let's permit Mr. Beyal to give us 
the statement. 

MR. MILLER. Mr. Beyal, I understand that you are here at the request of 
Mr. Zah who could not attend and that you are here to present Mr. Zah's 
statement; is that correct? 

MR. BEYAL. That is correct. 
MR. MILLER. Please proceed. 

TESTIMONY OF DUANE BEYAL, REPRESENTING PETERSON 
ZAH 

MR. BEYAL. This is a statement of Mr. Zah that he drafted before 
leaving for the convention in Atlanta. So it's not in final form, well, not in 
clean form. There are a lot of marks on it. So I would like to read it orally, 
and then perhaps when we can type up a clean copy, we'll send it to you if 
that is okay. 

MR. MILLER. That's fine. 
MR. BEYAL. I will proceed with Mr. Zah's statement. 
[The following is Mr. Zah's statement as read by Mr. Beyal.] 
Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen. It is an honor to address the U.S. 

Civil Rights Commission. 
First, I will briefly describe my background and then describe some 

events and issues that may be relevant to your inquiry. 
I graduated in 1963 with a degree in education from Arizona State 

University. I returned to the Navajo Nation where I taught for a year at 
Window Rock High School. Then I returned to ASU where I was a 
coordinator for VISTA, a component of the War on Poverty programs. 

I came back to the reservation and joined DNA, a legal services 
program, as a tribal court advocate in 1967. I practiced law in the Navajo 
tribal courts and later became the director of DNA's advocate program. In 
1972 I became the director of DNA. In 1982 I resigned to run for the 
chairmanship of the Navajo Tribal Council and I served as the Chairman 
from 1983 to 1987. 

While I was the director of DNA, I oversaw the work of 20 tribal court 
advocates and about 25 lawyers. We handled several landmark cases, some 
of which went all the way to the U.S. Supreme Court. 

In McClanahan v. Arizona Tax Commission, the U.S. Supreme Court 
ruled that Indians on reservations are exempt from paying State income tax 
on wages and salaries earned on the reservation. 
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In Big Man v. San Juan County, Utah, the Utah Supreme Court ruled 
that county money can be used to build facilities on Indian reservations. 

In Rock Bridge v. Lincoln, we sued trading posts on the reservation 
which were engaged in unfair business practices with Indians. This case 
resulted in new Federal regulations governing traders on the Navajo 
Reservation. 

In Goodluck v. Apache County, we extended the one-man, one-vote rule 
to reservation residents and forced the reapportionment of the Apache 
County, Arizona, Board of Supervisors to allow Navajo representation. 

Natonabah v. Board of Education forced McKinley County, New 
Mexico, to equalize education expenditures throughout the county, 
including the Navajo Reservation public school districts. 

Most of these cases promoted the civil rights of Indian people and 
fought violations against those civil rights by county, State, and the 
Federal governments. The list of these cases is long, but they all had the 
inherent goal of protecting civil rights and at the same time strengthening 
tribal sovereignty. 

Tribal governments are still young and growing. The Navajo Nation is 
like any other underdeveloped nation and the potential is unlimited. So 
tribal sovereignty is an important issue. 

We also handled several cases in which DNA was in direct conflict with 
the Navajo tribal government. 

In Halona v. MacDonald, some members of the Navajo Tribal Council 
sued to overturn an action of the full tribal council which had approved 
$70,000 to pay for Chairman Peter MacDonald's legal fees when he was 
indicted. 

The councilman who attempted to overturn the use of tribal money for 
Mr. MacDonald's legal fees did so because proper tribal procedures were 
not followed. The councilmen, including Mr. Halona, won the case. The 
judge who decided the case, Charley John, was removed from his job 7 
months later. 

In Yazzie v. Board of Election Supervisors, the plaintiffs from the five 
agencies on the reservation sued to reapportion the Navajo Tribal Council 
into election districts with equal populations. DNA won the case and the 
tribal court imposed a plan, and the tribal council incorporated much of 
the plan into voting districts that are still being used today. 

However, the judge who decided that case, Merwin Lynch, also was 
removed from the bench shortly thereafter. 

As a result of these and other decisions in the Navajo Tribal Courts 
which interpreted Navajo Tribal Council actions, Chairman MacDonald 
hired Edgar Cahn, an eastern Anglo lawyer, to study the situation. Mr. 
Cahn came up with the idea of the supreme judicial council in which 
selected members of the tribal council reviewed some tribal eourt 
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decisions. The effect of this was to place councilmen in a position to 
overrule the decisions of the tribal courts. 

Among the many objectionable aspects of the supreme judicial council 
was that it placed members of the tribal council in the position of being 
both legislators and judges. Fortunately, the supreme judicial council was 
active only in 1979 and was abolished by the enactment of the Judicial 
Reform Act of 1985. 

Regarding the enforcement of the Indian Civil Rights Act, the turning 
point for many Native Americans was Martinez v. Santa Clara Pueblo, 
another U.S. Supreme Court case which DNA handled. 

Before Martinez, many ICRA cases were enforced in Federal courts 
without harassment from tribal politicians. After Martinez, which held that 
tribal court and not Federal court was the proper forum for ICRA cases, 
there was an awakening among tribal governments as they recognized that 
the ruling meant that civil rights cases would not go to Federal court, that 
there was no Federal forum, and that they would be resolved solely in 
tribal courts. Tribal governments, th~refore, saw the need to have their 
own tribal members become judges, advocates, and lawyers to defend and 
decide civil rights cases in tribal courts. 

However, individual ICRA cases began to question the authority of 
tribal government officials. This caused reluctance on the part of the tribal 
governments to hear these kinds of cases. 

The Navajo government today is a good example. The Navajo Tribal 
Council recently passed a law amending its Sovereign Immunity Act 
which, in effect, says there is no forum to enforce the ICRA and that the 
Navajo Bill of Rights supersedes the Federal Indian Civil Rights Act. 

In other words, the amended act says that although Navajos have civil 
rights, they are rights determined only by the Navajo government. By 
approving a law that says Navajo law supersedes the Indian Civil Rights 
Act, the Navajo government is demonstrating a contempt of Congress and 
the U.S. Supreme Court. To me, civil rights with no remedy or forum 
means you have no rights at all. 

The amended Sovereign Immunity Act also prevents the Navajo people 
from suing their government and seeking redress in tribal court. For 
example, despite the ongoing Federal investigations into the purchase of 
the Big Boquillas Ranch and the fact that the main principals in that 
transaction, Bud Brown and Tom Tracey, are not cooperating with a tribal 
investigation and are using the fifth amendment to protect themselves, the 
Navajo leadership still wants to give additional payment to these highly 
suspect individuals. This is at a time that a Federal grand jury is 
investigating the ranch purchase. But because of the amended Sovereign 
Immunity Act, the Navajo people cannot file action against the Navajo 
government to prevent release of this tribal money. 
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As an employee of the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, 
Incorporated, for the past 18 months I have been put in the unfortunate 
position of being forced to use our meager resources to fight the immense 
power and resources of the Navajo government. 

In February and March of 1987, the Navajo government used strong­
arm tactics to try to take over this nonprofit corporate entity which had 
been duly incorporated under the Navajo Nation Corporation Code. With 
no due process hearing and no advance notice and basically overnight, the 
tribal council's advisory committee replaced the foundation board of 
trustees and tried to fire me. 

The highly questionable actions by the tribal administration included 
having Bill Cook, the non-Navajo former director of the foundation, look 
into my personal bank checking account and remove money I had recently 
earned. He did this without my knowledge or consent. 

Officials of the local bank allowed him to do this without raising 
questions. Bill Cook also froze all bank accounts for the foundation. To 
make matters worse, our post office box was frozen, the lock changed, and 
to this day I still do not know what happened to some of my personal mail 
which was seized by the tribal government. 

Subsequently, we were sued by the tribal government in the Navajo 
Tribal Court. On September 18, 1987, the court ruled in favor of the 
foundation's independence from the tribal government. 

However, beginning on May 24, 1988, the tribal government attacked 
the foundation again when the advisory committee rescinded and terminat­
ed the lease which allows the foundation to use and occupy three offices in 
the Navajo Education Center. 

This occurred the day after we hosted a luncheon to honor 10 Navajo 
students who had earned their college degrees with financial assistance 
from the foundation. 

Once again, we were not aware of the action and were not given any 
notice or the opportunity to be heard by the advisory committee. The 
action of the advisory committee was explained by tribal spokespersons as 
simply the implementation of legislation previously enacted by the Navajo 
Tribal Council. This referred to a resolution that was voted on during the 
tribal council's spring session. 

On February 4, 1988, the council voted 38 to 38 on the resolution, which 
was presented and interpreted by the tribe's lawyers handling our cases in 
court to mean that the foundation is an entity of the government and not an 
independent corporation. 

The tribal lawyer, William Riordan, had done three things simultaneous­
ly. He made a motion to the district court to reconsider the September 18, 
1987, decision; he appealed the case to the Navajo Supreme Court; and he 
also drafted this resolution. In simple terms, the resolution was an attempt 
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to legislatively reverse the Navajo Tribal Court's September 18, 1987, 
decision. 

Chairman MacDonald broke the tie vote of the tribal council on this 
resolution by casting his own vote to take over the foundation, and the 
resolution was passed 39 to 38. 

At this point this portion of Mr. Zah's written statement covers matters 
from May 24 to June 2 of this year which Sandy has already covered. So I 
will just skip over that and begin at the current status of the foundation. 

The current status of our situation, the Navajo Education and Scholar­
ship Foundation, is that we cannot enter our offices, and the necessary 
documents and materials we need to conduct the business of the 
foundation are locked up. These include our personal belongings, tele­
phone numbers, brochures, scholarship applications, transcripts, and the 
files of students who have applied for scholarships. 

In one case a check was made out to a student and is among the 
documents to which we do not have access. Because of this, the student 
was not able to attend summer school because we were unable to give him 
his financial assistance. 

The foundation is also having difficulties making timely payments to 
vendors. We are being penalized by the Internal Revenue Service because 
oflate Federal tax deposits. Since May 27, 1988, the staff of the foundation 
has not received a salary. The staff also went without pay for 2 months in 
1987. 

Since the end of May 1988 we have received 90 to 100 requests from 
Navajo students seeking financial assistance. Under normal circumstances, 
we receive about 300 requests for each semester, but we cannot assist these 
students while everything is locked up. The tribal government is, 
therefore, denying these students a right to attend college. 

In the events regarding the Navajo Education and Scholarship Founda­
tion, the tribal administration ignored a tribal court order and continues to 
do so today using the Navajo police to enforce their actions. We are 
exploring legal options, but at the same time we are unable to do our work 
and our money is running out. Lack of money effectively shuts the door to 
further attempts on our part to assert our rights in court. 

Except for the questionable action of the Chinle District Court, the 
Navajo courts have ruled on the matter and issued orders, but all have 
been ignored by the Navajo Chairman's office, the advisory committee, the 
budget and finance committee and the Navajo Police Department. 

Should the Navajo Nation Supreme Court eventually rule in our favor, 
it is doubtful that the tribal administration will respect and honor their 
decision. The attitude of tribal government officials is best expressed by a 
staunch supporter of the current administration. On June 7, 1988, during a 
meeting of the tribal council's budget and finance committee, Virgil Kirk, 
a member of the committee and a councilman representing the Shiprock 
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Chapter, remarked that tribal courts have no authority. He made this 
remark when the committee was given copies of the Window Rock Court 
order which enjoins the tribe from taking action against the foundation. 
Mr. Kirk also said, and I quote, "If we wanted to, we could wipe out the 
courts tomorrow." 

Attached to my statement is a letter of complaint that I sent to Mr. 
Wilson Barber, the Bureau of Indian Affairs Navajo Area Director, in 
which I object to the improper and excessive use of police force 
throughout these events, particularly in light of the fact that a large 
portion of the Navajo Police Department's operations are funded with 
Federal funds. 

I do not believe Congress intended that Federal funds be used to execute 
actions that may be violations of civil rights. 

Also attached is a letter to the Navajo Nation Bar Association from 
David J. Tsosie, a member of the Navajo Tribal Council representing the 
Jeddito Chapter. Mr. Tsosie raises questions about the ethics of the tribal 
lawyers involved in the foundation issue. I feel his questions are very 
relevant and that the conduct of tribal lawyers is highly questionable, to 
say the least, in this matter. 

The foundation controversy and the several other issues that have 
occurred during the current MacDonald administration have serious 
implications, not only for the Navajos, but for all Indian tribes. Congress is 
seriously considering legislation that will diminish tribal sovereignty by 
amending the Indian Civil Rights Act to provide for Federal court review 
of civil rights cases initiated in tribal courts. 

The purpose of the Indian Civil Rights Act was to secure for Indian 
people the broad constitutional rights afforded other Americans and 
thereby protect individual Indians from the arbitrary and unjust actions of 
tribal governments. But civil rights have been violated by the current 
Navajo leadership in several situations. For example, in February of 1987 
the Navajo government used police force to shut down the Navajo Times 
Today, and the entire staff was fired with only a few hours' notice. There 
are many instances where the tribal government has failed to respect the 
rights of tribal employees and in fact has adopted a strategy of outlasting 
aggrieved employees through delay until an individual runs out of money 
and can no longer afford legal representation. 

Because the Navajo government does not respect the tribal courts and 
their proper role in a democratic government, Congress may act to ensure 
that the rights of American Indians are enforced through Federal court 
review. 

Ideally, there should be no Federal interference in the affairs of tribal 
governments, but sometimes this idea can be destroyed as is the current 
situation in the Navajo tribal government. If we are not able to provide 
internal checks and balances, then these checks, unfortunately, may be 
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imposed by the Federal Government. We should take care of our own 
affairs with no outsiders, but we are unable to because the MacDonald 
administration does not respect the limits imposed by law. 

Ultimately, the rights of individuals are more important than the power 
of tribal governments. 

This concludes my statement. 
Thank you. 
[End of reading the prepared statement of Mr. Zah by Mr. Beyal.] 
MR. MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Beyal. 
I had one or two additional questions. 
Ms. Hansen, do you know if Mr. Zah and the foundation are currently 

represented by counsel? 
Ms. HANSEN. The firm that is currently representing them has filed a 

motion to withdraw on the grounds that they have not been able to pay 
their bills for more than a year or a year and a half. 

MR. MILLER. Has he filed a motion pro se? 
Ms. HANSEN. Yes. He filed his appeal of Judge Yazzie's ruling on the 

attorneys' fee issue pro se. 
MR. MILLER. Thank you. 
Mr. Nelson, did you have further comments about the recent resolution 

that we were discussing? It occurred to me that perhaps I cut you off 
inadvertently. 

MR. NELSON. No, I didn't. 
I did have one comment to make in regard to a question you asked Ms. 

Hansen about other instances where the law is not being followed. 
MR. MILLER. Yes. 
MR. NELSON. In Mr. Zah's statement, he alluded to the situation with 

the fired employees. This is a very prevalent situation. People are fired. 
According to tribal code, they have very specific rights in that situation, 
very tight time lines, 5 days to appeal, 5 days to get an answer, and that 
sort of thing. 

There are a number of employees who have been lingering for over a 
year without employment and without any sort of decision on their cases 
because they choose to ignore the law, and to enforce the law requires 
compliance with the Sovereign Immunity Act, which for someone without 
work is an impossibility. 

MR. MILLER. Mr. Nelson, on a slightly different matter, did you speak 
with Judge Cadman after he signed the conflicting TRO order? 

MR. NELSON. Yes. At that time I was assisting Ms. Hansen with the 
foundation legal matters. That particular one appeared to be a separate 
case, which I could have represented the foundation on had it gone 
forward. 

At the time of all this confusion over the conflicting orders, I had talked 
to both Judge Yazzie and Judge Cadman about them. When Judge 
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Cadman called me back, he told me that he was dissolving the order, and 
he told me that the reason he had signed the order was because Donald 
Benally, who is a member of the advisory committee and the chairman of 
board 2, had threatened to terminate his employment as a judge if he failed 
to sign the order. He was most apologetic about it, but it was clear that that 
is what happened. 

MR. MILLER. Thank you. 
I have no further questions. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. All right, counsel. 
Bob? 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. I have no further questions. Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Let me make one comment rather 

than a question and then we will go on. 
As I listened to the reading of Mr. Zah's letter, I was reminded of a 

discussion with him several years, before I was on the Commission, in 
which he spoke of the foundation, and the impression I had at the time was 
that that was his pride and joy during the period of his chairmanship, that 
more than anything else is what he distinguished as a contribution he was 
going to make to the Navajo. 

I asked him a question about that at that time as to whether he was able 
to do anything that would allow it to continue to exist when he was no 
longer in office and whether he could establish it independently, and he 
allowed as how that is precisely what he hoped to do, to take the steps to 
move it into a posture of independence and preserve it long after he was 
out of office. 

So the tale you have to tell is particularly poignant to me given those 
exchanges which we enjoyed several years ago. 

Thank you all. 
Ms. HANSEN. Chairman Allen? 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. You have a comment to make, yes. 
Ms. HANSEN. Since this case is pending and Mike and I have at one time 

or another represented the foundation, may I ask that nothing that we say 
at this hearing be used as an admission against the foundation in any 
pending case? 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. You ask a question that poses 
several complex conditions. 

Ms. HANSEN. Could I just make a statement, that nothing that we have 
said is binding on the foundation. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We understand that you have not 
done anything here that you intended to be used against the foundation. 

Ms. HANSEN. Thank you. 
MR. MILLER. It maybe should be noted that they were both here by 

virtue of a subpoena. 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Indeed. 
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Thank you very much. 
I would like to call forward at this time the panel consisting of Steve 

Ungar, Claudine Arthur, and Deborah Leon. Are they all present? 
While we are assembling, we will say to the rest of you that we will now 

discuss the Baier case, and that should run until approximately 3:30, at 
which time we will take a break, and we will begin our discussion of the 
situation at the Hopi Tribe between 3:30 and 3:45, but we will take a break 
before going into that so that you all know where you stand. 

Welcome. We are delighted you could all join us. We will begin with 
our standard introduction and ask you all simultaneously to take the 
following oath. 

[Steven B. Ungar and Deborah Leon were sworn.] 
Ms. ARTHUR. Mr. Allen, the White Mountain Apache Tribe is not here 

to testify specifically as such. We will respond to those allegations that 
may or may not be raised by Mr. Ungar in this particular case. That was 
my understanding, and I did not understand that as an attorney for the 
White Mountain Apache Tribe and for the social services department that 
I would be a witness in this case. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I will consult with counsel momen­
tarily, but permit me to say that our proceedings are not an adversary 
proceeding, and we do not customarily make provision for direct response 
to witness testimony, but we do make wide open invitation for further 
testimony. 

What is your understanding, counsel? 
[The Chairman confers with counsel.] 
Our ruling, Ms. Arthur, is that we can accept your testimony. It is, as I 

said before, not an adversarial proceeding, and we would assume that, in 
giving that testimony, you may very well say something which may be 
taken as a response to what Mr. Ungar has to say, but you are not being 
called upon literally to respond to Mr. Ungar. 

Ms. ARTHUR. Mr. Allen, when I spoke with Mr. Miller about this, I 
explained to him that we would be here for the specific purpose of 
responding to Mr. Ungar and only for that purpose, and the White 
Mountain Apache Tribe, in asking me to represent the social services 
department here, is not here. 

Generally, we are here in a very limited capacity and only for the 
purpose of responding to allegations made in the Montana proceedings. I 
am not here and I have no authority to speak for the White Mountain 
Apache Tribe with regard to any matters other than the ones that Mr. 
Miller outlined for me in our conversation by phone. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. If I understand what you are saying 
correctly, it is certainly compatible with our expectations, namely, that 
you will testify in the limited areas in which you have been asked to testify 
about by those whom you represent. 
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Ms. ARTHUR. I would also point out that the White Mountain Apache 
Tribal Court proceedings are privileged and that our Social Services Act is 
under a Federal contract which binds us by the Privacy Act. So we would 
not be able to discuss those things. 

I do understand that the parties have waived their right to privacy and 
confidentiality in the Montana proceedings. That is not so as to the tribal 
court situation. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Counsel? 
[Pause while the parties confer.] 
We request a 5-minute recess that you might consult with counsel. 
[Recess.] 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We are ready to resume the session. 
While people are regaining their places, I will start with you, Mr. Ungar, 

and ask you to, for the record, tell us what your name and affiliation is. 
MR. UNGAR. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
My name is Steven Ungar. I am a private attorney and I work out of 

Bozeman, Montana. 
In this particular case, I represent a woman named Oliviana Baier who is 

the natural mother of the child involved, and if the Commission would 
like, I could give you a brief overview of the facts to date in this case. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Hold on for a moment and we will 
come to that. I only wanted to get the identifications to begin with. I will 
ask Ms. Leon to do the same. 

Ms. LEON. My name is Debbie Leon. I was a social worker for the 
White Mountain Apache Tribe from July of 1984 through August of 1987, 
and I was the caseworker on this case beginning in September of 1984 until 
the time that I resigned in August of '87. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
Counsel. 
MR. MILLER. Susan Muskett. 
Ms. MUSKETT. Ms. Leon, we wanted to begin with you and ask you to 

give a brief skeletal outline of how it came about that the White Mountain 
Apache Tribe intervened on behalf of Oliviana Baier in the 1985 Colorado 
adoption, along with a skeletal outline of what proceedings took place in 
the White Mountain Apache Court prior to Ms. Baier's return to Montana. 

Ms. ARTHUR. I respectfully object. I said we could not talk about the 
White Mountain Apache Tribal Court hearings. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I beg your pardon, Ms. Arthur, but 
you are not counsel, I don't believe, to Ms. Leon. 

Ms. ARTHUR. The records she is going to talk about are the records of 
the White Mountain Apache Tribe, Mr. Allen. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Counsel, I will leave it to you to 
give us the final word on this, but I must insist, apart from what you might 
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say at this point, that as a matter of procedure you are not counsel for Ms. 
Leon, as I understand it. You have not presented yourself as that. 

This is not an adversarial proceeding, and it is not, therefore, open to 
intervene and to interrupt the proceedings, and I would kindly appreciate 
your abiding by that. 

Do you wish to proceed? 
MR. MILLER. Yes. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Carry on. 
Ms. MUSKETT. Mr. Ungar, maybe we will go ahead and begin with you, 

then, and ask you to go ahead and give your opening statement and fully 
explain any civil rights violations that you believe may have occurred. 

TESTIMONY OF STEVEN B. UNGAR, ATTORNEY, BOZEMAN, 
MONTANA 

MR. UNGAR. I would like to start out by saying that I have only become 
involved with this case about 3 or 4 months ~go. 

The baby was born about 4 years ago. She is not yet 4 years old. 
Approximately 13 days after her birth in Montana, she was placed by 
Oliviana and her parents with a family in Fort Collins, Colorado, who the 
Baier family knew for over a decade. 

The baby went to Colorado and was in Colorado for about a year and a 
half total. A lot of my figures and things like that might not be absolutely 
exact, but somewhere between 15 and 18 months, I believe. 

During that time, a proceeding was filed for private placement adoption 
in Colorado. Sometime during the course of that proceeding, notice was 
given to the White Mountain Apache Tribe under the Indian Child 
Welfare Act that the proceeding was taking place, at which time the tribe 
intervened pursuant to the act and essentially objected to the proceeding 
being conducted in Colorado, asserting the Indian Child Welfare Act. 

Certain negotiations and other events took place, which I don't think 
really concern this board or Commission, but at some point in time 
Oliviana, the natural mother, withdrew her agreement or consent that the 
child would be adopted by this family in Colorado and, therefore, 
essentially terminated the Colorado proceeding. This was in 1985. 

Simultaneously, a document was prepared by a tribal council from the 
White Mountain Apache Tribe that I believe has been supplied to the 
Commission, as it is attached to my brief which was filed in this case now 
pending in Montana, and it purported to transfer jurisdiction of the case to 
the White Mountain Apache Tribe. As soon as that document was 
received by the tribe, the child was transported back to the White 
Mountain Apache Reservation, and Oliviana herself also returned to the 
reservation. 

At this point in time, another document was prepared and signed by the 
juvenile court judge of the tribal court. It's entitled "An Order Accepting 
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Jurisdiction," and this particular order has also been provided to the 
Commission attached to my brief. 

I would perhaps interject at this point that this was the first evidence 
that I assert was an improper order entered by the tribal court, and perhaps 
not at that very moment, but later very definitely affected adversely the 
civil rights of Oliviana Baier. The reason is this. The document that 
accepts jurisdiction makes inconsistent findings. It finds, on the one hand, 
that the child is to be placed in Oliviana's custody because she is a fit and 
proper person to be the child's parent, and simultaneously finds that the 
child is a ward of the tribal court. 

Now there are several other documents, and rather than take you 
document by document, I think it is sufficient to say for this hearing that 
the question of whether the child is, in fact, a ward of the tribal court is 
critical under the Indian Child Welfare Act. If the child was at the time in 
question and continues to be during this dispute a ward of the tribal court, 
as that term is used in the Indian Child Welfare Act, then under that act 
the tribe has exclusive jurisdiction over the matter and the case would be 
properly returned from Montana to the tribal court. So, from a legal 
standpoint, one of the central issues in dispute in this case is whether or not 
the child was a ward of the tribal court. 

Let me take you along in the proceedings. After Oliviana and her child 
moved back to the reservation, problems occurred, and I also don't think 
it's significant to go into the details, but communication and other 
problems occurred between Oliviana and Social Services, which kept tabs 
on the case by virtue of the court's accepting jurisdiction in what I 
consider to be a facially irregular manner, your fit and proper person to be 
the parent of this child. However, the child is still a ward of the court. 

These differences between Oliviana and Social Services grew to a level 
that, at a point in time, neglect proceedings were brought by tribal social 
services against Oliviana. The result of those proceedings was a I-page 
order that states that the child was found to be dependent or neglected, I'm 
not sure which term was used, and that the child's custody was transferred 
to tribal social services. This was, I believe, towards the end of 1986. 

Following that determination, the child was placed in foster care on the 
reservation, and Oliviana then took steps to retain counsel to get her child 
back. She retained counsel off the reservation, an Anglo counsel, if you 
will, although I will state parenthetically that I have a real problem with 
that word because I think there are others in this country besides Anglos 
and Indians, but since that is the word of art, that is often used. 

An attorney from Pine Top, Arizona, entered an appearance on her 
behalf and in December of 1986 filed a motion for the return of the custody 
of that child to Oliviana. There were a couple of continuances that were 
filed apparently, and for reasons that I'll get into, but I'm not sure what 
other proceedings or other matters might or might [not] be in the file 
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because of difficulties I have had with the tribal court, and I will address 
those momentarily. 

In any event, the tribal counsel through the beginning of 1987, 
presumably in conjunction with tribal social services, filed some pleadings 
opposing Oliviana's attempt to get her child back that essentially contains 
scurrilous accusations against her. Whether or not they are true, they were 
filed of record, and no hearing was held until October 27 of 1987, some 10 
months after she filed a motion with an attorney to get her child back into 
her custody. 

At that hearing, two tribal social services representatives were present. 
The tribal council who had railed against her in these pleadings filed in the 
interim was not present and Oliviana's counsel was present. I have read the 
transcript of that hearing and, without going into detail, essentially what 
became of that hearing was that tribal social services was not able to come 
up with any firsthand basis, firsthand knowledge, direct knowledge to 
provide to the court as to why Oliviana should not have regained custody 
of her daughter. And I think we all recognize that, absent some showing 
by a government, an individual is entitled to his or her child. 

In any event, the judge entered an order finding Oliviana to be a fit and 
proper person to care for her child, and he returned custody of her child to 
Oliviana on October 27 of 1987. 

At that point in time from my point of view, from a legal standpoint, 
there is no question but that whatever wardship might have existed due to 
ambiguities and so forth in the law, and parenthetically the Indian Child 
Welfare Act doesn't define ward of the court, and I have been able to find 
no case that addresses the definition of ward of the tribal court in that 
context. But in any event, when a person is a fit and proper person to have 
custody of their child, to me it is inconsistent to go beyond that and to at 
the same time impliedly limit what rights th.at individual might have. 

The judge did not, in our view, conditionally grant the return of custody 
to Oliviana. He simply returned custody to her. 

At that point in time, being not only a resident of the White Mountain 
Apache country down there, but also being a citizen of the United States, 
she was free to travel and free to travel with her daughter, and so she did. 
She returned to Montana where her parents reside and where the baby was 
born, and she enrolled in college in Montana, in Bozeman, Montana. 

Several months later some communications were had between Oliviana, 
who was having difficulty with the idea and with the fact of raising her 
child, similar to the testimony you heard earlier from Ms. Keetso. She had 
personal goals that were such that if she were to pursue them, she had 
difficulty in her mind in raising the child as well at the same time. She was 
about 21 at this time, I would mention. She wanted to go back to college. 

In any event, she contacted the Collins and sought counsel in Montana. 
Montana has a private placement adoption statute, and pursuant to the 
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terms of that statute filed for the adoption of the child by the individuals, 
the same individuals in Colorado who for the 15- to 18-month period had 
the child in their custody and possession before the entire matter was 
transferred back to the reservation. 

Notice was duly given to the White Mountain Apache Tribe, and soon 
after, I think it was in early April of this year, the tribe did two things, and 
that is where we have parallel proceedings in this case. 

(A) The tribe moved to dismiss the case based on the Indian Child 
Welfare Act, claiming that the child was a ward of the tribal court and that 
exclusive jurisdiction would lie with the tribal court. Secondly, the tribal 
court promptly filed a motion for order to show cause and filed documents 
with the tribal court alleging that Oliviana was in contempt of the tribal 
court's order which returned custody of the child to her because, at the 
time she went through the proceeding on October 27, she had harbored an 
intent-and counsel can state this argument otherwise, but this is the way 
that I understand it-that she was harboring an intent not to truly raise the 
child, but rather to place the child for adoption and, therefore, misrepre­
sented-or a harsher word would be defrauded-the tribal court into 
giving her her child back. 

Now, at this time the motion to dismiss was filed, but at the same time 
notice was given to Oliviana's then-counsel in the adoption proceeding, 
which I think counsel in Montana at that point hoped would be very 
simple, but suddenly grew into an extraterritorial jurisdictional dispute. 

He told her that he couldn't handle either matter. She sought me to 
represent her right around-on the 20th of May, a week before the order 
to show cause hearing was to be held, bearing in mind that this was a 
hearing on the OSC to hold her in contempt of court. So there would have 
been criminal ramifications of that hearing at the same time that there 
would have been ramifications in respect to the custody matter. 

I promptly contacted the tribal counsel whose name was on some of the 
pleadings and thereafter made application to the White Mountain Apache 
Tribal Clerk of Court to get an application out so that I could practice 
before that court, and I have some documents which I have circulated and 
I will hand a packet of them to Ms. Arthur, although I think she has seen 
or received each of these. 

MR. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, I move that we include these documents 
into the record at this point. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Would you identify them for the 
record, please. 

MR. UNGAR. If you would like. I have attached together my letter to the 
tribe, which sends me an application to practice law before the court, and 
it's obviously a response to my phone call on the 20th, which was the day 
that my client, Oliviana, came to my office. 
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The following letter is dated May 24, the very next day where I Federal 
Expressed to Ms. Arthur an explanation that I represented Oliviana and 
that I had tried to reach the judge to express to him my scheduling 
problem because I was not able to get to White River, Arizona, on a 
week's notice. I had a conflict with the sentencing in a criminal case. 

I then Federal Expressed a letter, the next exhibit here, to the tribal 
court, which were a motion for continuance and my own affidavit asking 
the court to continue the hearing and setting forth the reasons why in my 
affidavit. That was also copied to tribal counsel. 

The next in this series of correspondence is a day later, is my application, 
and my application is attached as of May 26, together with my $10 
admission fee as requested. 

The next document is about a week and a half later, and this follows 
some telephone calls where I requested documents from the file which 
were telephonically indicated to be in existence by the court• clerk. They 
were requested and not received in about 10 days. So I wrote and renewed 
my request. 

I also requested a copy of the tribe's constitution, if one existed, and I 
copied that to tribal counsel so that if there was some communication that 
was required, the two contacts that I was aware of in order to gain access 
to this forum would both be apprised of my request. 

On June 16th, the next in this series of documents here, I requested from 
the clerk a certified copy of the Juvenile Code. The purpose of requesting 
that is because portions of the Juvenile Code are relevant to the Montana 
proceeding in relation to the tribe's motion to dismiss. If the Juvenile Code 
were taken by the judge, as I would anticipate, I don't know that he would 
take judicial notice of the provisions without having a certified copy. 

I also again renewed my request for the cpnstitution, if one existed, and 
also I renewed my request that my application for admission be processed. 

On July 1, 1988, just a couple of weeks ago, I received a statement 
asking that I pay $50 for a license fee, and it says admission to practice in 
tribal court. I presume that means that I have been admitted to practice in 
tribal court, although it seems somewhat ambiguous, but, being that they 
asked for a fee, and I presumed that a tribunal would not ask for a fee if 
you were not so admitted. So I sent $50. That is the last letter there. 

I have also supplied the Commission with the order to show cause that 
was filed against my client and my motion for a continuance and affidavit 
that were filed in support thereof. 

Those are the documents, the only documents that I ask the Commission 
consider as I explain in a little more detail the consequences of them. 

SUBCOMMIITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Okay. If you have all those 
documents there, they shall be included in the record, without objection. 

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. No objection. 

71 



MR. UNGAR. From a civil rights standpoint, I would like to say this. 
Having brought the proceedings up to date, if you will, and, incidentally, 
the hearing on the tribe's motion to dismiss is scheduled for August 11, a 
couple of weeks away in the Montana forum. 

It is clear that the Indian Child Welfare Act and the Indian Civil Rights 
Act can collide in a situation such as this. For example, I have a client who 
comes into my office who obviously needs an attorney with fairly 
specialized skills in order to represent her in a tribal court proceeding in 
Arizona where she is 2,000 miles away, where she is being ordered to show 
why she should not be held in contempt of court and where she could 
potentially be deprived of her liberty in two respects, no. 1, being put in 
jail if the judge would so decide and, no. 2, by having her child taken away 
from her again, bearing in mind that on October 27th of '87 she had her 
child returned to her. 

So regardless of the merits of that situation, from my point of view as an 
attorney with approximately 10 years of experience in civil rights 
litigation, I view this a very, very serious matter, and at that point in time 
testify here today that I did everything possible so that I might protect 
Oliviana's rights, her rights as an individual, as a U.S. citizen, as a tribal 
member, and as a woman. 

Facing the jeopardy that she was facing, I thought it was most 
reasonable to request that the matter be continued until her counsel could 
travel to Arizona. I talked with tribal counsel and was told courteously 
and I think very professionally that the judge simply doesn't have another 
date for 2 months, that, "It will have to be heard next Friday; I'm sorry." 

My next step is to (a) file documents. I asked for a continuance 
supported by an affidavit showing good cause, I believed, for the 
continuance and indicating the rights that wen~ at jeopardy, which are 
clear to any judge, I believe, when you send out an OSC, and I also 
telephoned him. It took me several times to get through, but I telephoned 
the judge and urged him to give me even an extra week. I followed that up 
by letter, and I'm not sure if I have the letter before me, but forgetting the 
letter, I advised the judge that I would be available the following week or 
any time thereafter, and he told me his calendar just couldn't permit that. 

So that being the case, that particular hearing was held ex parte, and the 
judge granted the tribe's motion to find Oliviana in contempt of court, and 
she has been so found and, secondly, ordering the child back to White 
River, Arizona. And the judge took those two actions after some sort of a 
hearing at the tribal court, the nature of which I am not completely 
certain. 

So from a civil rights standpoint at that point in time, I reviewed the 
Indian Civil Rights Act, and unless I were to take the risk of telling my 
client to proceed to Arizona and be incarcerated or detained, the Indian 
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Civil Rights Act would, under the Federal system of the United States, 
would offer no relief in this situation. 

Ordinarily, in a situation like this, if I were facing in a piece of litigation 
where an individual could be incarcerated and time were needed and a 
judge told me, "No way, you are not going to have that time," I would 
ordinarily file for some kind of relief at an appellate court. 

In this particular situation, I suppose the argument could be made that 
should I have desired to continue this proceeding and go over the juvenile 
judge's head, if you will, that I should have sought the appellate procedure 
available in the Apache tribal court. For a variety of reasons, I chose not to 
do that and felt that I had no choice, given the directives of my client and 
her experiences with that system to date. I felt that that would have been a 
futile gesture and it was far easier and more facile, at that point in time, 
simply to tell her not to return physically to the reservation and for us to 
resolve some of these legal issues in the Montana district court. 

I would testify today that I suppose I have now been admitted to 
practice before the White Mountain Apache Tribal Court. I have sent in 
my $10 admission fee and my $50, I suppose, annual licensure fee. I have 
not received anything since then, but it has not been but a week or so. 

I have still never received one pleading that I have requested from the 
tribal court clerk. I can speculate that there may be substantive reasons as 
to why these have not been released to me, but I have never received any 
communication as to why I have not received them. 

This, at the same time that tribal counsel on behalf of the tribe has urged 
and filed motions asking the Gallatin County District Court judge to hurry 
up the proceedings in Montana, and I have never objected to any motions 
attempting to expedite Montana proceedings, except at the very outset 
when I got involved in the case. I think I asked for 10 days or so to file a 
responsive brief. 

But the inconsistency here and what has been very frustrating to me is 
that documents that are going to be relied upon, for instance, the Apache 
Juvenile Code, need to be certified if they are going to be admitted and 
relied upon in the Montana proceeding, and it's now approximately 2 
months after having requested these that I still don't have them. 

I don't know if this hearing were held tomorrow in Montana, if tribal 
council would simply bring one up to court and say, "Here it is." I 
presume, given the nature of the pleadings, that the tribe would need this 
document as well, and I would certainly invite tribal counsel to respond to 
that, but it really hamstrings the proceeding when those kinds of things 
happen. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Let me interrupt you for a moment, 
Mr. Ungar. I can't tell exactly where you are at this stage, but one of the 
things I do want to hear you speak more clearly about, though briefly 
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ultimately, is precisely how you envision dealing with the conflict that you 
have just described, the situation in which your client is caught. 

But before you do that, I wanted to clear up some other matters 
independent of that, and I wanted to ask a question or two, Ms. Leon, if I 
might. 

You have worked for some time presumably in child care services; is 
that correct? 

TESTIMONY OF DEBORAH LEON, FORMER SOCIAL 
WORKER, WHITE MOUNTAIN APACHE TRIBE 

Ms. LEON. I worked for 3 years, as I said, for the White Mountain 
Apache Tribe. I worked as a medical social worker on the obstetrics and 
pediatrics units at Good Samaritan Medical Center in Phoenix for a year. I 
received my master's ofsocial work from ASU in '83 and then immediately 
began working. 

Prior to that I was employed as a physical therapist and was forced to 
change careers for physical reasons. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So it's 3 years' experience with 
child care services? 

Ms. LEON. Four years. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Can you give me some idea of how 

these things are handled generally, these kinds of cases, or have you seen 
very many cases of this character? 

Ms. LEON. I have seen many cases within the tribal system. I have not 
seen any within Arizona State. My experience at Good Samaritan was 
with people as inpatients, so that we did not follow them after they left the 
hospital. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. In the tribal situation, how are 
these cases handled in general? 

Ms. LEON. Could you be more specific with the question? 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Just walk me through the kinds of 

steps you would take as a child care service officer dealing with the 
questions that arise either from children on the reservation or children off 
the reservation but enrolled in order to ascertain, one, whether one should 
undertake court proceedings to establish wardship; two, to evaluate the 
parents as to their suitability for raising the children; three, the determina­
tion of questions of adoption and placement. Just walk me through that 
process if you will. 

Ms. LEON. If there was a question as to the safety of the child or the 
fitness of the parent to have or the caretaker to have the child in the home, 
if it was a serious enough concern, a petition might be filed in the tribal 
juvenile court stating that this child is alleged to be neglected or 
abandoned or whatever the particular allegation was. 
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SUBCOMMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Excuse me. Who might file that 
petition? 

Ms. LEON. Someone who had firsthand knowledge, who had seen 
evidence. It could be a social worker, it could be a family member, or it 
could be a police officer-anyone with firsthand knowledge. But they 
could not file it if they had not witnessed a problem themselves; if they 
heard, "I hear that this child might be neglected, so I am filing a 
petition"-that was not allowed. 

So then, according to tribal code, there was to be an initial hearing 
within 48 hours after the petition was filed. That was to make an initial 
assessment of the case. 

When the petition was filed, sometimes it was so serious that the child 
was removed for protective custody by a police officer and put into foster 
care, or there is a nursery on the reservation run by a mission or the youth 
group home which is for adolescents, if it was felt that the child would be 
in danger to remain in the home until the first hearing. If not, then the child 
could go with a family member or stay in the home. 

A petition was basically a request for a hearing. Then the hearing was 
held, and witnesses would be subpoenaed to court and testimony given in 
court. Now, that is on a potential neglect or abuse. 

In adoptions, an adoptive parent had to file a petition to adopt a child 
within the tribal court at the juvenile court, and the judge generally 
reviewed the petition and made a decision. Pending the hearing, a child 
may or may not stay with you, the petitioners. Then a preliminary 
adoption hearing would be set up, a home study may or may not be 
presented, and a decision was made based on testimony given in court as to 
whether or not the child could remain with this family. Then the adoption 
could be finalized a year after the initial hearing. 

SUBCOMMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Is the testimony of the caseworker 
definitive? 

Ms. LEON. No, it is not. 
SUBCOMMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. As far as the recommendations for 

the treatment of the child? 
Ms. LEON. The recommendations of the social worker were not always 

followed, if that is the question. 
SUBCOMMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Yes, that's what I am asking you. 
In cases where those recommendations are not followed, is there 

anything that characterizes them or distinguishes them why they are not 
followed, or is it random? 

Ms. LEON. There were times, and I am not speaking at all to the Baier 
case at this time, there were times when the judge overruled the social 
worker's recommendation because he stated that he knew the family and 
they were fine for the child. 
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There were many adoptions where there was no home study and was no 
social worker involved. So it was strictly the judge's decision. It was 
basically up to the judge's discretion whether or not to follow the 
recommendation of the social worker. We usually were not given a reason 
why other than, "I know these people." 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. And in what way do these 
processes vary when you are dealing with children who live abroad? 

Ms. LEON. I'm sorry? 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. In what way do these processes 

vary, if any, when you are dealing with children who live abroad, off the 
reservation in distant States or whatever? 

Ms. LEON. I don't know if I can really answer that question, not having 
had direct experience with very many. Those were primarily in the tribal 
attorney's office and tribal social services was not involved. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. What do you mean when you say in 
the tribal attorney's office but not Social Services? What does that mean? 

Ms. LEON. The tribal attorney's office may have received a notice of an 
adoption proceeding in another State regarding a White Mountain Apache 
child. The tribal attorney's office then dealt with the legal proceeding and 
did not ask Social Services for assistance. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Have there been many cases of this 
character, one or two or what? 

Ms. LEON. I believe there have been many, but again I can't speak to 
that. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. To the best of your knowledge, 
when a case that involves diversity of jurisdiction arises, the attorney's 
office does not consult the social services department? 

Ms. LEON. That's correct. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
Go ahead, counsel. 
Ms. MUSKETT. Ms. Leon, Mr. Ungar has indicated that in the Baier case 

there was a motion made that took some 10 months to have a hearing on. 
Now, I don't want to speak with respect to that particular motion. I just 
wanted to ask you, in general, is it unusual to have a delay in the 
scheduling of a hearing in the White Mountain Apache Tribal Court? 

Ms. LEON. It is not unusual. In this particular case, I would like to 
mention that Ms. Baier's attorney requested the continuance, not the tribal 
court or the tribal social services. 

Ms. MUSKETT. In your experience, though, as a social worker before the 
court, maybe you could speak to your own experience in terms of delays. 
Is there any problem with respect to that with respect to the court? 

Ms. LEON. Within the juvenile court was my primary experience, and 
there were multiple problems of getting timely hearings. The tribal code 
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states that a hearing must be held within 48 hours after a petition is filed. 
That doesn't apply to this case directly. 

I have had numerous instances where anywhere from 6 weeks, and 6 
weeks was the norm to obtain an initial hearing where the child would be 
in custody somewhere else and in limbo before an initial hearing was held, 
up to 15 months with no hearing. Several were a year, 8 months, 10 
months, 5 months, and that's within the juvenile court. The juvenile court 
did not schedule the hearings despite numerous requests. 

Ms. MUSKETT. Now, are these situations where the child has been 
removed from the home-

Ms. LEON. Generally, yes. 
Ms. MUSKETT. -by Social Services and then you want to schedule a 

hearing? 
Ms. LEON. Right. 
Ms. MUSKETT. And do you have any indication as to why there was 

generally a delay in the scheduling of these hearings? 
Ms. LEON. Not really. The reasons I was given were that the juvenile 

judge was out of town or he was too busy. Generally, no, I was not given a 
reason, but just, "We're not having them." 

Ms. MUSKETT. Mr. Ungar has also indicated that he has a problem in 
obtaining documents from the tribal court. In your experience as a social 
worker, did you have any similar problems? 

Ms. LEON. Yes, I did. 
Ms. MUSKETT. Could you elaborate, please? 
Ms. LEON. Obtaining court orders after a decision had been rendered in 

the juvenile court. We then wanted a court order to put into our files to 
say okay, the child is now a ward of the court, or the child is returned 
home, or the adoption has been finalized. We would make repeated 
requests, written and verbal, and were consistently ignored. We just simply 
did not receive them. 

MR. MILLER. Ms. Leon, in Portland we heard testimony from tribal 
judges that oftentimes there are contacts by either the tribal Chairman or 
tribal councilmen, and they said that is particularly bad in custody cases. 

In your experience have you ever experienced anything like that in the 
White Mountain Tribal-

Ms. LEON. I haven't witnessed a meeting between any political people 
and a judge, but I have been in court where tribal council members or 
political appointees who are not related to the case were allowed to come 
into the courtroom. They were not subpoenaed, and they were allowed to 
speak either on the witness stand or at their whim in the courtroom on 
behalf of the parent, for example, defending the parent and what a good 
person he or she was, and the Social Services had no grounds for what 
they were saying. And then one case in particular where the judge 
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dismissed the petition alleging abuse by another social worker and said, "I 
am dismissing it with prejudice because I do not want you to appeal this." 

He has made statements to me and/or other social workers when I have 
been present stating that, "This is a political case. Elections are coming up. 
I won't remove the child," or "I will remove the child." 

Ms. MUSKETT. Well, do you think that was unusual, that one case where 
the judge felt for a political reason he had to render a particular decision? 

Ms. LEON. I felt that the judge was pressured by community members, 
parents ofchildren, or caretakers ofchildren to make the decision that they 
wanted rather than the decision that was best for the child. 

I did observe parents and caretakers making life very difficult for those 
involved in custody proceedings, of going to their own tribal council 
members and saying, "I want you to go to the court and get my child 
back." Whether or not they did that, I don't know, but I know that the 
parents did do that, exerting a tremendous amount of pressure on the 
judges who are also community members and tribal members and have 
families and relatives there. 

Ms. MUSKETT. Now these particular tribal councilmen that came into 
that one case that you mentioned, were they scheduled to testify? 

Ms. LEON. No, they weren't, and they were not subpoenaed. 
Ms. MUSKETT. So how did they partake in the proceedings? 
Ms. LEON. They stood up at various points during the proceeding and 

shouted what they had to say. 
There were several points that Mr. Ungar made that were incorrect that 

I would like to address, if that would be possible at this time or later. 
Ms. MUSKETT. Well, we would be happy to hear it, and if you would 

like to discuss it with Ms. Arthur, that's fine. We are willing to hear 
anything that you are willing to tell us. 

MR. MILLER. Ms. Arthur is not her counsel. 
Ms. MUSKETT. All right. 
Ms. LEON. Ms. Arthur and I did talk about the fact that we would like to 

rebut things that are not true. I was the caseworker for 3 years, 3 full years 
on the Baier case, and I have extensive knowledge of it. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Excuse me, Ms. Leon, could you just tell us at 
the outset how did you get involved in the Baier case? Where did this start? 
I mean this is the one piece that I don't have yet, and it would be very 
useful. 

Ms. LEON. Oliviana Baier came to Social Services requesting assistance. 
At the time, it was not regarding her child. She later then asked for 
assistance regarding her child, but initially she came for services that the 
agency could offer. 

I would like to mention that when the child was placed with the Collins, 
the adoptive parents, the potential adoptive parents in Colorado, when the 
child was 15 days old, Ms. Baier was coerced by her adoptive parents to 
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do so. She was threatened that if she didn't do that, she would be 
disowned. Those were the circumstances under which the child was 
placed. 

Oliviana was on the reservation from August of 1984 to at least August 
of 1987 and maybe later. I have seen allegations to the contrary, and the 
fact is she was there for a good 3 years, not for 1 year or 2 months or 
whatever she is saying now. The child was there from July 26 of 1986 until 
whenever Oliviana took her away, at least August of 1987. She spent most 
of her life on the reservation. 

The objection that the tribe accepting jurisdiction violated her civil 
rights-Oliviana wanted the tribe to take jurisdiction. She went to the 
tribal attorney's office on her own, of her own free will, asking the tribe to 
take jurisdiction, that she wanted her child back. There was nothing saying 
that her civil rights have been violated. 

The point that Mr. Ungar raised about inconsistency is not accurate. Ms. 
Baier's adoptive parents, who are non-Indian, began raising allegations 
against their daughter regarding their fitness to parent after Oliviana 
revoked her consent to adopt. They were very serious allegations, 
extremely serious when you are talking about putting a child into a home. 

For that reason, the child was made a ward of the court in the event that 
her parents were right. We, as the tribal agencies, didn't think they were, 
but these allegations were so serious that it was necessary to ensure the 
safety of the child. That is why the child was made a ward of the court. 

The point of the child being returned to the reservation was to reunite 
the child with her mother. That is why she was put into the mother's 
home. We didn't bring her back to the reservation to go to foster care. We 
brought her to be with her mother, but we needed to ensure should 
something happen that the child was in danger, the tribe had the authority 
to remove the child for her safety. That was the rationale. 

I don't recall what was stated in the court order. It has been at least a 
year since I have seen the records. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Were the allegations made by her parents 
reduced to writing or did they call you or what? 

Ms. LEON. Both. They were made in writing in the court proceedings in 
Colorado, in Larimer County. In fact, her parents were co-petitioners 
against her in the Colorado court proceedings. They were made in writing 
there in court, and they were made by telephone to me and to others 
working for the tribe, and they were made while they were sitting in my 
office face to face on two separate occasions. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Now let me see if I have the chronology right, 
which obviously is important to our understanding of it. Fifteen days after 
the child was born, the baby was placed with the Collins. 

Now where did Ms. Baier go? Where was she after the birth of the baby? 
Did she go back to the reservation? 
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Ms. LEON. No, she didn't. She went back to live with her parents for 
about 6 months after she had placed the baby in Colorado, and then she 
came to the reservation. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. And at what point was the petition in Colorado 
filed? 

Ms. LEON. I really don't remember. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Was that before or after she returned to the 

reservation? 
Ms. LEON. I believe it was after. The strategy of the people in Colorado 

at that time was that private adoptions, and there is no private adoption 
statute-as it was put to me, private adoptions are not legal in Colorado. 
Therefore, the strategy of the Collins attorney was to have the child 
placed in their home for 1 year and then claim abandonment by the natural 
mother and then allow the Collins to adopt the child. 

She was specifically instructed, "Do not visit the child and do not bring 
the child presents." She was allowed to visit the child, but at least she told 
me that she was instructed not to do too much. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. And then after the Colorado proceeding 
terminated, then would you continue with the chronology there. 

Ms. LEON. Sure. The child was returned to the reservation in July of '85, 
and Oliviana did quite well until February of '86 with the child in her 
home. There was very close supervision of her by Social Services, by 
myself primarily. I made unannounced home visits, you know, this type of 
thing, to monitor. 

Her situation began to deteriorate very rapidly, and it was clear that the 
child was being severely affected. Her behavior changed dramatically, and 
that is why she was removed from the care of her natural mother and put 
into a foster home. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Excuse me, can I interrupt? Would you give 
when that happened then? 

Ms. LEON. The first time, there was a temporary removal on a weekend. 
It was March 7, 1986. It was 2 days after the child's second birthday, and 
she was returned to her on March 10. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Was that done by an order or just by the 
department? 

Ms. LEON. The tribal police had to make any physical removal. I don't 
know ifa tribal court order was issued. The tribal court was informed as to 
the whereabouts of the child and the situation. Then the mother did not 
make any strides towards improving her situation, and on April 1, 1986, 
she was removed permanently and placed in a foster home. 

After that, the policy regarding foster care was explained to her, and the 
natural mother chose not to come in to Social Services for 6 days 
regarding her own child. She demonstrated no interest in visiting the child 
whatsoever for over a year. She objected very strenuously to the policies 
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of tribal social services regarding visitation of a child in foster care. She 
alleged to us that we were discriminating against her. We were just 
carrying out agency policy. 

The goal of all foster care, which was all supervised by Social Services, 
was reunification of the family. It was never the separation of the family. 
At the same time, the safety of the child had to be considered. 

I believe in the summer of '86 is when she retained her off-reservation 
attorney, stating that there were no reasons, as Mr. Ungar discussed, 
stating that there were no reasons that she shouldn't have the child. 

However, everytime a hearing was scheduled, Mr. Varbel asked for a 
continuance. Mr. Varbel did not ever come to Social Services to ask for 
information. He simply believed whatever his client told him. 

When the child was returned to Oliviana in October of '87, Mr. Ungar 
made the statement from the court proceedings that there was no firsthand 
knowledge of neglect, that the mother had not been proven to be unfit. 
The reason there was no firsthand knowledge is because all of the evidence 
of all of the happenings while I was the caseworker were not entered into 
the record, so that the social worker who took over after I left had been 
working on the case for maybe 7 weeks. He had seen no evidence of 
neglect. So that was what was reviewed. The evidence was not entered. 

SUBCOMMITrEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Can you state why the record was 
empty? 

Ms. LEON. I have no idea why. I was not privileged to that. I was not. 
SUBCOMMITrEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So you are saying to us not that you 

failed to enter the records, but that they disappeared? 
Ms. LEON. No, I'm not saying that. I am saying that any testimony that I 

might have given in that October '87 proceeding was not given because I 
was not informed of the proceeding and there was an agreement made 
that-

SUBCOMMITrEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I understand that, but what about 
the case file? Did I not understand you to say that there were no notations 
that you had made in the case file when the next social worker took it up? 

Ms. LEON. There are great gaps in the file that I did. I am the first to 
admit that. There were supposed to be four social workers in the office and 
there was one, and that was me, and I was also for a period of time the 
acting director. I was responsible for all social service delivery and the 
administration of the program and the supervision of employees. I was not 
writing notes; that's correct. 

However, the social worker came before I left and was fully briefed on 
the case. I live locally still. I do not live away. I repeatedly told the staff 
remaining that I was available and I was more than willing to testify. I 
requested the opportunity to work on the case file and I was denied that 
request. So the case file is extremely poor as a result of my recordkeeping. 
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However, I asked and I offered to put those notes in on my own time, and 
I was denied that request. 

So that when the court hearing was held in October-the information 
that I have was not that the record was there and reviewed, but that it was 
the testimony that was given. Since there was no testimony from the new 
social worker regarding neglect, therefore, Mr. Ungar stated there was no 
firsthand knowledge of neglect. That is because I was not asked to appear 
in court. There could have been. I don't know why. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Whose job was it to ask you to do 
that? 

Ms. LEON. Excuse me? 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Whose job was it to ask you to do 

that? 
Ms. LEON. I would imagine the Social Services and/or the tribal court 

would subpoena me. The normal procedure in tribal court was that, for 
example, if I filed a petition alleging that a child was neglected and I had 
seen it myself, but I had also had witnesses, I would ask the court, "Please 
subpoena the following people to be witnesses on this case," and that was 
routinely done. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. And you had filed such a petition in 
this case earlier? 

Ms. LEON. Yes, I had. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. And, as you told me initially, those 

petitions are filed giving basically eyewitness accounts, if I recall the 
statement? 

Ms. LEON. Right. 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So that that much was still in the 

record. Was that not consulted? 
Ms. LEON. Apparently not. I don't know. I was told that anything that 

happened prior to the end of July would not be admitted into the record­
July of '87 for the October '87 hearing. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Did tribal counsel represent the department of 
social services or did you take care of those proceedings yourself! 

Ms. LEON. Most of the time we took care of the proceedings ourselves. 
At the time there was a different tribal counsel. The only time we 
requested assistance or consultation was in a particularly difficult or 
unusual case. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Counsel. 
Ms. MusKETI. I had a couple of followup questions for you, Ms. Leon. 

What was the advantage of making the child a ward of the court when it 
was initially brought back to the reservation? Doesn't Social Services have 
the procedure where if they found that the mother was unfit, they could 
file a petition for abuse or neglect at that time? 
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Ms. LEON. That's correct. As I stated earlier, Oliviana's adoptive 
parents made extremely serious allegations about her fitness to parent. We 
had her evaluated by a psychologist, and more questions were raised as to 
her fitness to parent, but there was no proof that she was unfit. They were 
concerns and they were allegations by her parents, and I might mention 
that her parents' primary concern was their friends having the child. They 
did not want their daughter to have the child. 

The advantage as-again the tribal counsel was involved in this more 
than I was; the decisionmaking on this particular issue, as I understood it­
if she was already made a ward of the court, the police would be able to 
remove her without receiving express permission from the tribal court or 
the juvenile court. It was for the child's protection should she be 
endangered. That was my understanding of it. 

When any child was in foster care, they were wards of the court 
committed to tribal social services for supervision, for placement and 
supervision. The tribal counsel's office felt that it was best to have her as a 
ward of the court right from the beginning so that the situation could be 
monitored, so that the child's safety would be more ensured. 

Ms. MusKETI. I had another followup question going back to the case 
that we discussed earlier in which you felt that tribal council members had 
put pressure on the judge. What were the general circumstances of that 
case? • 

Ms. LEON. The circumstances were that the child came to school. He 
was 4 years old and he came to Head Start with a rope bum on his neck, 
and any child protective worker knows that certain marks indicate abuse 
or neglect. A rope bum on a neck means that a rope was put around their 
neck and they probably were hung or grabbed somehow, something that is 
not necessarily healthy. 

The child was very withdrawn that day, and the social worker at Head 
Start asked the child what was wrong, and he wouldn't talk. She said, 
"What's the mark on your neck?" and he wouldn't talk. So she said, 
"Draw me a picture and show me what happened," and he drew a picture 
of himself hanging from a tree with his older brother, who was 18 or 19 
and had children of his own, standing under the tree, and he said, "My 
brother did it." That was about all he would say. The brother lived in the 
home with his own family. 

I had had previous experience with the family. This child had been 
adopted by the mother, and I had recommended against the finalization 
because I did not feel that the mother was an appropriate caretaker. The 
judge overruled that and finalized it. Then 2 years to the month later this 
happened. 

The child was immediately picked up by the tribal police at Head Start 
after the social worker filed the petition and spoke with the judge. Then 
the child was placed in protective custody and was kidnapped by the 
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mother and then again put in protective custody. It was one of those cases 
where everyone was running around screaming about it all over town, and 
it was all the social worker's fault basically. 

So when we went to court, it was the social worker who filed the 
petition, myself, and the adoptive mother who were subpoenaed. The 
courtroom was packed. There were three or four benches in the 
courtroom and the walls were lined and the benches were filled. There 
was a tribal advocate and there were council members and there were 
political appointees who were not related to the family and did not live in 
the household. They were there to speak on behalf of the character of the 
adoptive mother. 

The social worker who filed the petition was required to take the 
witness stand, I was required to take the witness stand, and then it sort of 
turned into a free for all where the tribal officials would jump up and 
object, and call us liars and say that we didn't know what we were talking 
about and the child was happy. 

There was no objective evaluation of what had happened to the child. It 
became very emotional, very emotional. Later, the judge simply said, "I'm 
going to dismiss this with prejudice. That means you will not be able to 
appeal it," and that was the end of the case. 

Ms. MusKETI. Mr. Ungar, do you know why when the petition for 
adoption was filed in the Montana court, why that wasn't filed in the tribal 
court originally? 

MR. UNGAR. Well, I think that Ms. Leon has maybe stated a dozen good 
reasons why the matters that she has adduced do not exactly render 
confidence that a system like that is going to treat one fairly. So I would 
almost say that the record speaks for itself, after Ms. Leon's testimony, as 
to why my client, Oliviana, and the proposed adoptive parents had no 
confidence that the tribal court would fairly address the adoption issue. 

I had prepared a few other perhaps more esoteric arguments as to that 
issue, and I think if I cite these, then some of the exact examples, real 
examples that Ms. Leon has given, will fit within these categories. 

One wants to see an independent judiciary and a meaningful route of 
appeal in any case that is brought before a tribunal so that the litigants are 
treated fairly, and the proceedings that I viewed, and I can only speak in 
terms of this case, and also the general feeling and statements that my 
client made to me, which accord precisely with some of the situations that 
Ms. Leon described, which do not engender that sort of confidence and, to 
the contrary, would make one very uneasy in bringing something of this 
import before a tribunal. 

It is my legal stand on this case that once Oliviana travels in exercise of 
her privileges and immunities as a U.S. citizen to Montana, she could 
invoke the Montana court's jurisdiction and was free to do so. 
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Secondly, when you have a system which is rather ill defined, and you 
have a juvenile court judge who, as Ms. Leon stated, is oftentimes 
inflexible as to scheduling-I mean I am horrified to hear as a civil 
libertarian that children could be removed from their parents' home for as 
much as 15 months without the parents having a hearing. Now, under 
Stanley v. Illinois and a whole slew of caselaw in the so-called Anglo 
system, I mean that is grossly unconstitutional, actionable under section 
1983 and so forth. 

Knowing about those things in general and having them confirmed here 
today by someone with actual knowledge of how the system works again 
gives further pause about that jurisdiction. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Let me interrupt you just a 
moment, Mr. Ungar. I hate to do this because I want to hear all that you 
have there, but we also are pressed for time. 

MR. UNGAR. Yes, sir. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I have the sense that you have them 

written which emboldens me to suggest that we might profit from adding 
them to the record in their written form rather than listening to them at 
this moment. 

I had asked you earlier and told you there was one thing I wanted to you 
to do very briefly, and if I might, counsel, I think we really do need to 
begin to close, and I would ask you to close just by telling us very briefly. 
You have placed all your eggs in the Montana State basket at the moment, 
and you have described for us the conflict between the ICWA and the 
ICRA. What I would like to know every briefly is what you will do about 
your client's rights if you fail on the jurisdiction battle in Montana? 

MR. UNGAR. It depends upon how that eventuality would come about. 
If the district court judge rules in favor of the tribe's motion to dismiss and 
the case is then transferred to tribal court, then I suppose we have a couple 
of routes. One would be to seek Federal judicial review either in Montana 
or in Arizona, and you are asking me to show my hand here strategically, 
but that's no problem, either Federal forum to appeal the decision made by 
the State court judge as being in violation of the ICWA and possibly some 
other precepts which I have cited in my brief. 

Another route would possibly be to proceed in tribal court with certain 
conditions and assurances, I suppose, if those assurances could be 
satisfactorily given. At this point in time, I would say that that's unlikely, 
very unlikely, but I think that we are confident that our position would 
succeed in front of a Federal judge. 

We would have a choice, depending on what happened to the child. If 
the child were ordered back to Arizona, then we would potentially have a 
habeas situation, and you could invoke the ICRA. 

Getting to the business of this committee is going to put us in somewhat 
of a bind unless we decide to litigate the matter to a point where 
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potentially portions of the Santa Clara decision could be rendered 
unconstitutional or in some ways the remedies under the ICRA could be 
judicially expanded if Congress doesn't do so in the interim. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Okay. Was there anything very 
briefly that either of you want to address? 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Just a question for the record. Do we have the 
background documents that Mr. Ungar submitted in the record? Have 
those ever been submitted for the record? 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. They were accepted for the record, 
yes, and I am asking him to submit those that he was just referring to as 
well. 

MR. UNGAR. I will submit within the 30-day period, and to clarify the 
request, the reasons why the Montana forum was chosen. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Precisely. 
MR. UNGAR. Yes, sir. 
Ms. PRADO. I have one quick question of Ms. Leon, if I could, please. 

Just for clarification, when the child was returned, when Oliviana and the 
child returned and the child was made a ward of the court, that was in July 
of '85? 

Ms. LEON. Yes. 
Ms. PRADO. You said that your initial visits with her showed that she 

was doing well as a mother. Would it have been possible for you to make a 
recommendation then, at any point when she was doing well, that custody 
be transferred back to her? 

Ms. LEON. Absolutely. That was the goal. It was to observe them 
together and then have Michelle removed from the ward of the court and 
be fully in the custody and care of Oliviana without the court's 
supervision. 

MR. UNGAR. Mr. Chairman? 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Yes. 
MR. UNGAR. If I could just follow up Ms. Prado and your question. The 

initial order did state that Oliviana had custody of her child. So I would 
like to clarify that. It stated both findings, that she had custody, was a fit 
and proper person to have custody over her child, and that the child was a 
ward of the court, which is one of the bones of contention at the outset. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Very well. 
It is clear that our review of the ICWA, which is strictly from the 

perspective of the ICRA, has a long way to go as we sort through these 
things. 

We thank you for sharing what you have with us this afternoon. 
It is time for us to take a break, and we will limit it to 10 minutes. 

Following the break, we will assemble the next panel, which will consist of 
Chairman Ivan Sidney, Frances Jue, Delford Leslie, and Tom K.ahe. I 
don't know if I pronounced those all correctly. 
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Ms. ARTHUR. Excuse me, Mr. Allen, you invited me here so I could 
respond to Mr. Ungar, and I expect equal time and request that. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Are you ready to take the oath? 
Ms. ARTHUR. I will do that, yes. That is why you invited me here and 

that is why I am here. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I wish you had told us before. Very 

well, Ms. Arthur. 
Ms. ARTHUR. And I expect equal time. 
SUBCOMMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I wish I had been informed that we 

had come to that conclusion. I had the opposite impression that you were 
not intending to say anything. 

Ms. ARTHUR. Nobody asked me a second time if I was going to take the 
oath, but just what I was going to testify to, and Mr. Miller and I agreed 
that that is what our agreement had been and he said, okay, that was his 
understanding and that was it. No one said, "Are you going to take the 
oath again?" 

MR. MILLER. I do have a letter inviting her to testify. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Yes, I understand. Let me simply 

administer the oath, Ms. Arthur, and we will take the time required. 
[Claudine Bates Arthur was sworn.] 

TESTIMONY OF CLAUDINE BATES ARTHUR, GENERAL 
COUNSEL, WlilTE MOUNTAIN APACHE TRIBE 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Do proceed. 
Counsel. 
Ms. MusKETI. I was just going to ask you to please go ahead and 

respond to Mr. Ungar's allegations. 
Ms. ARTHUR. The panel seems particularly interested in the background 

events, and it might be helpful rather than having "Well, I think it was 
about that time, and it was about this time," ifwe went through specifically 
the events that did occur and clarified that just for the record. 

Furthermore, on the record, you should be informed that the Montana 
court has indicated that it is appropriate for me to respond with regard to 
the confidentiality and the privacy in the Montana proceedings and has 
granted me permission to put on the record the entire Montana proceed­
ings. I think it is only fair that if portions of the record are here, as Mr. 
Ungar has done, that the entire record be put before this panel, and I am 
prepared to give you a complete copy of the Montana proceedings. 

SUBCOMMl'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. Do you have those 
with you or will you submit them? 

Ms. ARTHUR. They are like this-[indicating]. I have them out in my 
car, and I will go and get them when we are through here. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So we can take them together. 
Thank you. We will admit those into the record, without objection. 
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Ms. ARTHUR. In the Colorado proceedings, it was May of '85 that Ms. 
Baier withdrew her consent to the Colorado proceedings. As Ms. Leon 
mentioned, she came to the legal department requesting assistance. The 
proceedings in Colorado were carried on at her instigation, at her request, 
and were for the specific purpose of reuniting her with her child on the 
reservation where she had been since 1984. Ms. Baier lived on the 
reservation from 1984 until January of 1988. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Excuse me, Ms. Arthur, so that the record is 
very clear on all this, are the proceedings or whatever papers are available 
from the Colorado proceedings, are those available, too? 

Ms. ARTHUR. I was not the attorney of record in Colorado, and I cannot 
speak to the Colorado court's view of whether or not their custody 
proceedings are confidential. I assume so. I would expect that the court, as 
Montana did, would be required to make an order with regard to the court 
proceedings themselves and the records in particular themselves. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. The only reason I ask is Ms. Leon made some 
statements with respect to the foundation of some of the proceedings in 
Colorado with respect to the allegations, and if you looked at the bare 
record of the Montana proceedings as we have seen them today, one 
would assume that some of those allegations came out of the blue. 

One of the connecting factors that Ms. Leon added today, to my 
knowledge, is that some of those may have preexisted and could be found 
in that Colorado record. My only question was did you have them? Your 
answer is no. 

Ms. ARTHUR. I do have them. My difficulty is with discussing the 
specifics in them. I can tell you the types of documents that are in the 
Colorado court. There is a motion to intervene by the Collins and the 
grandparents, the Baiers themselves, Oliviana's parents, as Ms. Leon 
stated, that they entered the proceedings against their daughter. There was 
a decision made that the child was no longer available for adoption 
because the parental consent had been withdrawn. There was a great deal 
of motions back and forth, temporary injunctions to keep the child in 
Colorado, etc. 

The end result was that the Colorado county social services, Larimer 
County social services filed a petition for neglect based on the allegations 
that were made by the Collins and particularly by Oliviana's own parents. 

Because of that petition for neglect, the White Mountain Apache Tribal 
social services, which had entered an order early in May of 1985 with 
regard to this child, asked and with Oliviana's consent had some 
psychological evaluations which are confidential but which raised addi­
tional questions. 

The Colorado court on July 25, 1985, Judge Sullivan granted the county 
attorney's motion to dismiss, disallowed the temporary restraining order, 
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and turned the child over to, and this may get to Ms. Muskett's question 
about why the child was initially a ward of the court. 

The Larimer County tribal court order turns the child over to the 
custody of the White Mountain Apache Tribal social services. So when the 
child came to the White Mountain Apache tribal jurisdiction, came into 
the tribe's jurisdiction, she came there as a transfer already under the care 
and supervision of Social Services. 

It is not in child custody situations unusual, particularly when you are 
trying to get the mother and the child back together, to have the child be a 
ward of the court in a legal sense and have physical custody with the 
mother with supervision from Social Services such that an ultimate 
resolution of the problem can be had. That is what occurred at that 
moment. 

The tribal court order, regardless of what Mr. Ungar has said to you and 
it is part of the exhibits in the Montana court, the tribal court order does 
not find Oliviana to be a fit and proper person, and the reason that was so 
was because the questions had been raised about her fitness to parent. She 
was, however, allowed at that time to have physical custody of the child 
with supervision by the tribal social services. As a matter of fact, Ms. Leon 
and the tribal attorney at that point made an allegation, and they are simply 
allegations when you file petitions; they are not the facts; the court later 
finds the facts in its order-they made an allegation that in fact Oliviana 
was a fit and proper person, and perhaps that is where Mr. Ungar read 
that. They did allege and her affidavit did say that she was a fit and proper 
person. 

The tribal court did not find that and did not make that finding. They 
made a finding allowing her to have physical custody of the child pending 
supervision, evaluation, continued counseling, she was ordered into 
parental classes, counseling sessions, and in fact two different kinds of 
counseling, one in which there could be more or less someone who would 
help her look at herself and that might be adversarial, so she had to have a 
private, other counsel. 

The White Mountain Apache Tribe, as Ms. Leon correctly stated, was 
always interested in reuniting this mother with her child. That was the 
situation in which the child was brought back in July to the White 
Mountain Apache Tribal Court jurisdiction. 

The petition for transfer was May 29, 1985, the court order accepting 
jurisdiction was May 30, 1985, and the court ordered that Social Services 
should keep the court informed on a weekly basis-that is how serious the 
charges were-about the care of the minor child until there be further 
proceedings. 

The court then did hold a hearing in which they looked at the whole 
situation and continued the situation involving Social Services' looking out 
for the interest of this child while the child remained with her mother. 

89 



Thereafter, the court records indicate and substantiate Ms. Leon's 
testimony that at first Oliviana did quite well, and later on, for a variety of 
reasons, there was real questions about the danger that this child was in, 
occasioning tribal police removing the child from the home on two 
occasions, and the second time in which the court put the child in a foster 
home because it found that it would be in the child's best interests rather 
than being in a dangerous situation at home. 

Ms. Baier, during the time that the child was in a foster home, did not 
comply with the orders of the court with respect to supervision. She didn't 
comply, as Ms. Leon said, with the visitation schedules; she didn't comply 
with the need to carry on counseling services so that she could be united 
with her child. 

In July of '87, the Baiers, the parents of the mother, wrote to the tribal 
Chairman saying, "We understand things aren't going very well down 
there in White Mountain for our grandchild. We want our grandchild 
back." And in fact the Baiers paid an attorney to help Oliviana go to court 
in October and attempt to regain custody of her child. 

The motion to return the minor child to the mother was filed December 
1, 1986. On December 3, 1986, there was a order to Social Services to 
make an investigation and a report regarding that matter. On December 5, 
1986, Mr. Varbel, who was then her attorney, filed a motion to continue. 
The tribe's legal counsel filed a response on 12/10/86. Another motion to 
continue was filed by Mr. Varbel that same month. There was a motion to 
continue then in December of '86 by the tribe awaiting a psychological 
evaluation of Ms. Baier. 

In October 1987 the court did hear Mr. Varbel and Oliviana and found 
that the child could be returned to her mother based on the evidence that 
the court had before it. And as a matter of record, the court did not allow 
prior testimony and questioned the present social worker on his particular 
knowledge. Since the court hearing was held at a time when Ms. Leon was 
leaving the tribe or had just left the tribe and the new social worker had 
come on, there was not testimony that the court took notice of, and we feel 
there was testimony on the record. However, your interest is in not 
relitigating the factual issues of the c~e. So I won't go into those sorts of 
things. ' 

However, as you well know, when the court makes an order, they say to 
the winning counsel, "You draft me an order to that effect." Counsel did 
that. Counsel for Ms. Baier did that. The court looked at the order and in 
its own handwriting, which Mr. Ungar has failed to bring to your 
attention, in its own handwriting wrote that Ms. Baier should go for 
another evaluation and that there should be home study so that the court 
could make further orders in this case, which we have alleged in Montana 
and we think is a correct reading, that the court intended continuing 
jurisdiction at the October hearing. 
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It was simply returning to the status that we had before. We had a 
mother who was going to be allowed physical custody of her child while 
Social Services was looking into it. Then we had the child taken away. We 
were returning to that status. The child would be allowed to go ~ack to 
her mother, there would be home studies, and there would be other things 
to see what further orders this court needed to make. 

Ms. Baier did not comply with the order saying contact the psychologist 
who may do a home study and evaluation, and the evaluation should be 
completed on December 8, 1987, so that the court will be fully advised in 
making any further orders it deems necessary. 

The court looked at the file, did not see that that had been done. So on 
December 18, 1987, the court ordered that Ms. Baier complete the 
evaluation and file it with the court. 

Ms. Baier by that time had decided to return to Montana, did so in 
January by her own testimony, and put the child up for adoption in 
February, but on March 21 she submitted to the tribal court the evaluation 
that indicated that she had told the psychologist that the child was in her 
home when in fact that child was not in her home and was already up for 
adoption, and those proceedings had been filed in February. It was on that 
basis that the court, when that was brought to the court's attention, the 
court decided to have her appear before it and show cause why she 
shouldn't be held in contempt. 

The motion for an order to show cause and the modification for custody 
was heard on May 2, 1988, and, as generally happens, the court didn't like 
the order and had us redo it according to its findings, and on May 3, the 
next day, he signed the court order ordering her to show cause why she 
should not be held in contempt. 

On Monday, May 2-well, I need to go back before then. On April the 
28th after the Social Services had contacted me personally and said there is 
a case going on in Montana, I contacted Duane V arbel, the attorney for 
Ms. Baier. He indicated to me that her parents had not paid him, so he 
wasn't going to get involved, but he would call her on the phone, and 
subsequent to that time that has been verified by Ms. Baier in pleadings in 
the Montana case, that she indeeq was called by her Arizona attorney, the 
attorney of record in the tribal court proceedings, that she was called and 
advised that there were tribal court proceedings going on. 

I then spoke, after trying to track down who her attorney was, I did get 
in touch with a person on Monday, May 2, named Michael Coil. I gave 
him the information with respect to my filings before the tribal court; I 
informed him that if he wanted to participate there were procedures that 
he needed to go through, just as there were procedures for me to go 
through in Montana. 

If I expect to go to Montana, or if I expect to go to California, or if I 
expect to go anywhere to represent the White Mountain Apache Tribe, I 
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don't simply assume that that court is going to allow me to practice. I go 
and look up the rules, or I call an attorney in that forum and I say, "How 
do I do this? Help-I am in White River, Arizona, and I don't have access 
to Montana's statutes, please help," and I find out what I need to do in 
order to practice. 

But, out of courtesy, I told Mr. Coil that there were procedures in the 
White Mountain Apache Tribal Court for practicing and that he should 
follow those procedures. He informed me that he wanted to participate in 
the tribal court hearing and that perhaps we could work something out 
before the judge with respect to a telephone conference call. 

I also, later that month, and I don't have the date right in front of me 
because this was a note I wrote to myself at the time this case came up, but 
later in the month I did receive a call from Mr. Ungar, and I don't dispute 
his stating that he got in touch with me a few days before the hearing and 
asked for an extension, and the court, as in many cases-and it happens to 
me all the time. If yo~ want to hear my complaints about the Montana 
court, I would be real glad to go into that. 

The court chose not to grant an extension of time. That is in the sound 
discretion of any court. Ms. Baier had notice from three different 
attorneys. It was her choice not to show up. For her to come here and to 
publicly complain about a hearing, an ex parte hearing that she and her 
attorney here has said that he advised her not to come, that is her choice. 

However, if they didn't like what the tribal court did, there is a very 
simple remedy. When I lose I appeal. If the Baiers and the Collins didn't 
like the Colorado, Larimer County transferring this case to the White 
Mountain Apache Tribe and giving the child back to its mother at that 
point in time, they could have appealed in Colorado. They chose not to. 
That is their choice. 

Throughout all these proceedings these people have been represented by 
attorneys. Both in Federal district court rules and in the White Mountain 
Apache rules, notice to the attorney, and I think in other jurisdictions in 
which they had adopted pretty much the Federal district court rules, 
notice to an attorney in the case is notice to the party. 

Frankly, attorneys get frustrated all the time that they can't get their 
clients to do or to say or to act as they would like to have them act, but 
that doesn't negate the rule. Ms. Baier had notice early in May, May 2nd 
before that, that there were going to be tribal court proceedings. She 
deliberately chose not to show up. 

Mr. Ungar's statement that she could go to jail is simply not true. We 
were not requesting that she be put in jail. Furthermore, it's the one 
situation under the Indian Civil Rights case where she could have gotten 
out of jail because there is a remedy for that particular fear. 

So it's a little strange to bring it up in that way. I mean, it struck me as 
kind of an interesting twist on all of this. 
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The motion to continue was denied. The court, as most courts do, 
looked around and said, "Who is here?" and it didn't issue an order to 
Oliviana Baier because she wasn't there. So courts sometimes can't make 
people do something if they are not in front of them. 

It issued an order to Social Services to take some action, and that action 
was to do everything to bring that child back to the appropriate 
jurisdiction. Social Services and I as their attorney have assisted them in 
that regard. 

So those are the proceedings at the present time. I intend to put the 
entire Montana proceedings before you. The tribal court has not taken any 
further action other than to order my clients to go forward and return the 
child to the jurisdiction of the White Mountain Apache Court. The child is 
a ward of the White Mountain Apache Tribal Court; that is a particular 
legal issue before the Montana proceedings; and that basically is the 
background or chronology. 

I want to just respond to an interesting observation. As Ms. Leon said to 
you, I have not been with the White Mountain Apache Tribal Court as 
general counsel for very long. I came full time in February, and as you are 
trying to accommodate a new place and a new job, it occurred to me that I 
would need to practice in the tribal court at some point in time. 

I filed a motion to be allowed to practice before the White Mountain 
Apache Tribal Court and it took 63 days for them to grant me application. 
It took me much longer to become a member of the Arizona bar or the 
New Mexico bar. I don't think Mr. Ungar's 35 days requires comment. I 
don't think it's very long. 

There are a number of attorneys who apparently have filed in White 
Mountain Apache Court to practice and they filed in February, and they 
have not been admitted because they haven't paid their money. And if you 
know anything about bar associations, if you don't pay your money, they 
are not going to let you practice. I mean, I don't think that is unusual 
either. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Ms. Arthur-
Ms. ARTHUR. Just a second. Don't cut me off yet. I'm not quite through. 

I'm just looking through my notes. Please. Thank you. I'm sure it won't be 
very much longer. 

I must state for the record that, whatever Ms. Leon's experience was, it 
is no longer the practice in the White Mountain Apache Tribal Court for 
the tribal attorneys to not contact Social Services when we get notices of 
Indian Child Welfare Act jurisdiction cases in other States. We always 
contact them, and we have no problem with the State of Arizona. They 
consistently ask our opinion, and they consistently transfer cases back to 
White Mountain Apache court, and they consistently work with our social 
services department with respect to Indian children who are off the White 
Mountain Apache Reservation. 
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SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. What I was going to say a moment 
ago, not so much in cutting you off, was that in addition to appreciating 
your testimony, which has been highly useful, I want you to know also 
that the record remains open for 30 days, and you are certainly free to 
supplement anything that you have given here in addition to those records 
from Montana, which you have promised us. 

We do have scheduling difficulties which we have only now exacer­
bated, and I would like to beg your indulgence. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Especially, if I can just add, the chronology 
was very, very useful. If you have a written version of it, it would be great, 
if you have a docket sheet that you could submit. 

Ms. ARTHUR. I believe that the Montana proceedings have all of this 
before it. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. All right, fine. Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I thank you very much, and I thank 

all of you. 
We shall still take that IO-minute break, and I'm sure most of you now 

wish it would be 15 minutes instead of 10, but we can only afford 10. Then 
we shall begin anew. 

[Recess.] 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. The Commission is again in session. 
Now we will have a new panel, and we have a substitute, I believe, for 

Delfred Leslie. 
What I shall do is ask each of you to identify yourselves first as we 

begin. Give us your name, your title, and where you ~e from, and we'll 
start with the substitute for Delfred Leslie. 

JUDGE DELGARITO. I am Alene Delgarito. I am the associate judge for 
the Hopi Tribal Court, and I am here on behalf of Delfred Leslie, Judge. 

Ms. JUE. My name is Frances Jue. I am an attorney, and I am the court 
counsel attorney. 

MR. SIDNEY. My name is Ivan Sidney. I am the Chairman of the Hopi 
Tribe. 

MR. KARE. My name is Tom Kahe. I am the administrator for the Hopi 
Tribal Court. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you all. We are glad to have 
you with us. 

Let me administer the oath to you collectively as I have been doing all 
day. 

Before I do this, I will announce to the audience that we have 
interpreters present for the hearing impaired. If there is someone here who 
requires this service, we would appreciate your signaling us at this 
moment, for, if there is not, we will permit the interpreters to relax and call 
it a day for them. 
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Thank you. 
[Alene Delgarito, Frances Jue, Ivan Sidney, and Tom Kahe were 

sworn.] 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
We are particularly happy to have the time on this visit to Flagstaff to 

meet with representatives from the Hopi Nation, which we have not had 
occasion to do. So we would like to hear from you especially about some 
of your concerns and also will doubtless have a question or two regarding 
circumstances, particularly the administration of justice, there at the 
reservation. 

But let us start with you, and I don't have a sense of which of you wishes 
to go first, but perhaps I should go to Chairman Sidney out of mere 
protocol if nothing else. 

TESTIMONY OF IVAN SIDNEY, CHAIRMAN, HOPI TRIBE 
MR. SIDNEY. Mr. Chairman and members of the Commission, thank you 

for giving us the time to be here and welcome to Arizona, our homeland. 
Mr. Chairman, I am here primarily to meet the Commission. I have 

never been before this distinguished Commission. 
We, the Hopi, have lived with our traditional laws for many years, and 

today with the tribal government, there are problems arising, and 
especially as we go toward ensuring that tribal sovereignty is maintained 
and enforced, we find that we are going to begin to present testimony and 
to go out and talk about different issues and have our people be given an 
opportunity also to express themselves. 

I am here primarily this afternoon, Mr. Chairman, to thank you for the 
work you have done, and I believe it's very important that the Commission 
continue. 

I am also here to express my support of our tribal court and our vice 
chairman, Mr. Vernon Masayesva, who will also offer some testimony in 
the public comment time, and I fully support him as well. 

In these times we don't seem to appreciate what efforts you are trying to 
do, and I might say, Mr. Chairman, I am here to say we appreciate the 
work you are trying to do here, and sometime our people will see what we 
are trying to do, sometime tomorrow or the following days to come, but I 
feel we have the same objective. 

I apologize that I can't stay here very long. I have another appointment 
to go to, but I felt it was very important that I come at least to meet all of 
you with my personal appearance here and to give our people the support 
in whatever their testimony may be. Whether it is for or whether it is 
against, I feel it's important that we hear these things and go forward. 

As one of the leaders of this country said, we are better to resolve our 
own differences here, but with your help we can do so and the horizon 
looks very promising for us. 

95 



Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Commission for allowing 
me to be here, and I tum the time to our representatives here. Again, thank 
you for the time, and I am sorry that I cannot be here throughout this 
hearing. 

SUBCOMMITI'EE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Well, thank you very much. We are 
glad to have had you for as long as we could. 

MR. SIDNEY. Also, excuse me, Mr. Chairman, I would like to state that if 
the record could be left open so if something should arise, that maybe we 
can present that later. I feel that if we can ask that, it would be helpful for 
us. 

SUBCOMMITI'EE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. By all means, Chairman Sidney, the 
record will remain open for 30 days so that anything can be added to it. 

MR. SIDNEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and do come and see our 
reservation sometime. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We shall be happy to. 
MR. SIDNEY. Thank you and have a good day. 
SUBCOMMITI'EE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Ms. Delgarito. 

TESTIMONY OF ALENE DELGARITO, ASSOCIATE JUDGE, 
HOPI TRIBAL COURT 

JUDGE DELGARITO. I also thank you for giving me the opportunity to 
make a statement on behalf of the Hopi Tribal Court and the Hopi people. 

There was a complaint filed with the Commission by Mr. Lee Phillips 
against the Hopi Tribe complaining about a certain process that was denied 
to his client. I am going to read verbatim, almost verbatim from the 
statement that was prepared for Judge Leslie. I was not prepared to appear 
before the Commission today, but I am happy I am here today. 

It states that to summarize the legal proceedings of the case which Mr. 
Lee Phillips had complained about against the Hopi Tribe was that there 
were criminal complaints filed against his clients, namely, Willie Lone 
Wolf, Scott Sam Tso, Thomas Catney, and Reggie Deer. 

The compaint alleged that they had destroyed certain fences on the 
Hopi partition land and resisted arrest. Those were the criminal complaints 
that were filed against the four defendants. 

The defendants appeared for arraignment, and I believe the criminal 
complaints were filed on April 7, 1986, and they appeared before the court 
shortly after that for arraignment, and each one of the defendants entered a 
plea of not guilty to the charges. Thereafter, they were released on their 
own personal recognizance pending a pretrial hearing. 

At the pretrial hearing, the defendants' attorney, I believe, who was Mr. 
Lee Phillips, requested an immediate evidentiary hearing on the jury 
venire, and the court granted the Hopi Tribe's request for some time to 
prepare for the hearing and giving the defendants 2 additional weeks to 
answer to the Hopi Tribe. 
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During that time, the defendants filed four motions to dismiss com­
plaints, including one for inability to impanel an impartial jury, which is 
central to Mr. Phillips' complaint before the Commission. 

There is a copy. I do not know if you do have a copy of the order issued 
by the tribal court which includes the statement of the proceedings. The 
order cites only the provisions of the Indian Civil Rights Act of 1968 
which addresses the requirement of a jury in section 1302, subsection 10, 
which states a jury shall consist ofnot less than six persons. The criteria for 
selection of jurors to sit in Hopi Tribal Court is based on tribal 
membership, residence, and competency. 

I will also add of my own knowledge that the Navajo Tribal Code also 
requires that the jurors be members of that particular tribe, the Navajo 
Tribe. 

In the order it also states and cites a United States Supreme Court case, 
namely, Morton v. Mancari, which can be found in 417 United States 
Supreme Court, page 535, a 1974 decision which rejects the argument that 
laws protecting the separate status of tribal Indians are in violation of equal 
protection which requires strict scrutiny by the courts. On the contrary, 
because Indians have been classified as distinct political entities rather than 
distinct racial groups, laws protecting the separate status of tribal Indians 
do not violate the principle of equal protection if they are rationally related 
to the distinct constitutional status of the tribes and to the unique Federal­
tribal relationship. 

In the Hopi rules, it also contains a challenge process for the jury 
selection. During the jury selection, the defendants' attorneys were given 
an opportunity to challenge procedures. The court allowed the defendants' 
attorneys a great deal of time to question the potential jurors on almost an 
unlimited scope of questions. 

After the jury was seated, the trial was conducted in a fair manner. 
However, the counsels had agreed to defer prosecution. I believe 
prosecution was set for a term of 6 months with the conditions that these 
four defendants were not to engage in any unlawful activities such as what 
was alleged to have been committed by the four defendants. 

And upon the fulfillment of the requirements of this deferred prosecu­
tion, the case was dismissed. This was deferred for 6 months, which began, 
I believe, on March 31, 1987, and Mr. Phillips had filed his complaint with 
the Commission shortly after that, before the deferred prosecution had 
been fulfilled. 

It is disturbing to us that Mr. Phillips had filed this certain complaint 
without having exhausted all the remedies of the court, namely, the 
appellate procedures which were available to him. We do have an 
appellate court in the Hopi Tribal Court, but no appeal was made on this 
particular case here. 
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The writ of habeas corpus to the Federal district court was also 
available, and I do not believe he had filed any such writ to the district 
court for relief for his clients there. 

The statement that I am making to you is based on what I do know 
about the case. I was not the sitting judge at that time. I was a court 
advocate practicing in the Hopi Tribal Court. I had occasion to sit in 
through the hearings at that time. So this is based on what I do know about 
the case and what I have read in the case after having become a judge with 
the Hopi Tribal Court. 

Although our courts are not perfect, however, we try to conduct our 
courts in a fair and just manner and in a professional manner which 
provides substantial justice to those who come before our courts. That is 
the reason why I am very happy and pleased to present this statement on 
behalf of our tribe, the Hopi Tribe, and the Hopi Tribal Court. 

In light of the principles established by the United States Supreme 
Court, I feel that the complaint that Mr. Phillips had filed with the 
Commission was unjustified. 

Thank you. 
SUBCOMMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
Mr. Kahe. 

TESTIMONY OF TOM KAHE, ADMINISTRATOR, HOPI TRIBAL 
COURT 

MR. KAHE. Thank you. Thank you for the opportunity to address the 
members of this Commission. 

As administrator for the Hopi Tribal Court, it is my job to ensure that 
the courts address the needs of the people it serves. I am here today to 
testify to the significance of tribal courts and the need to maintain the 
jurisdiction of tribal courts. 

I attended the hearings which the Commission conducted in August 
1987 and heard numerous complaints then as I have heard today. I wish to 
point out that not all tribal governments and tribal courts operate like those 
on which complaints have been filed. 

The Hopi Tribal Court has not, to my knowledge, had any complaints 
filed, except for violations of individual civil rights filed by Mr. Phillips. 
Given the applicable law on the large violations, it is my opinion that the 
complaint against the Hopi Court is not justified. 

I believe Judge Leslie bent over backwards to ensure the defendants a 
fair and just proceeding. I am concerned that the complaints filed with and 
heard by the Commission will result in recommendations by the Commis­
sion to take certain actions which will affect all tribes, including those 
whom no complaints have been filed. 

The tribal courts were established in recognition of rights of tribes to 
preserve their customs and traditions, as well as the right to self-
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government. Any amendment to the Indian Civil Rights Act which would 
broaden the review process of Federal courts would result in an erosion of 
tribal sovereignty and self-determination. This is not to say that the 
concerns of individuals who allege violations should not be addressed. 

We applaud the efforts of the Commission to listen to the concerns. 
However, the Commission should keep in mind the necessity of preserving 
tribal sovereignty, as well as protecting individual rights. 

The tribal courts are the new kids on the block in terms of experience 
with the Anglo-American judicial system. In addition, the tribal courts, not 
unlike the Anglo-American courts, are facing new and more complex legal 
questions. 

In order to address these complex issues which are occurring more 
frequently, the tribal court must better equip in terms of personnel, data, 
and equipment. The human and material resources of tribal courts is 
usually very limited due to limited funds. However, given time and 
resources, I believe the tribal court can well operate in a manner whereby 
such incidents of alleged violations will occur with less frequency. 

It is my sincere hope that the tribal courts will be permitted to maintain 
their existing jurisdiction and will be given the opportunity to exhibit their 
ability to carry out their duties in a fair and just manner. 

Again, I thank you for giving me this opportunity to testify before the 
Commission. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Before you close, Administrator, 
could you tell us a few things about the court system in Hopi? Is your 
court system established in your constitution or is it established by the 
tribal council, for example? 

MR. KA.HE. The Hopi Tribal Court is established by the tribal council by 
an ordinance which we call ordinance 21. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Do you also have among your 
ordinances a sovereign immunity statute? Do you know whether the Hopi 
has a sovereign immunity statute in the code? 

MR. KA.HE. No, I don't believe we have a sovereign immunity statute 
there. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So if a plea of immunity is made 
before the courts, it's referred to tradition and not to any particular statute 
or legal ruling? 

MR. KA.HE. Yes. 

TESTIMONY OF FRANCES JUE, COUNSEL, HOPI TRIBAL 
COURT 

Ms. JUE. The tribes maintain that there still is the inherent right to 
sovereignty. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. The inherent right to sovereignty? 
Ms. JUE. Yes. 
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SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. From time immemorial. Yes, 
understood. 

MR. MILLER. Sovereign immunity or sovereignty? 
Ms. JUE. Sovereignty. 
MR. MILLER. What about sovereign immunity, has that been judicially 

adopted, the doctrine of sovereign immunity? 
JUDGE DELGARITO. The doctrine of sovereign immunity is not ad­

dressed in the constitution. However, each village has its own sovereign 
powers and the villages themselves do not, the people in those villages will 
not accept any infringement on the sovereignty of the people. It can be 
addressed at the village level. 

MR. MILLER. I'm still unclear as to whether or not in that kind of a 
situation the village would be immune from a lawsuit against it or the Hopi 
Nation would be immune from a lawsuit against it. 

JUDGE DELGARITO. Our government is unique. Each village has the 
powers and the authority to regulate its business in its own village, and 
therefore, I believe that if someone was to, and I hate to address this right 
now, but I do believe there would be some sort of remedy available to the 
village and to the complaining person. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. I just want to make sure, and we don't want to 
get to issue advisory opinions on what would you do if, and we just want 
to make sure that you understand that. But basically what you are saying is 
that, assuming a situation came up, you feel that it could be handled 
expeditiously both preserving the integrity of the village's sovereignty as 
well as giving the complaining party some kind of remedy that would 
leave them to go away, maybe not completely happy, but feeling that they 
had been heard. 

JUDGE DELGARITO. That's correct. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. What do you take to be the status 

of the ICRA in Hopi? How are cases brought under the Indian Civil 
Rights Act and what, in your judgment, is the status of that act? 

JUDGE DELGARITO. Is that directed at any one person? 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Any one of you who would choose 

to respond. 
Ms. JUE. The Hopi Tribe recognizes the Indian Civil Rights Act and we 

do the best in the courts to adhere to this Civil Rights Act. As a tribe we 
have to weigh, as was stated earlier, the considerations of the need of the 
tribe to be sovereign and to have the right to self-government versus 
individual rights, and I think that the Hopi system itself, the traditional 
system, has addressed that pretty well. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Is it actually the case that you may 
sometimes have to consider sacrificing the individual for the sake of the 
tribe? Is that what I am understanding you to say? 

100 



Ms. JUE. I don't think that it would be sacrificing the individual. That's a 
difficult question because that is a difficult question that all tribes have to 
face, that balancing. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Let me interject because you made a connec­
tion that may answer our question. I mean, in the traditional adversarial 
systems of justice that exist in the State and Federal systems, it's usually 
somebody wins and somebody loses. 

Now, if I understand you correctly, that the traditional system may not 
operate that way, that in tradition you may be able to give everybody a 
little bit of something. Could you describe how that is done? What is the 
hallmark of the traditional Hopi way of resolving disputes, if it is not the 
all or nothing proposition in the Federal and State systems? Is it like a 
mediation or is it like an arbitration? You don't have to use those terms, but 
if you could describe the process a little bit, it would be helpful for the 
record. 

Ms. JUE. According to Hopi tradition, in the villages the person that one 
would go to, who would I guess serve in the sense of the mediator, would 
be the Kikmongwi, who is the village leader. The concerns would be taken 
to him and based upon what he has been taught is the way that the society 
should be run in order to maintain the society, then his decision would be 
made upon that basis. 

That is not to say that in all cases everyone would be happy. There is 
certainly that, you know, someone wins and someone loses. It's not­
everyone isn't happy. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Can that decision in one way or another be 
appealed up into the tribal court system if someone felt that they were not 
treated fairly in that traditional system? 

Ms. JuE. Yes, it could be. 
JUDGE DELGARITO. That has happened. There are village decisions that 

have been appealed to the Hopi Tribal Court. During this process, the 
village Kikmongwi, the leader or the chief of the people, waives its 
jurisdiction, and then it goes on to the appeals court, to the Hopi Tribal 
Court. 

CoMMISSIONER DESTRO. And during that process, basically, would you 
say in your experience up to today, because you have indicated that there 
has only really been one claim that you violated the ICRA, that the 
specifics of the ICRA in one way or another are handled in that informal 
process at the beginning and then throughout the process? 

JUDGE DELGARITO. Let me make a distinction between the new tribal 
courts and the village process. The tribal courts have the ordinances, as we 
have informed you. The laws which are contained in these ordinances are 
subject to the Indian Civil Rights Act. 

In my court I assure the defendant, that that particular defendant is 
given all the rights as prescribed by the Indian Civil Rights Act; that is, the 
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criminal defendant is given the rights prescribed by the Indian Civil Rights 
Act, and those rights are also prescribed by ordinance 21. So the criminal 
defendant is assured and given those rights. 

In the village level, at one time the same criminal violations were 
handled in a manner where the defendant was disciplined and not very 
harshly. However, they were disciplined and given sanctions, and they still 
have the right to speak for themselves or to defend themselves at these 
hearings. 

But since the Hopi Tribe has adopted the laws of the Anglo court system 
or the Anglo system, then those types of disputes are no longer settled at 
the village level. I would say now that only the civil matters are resolved 
at the village level. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. That is a very important distinc­
tion. I assume, then, that you are beginning to build caselaw in collecting 
these decisions. 

JUDGE DELGARITO. Yes, we are. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. It would be useful if you could 

share those with us, any that touch upon civil rights questions and not just 
complaints such as the one to which you refer, but any particular cases in 
which you had to arrive at judgments pertaining to the Indian Civil Rights 
Act. 

If we might be able to get a set of those from you, we would greatly 
appreciate that. I don't know if you can pull them together for us, but I'll 
leave it to counsel to talk with you and see what we might be able to pull 
out of that. 

JUDGE DELGARITO. Okay. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. I understand very well the concern that all of 

the tribes have with respect to maintaining their sovereignty while 
accepting, and some of the tribes do and some of the tribes don't, accepting 
the ICRA as being determinative. 

Now, usually the issue is posed as, is there going to be any review at all 
of ICRA claims. And then the question is, is it going to be in Federal court 
or is it going to be somewhere else? Usually nobody ever talks about where 
that somewhere else might be that would be consistent with notions of 
tribal sovereignty. 

Several of the judges that I have spoken to in the northern plains have 
indicated that their idea would be an intertribal court of appeals of sorts, so 
that you were dealing with judges that had an appreciation for the needs of 
tribal sovereignty and tribal customs. 

If there were to be recommendations, and I am not saying that there are 
going to be, with respect to review of ICRA determinations by tribal 
courts, assuming that you don't want it to be in Federal court, where ought 
it to be? 
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Ms. JUE. Well, you're correct. I think that we feel that that's one of the 
positions that we are stating, that we do not wish any more of the review 
process to be taken away from the tribes. I think that the idea of having an 
intertribal court system is certainly one that could be considered, and I 
think that perhaps that might be one of the more agreeable recommenda­
tions. 

However, I think our position here today is that before that happens, we 
feel that, as Mr. Kahe said, for us this is a pretty new system. The Hopi 
Tribe, in particular, has been around for centuries, and our Village of 
Oraibi is reputed to be the oldest continuously inhabited village in the 
United States, if not the North American continent. So we have had in 
place a system, and to be able to mesh the system with the Anglo­
American system I think, as Tom stated, that we would be able to do it. 

Unfortunately, maybe we have made some mistakes along the way, 
meaning the tribal courts and tribal governments, but I think our position 
would be that we need some more time and some help because one of the 
problems you would get into if you develop an intertribal court council is 
then you would have to deal with what is the particular tradition and 
custom of each of the tribes, and I think just getting over that first hurdle 
before you even get to the issues in the case would create a tremendous 
workload. 

COMMISSIONER DESTRO. Well, it's certainly not a complete answer to 
sovereignty. I just thought I would put it on the table. 

The last question I have for you is probably the most important in the 
sense that all of the tribes have indicated the same feeling that you have, 
that this is new, we need to have our opportunities to make our mistakes, 
and before you judge us harshly, why don't you give us an opportunity to 
show what we can do. 

As a practical matter, what steps do you think that we could recommend 
to Congress and the President with respect to helping you to develop your 
system and do that meshing? Let me just give you a couple of examples 
that I've heard. One would be that instead of passing the funding through 
the tribal councils or the BIA to have it directly appropriated for the 
support of tribal systems. Other questions like training and bringing people 
into the Federal judicial system training process where you actually work 
with judges and come under the wing, the protection, if you will, of the 
Chief Justice of the United States, and any number of questions like that 
that I've heard. 

What would you suggest that we recommend? 
Ms. JUE. I like those suggestions. I think that the tribal courts-I know 

at least the Hopi Tribal Court has attended many training sessions in an 
effort to be able to deal not only at the basic level of how tribal courts 
should operate, but increasingly as the issues get more complex, it has 
placed more of a burden on the tribal courts because most of the tribal 
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court judges are not attorneys nor have they gone to law school, but yet 
they are having to listen to the arguments and make decisions on some 
very complex issues. I think to date, and I would like to commend the 
Hopi Court, they have done a pretty good job in being able to decipher the 
law as it is and come to some very good decisions. 

I think that the other suggestion, of having the funds come directly to 
the tribal court system, I think is a very good one because many times if it 
goes to the administration, it tends to get lost, you know, in administration 
and not too much for programs. 

From my experience, the advocates and the tribal court judges are very 
willing to attend seminars and to learn as much as they can about current 
caselaw and about the whole American jurisprudence, and I think that 
those are good recommendations. 

SUBCOMMITI'EE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I just have one last question. You 
have listened to us spend a lot of time today discussing the ICWA, the 
Indian Child Welfare Act, in relation to the ICRA, and I would just like to 
inquire generally what your experience is under the ICWA at the Hopi. 
Have you run into difficulties administering the law or have you been 
called upon to do so at all? 

Ms. JUE. Yes. As a matter of fact, we do have a couple of cases pending 
right now with an Indian child whose mother resides on a pueblo in New 
Mexico, but we have not reached a result in that case. That case has just 
been filed. 

SUBCOMMITI'EE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Well, as you know, we have looked 
at it to date primarily from the perspective of plaintiffs who were trying to 
consummate or effectuate an adoption. We haven't had presented in any 
comprehensive way the perspective of a tribe, and I know that there are 
tribal concerns. I am aware that the Cherokees, for example, have an 
Indian child welfare agency, but they are frustrated because they haven't 
been able to do anything yet. They haven't gotten technical support from 
the BIA, and therefore, they are expressing great frustration, and I regret 
that we don't have them here today to talk to us. 

From your perspective in trying to keep the tribe in order and to 
administer the affairs of the tribe, do you find the ICW A to be workable or 
does it impose pressures and tensions that you would rather see altered in 
some way? 

JUDGE DELGARITO. I will speak for myself on that issue there. Since I 
have become a sitting judge with the Hopi Tribal Court, there has been 
some ICWA cases before the court, but what is provided by that particular 
law for placement of children has been complied with. Most agencies out 
in California and Utah and other agencies have been notifying the Hopi 
Tribe of these placements. Therefore, I do believe that we are in 
compliance and they are in compliance with placing children in other 
homes, non-Indian homes or Anglo homes, and we are fortunate to have 
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Hopi Tribal Children's Court counselors who act very quickly to go and 
tend to these matters. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. When they do this, do you begin by 
simply asserting a broad jurisdiction and bringing the child back to the 
reservation or do the child court workers visit the States where the 
adoption is pending and make an analysis on the spot about what is best for 
the child? 

JUDGE DELGARITO. They usually make a visit to the other State and 
make an analysis and evaluation, and they are quick to notify, again in this 
case, the village chief leaders. If they wish to intervene at that time, then 
they will do so. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Anything else from my colleagues? 
[No response.] 
I am very grateful again for your coming here. We enjoyed having the 

opportunity to talk with you, and we expect we will do so again at some 
time. We look forward to hearing your reaction to not only the transcript 
of this hearing, but the ultimate report that will come out of it. Thank you. 

JUDGE DELGARITO. Can I say one last word? 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. By all means. 
JUDGE DELGARITO. This is on behalf of all the Indian courts that I have 

worked with, namely, the Hopi Tribal Courts, of course, and the Navajo 
Tribal Courts and other small tribal courts that I have had an opportunity 
to appear before and practice before their courts. 

Although the Indian courts are not perfect and we have made mistakes, 
but because of those mistakes we have become stronger, and I believe that 
the judges, the people who are now practicing before these courts are 
competent enough to bring forth issues that are challenged or that make us 
aware of what is happening now and what we should be aware of, like 
these reviews by the Commission and so on':- So that keeps us on our toes. I 
do appreciate having come before this court, but this is for all the Indian 
courts, and I think we should keep our own courts on our reservations. 
Thank you. 

Open Session 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you very much. 
We come now to that portion of the program which is set aside for 

public comments. Anyone who is present has the right to request to appear 
before the Commission and to speak for 5 minutes. 

There are several of you who have signed up. I am going to call off four 
names at a time and ask you as I call your name to come up and take a 
place at the table with a microphone. 

Edward Johnson Little, Mary Cleland, Coretta Johnson, and Lula May 
Stago, and if I mispronounced that, forgive me, but I am doing my best. 
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We will identify you one by one and have you spell your names for the 
court reporter as you do so. 

Before we reach that position, I will call out the names of the next four 
so that if you are here, you can be prepared to come up afterwards. 

George Chavez, Michael Day, Vernon Masayesva, and Alfred Curley 
would be the next four. 

Meanwhile, I will administer the oath to the four we have, and then I 
will ask you to tell your names and give us your addresses. 

[Edward Johnson Little, Mary Cleland, Phil Stago, and Lula May Stago 
were sworn.] 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We will begin on my left. If you 
will tell us who you are, how to spell your name and give your address. 

MR. STAGO. My name is Phil Stago. I am with the White Mountain 
Apache Tribe. Stago is spelled S-t-a-g-o. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. And your address? 
MR. STAGO. My address is Post Office Box 220, White River, Arizona. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. Next? 
MRS. STAGO. My name is Lula May Stago. My address is 921 North 

Campbell, Winslow, Arizona. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Next. 
Ms. CLELAND. My name is Mary Cleland. I am a member of the Fort 

Peck Sioux Tribe. My address is 6819 South 41st Street, Phoenix, Arizona. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Could you spell your last name, 

please? 
Ms. CLELAND. C-l-e-1-a-n-d. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Next. 
MR. LITTLE. My name is Edward Little. I am the president of the 

Navajo Rights Association. My address is Post Office Box 855, Tuba City, 
Arizona. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
We will begin with Mr. Stago, 5 minutes. I will have to hold you all to 

the time and I hope you understand. 

TESTIMONY OF PHIL STAGO, COUNCIL MEMBER, WHITE 
MOUNTAIN APACHE TRIBE 

MR. STAGO. I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for giving me the opportunity 
to let my views be known. 

I am also a member of the White Mountain Apache Tribal Council. I 
have been a member on the tribal council for 8 years. I am a graduate from 
Northern Arizona University right here locally, and I have worked with 
the tribal government as one of the top executives in management for the 
tribe. 

What I would like to express today is I am a strong believer in the civil 
rights of people, and believe me, I have paid some heavy prices in the past 

106 



because ofit. Because ofbeing a young Apache leader, a young person and 
not a traditional person per se, I have different views and a different 
outlook on civil rights than my elders would. 

Back in 1976 I became the youngest tribal council person on the White 
Mountain Apache Tribal Council. At the time I was fresh out of college. I 
was only 24 years old and the rest of the council people were around 70 or 
80 plus. So the differences of things on how civil rights is viewed is totally 
different from the way I look at it as a young Apache and as an educated 
leader than how they look at it, the other, elder people. 

So in my tenure on the tribal council, now going on 6 years right now, I 
have seen many tribal leaders abuse the rights of our own people, Apache 
people. 

I, as a leader, even though I am a high-ranking official of the nation, I do 
not have the right I feel to abuse the every-day Joe Apache on the street or 
in the village. I do not believe in that, and that's the reason why I'm here. 
And if you look around the chambers, here all day there are not many 
tribal leaders, and I am proud to be here. 

I'll be probably tied down over the anthill, one of the Apache tortures 
they used to do years ago, put honey in niy ears and tie me on the anthill, 
but that's okay. I've been there before. 

The reason why I'm here is that we as Indian nations and as Indian 
leaders should not stand behind the guise of sovereignty and under some of 
the laws that have been passed over the years by the Federal Government. 
We should not use them as a shield, even though we are sovereign nations 
as we call ourselves. 

I have a problem, and I wish somebody would answer, "What do you 
mean by when you call yourself a nation, or when you call yourself a 
sovereign nation or you have sovereign immunity and all these legal terms 
that are used all the time?" 

Many tribes use these terms to shield themselves while they go and 
violate the people's civil rights. I don't like that, and I do not agree with 
that. I would like to see you, the people, or somebody with the Federal 
Government make up your mind, what do you mean when you have tribal 
sovereignty, you have jurisdiction and all these things? Define the words, 
and how do you relate these definitions to the tribal nations? 

I don't speak for other nations. I'm just speaking for myself here, 
because I have seen many abuses of civil rights of my own people by high­
ranking leaders, and they say, "Well, we have sovereign immunity; we 
have jurisdiction," and all these terms that you've been hearing all day 
long here, but let's do not stand behind that. 

I speak as a leader, not in an official capacity right now, but I do not 
want to see me abusing one little Apache down here in the village and say, 
"Hey, I'm a high-ranking official, and therefore, I'll do anything to you 
and get away with it." I don't care for that. 
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It's just that we as Indian people have our individual freedoms. The 
Hopi Nation expressed a few minutes ago their traditional beliefs and their 
traditional sovereignty. 

I, as an Apache, a lot of times I've seen that traditional Apache justice is 
not very fair at all, and this is where we are adopting this new American, 
and some people call it the Anglo way of life, but I do not really care to 
use that term either. 

Thank you, sir. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you very much. 
Ms. Stago. 

TESTIMONY OF LULA MAY STAGO, NAVAJO TRIBE, 
WINSLOW, ARIZONA 

MRS. STAGO. Again, my name is Lula May Stago. This is my husband 
right here. I graduated from the university here in Flagstaff in 1974. I got a 
BS degree in elementary education and then again in 1975 got an MA in 
school administration. Right now I continue with my education, and I am 
also employed with the BIA as a school principal and am going on my 
seventh year. 

I am here today because I am being abused by tribally elected leaders, 
and I feel discrimination based on political influences and pressures. The 
conflicts that so far I have had with my school board members have 
absolutely nothing to do with my performance. In fact, I have demon­
strated an outstanding performance as a school principal. 

I have even been physically attacked by a tribal member, a tribally 
elected member as a school board member in December of 1987. I feel that 
my rights, basic civil rights to employment, to job security, and safe 
working conditions have been violated. 

As I have mentioned, I am a member of the Navajo Tribe and also a 
Federal employee. Yet, I have been made to believe that I have no 
recourse. Who then do I turn to? And I would like somebody to answer 
that for me, because so far I have not been offered relief except just to be 
content with problems which, in spite of doing a good job, makes my job 
even harder than it already is if you want to do a good job. 

My supervisors and my superiors are limited as well by statutory 
regulations which have no control over elected tribal members and even 
from just the talk here the tribe as an entity. 

I have been told that there are our traditional problems and these are the 
reasons why. I have been told there is nothing that can be done even if 
jurisdictional issues were not concerned. The tribe does not even have 
ethics laws in place. 

So I am here, and everything that I have been saying do have school 
board minutes and I have written documentations to support what I am 
saying. I strongly believe, and in fact I should say I know, that my 
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problems that I am having with my board members as a school principal, a 
Federal school principal, have implications for other principals employed 
by the Government. 

Also, 25 CFR needs to be amended to define perhaps more specifically 
the roles of school boards and have some procedures for enforcement for 
situations like I have. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
You all are doing a very fine job of staying on time, and I appreciate it. 
Ms. Cleland. 

TESTIMONY OF MARY CLELAND, FORT PECK SIOUX TRIBE 
Ms. CLELAND. I have here on my left side a copy of the Indian Civil 

Rights Act. I have it open to Red Elk v. Silk I bring with me a complaint 
from Iris Red Elk, who was a practicing lay advocate. She established this 
caselaw in the Indian Civil Rights Act here, the basis for it. 

Since then she has angered the political people on our reservation, on 
the Fort Peck Sioux Reservation, and she has been disbarred. Her 
disbarment is that the Fort Peck Tribe disbarred her from practicing as a 
lay advocate in the Fort Peck Tribal Court without any established 
authority. They had no statutes available to implement disbarment. The 
Fort Peck court refused to accept a civil lawsuit regarding this act of 
disbarment. There were no statutes regarding disbarment when this 
disbarment occurred. I have been denied redress of grievance of my civil 
rights. 

I would also like to present another issue, and that is the cross­
deputization of the State of Montana Roosevelt County Sheriffs deputies. 
This cross-deputization gives total arrest authority, but also lacks statutes 
for redress of grievance, which is a basic constitutional law. 

The abuse of power is flagrant. No orie wants to be responsible for the 
abuse of actions of the Roosevelt deputies. The Federal law specifies that 
the offense, the assault offense must be of a felony level for the Federal 
courts to take action. The Fort Peck Tribal Court say they cannot 
prosecute non-Indians for minor assaults. 

That is hers that I bring for her. 
And I am here because I also was disbarred without notice because I 

tried to represent her in getting her reestablished. What they did was they 
just said, "You can't file in here. You are not allowed to participate as an 
advocate, and we won't accept your paperwork." 

So I went to the appellate court, the tribal appellate court, and I wanted 
to know why. I hired an attorney with a jurisprudence degree, and she got 
me reinstated through the appellate court because the tribal court couldn't 
establish why they were doing this to me. Shortly thereafter, they 
disbarred Mary Zimmian, the attorney that represented me, and they are 
again not accepting myself before the tribal court. 
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During this time I had a child get in trouble, my 15 year old. What 
happened then was that the tribal court severed my parental rights. I 
petitioned the court and I petitioned saying that, "Petitioner believes and 
therefore alleges that said custody of my child is improper and without 
valid court order, because petitioner was never properly served any valid 
court orders concerning her son, nor has she been summoned to juvenile 
court for any such custody hearing or trial." 

I was never notified of the s~vering ofmy parental rights. They did it on 
this one child. I had four other children. Nobody presented any petitions 
against me, and my question as a parent has never ever been questioned. 
They took my child and they used him as a political pawn here. 

They took him and they put him in solitary confinement for 45 days, 
which is a violation of the American Correctional Association rules. You 
cannot take a 15 year old and put him in solitary confinement past 30 days. 

When I got him out I took him to-they let me file the writ of habeas 
corpus, and they gave him back to me after 45 days. I took him to Indian 
Health Service. He was suffering from malnutrition, and his muscles had 
grown fibrous from inactivity and from sitting and standing in solitary 
confinement. 

I'm sorry, but I'm just a little angry over it. 
And then from there I became very concerned about what was going on 

with this Bureau of Indian Affairs-operated detention center. I started 
asking questions, "What are you feeding these kids?"-I have a whole list 
of things. I went to John Melcher in Washington, D.C., concerning this 
Bureau of Indian Affairs-operated detention center. They had no cook, no 
nutritionist, no exercise plan, no dietician, no exercise plan that was in 
operation, and John Melcher stated, "Ifyour allegations are found to be so, 
we will close the detention center." 

My allegations were found to be so. The documentation of my child was 
found to be so, and the detention center closed. 

But what has happened next is that the tribal court is now emancipating 
these Indian children. With no place to put them, so what they do is they 
emancipate them into adults and place them in the adult jail for their 
misdemeanors. 

SUBCOMMITI'EE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. You have several documents there, 
Ms. Cleland, which I would ask you to take just a few seconds to identify 
each for the record, and then present them to us so that we can enter them 
into the record of this hearing. 

Ms. CLELAND. The first one is Iris Allrunner's notice to the court, her 
complaint that she has been disbarred. 

My notice to the Civil Rights Commission on my complaint as to how I 
was treated as an advocate, what was done to my child as political 
repayment, my writ of habeas corpus. 
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This one goes with Iris Allrunner's. It is a cross-deputization agreement, 
what it covers and what it is. 

A memorandum at law in support of petition for writ of habeas corpus. 
A motion to amend complaint. 
I also wrote to Marvin Sonosky, and I stated to him that I claimed that 

there was a violation of the Indian Child Welfare Act and there were civil 
rights violations in regard to my child. 

I have an affidavit from my child. A supplemental claim that has been 
signed. The affidavit from my child is notarized. I have an affidavit as to 
what happened from what I had seen of what they did to him. 

My child is in custody of the United States attorney. He was sent there 
because of faulty charges. This is a brief done by J. Douglas McVay, 1701 
First Interstate Tower, 3550 North Central Avenue, Phoenix, Arizona. 

In this brief he states, "This certainly raises an inference of ineffective 
assistance of counsel, and it is also incriminating evidence that the 
government relied upon in deciding to file its information was a direct 
product of potentially illegal arrest." 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Okay. If we could just have them 
all identified and then entered into the record, whatever it is that you are 
leaving with us. 

Ms. CLELAND. This here brief is fully intact and true and accurate as I 
have here, and I want the Civil Rights Commission to read it. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. That is a copy of the brief from 
which you were just reading? 

Ms. CLELAND. Yes. This is here. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Could you pick those up, those 

documents, and they will be entered into the record of this hearing, 
without objection. 

Thank you. 
Ms. CLELAND. Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Mr. Little. 

TESTIMONY OF EDWARD JOHNSON LITTLE, PRESIDENT, 
NAVAJO RIGHTS ASSOCIATION 

MR. LITTLE. On June 18, 1988, former Navajo Tribal Judge Jerome 
McCabe declared to disband the Navajo Rights Association. 

The Navajo Rights Association is an independent, bipartisan, nonprofit 
association. The group advocates civil rights. 

On June 24, 1988, the Navajo Tribal Division of Social Welfare denied 
funds to handicaps on the Navajo Reservation. They were denied freedom 
of expression under the first amendment of the United States Constitution. 
The funds are needed to maintain their survival. 

On July 19 Navajo attorneys, judges, and other Navajo people were told 
not to attend the ICRA hearing in Flagstaff, Arizona. Some of those 
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people were tribal employees. They were threatened with their jobs of 
being fired or being replaced immediately if they ever attend the ICRA 
meeting. 

The Navajo tribal government denied independence of the judicial 
system which the Navajo tribal government had the Navajo Education 
and Scholarship Foundation dispute and a decision was supposed to be 
made. Instead, the tribal government overruled the court decision, and the 
judges were threatened to be replaced, and for that reafon none of the 
judges are attending the ICRA. 

The Navajo people on the reservation questioned the legality of the land 
purchase from Tom K. Tracey, but were told by Chairman Peter 
MacDonald that the Navajo people had no rights to question the Navajo 
tribal government's purchase of any land or anything that is being done by 
the Navajo tribal government. 

On July 19, 1988, Navajo Attorney General Michael Upshaw said Peter 
MacDonald told him to take civil rights panel probing cases to Federal 
court to question whether the Commission has the right to investigate the 
tribal government code. Any civil rights group, whether it's the U.S. Civil 
Rights Commission, has no damn authority to investigate the Navajo tribal 
government, said Peter MacDonald. Chairman Peter MacDonald com­
manded the advisory committee and the budget and finance committee to 
oppose the heavy-handed tactics of the Commission because the tribe feels 
it does not have the jurisdiction to investigate the tribal government. 

The Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council, Peter MacDonald, said the 
Commission's actions are contradictory to the recent statement by 
President Reagan that he would treat the tribe as equal partners. Peter 
MacDonald said the Navajo tribal advisory committee and budget and 
finance committee are upset that the Commission continuously fails to 
realize that the tribe has a Bill of Rights which affords tribal members due 
process and equal protection. 

He stated, we are more than willing to take any suggestions regarding 
improvement of our judicial system, but the advisory committee and the 
budget and finance committee make the laws for the Navajo people and 
not the Federal Government, said Peter MacDonald. 

For that reason, a lot of tribal employees and a lot of former tribal 
employees were threatened if they come to this meeting. They were told 
yesterday that if they ever come to this meeting, there will be somebody 
here to see them and they will lose their jobs. That is why not very many 
of them are attending this hearing. 

We concerned persons hereby petition against interference of the 
Navajo Tribal Council in the operation of the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation. We petition for the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation to remain a private foundation and not a tribal 
entity. 
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Furthermore, we petition that the Indian Civil Rights Act be acknowl­
edged and adhered to. All the violations of the Indian Civil Rights Act 
must cease. We petition that the Indian Civil Rights Act no longer be 
violated by disobeying tribal court orders. 

Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
You're reading from a document there. Do you wish to submit that for 

the record, Mr. Little? 
MR. LITTLE. I will submit this document, sir. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Very good. We will receive it into 

the record, without objection, as your testimony. 
Thank you all. 
We will proceed to the next panel which consists, as I read before, of 

George Chavez, Michael Day, Vernon Masayesva and Alfred Curley. 
While we are waiting, I will ask if Coretta Johnson is in the room yet? 
[No response.] 
Is there a Coretta Johnson? 
VOICE. Right here, sir. It's Loritta Johnson. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Have her take a place right at the 

end there. We missed her before. 
Again, I will start on my left-hand side and ask you each to identify 

yourselves by name and address and after you have gone through doing 
that then I will administer the oath of office. I will like you each to spell 
your last name for the court reporter. 

MR. CHAVEZ. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My name is George Chavez. 
That is C-h-a-v-e-z. My mailing address is P.O. Box 2453 in Gallup, New 
Mexico 87305. 

MR. CURLEY. My name is Alfred Curley. I am a Navajo. My mailing 
address is P.O. Box 1562, Shiprock, New Mexico 87520. 

MR. MAsAYESVA. Vernon Masayesva. That is spelled M-a-s-a-y-e-s-v-a. 
I am vice chairman of the Hopi Tribe. The address is Post Office Box 123, 
Kykotsmovi, Arizona 86039. 

Ms. JOHNSON. I am Loritta Johnson, P.O. Box 1048, Window Rock, 
Arizona 86515. 

MR. DAY. My name is Michael Day, D-A-Y. I am a Hopi and Tewa 
from Polacca Village in the Hopi Reservation. My mailing address is P.O. 
Box 1211, Keams Canyon, Arizona 86034. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. We will begin with Mr. 
Chavez. I remind that it is 5 minutes and I will give you the high sign at 30 
seconds. 

[George Chavez, Alfred Curley, Vernon Masayesva, Michael Day, and 
Loritta Johnson were sworn.] 
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TESTIMONY OF GEORGE CHAVEZ, FORMER EMPLOYEE, 
NAVAJO DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

MR. CHAVEZ. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Commis­
sion. I appreciate the committee's indulgence in allowing me to make this 
appearance and this presentation. 

Briefly, let me just give you a personal history of myself. I was in born in 
northern New Mexico. I was raised there and I ultimately married a 
Navajo lady, who also happens to be one of the first attorneys from the 
Navajo Nation, which ultimately brought me to work at Window Rock for 
the Navajo Nation. 

I worked for the attorney general's office for the department of justice 
from August 1982 until February 20, 1987. At that time I was terminated 
by the individual who has been talked about here on and off today and 
through the Commission's previous correspondence, Mr. Michael Upshaw. 

At the time that I was terminated, the only reason I was given for my 
termination was that I was a Mexican American and not a Navajo. Clearly 
to me that seems like racial discrimination. 

I advised the attorney general that I had from my previous experience 
with the department of justice and with the Navajo Nation that the 
attorney general did not have the authority to terminate me on the basis of 
my race. I indicated that the Indian Civil Rights Act, the U.S. Constitu­
tion, the Treaty of 1868, the Navajo Nation Bill of Rights as well as the 
Navajo Nation's personnel policies and procedures prohibited him from 
taking such action. He ignored the advice and he did not consult, or if he 
did consult with other more senior attorneys, I did not receive any kind of 
different response. 

I was terminated. I, at that time, followed the tribal processes. I filed for 
a grievance. The grievance was unilaterally denied by the personnel office. 
I requested a review by the Office of Navajo Labor Relations, and that 
was refused. I filed for a writ of prohibition with the Window Rock 
District Court, and I was advised that I had not followed the Sovereign 
Immunity Act, and so, therefore, I was denied. 

The request for a grievance was denied, at which point I filed a lawsuit. 
That was the only recourse that I had. Six months later, after I had filed 
my lawsuit, the personnel office advised that they were going to allow a 
grievance, very untimely, totally without any due process, and totally in 
violation of any equal protection that I should enjoy under the Constitu­
tion of the United States, and I appreciate the comments by the 
Commission earlier that we are all U.S. citizens. 

Now, in this case I did not have the appropriate guarantees and even 
though the laws of the Navajo Nation existed, they did not follow them, 
and they did not comply with them and they continued to do so. 
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Now, I have subsequently filed a lawsuit, which I have filed a copy with 
the Commission, and I am prepared to submit an amended complaint for 
the Commission's official file. 

SUBC0MMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. It will be received without objec­
tion. 

MR. CHAVEZ. Additionally, I have prepared a memorandum in response 
to a newspaper article indicating that Mr. Ed Meese as the Attorney 
General for the United States has recommended that the tribal court 
decisions be reviewed by Federal district courts. In support of that, I 
believe that in my particular case there were certain discriminatory actions 
taken by a government that failed to provide and to comply with its own 
laws. Secondly, that the equal protection of the laws of the United States 
has been ignored and continues to be ignored, and perhaps I should just 
submit a copy of my memorandum to Mr. Meese as part of an additional 
exhibit. 

SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Acc~pted without objection. 
MR. CHAVEZ. My biggest complaint and concern is that even though 

and I do believe that I have a prima facie case of discrimination in this 
matter, that I will not be able to secure a judgement from the tribal courts, 
and even if I did that I would not be able to receive that judgement. 

I have additionally been advised, and I just received a copy of the 
resolution that was alluded to by the Commission earlier, CMY-2888, 
which is a resolution of the tribal council within which the Sovereign 
Immunity Act has been amended to now say that if there is any insolvency 
or if there is not enough tribal funds to protect or to satisfy the judgement, 
then it's too bad. 

That leaves me, Mr. Chairman and members of the Commission, out in 
the cold. I bring this matter to your attention, and I am prepared to 
provide or answer further questions at your direction. Thank you. 

SUBC0MMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you very much, sir. 
Yes, sir. I will ask you to repeat once more your name for me. 

TESTIMONY OF ALFRED CURLEY, NAVAJO TRIBE, 
SHIPROCK, NEW MEXICO 

MR. CURLEY. My name is Alfred Curley. The last name is spelled C-u-r-
1-e-y. My mailing address is P.O. Box 1562, Shiprock, New Mexico. The 
zip code is 87420. 

I would like to bring to the Commission's attention-but first of all I 
would like to commend the Commission members. Ladies and gentlemen 
of the Commission, I appreciate you putting in an extra effort to hear our 
complaints. Thank you, again. 

I would like to read into the record the Navajo Nation is a sovereign 
nation with its rights given to them by the Treaty of 1868 and reinforced 
by the 1968 Indian Civil Rights Act. These rights are guaranteed by 
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Congress so that every Navajo has a right to be heard in administrative or 
judicial proceedings. 

Civil and criminal proceedings are heard in open court unless there is a 
minor under the age of 18 years of age. What I feel is inappropriate and 
violates one of my client's civil rights is that I was involved in a land 
dispute issue. We were the plaintiffs in the foregoing proceedings, and the 
amount of proof that was needed for me to prevail was by the 
preponderance of the evidence presented at trial. 

The evidence and testimony presented at trial, I felt there was enough 
evidence presented in our favor, and furthermore I felt that the respon­
dents in those particular proceedings had not adduced enough testimony 
and evidence for the judge to enter a ruling in their favor. But to my 
astonishment, the court entered a ruling in respondents' favor, and the 
court further misinterpreted the testimony entered in our favor. Thereby, I 
feel that my client's civil rights were violated. 

This land was a land dispute, and tl;ie land dispute developed from an act 
the U.S. Congress passed, 25 CFR subsection 700, to address and meet the 
needs of the Navajo-Hopi relocatees. Congress not only addressed the 
needs of the relocatees, but also unscrewed a can of land disputes. 

In these judicial proceedings, BIA personnel would go on the stand and 
testify under oath that grazing permits issued by the agency superinten­
dents gives the permittees a right to graze their livestock on a certain 
portion of the Navajo Reservation. 

These grazing permits, as the permittees believe, gives them the right to 
say that the land is there for them to graze their livestock, which they say 
is the customary use area. BIA asserts that a grazing permit is nothing 
more than a piece of paper that gives no legal authority to the permittee to 
assert ownership of the assumed grazing use area. 

Now, the U.S. Congress in putting BIA personnel on the Navajo 
Reservation is to help the Navajo people, the Indian people within certain 
reservations. I am sure Congress did not put BIA personnel on the 
reservations to rouse up land disputes and tell the permittees that their 
piece of paper is not worth anything. 

So, therefore, I feel if this Commission is going to do any good, I think 
that the Commission should also review the BIA personnel that are 
employed with the Navajo Nation. 

And getting technical support from BIA personnel is broad as interpre­
ted by BIA personnel. You tell them to come to court to testify to certain 
facts, and they will go up on the witness stand and testify that they are not 
experts. Whether they have bachelor or master's degrees does not sway 
them. They just go up on the witness and testify that they do not have the 
authority to say that they are experts. 

Sovereign nation, some people use it to abuse other people's rights, and I 
feel that certain judicial members of the Navajo Nation use that power to 
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abuse the Navajo people's rights guaranteed to them by the 1968 Civil 
Rights Act. 

I feel that since Congress enacted the 1968 Indian Civil Rights Act, it 
also gives Congress broad power to review that act. And I feel that if court 
advocates can present arguments in open court, then they should also be 
given authority to interpret the 1968 Civil Rights Act and the U.S. 
Constitution. And I feel that certain judges of the Navajo Nation 
misinterpret the Indian Civil Rights Act. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you very much. I hate to 
interrupt you, but you have come to the end of your time. If you have 
documents that you want to submit, please feel free to do so. 

MR. CURLEY. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, but I did have a document 
which I gave to one of my clients to hand carry up here, but I think he 
took it over to the Navajo-Hopi Relocation Commission. When I get ahold 
of that document, I will send it to you. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. The record will be open for 30 
days, and you may get the address from the clerk and send it to us. 

MR. CURLEY. Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We thank you. 

TESTIMONY OF VERNON MASAYESVA, VICE CHAIRMAN, 
HOPI TRIBE 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We will ask you once again to spell 
your name. 

MR. MAsAYESVA. I hope this doesn't take away from my 5 minutes. 
[Laughter.] 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. No, it won't, I promise you. 
[Laughter.] i; 

MR. MAsAYESVA. It's a long name. M-a-s-a-y-e-s-v-a. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. All right, you may begin. 
MR. MASAYESVA. Thank you very much. 
I would like to extend a welcome to you to this part of our land. The 

Chairman was here earlier and extended his acknowledgments also. 
We had a difficult time deciding whether we should come before this 

forum with a very unique grievance, and after lengthy discussion the elders 
of the Hopi Tribe felt it was time that we make a statement. So I am here 
essentially to make a statement in their behalf. 

I understand that you will be accepting written comments. So we will 
take advantage of that offer. 

I have three members who are able to get away, and I would like to just 
briefly introduce them. Burt Puhuyesva, who is the Pumpkin Clan, who is 
the Initiation Priest for Mishongnovi Village; Dalton Taylor of the Bear 
Sun Clan, who is the spokesman for Bear Clan leaders of Shungopavi 
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Village; and Harlan Williams of the Eagle Clan, who is from the Village of 
Mishongnovi. 

The Hopis have lived in the area of northern Arizona longer than any 
other people. The Federal district court in Phoenix reached this conclusion 
in a case between Hopi and the Navajo Tribe when it said "No Indians in 
this country have a longer authenticated history than the Hopis. As far 
back as the Middle Ages the ancestors of the Hopi occupied the area 
between Navajo Mountain and the Little Colorado River and between San 
Francisco Mountains and Lucachukais." 

The Indian Civil Rights Act, ICRA, provides that no Indian tribe shall 
make or enforce any law prohibiting the free exercise of religion. 
Unfortunately, the Navajo Nation is violating the ICRA by enforcing 
Navajo tribal laws which interfere with rights of the members of the Hopi 
Tribe to freely exercise their religion. Specifically, the Navajo Tribe has 
attempted to enforce fish and game laws upon the Hopis engaged in eagle 
gathering, which is essential and indispensable to the Hopi religion and the 
Hopi way of life. 

This year the Navajo Nation issued criminal citations to four Hopis, 
including a 13-year-old boy, who were gathering eagles in their traditional 
gathering areas near Gap, Arizona. Other Hopis were threatened with 
similar citations. Similar arrests and interference by officials of the Navajo 
Tribe in Hopi religious activities have occurred in recent years. 

Although the Navajo Nation dismissed charges against four Hopis in 
early July, it is too late for them to resume gathering for religious 
purposes. These arrests and threats by Navajo officials has deterred other 
Hopis from gathering. 

The Navajo Tribe has also authorized construction and other develop­
ment projects so close to Hopi eagle shrines that many of the traditional 
nesting areas can no longer be used by eagles for breeding, an important 
and relevant fact which the wildlife biologist for the Navajo Tribe failed to 
mention when he publicly attributed the decline of eagle population to 
Hopi gathering. 

This year only 12 eaglets have been brought home to the villages. These 
eaglets, if distributed evenly among all villages, will amount to one eagle 
per village. Hopis have reported that most nests have now been 
permanently abandoned because of Navajo housing construction, water 
and power line construction, gravel mining, picnic and recreation areas, 
and road construction near nesting areas. 

This is particularly exasperating to the Hopis who are now mandated by 
the Federal judge to consult with attorneys for Navajos resisting 
relocation from Hopi lands, and Chairman Peter MacDonald, before they 
can undertake any type of new construction on their own land. 

The reason for Navajo consent is to protect the sacred archaeological 
and historical sites of the Navajos on Hopi partitioned lands. If the Hopi 
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Tribe and individual members of the Hopi Tribe are going to be restricted 
from developing their lands and building new homes because of Navajo 
objections, then the United States Government should provide similar 
protection to Hopis by restricting all new Navajo construction near Hopi 
eagle shrines. Failure to provide equal protection to Hopis will send a 
signal to the world that Navajo religion is somehow more important and 
more ancient than the Hopi religion. 

Individual Navajos and chapters have also threatened and interfered 
with eagle pilgrimages. Just last month Indian Wells Chapter House passed 
a resolution to prohibit Hopis from gathering in the area. If the resolution 
is enforced, the Bear and Eagle Sun Clan of Mishongvi will be barred from 
their traditional eagle gathering areas. This will be akin to barring 
Christians from entering a church to worship. 

If other Navajo chapters followed suit, Hopi eagles will be seriously 
jeopardized. 

I need to mention at this point that a vast majority of our Navajo 
neighbors are law abiding, and this is not to implicate that all Navajos are 
engaged in this activity. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I thank you. If you wish to submit 
your document, we will be glad to receive it for the record. 

MR. MASAYESVA. Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Ms. Johnson. 

TESTIMONY OF LORITTA JOHNSON, FORMER EMPLOYEE, 
NAVAJO TRIBAL PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE 

Ms. JOHNSON. Mr. Chairman and members of the Commission, I come 
before you that-I believe that my right has been violated in the ICRA, 25 
U.S.C. 1302, subsection 8. 

On January 25, 1988, I received a letter from the Navajo Nation Bar 
Association admission committee that they had determined to revoke my 
membership as a full fledged advocate. 

In February 1987 I took an examination which I received a letter from 
the previous admission committee that I have officially passed the 
examination and was set for a date and time for swearing in. My parents 
were there to witness that ceremonial. 

On April 13, 1987, I was employed with the Navajo Tribe Prosecutor's 
Office as a juvenile representative, meaning to handle the cases of the 
dependencies, juvenile delinquency, and ICWA State proceeding cases, 
which I said, "This is a challenging job I'm going to take. If the other 
women within my tribe can do it, I don't see why I can't do it." 

And from there on, from April 13, 1987, I enjoy my job very much. I 
was dedicated to that job; I stayed there from 7:30 a.m. to about 8 p.m. in 
the evening, and I also worked on Saturday and Sunday. Not any of those 

119 



days I have come before my supervisor and complained about the job. I 
enjoy it too much. 

On January 25, 1988, almost a year, the present admission committee had 
determined to revoke my membership. For what reason, we don't know. 

I hired an attorney. We argued the case and they still upheld the 
decision or some irregularities. What were they? We didn't get an answer 
from them. 

This membership was given to me by the Navajo Nation Supreme Court 
by Chief Justice Tom Tso. That is a property of me. I paid my own 
membership. I attended my classes. By what meaning can they take this 
away from me? 

On April 29, 1988, the chief prosecutor, Melvin Tso Scott, made a 
decision to terminate me from my job because I was no longer a member of 
the Navajo Nation Bar Association. 

To this day Michael Upshaw, the attorney general, has not at all 
reviewed my letter to set up a grievance hearing. Why did that happen? 
Why after January 25 and all of a sudden on April 29 they tell me, "You 
will be terminated"? Why has it taken them 2 months to set a date? I think 
it is an opportunity that I be able to speak against those people. 

Now I am wondering why is the Navajo Nation Bar Association 
delaying a decision that I appealed before them? Two months have 
elapsed. Why is it taking them so long to find out what happened, what 
really happened? Is it merely because of a hearsay statement that was made 
or what? I don't know. 

I come before you. Is there such a thing that any person could come into 
my home and into my property just to take it away like that? 

Right now my Vega was repossessed; my credit cards are being 
cancelled. What do I do to support my daughter right now? Does that 
mean I've got to go public and ask for donations just to get her back 
financially? Right now, she is being carried under the Crippled Children 
Services, a handicap child, but I don't consider her like that. We are 
merely right now on a good buddy system. 

But I want to know why these two governments are taking their time. 
They have put me in a really bad reputation among my friends that I 
associated once with. I can't even get a job as a cashier because they are 
saying, "Well, what happened to your last job?" 

I have all the documents here that I would like for you to review, and I 
really thank you that you have come here. This was the last decision that I 
made. 

Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you very much. 
Ms. MUSKETT. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask Ms. Johnson one 

quick question. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Sure. 
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Ms. MUSKETT. Ms. Johnson, in the course of your work did you ever 
deal with the Keetso case? 

Ms. JOHNSON. At that time I was aware of the case as well as typing up 
the pleadings as well as staying there in the evening and preparing for the 
case, but I never did appear in court on this case. 

Ms. MUSKETT. Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Mr. Day. 

TESTIMONY OF MICHAEL DAY, TEWA HOPI, POLACCA 
VILLAGE 

MR. DAY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Let me begin by introducing myself. I am a Tewa Hopi Indian from the 

Polacca Village. I graduated from the University of Albuquerque and 
received an undergraduate degree. I graduated in 1985 from the University 
of New Mexico School of Law, was a staff attorney for Community Legal 
Services in Phoenix before I went back to the reservation and began 
working for the Hopi Tribal Court as a children's court counselor, and 
among the duties that was assigned to the children's court counselor were 
ICWA cases. 

I would like to draw the Commission's attention, however, to two cases, 
one of them in Hopi Tribal Court and the other one in Federal court. I 
hope that by drawing this tribal court case to the attention of the 
Commission I am also not disbarred. 

I am a practicing member of the Hopi Tribal Court. I carry approxi­
mately 30 cases at this time in Hopi Tribal Court. Myself and another 
attorney from Tuba City carry the largest caseload in Hopi Tribal Court, 
and I am, therefore, familiar with the practice and procedure in Hopi 
Tribal Court. 

The first case I want to bring to the attention of the Commission is a case 
involving my running for the office of vice chairman. There was a special 
election in Hopi Tribal Council in February, and I attempted to run for 
that office, and I was disqualified by the Hopi Tribal Election Commission 
on the basis that I was unable to speak Hopi. 

The Hopi Constitution specifically provides that the reservation and the 
constitution is created for both Hopi and Tewa people. By enforcing the 
separate provision of the Hopi fluency provision, in effect, the tribal 
council through the election board discriminated against all Tewa people 
who are members of the Hopi Reservation. 

During the course of the proceeding, the judges excused themselves 
from hearing the case, and a judge pro tern was assigned. I was notified of 
this judge approximately the Thursday before the hearing, which was to be 
held on Wednesday, and we had agreed to this judge pro tern. 
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On Tuesday, the day before the hearing and 2 days before the primary 
election was to be held, I was informed that the judge we had agreed on 
was not going to be the sitting judge. 

Subsequently, I lost the case because myself and three other candidates 
who were disqualified for being unable to speak Hopi fluently, we lost the 
case, or the TRO was not granted. I filed a lawsuit at the same time I filed 
the appeal from the election board to the tribal court. The new judge pro 
tern, who I had not agreed to, granted a summary judgment in favor of the 
tribal council, and I was unable to pursue any appeal. 

Even assuming that I could appeal the case to the Hopi Appellate Court, 
there are at this time no, except I believe there might be one sitting 
appellate court judge. However, the other two judges who are appointed 
to the appellate court are not sitting as appellate court judges. 

In effect, the Hopi Tribal Appellate Court does not exist, and any 
appeals taken from Hopi Tribal Court could be held there indefinitely until 
the tribal council itself appoints the appellate judges. 

I also want to bring to your attention the case involving the People's 
Rights Committee in Polacca Village in which they attempted to organize 
under a village constitution. The tribal Chairman, using heavy-handed 
tactics, went to Federal court instead of tribal court and persuaded the 
Federal court judges to issue a TRO to stop the election or referendum on 
the constitution, which in the first place is rare, and in the second place, 
because it was on an Indian reservation, the people were denied at Polacca 
the right to vote on the date that the Bureau of Indian Affairs scheduled 
the referendum election. 

That issue has been resolved. However, there is still a lawsuit pending in 
tribal court on several issues related to that case. 

SUBC0MMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. It is clear, Mr. Day, that you 
haven't completed all that you want to share with us and that we want to 
hear. Permit me to ask you to reduce it in writing and send it to us during 
the period during which the record remains open, and that is the next 30 
days. You're time has expired, I'm afraid. 

MR. DAY. I would like to answer a couple of questions, however, that 
the Commission posed to the Hopi Tribal Court judge and the attorney 
who was representing the court and Mr. Kahe-

SUBC0MMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Would you be kind enough to do 
that in writing for us? We will certainly make reference to the record that 
was established earlier when you do that. 

MR. DAY. That's fine. 
SUBC0MMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. But it's important for us to keep this 

on schedule. 
MR. DAY. That's fine. 
SUBC0MMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
Thank you all. 
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We will now assemble the next panel. I am going to call some names. 
There are some people we seem to have lost, and I want to see if they are 
here yet. 

Edith Yazzie, Lee Brooke, John Trebon. You may all come forward if 
you're here. Felix Spencer, Tom Joe, and how about Lee Blackhoop? 
Come forward, sir. 

All right. Did I call one too many? If you will just take a seat to the side 
there for the moment, we will get to you. I obviously got one more than I 
had room for, but that's all right. No problem. Just stay where you are. 

I will ask you again in turn from my left to right to give your name and 
address and spell your last name for the sake of the court reporter, after 
which then I will swear you in. 

MR. PHILLIPS. My name is Lee Brooke Phillips, and it's spelled P-h-i-1-1-
i-p-s. My mailing address is P.O. Box 1509, Flagstaff, Arizona 86002. 

MR. 'TREBON. John Trebon, 121 East Bird, Suite 506, Flagstaff, Arizona, 
T-r-e-b-o-n. -

Ms. YAZZIE. My name is Edith Yazzie, Y-a-z-z-i-e, Box 11, Window 
Rock, Arizona. 

MR. JOE. My name is Timothy Joe. My address is P.O. Box 502, 
Mexican Hat, Utah. 

MR. BLACKHOOP. My name is Lee Blackhoop. That is spelled B-1-a-c-k­
h-o-o-p, 3325 West Willada Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85009. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. You might as well go ahead, sir. 
MR. SPENCER. My name is Felix Spencer, address 7232 North 27th 

A venue, Phoenix, Arizona, zip code 85051. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Very good. Thank you very much. 
[Edith Yazzie, Lee Brooke Phillips, John Trebon, Felix Spencer, 

Timothy Joe, and Lee Blackhoop were sworn.] 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We will begin with Mr. Phillips. 

TESTIMONY OF LEE BROOKE PHILLIPS, ATIORNEY, BIG 
MOUNTAIN LEGAL OFFICE 

MR. PHILLIPS. Thank you, and I appreciate the opportunity to address 
the Commission at this time. 

So far the focus of the Commission's inquiry has involved disputes or 
allegations of disputes between individual Native Americans and their 
tribal governments. 

The issue that I wish to raise and the concern that my clients who I 
represent share is situations where individual Native Americans' rights are 
being violated or allegedly violated, not by their own tribal government, 
but by the tribal government of another tribe. This is a situation, then, 
where you are dealing with the jurisdiction of a tribe over nonmember 
Indians. 
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I am an attorney with the Big Mountain Legal Office, and I am the 
attorney that was referenced in the presentations made by the Hopi Tribal 
Court and by the last panel. I represent individual Navajo persons who are 
subject to relocation by the Federal Government under the Navajo-Hopi 
Indian Relocation Program. 

I would like to say at this time that I think that there are some very 
serious issues obviously being raised to the Commission. Clearly, Indian 
tribes have a very important interest in preserving their own jurisdiction 
and their own sovereignty, and certainly situations, those, for example, 
which have been raised today concerning the Navajo Tribe, I would say 
that I would share their concerns that they be allowed to govern and that 
they have certain authority and sovereign authority which perhaps should 
not be interfered with by the Federal Government, at least to the degree 
that that is possible. 

I think we have a very different situation where you have members of 
certain tribes involved with members of another tribe and where the tribal 
government of one tribe asserts jurisdiction over a nonmember Indian. In 
those situations you don't have the same considerations: you don't have the 
right to vote, you don't have the right to receive tribal benefits or services, 
you don't have the right or the understanding perhaps of tribal customs, 
laws, language, and the other types of things which I think give credence 
to strong tribal jurisdiction. 

In the situations we are involved in through our office, we are 
representing individual Navajos, some 15,000 originally who were subject 
to relocation. The land that they have been living on has been transferred 
or partitioned from Navajo use or Navajo occupancy to the Hopi Tribe, 
and as a result the Hopi Tribe now is asserting jurisdiction over those 
Navajo individuals. 

In two situations, one of which we testified about last year and in a 
separate matter, both criminal cases brought by the Hopi Tribe against 
individual Navajos who were charged with criminal violations which 
grew out of their resistance to the relocation program. 

One involved the efforts by the United States and the Hopi Tribe to 
impound livestock of individual Navajos. In that situation an elderly 
Navajo woman was arrested and charged in Hopi Tribal Court. 

In the second case, which is the case of Willie Lonewo/f et al, which was 
referenced earlier, four young Indian men were charged by the Hopi Tribe 
in their court with having in a sense confronted and stopped fencing and 
construction projects which those young men and the Navajo people 
living in the area believed were destroying religious sites. 

In those situations you have, I think, a very unique circumstance, and 
you don't have the situation where these persons have the normal rights 
that would be afforded them in their own tribe. In those situations, Mrs. 
Tso, for example, does not speak Hopi or English. She speaks only Navajo. 
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To suggest that she could be tried by a Hopi jury under Hopi law, we 
think, raised very serious questions of whether or not an impartial jury 
really could be provided her in that case. 

More importantly, because of the underlying nature of the charges and 
the issue at hand, you really are placing Navajo individuals in a virtually 
impossible situation where they are being asked to defend themselves for 
resisting Hopi law and this relocation program which seeks to divest them 
of what they believe to be their land and their religious requirements. 

They are being asked to defend themselves in Hopi Tribal Court where 
they are being prosecuted, and at the same time they are not being afforded 
any of the normal protections in terms of the right to vote in that tribe. 
They don't speak the language, and they don't know the custom. They 
would be no different than you or I, who normally could not be tried in a 
tribal court because we are not members of that tribe. 

Nevertheless, in those situations those people have been tried. We raised 
through the court proceeding our objection that there was no way that 
there could be an impartial jury of these persons' peers. The Hopi people, 
many of the prospective jurors, testified that they themselves had applied 
to move out onto the land where my clients were currently living and 
trying to maintain their occupancy of that land. So you had a clear 
pecuniary interest or a conflict of interest, we believed, between potential 
jurors and the persons who they were supposed to judge. 

We think this situation is something which is unique and needs to be 
addressed, if not by Congress, then by some independent body. 

I would close by saying that we recently have been successful in 
obtaining a temporary restraining order in Federal court where on behalf 
of individual Navajos we were able to block Federal construction which 
we allege was destroying religious sites only because it was federally 
funded, even though it was being done by the Hopi Tribe. 

If the Hopi Tribe goes back out there without Federal funding and 
destroys religious sites, my clients are without anyplace to turn for any 
kind of relief or review. There is not, as you know, under the Indian Civil 
Rights Act, any civil review to the Federal court system. So unless they 
commit a criminal act and get arrested, they really don't have Indian Civil 
Rights Act to be reviewed by an independent body, and we would ask that 
this Commission consider those circumstances. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. I want to thank you, Mr. Phillips, 
and thank you also for extending your remarks from last August's 
transcript, which makes it an even broader contribution to our work. 

MR. PHILLIPS. Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Mr. Trebon. 
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TESTIMONY OF JOHN TREBON, ATIORNEY, FLAGSTAFF, 
ARIZONA 

MR. TREBON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and the committee. 
I would just like to briefly raise an issue with the committee which I 

believe may be better resolved by Congress than it is currently being 
resolved by the courts. I believe that the committee has earlier heard some 
discussion about the decision of Duro v. Reina in the Ninth Circuit 
involving the jurisdiction of tribes, as Mr. Phillips just spoke about, tribal 
jurisdiction over nonmember Indians. I represent Mr. Dura in the Ninth 
Circuit and have throughout all proceedings before the district court and 
tribal court. 

There is currently in the Ninth Circuit in Duro decided an amended 
opinion that was issued on June 29 that amended the previous decision at 
821 F.2 1358. The amended decision continues to provide that the tribe, 
the Salt River Tribe in this case, has jurisdiction over nonmember Indians, 
but it does it on a case-by-case basis. 

The Ninth Circuit is essentially saying that it depends on the context that 
exists between the individual defendant and the tribe involved in the 
prosecution of the case. So we have for the first time, I believe, in 
American jurisprudence a case-by-case context test for criminal jurisdic­
tion. That is common in civil cases, but fairly uncommon in criminal cases. 

At the same time, the Eighth Circuit in Greywater v. Anthony Charbo­
neau in 87-5233 recently also decided the same kind of issue the opposite 
way. So there is now a dispute in the circuits about what kind of 
jurisdiction exists by tribal courts. 

The problem I believe that really exists here is created by Oliphant, 
which is the Supreme Court opinion that has ruled that the tribal courts do 
not have jurisdiction over non-Indians. We argued in Duro, and believe, 
that non-Indians and nontribal members ought to be treated the same way 
in that they were both not tribal members of the particular tribe that is 
prosecuting them, their own members could sit as jurors and so forth. 

The Ninth Circuit decided Duro really on a policy decision basis. It 
decided that since law enforcement is a problem on the Indian tribes, they 
should have jurisdiction over nonmember Indians. I think that statistics 
provide that there are more non-Indians living on reservations than 
nontribal members. So it's a problem, it seems to me, that creates one of 
policy, and also the factual predicate for that problem is best addressed in a 
legislative factfinding setting rather than a judicial one because there is 
simply no record in the Duro case on the kinds of law enforcement 
problems that existed particularly for this reservation and so forth. 

Since Oliphant exists at the Supreme Court, what you are going to get, I 
believe, is different circuits deciding the case differently on policy reasons 
based upon the particular facts that come before it. I believe it's an issue 
that should be addressed by Congress, and some decision should be made 
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as to whether or not Indian tribes have jurisdiction over nonmember 
Indians and non-Indians treated in the same way and, if so, whether or not 
any further protections should apply such as broadening the scope of 
review for Indian Civil Rights Act's claims and so forth. 

I believe this is one other issue, since this committee is addressing the 
problems of the Indian Civil Rights Act, one other problem that should be 
addressed and resolved at the same time. Thank you. 

SUBCOMMITIBE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you, sir. 
Ms. Yazzie. 

TESTIMONY OF EDITH YAZZIE, MEMBER, NAVAJO RIGHTS 
ASSOCIATION 

Ms. YAZZIE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Civil Rights 
Commission. 

I am a member of the Navajo Rights Association and also assist the 
Recall MacDonald Committee. We have so far, about 3 weeks ago, 16,700 
signatures. 

I appeal that we need justice for the Navajo people. I appeal that the 
Navajo Tribe is abusing, namely, the Navajo Tribal Chairman has abused 
his authority over his people. 

The Navajo Sovereign Immunity Act, it seems like it hurts, and what it 
has done to the Navajo people is irreparable harm to the Navajo people all 
over. 

We are in the United States, and we are not in Russia or any other 
country. I feel very hurt for the Navajo people by the action of the tribal 
government. I always thought we have individual rights, and I feel that we 
need justice for the Navajo people. There are 200,000 according to 
records, 200,000 Navajos, but only about maybe 1,000 gets the benefit from 
all the money that comes to the tribal government. I feel very strongly that 
we need justice for these Navajos. 

I have here that one of the Federal funds that comes to the reservation, 
and in here I want to submit these documents for your review. 

SUBCOMMITfEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Would you identify them, please? 
Ms. YAZZIE. In here it says that I was hired by one of the Federal 

funding, and then they turned around and said I was not supposed to be 
hired, that they should be cautioned who they hire and it's Federal money. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So it's correspondence. 
Ms. YAZZIE. And Chairman MacDonald has signed all these agree­

ments, and he says in there that he is going to abide by the Civil Rights Act 
and all that, and his signature is on all these pages, that he is going to abide 
by and comply with these laws. He signed this. To me it's a breach of 
contract. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. So it's general correspondence and 
agreements? 

127 



Ms. YAZZIE. Yes. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We will accept them into the 

record, without objection. 
Ms. YAZZIE. And I also have here a document where Mr. Chairman 

MacDonald has paid $1,400,000 to keep the civil rights group off the 
reservation to Minor and Frazer in Washington, D.C. That's part of this 
record, and also attached is the Sovereign Immunity Act amendment. 

And also here is a tribal proposed 1989 organizational chart, but I can't 
find what happened to the tribal council. It's not even in there. And also 
the Navajo people should be on top and it didn't even have it there. So I 
put question marks on there. 

It seems like there is no tribal council, no Navajo people, and that he is 
the only authority. That's the way this one is written. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We will accept your documents. 
You have more. Go on. 
Ms. YAZZIE. And I have a document here where the Navajo Tribal 

Council voted on the $100,000 loan without informing the people. They 
didn't inform the people on this proposal. 

And here is another one that is the same thing. It's a resolution that was 
passed by the Navajo Rights that they want to withhold the $22,800 until 
the full investigation is done, and they also did vote on that. 

Also, a report by one of the attorneys on the Big Boquillas and how they 
mismanaged all of this money. 

I want to introduce all these documents for the record. 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. We will accept them without 

objection. If you would pass them to the clerk, please. We don't want to 
lose them. 

I thank you very much. 
Now we have Mr. Joe. 

TESTIMONY OF TIMOTHY JOE, NAVAJO LAY ADVOCATE 
MR. JOE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Commission. 
This will be my second time coming before you, I believe. I was before 

you also on August 14, 1987, last year just right across the street from here. 
My name is Timothy Joe, and I am a private practitioner. I do a majority 

of my practice or all of my practice in Navajo Tribal Courts, and I have 
also practiced in the Southern Mountain Ute Tribal Court in Colorado and 
also in White Mesa, Utah. 

I am appearing before you as a private citizen with a concern for the 
judicial systems and structures of not only the Navajo Nation, but the 
court system throughout Indian country. 

I certainly have heard some comments in the other sessions and also 
today, and there has been some overtones as to attacking the judicial 
system of the Navajo Nation courts. I have been in practice for 11 years, 
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and I have not seen in the judicial process any flagrant and just outrageous 
violation of civil rights. I don't remember a scene or I don't recall a 
particular incident. However, most of these incidents are within the 
administrative branch and legislative branch, and it's appearing that a lot of 
these violations are within the legislative processes and also administrative 
processes of employment. So it's not exactly within the judicial systems 
and the operations that I know of. 

The Commission and the United States of America and the Congress has 
to remember that the Navajo Nation's courts has only turned 30 years old 
on April 1, 1988, compared to the Unites States court systems since in the 
late 1700s and early 1800s. That's over 200 years of development that you 
are comparing our system with. 

However, basically, history will tell you that the United States, the 
judicial system, and also the checks and balances system has been founded 
and copied off the Iroquois Leagues of Government of the Iroquois and 
Mohawks. So I think that needs to be given credit. 

We have the court system, and we also have a system, but it has just 
been lacking funding, which is what we call the peacemaker court, which 
is designed to have the disputes resolved at local levels with the intention 
of recognizing the values of the cultural and customs in methods of 
resolving disputes, and is an indication that the Navajo Nation judicial 
system has always been interested in fairness and the promotion of what 
should be fair. 

Out of the 14 judges, we have 2 judges are law school graduates and the 
others are mostly from experience. However, I must admit that we do have 
some judges that lack some experience and lack some training, and then we 
request that there should be more funding from the Federal Government 
and also the tribe to put more funds into the training and the continuing 
upgrading of the tribal court. 

We also have a bar association and we have rules of procedures, civil 
and criminal and probate, and also the same applies to children's court. I 
do certainly believe that we have a fair system and an effective system. It's 
just that we need more time to work with it and create either through 
judicial or the legislative process to help it grow and develop some more. 

I must also indicate that the Navajo Court is also a court of record. It 
records opinions and has written opinions from volumes I through V, and 
right now there is a Navajo Digest system that outlines the various subject 
matters. 

If we are concerned about the judicial unfairness, the rights violations, 
people's rights violations, I have been into courts off the reservation in 
border towns, and I'll tell you that I have appeared in some of them as a 
defendant and my rights, I was railroaded through. I have seen off­
reservation border town courts in session, and they are much less informal 
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compared to the Navajo tribal court System. Some are worse off, 
especially with nonattorney judges. 

I have seen court situations where it seems like they don't know or they 
don't care about the rules ofevidence. I have seen outside systems and a lot 
ofsituations that is worse than our system. So I think that should be looked 
into rather than just in the Indian country. 

I certainly do appreciate the time and opportunity to be here. Thank 
you. 

SUBC0MMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you very much. 
Mr. Blackhoop. 

TESTIMONY OF LEE BLACKHOOP, PHOENIX, ARIZONA 
MR. BLACKH00P. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Civil 

Rights Commission for letting me speak about a problem that I have 
encountered. 

My son was involved in a criminal procedure in 1987 and through this 
procedure was convicted to a term of 8½ years in prison. 

On June 23 of this year he was granted a retrial by the appellate court 
due to court errors. The attorney general from Phoenix has filed a motion 
to reconsider to the Supreme Court stating his concern that this case sets a 
bad precedent and that other Indians or other minorities will try to take 
advantage of the case and destroy the criminal justice system. 

My main objective of this visit is asking support from the Civil Rights 
Commission and to give me counsel or guidance to the appropriate 
personnel and bring this case to the light of the public, for I believe my 
son's rights were violated due to his ethnic background. 

Again, I thank the Commission for letting me speak. 
I have documents for review with me. 
SUBC0MMI'ITEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. If you have any documents you 

wish to enter into the record, you may do so at this time or submit them 
later. 

Thank you. 
We now have Mr. Spencer. 

TESTIMONY OF FELIX SPENCER, FORMER EMPLOYEE, 
NAVAJO DIVISION OF RESOURCES 

MR. SPENCER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Commis­
sion. 

My name is Felix Spencer. My case is involving an employment matter. 
In 1984, March, I was terminated from the Navajo Tribe from the division 
of resources during when Peterson Zah served as the Chairman, his 
administration, and I believe I was labeled as a MacDonald supporter 
twice. I have a speculation that was the reason why I was picked on, but 
the reason was an allegation that was charged against me. 
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The appeal procedures I have complied with, with all the 5 days and 30 
days, and they have played around with what they call administrative 
resolvement which never resolved. One year later, until I got an attorney 
that threatened them that we wanted to take them to court and sue them, 
and finally they said they will hear my case at the grievance level. 

I have won my case at that level, and they appealed against me again at 
the appeal authority, which usually the tribal authority, the Chairman 
appoints the appeal authority. So at that level I won again. This person 
that was assigned to uphold the grievance committee, the previous 
grievance committee decision. 

After that what they did, they weren't satisfied. So they gave it to 
another appeal authority, another advisory committee member, thinking 
that they will change the decision. But apparently, and fortunately, this 
particular individual didn't change the decision. He upheld the decision 
again. 

So after that what they did, they took it to court, and the least they 
should have done is to file at the district court level. What they did, they 
went to the supreme court. It wasn't 1.:1ntil recently that the supreme court 
dismissed the case because of a lack of jurisdiction. 

The reason why is it says in the procedure that the decision, in the 
bylaws here, it says that the decision of the appeal authority shall be final 
in all cases, and no tribal official, employees, committees, or legislative 
group shall countermand the decision of the appeal authority. The judge is 
a tribal employee. So, therefore, I believe that the court has dismissed for 
lack of jurisdiction. 

Now all of the documents that I have here I have submitted to Brian 
Miller on June 25, 1987, and I have received a copy back from the 
Postmaster. So you have the record. 

I was given this opportunity to enlighten the Commission here and to 
hear my matter, and also this could ensure for the future that this would 
not happen again within the Tribal Government. Now, my matter is 
against Mr. Peterson Zah's administration. As of today I have not gotten 
paid back, although the present administration has not told me that they 
are not going to pay me, but I'm looking forward to getting paid. 

Thank you. 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
You have the documents, Mr. Miller, that he referred to? 
MR. MILLER. Yes. 
SUBCOMMITIEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Okay. We will admit them into the 

record, without objection. 
We thank you all. 
We have two final panelists who wish to address us if they remain 

present. 
I will call forward Matthew J. Strassberg and Alfred Bennett. 
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While they are coming up, I would like to tell you all that there is a 
Federal statute which makes it a crime for anyone to retaliate against a 
Federal witness, and if you experience any form of retaliation or coercion 
for your testimony today, please give us a call in Washington, D.C. at area 
code (202) 376-8351. That is (202) 376-8351. 

Very good. We have Mr. Strassberg and Mr. Bennett. Will you give us 
your name and address, please, and spell the name for the court reporter. 

MR. STRASSBERG. My name is Matthew J. Strassberg, S-t-r-a-s-s-b-e-r-g. 
My address is P.O. Box 1509, Flagstaff, Arizona 86002. 

MR. BENNETT. My name is Alfred Bennett III, B-e-n-n-e-t-t. Post Office 
Box 321, Shiprock, New Mexico 87420. 

[Matthew J. Strassberg and Alfred Bennettt III were sworn.] 
SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you. 
You may begin, Mr. Strassberg. 

TESTIMONY OF MATIHEW J. STRASSBERG, ATIORNEY, BIG 
MOUNTAIN LEGAL OFFICE 

MR. STRASSBERG. Thank you. 
I would like to expand on some of the things the previous panel spoke to. 

I myself am an attorney also working with the Big Mountain Legal Office, 
and much of my work involves representing nonmember Indians in other 
tribes' courts. We run into a great problem with the only source of appeal 
being that of habeas corpus, and I think that causes some problems that I 
would like to elaborate on. 

Most of our work, however, does deal with projects that have Federal 
funding. For example, we have filed a first amendment lawsuit challenging 
the use of Federal dollars for forced relocation of Navajo Indians as a 
violation of the first amendment. 

We have recently filed another lawsuit challenging the BIA's contract­
ing out to the Hopi Tribe of building various developments on the Hopi 
partition lands that have destroyed sacred sites, religious sites, cultural 
sites, and historical sites as a violation of both the first amendment and the 
National Historic Preservation Act. 

If these lawsuits are successful, one would think that the Navajo 
individual's rights should be safeguarded. However, the Hopi Tribe could 
then undertake the same programs without the use of Federal funds, for 
example, try to forcibly remove the Navajo people or go about developing 
the lands partitioned to them, and we would not be able to have any 
Federal court jurisdiction, and we would be stuck in working in tribal 
court. 

The previous Hopi tribal members spoke about Navajo insensitivity to 
Hopi religious sites such as eagle gathering areas. That is not a one-way 
street. In a recent case, Attakai v. U.S., Hopi tribal members testified that 
when they developed sites out on the Hopi partitioned lands, they perform 
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an archaeological clearance and also looking for religious sites. They, 
however, are only trained to find Hopi sites or remnants of Anasazi ruins. 
That leaves Navajo sites potentially to be destroyed, and we recently were 
granted a temporary restraining order because those sites have been 
destroyed in the past. 

If the tribal court is the last stop in the road of due process in this 
instance, we feel that our clients would be suffering a great harm. The 
effect would be that if the Hopi Tribe undertook these projects and 
destroyed sites, the Navajo individuals could bring a civil action in Hopi 
Tribal Court. Their only hope of appeal would be habeas corpus, and there 
would be no hope of that in a civil action. 

This, I think, unfortunately leaves the Navajo people with no other 
option but to try to defend their land by any means possible. Mr. Phillips 
previously testified how there have been arrests where Navajo people 
have just been trying to defend sacred sites, and I think that any situation 
where we have a statute that exists in such a way that forces people to 
potentially get involved in confrontations must be amended in some way. 

I am not suggesting that tribal sovereignty is nothing that we need to be 
sensitive to. I think it would be ideal to somehow draw a line on what can 
be appealable and what cannot be appealable. I myself do not know exactly 
where that line should be, and perhaps part of the task of this Commission 
is trying to figure out where that line shall be. 

However, it is clear from my experience both in Federal district court in 
trying to protect and preserve some of these sacred sites on behalf of the 
Navajo individuals and also my experience in tribal court that that line 
must be broader than just allowing for habeas corpus appeal. That line 
must embrace core individual human rights such as free exercise of religion 
that is protected by the Indian Civil Rights Act. 

Finally, I would just like to add on to a point that Mr. Trebon made in 
reference to the Duro v. Reina situation. It seems that we are now at a 
point where we are saying that tribal courts are competent to assert 
jurisdiction over nonmember Indians, but not nonmember non-Indians, and 
that seems to make no sense to me. It has already been asserted that they 
stand in the same footing, neither can sit on juries, vote, receive travel 
benefits, and so forth. 

It seems the only sensible solution would be either no jurisdiction over 
nonmembers or full jurisdiction over all people who want to go to that 
particular land. If you venture into a foreign country, you subject yourself 
to the jurisdiction of that country, and the same should apply to tribal 
courts. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you very much. 
COMMISSIONER DESTRO. I have one request. Mr. Strassberg, if you 

wouldn't mind, and I don't want to impose on you, but you suggested that 
it was possibly the role of the Commission to suggest where the dividing 
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line might be. If you would for us, if you might ruminate a bit in writing 
for us where you think it ought to be, because as I read Northwest Indian 
[Cemetery] Protective Association v. Lyng, that the Supreme Court decided 
this last term, it doesn't seem to me, at least in my reading of the case, that 
the Federal courts are particularly open minded when it comes to 
protection of Indian religious sites. 

So it seems to me that if you are going to get any kind of recourse, it is 
going to have to be from Congress, and you all are far more expert than we 
are. So if you have some suggestions, please give them to us in writing. 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Do send them in in the next 30 days 
when the record remains open if you please. 

Thank you. 
Mr. Bennett, you get the last word. 
MR. BENNETT. Yes, and I'm nervous, too. 
[Laughter.] 

TESTIMONY OF ALFRED BENNETT III, NAVAJO TRIBE, 
SHIPROCK, NEW MEXICO 

MR. BENNETT. My name is Alfred Bennett. My background is I've been 
a union laborer and I tried to run for a business manager office at one time 
and vice president of our local union 16 in New Mexico. 

I have worked with the Office of Navajo Labor Relations as a 
compliance officer for about a year and a half and worked for the United 
States Department of Justice Civil Rights Division in the United States of 
America v. City of Gault discrimination lawsuit in employment practices. 

I guess in all the experience I've learned how to take grievances and 
stuff like this. In 1986, in November I guess, the Navajo tribal election was 
held, and I was assigned to go to Shiprock, New Mexico, just to go up 
there and look around. I was going to vote up there. And the one thing 
I've noticed who that a lot of the people that were voting said that there 
was a lot of MacDonald supporters manning the polls, being the registrars 
and the clerks and all this stuff. They were telling me all this stuff. 

It didn't really hit my mind until I got back to Window Rock. I went 
back and I started seeing all these results coming in, and something just 
ticked inside of me because I had been through election fraud at one time 
with the labors union. 

So I went running back up there that night, and I started taking 
testimony from people, and there were a lot of irregularities in the 
Shiprock Chapter concerning the ballot box where the votes are cast in 
one ballot box and then all the people that signed in it wouldn't match. 
They recounted them three different times-this is what the poll watchers 
were telling me. That's what they testified to me about and that is what I 
wrote down from them, that three times and nothing would even match 
up, the numbers and the ballots that were in the box. 
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As I started probing more into this, I started calling across the 
reservation, and there were irregularities across the Navajo Reservation. 
Like there was one guy who put in for an absentee ballot. He thought he 
wasn't going to be home, and he didn't get his absentee ballot. So he want 
down to go vote, and he said next to his name it said absentee ballot, but he 
said he never received it, even in the past election. 

Other people across the cities, like in Tucson, Phoenix, Albuquerque, 
and Denver, the people that sent in for absentee ballots got them either late 
on the day of election or they said they submitted them a couple of months 
ahead of time, and when it came down to turning in the ballots, they said 
they couldn't even mail them off. 

Then on challenge votes, the election commission never really informed 
the Navajo people that they had so many days to file a complaint, and I 
think it was 5 days, 5 or 10 days anyway, that they had to file a complaint 
with the election commission if there were irregularities. 

One of the registers turned in a whole list of names. She used to Xerox 
everything she turned in and she kept good records. I had one individual, 
or two of them that went in to vote and they said their names weren't on 
the list, and she showed me their names on that list. I looked at it and 
compared it, but they weren't listed and the election office said they never 
received that. So she filed a complaint with the election commission 
because a lot of her people she signed up didn't get to vote. 

There was another individual who was registered in one chapter house 
all his life. He was moved about 15 miles down the line to another chapter 
through the computer, I guess. That came about too. I talked to him. But 
there was politicking in line, and that's all I can say. 

But I think with the next tribal election coming up, that some measures 
need to be taken to ensure that there is a fair election process. There may 
need to be Federal observers there to record what is going on. But after 
being ripped off in one union election and after seeing this tribal election, I 
really believe that something needs to be done to ensure that there is a 
fairness and there are legal ways for these people to go address their 
grievances. 

I have another thing too. Like this individual was saying that he was a 
tribal employee-when I was working for the Office of Navajo Labor 
Relations, I was a complaints officer and I represented people in 
grievances, and I represented a tribal employee once, and then the second 
time I represented another one, and I won him backpay, the second one. 
We started out on that, and I got threatened with my job. They said, "This 
is a tribe versus tribe situation and what you're doing is you're working for 
the tribe and here you are representing these tribal employees," and they 
threatened to fire me. 

That's the thing about it, is that the tribal employees right now have no 
rights or no guarantees that they will ever have any rights. The only thing 
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I can tell them is to unionize or to get something done through these 
hearings. 

Thank you very much. 
SUBCOMMITrEE CHAIRMAN ALLEN. Thank you very much, sir. 
Thank you all for coming out. As you know, this process will continue 

for quite some time, but we assure you you will hear the results. 
This hearing is recessed. 
[At 7 p.m. the hearing recessed.] 
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Exhibit No. 1 

25 § 1301 INDIANS 52 

Tribal c:omt jmndictioc = ciYil dispmcs in­ is im~ mJc:sa Consnss bas apr<Dly 
Y01Yia1 aoa-ladians: An assessment o{ National consented IO tbe impcaition a( the tu. Blackfeet 
Fann1n U11io,r /nnratttt Car. Y. Crow Tri« of Tribe al ladiam •· 5w.e oC Moat.• CA.Mont.
/ndiaru and a propo&al ror rdorm. 20 U.MichJ. 19114. 729 F.2d 1192, affirmed I~ S.CI. 2J9'1. 471
LRd. 217 (19!6). U.S. 759, !5 L.Ed.2d 75J. 

SocaofDeds'­
,. Tu.atioa 

State taxation ot tnbol itJCOmC from activities 
carried oa within the boundaries ol the reservatiaa 

§ 130:Z. Constitutional right.a 

No Indian tnl>e in exercising powers of self-government shall-
(1) make or enforce any law prolu"biting the free exercise of religion, or 

abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press, or the right of the people 
peaceably to assemble and to petition for a redress of grievances; 

(Z) violate the right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, 
papers, and effects against unreasonable search and seizures, nor issue war­
rants, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particular­
ly descn"bing the place to be searched and the person or thing to be seized; 

(3) subject any person for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy; 
(4) compel any person in any criminal case to be a witness against himself; 
(5) take any private property for a public use without just compensation; 
(6) deny to any person in a criminal proceeding the right to a speedy and 

public trial, to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation, to be 
confronted with the witnesses against him, to have compulsory process· for 
obtaining witnesses in his favor, and at his own expense to have the assistance 
of counsel for his defense; 

(7) require excessive bail, impose excessive fines, inflict cruel and unusual 
punishments, and in no event impose for conviction of any one offense any 
penalty or punishment greater than imprisonment for a term of one year and a 
fine of $5,000, or both; 

(8) deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of its laws 
or deprive any person of liberty or property without. due process of law; 

• (9) pass any bill of attainder or ex post facto law; or 
(10) deny to any person accused of an offense punishable by imprisonment 

the right, upon request, to a trial by jury of not less than six persons. 

(Aa amended Pub.L 99-S70, Title IV, § 4217, Oct. zi; 1986, 100 St.at. 3207-146.):..... 
19" A....i-t. Par. (7). Pnb.L 99-570, The status oC Indian tnl>es in Americm la• 

§ 4217, substituted "fa< a term ol one y<M and a today. HODOBble William C Canby, Jr., 62 
fine ol S5,000'" fa< "f'm- a term oC six months or a Wasb.L!tn. I (1987). 
fine at 5500"'. Tnbol cant jurisdiction over ciYil disputes in­

YDlving 1101>-lndians: An llS5CSStl1C!lt oC NatioMIFan__..,• ol Ahillt,- of Tribal Go.erumc,,ta 
Farm~n Union In.n,rantt Cat. ~- Crow Tn'M ofID Pnnat Trafflc of DlepJ Nan:ot!cs. Section 
Indians and a proposal ror reronn. 20 U.Micb.J.4217 oC Pnb.L 99-570 proYidcd in part that 
LRef. 217 (1986).amendment al pu. (7) al !his scctioa was -ro 

enhance the ability oC lnbol governments IO pre­ Libr&r7 Ref.,..,... 
vent and penalize the tra!T,c o( iJlepJ narcotics ill Indians Ca>32(13). 38(1) 10· (7).Indian nservatioasR, • 

CJ.S. ladiam §§ 16 et seq., 15. 
Lqilladft HistO<]'. For.legislative hislory and 

pwpooe al Pub.L 99-570 see 1986 U.S. Code 
Cons- and Adm. News, p. 5393. • Not.. or Declslom 

Cnid ud naul pwalsltment 34a 
W<111'1 Fodenl Practice Manual 

~ c1iscrin,;nation. ..., f • 15873. 6. Power of oo.....tptj of tribal penaeat 
Indian tribes' 10Yercign1y is n« absolute. but 

Law Knie• eom-tana subject 10 Jimitatioa by specific ir.&ly pnMSiom, 
Supreme Court n:moval ol Tribal Coun juris­ by stalule II !be will o( Congt<SS, by ponioaa a( 

dictioo over crima by and against Rescrvatioa the Constitlltioa found explicitly binding '"' the 
Indians. (19S-4-l985) 20 New England LRev. tribes, m- by implication due 10 tn'bes' dependent 
247. status. Babbitt Fon!, Inc. •· Navajo Indian Tnbc, 
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Exhibit No. 2 

Clas• •c• Resolution 
No BIA Action Required 

RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAVAJO TRIBAL COUNCIL 

Amending l Navajo Tribal Code, Sections 352, 353 and 
354 of the Navajo Sovereign Immunity Act 

WHEREAS: 

1. The Navajo Tribal Council is the governing body of 
the Navajo Nation; and 

2. The Navajo Nation is recognized as a sovereign Indian 
Nation reserving broad inherent attribute• of sovereignty, 
including the powers appropriate to establish, maintain and adopt 
its ovn form of self-government, as deemed most suitable for the 
preservation and advancement of the unique aocial, cultural, 
religious, economic and other need ■ and goal• of its ovn People; 
and 

J. A• a sovereign nation, the Navajo Nation, like other 
sovereign ■, cannot be sued, except only to the limited extent, 
purpose and forum, to which its governing body, the Navajo Tribal 
Council, explicitly and unequivocally expresses its ■ pacific 
consent, by duly enacted resolution, or in accordance with explicit 
and unequivocal Congressional legi~lation; and 

4. The Courts of the Navajo Nation are created by the 
Navajo Tribal Council within the government of the Navajo Nation 
and the jurisdiction and power• of the Courts of the Navajo Nation, 

Navajo Nation nation and neither judicially 

particularly 
derived from 

with regard to suits against the Navajo Nation, 
and limited to the Navajo Trib~~ Council as 

are 
the 

governing body of the Navajo Nation; and 

5. Sovereign immunity is an inherent attribute of the 
a ■ a ■ overeign i ■ 

created by any court, including the Court• of the Navajo Nation, 
nor derived from nor bestowed upon the Navajo Nation by any other 
nation or government; and 

_!_ Th• special authority of the Congress of the United 
States relating to Indian affair ■ derives from and i■ consistent 
with the recognition and fulfillment of it• unique trust 
obligation ■ to protect and preserve the inherent attribute• of 
Indian tribal self-government; and 

7. The Navajo Tribal Council ha ■ enacted the Navajo 
Nation Bill of Right• in recognition of the interest ■ and rights of 
the People of the Navajo Nation, from whom th• sovereignty of the 
Navajo Nation derives, as express 1elf-limita~ion• upon the 
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Exhibit No. 2 (cont.) 

exercise of its 1overeign powers and has provided for 1peci!ic 
remedies and redres1 !or individual• from th• government of th• 
Navajo Nation as only the governing body of th• Navajo Nation 11 
empowered and respon1ibl• to determine on behalf of the People of 
the Navajo Nation; and 

I. The cow:ts and other agencies o! the Goverruaent of 
th• United States are without juri1diction-and are not empowered by 
tribal or federal law to enforce or otherwi1e imple ■ent th• 
provision ■ of th• Indian Civil light ■ Act, except to th• expre11ly 
limited extent of federal court review of tribal court deei1iona in 
criminal cases involvicg habea1 corpus proceedings; and 

9. The recognition and redress for individual rights of 
the People of the Navajo Nation enacted in th• Navajo Nation Bill 
of Rights and Navajo Sovereign I1111aunity Act exceeds and therefore 
supersedes the provisions of the federal Indian Civil Rights Act as 
the source of jurisdiction of the Courts of the Navajo Nation in 
such matters; and 

10. By Resolution ACF-22-88, the Advisory Committee of 
the Navajo Tribal Council ha1 recollllllended that, in order to further 
clarify the provision ■ of th• Navajo Sovereign Immunity Act, it is 
neceasary that the Navajo Tribal Council aa the governing body of 
the Navajo Nation enact the following amendments to the provisions 
thereof because of recent actions instituted in the Courts of the 
Navajo Nation and federal tribunal• and certain pronouncements 
thereof which are inconai1tent with or contrary to inherent 
sovereign attributes, including the sovereign immunity of the 
Na•;ajo Nation. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

l. Th• Navajo Tribal ·Council, aa th•·governing body of 
the Navajo Nation, affirms th• sovereign illllllunity of the Navajo 
Nation as the inherent attribute of the ~avajo Nation as a 
sovereign nation. 

2. The Navajo Tribal Council a ■ the governing body of 
the Navajo Nation further affirm• that the jurisdiction and powers 
of the Court• of tn• Navajo Nation derive from the Navajo Tribal 
council aa the governing body of the Navajo Nation and that the 
courts ..,u!_Without juri1diction or power to waive the sovereign
immunity of the Navajo Nation or that of its authorized officials, 
representative1 or employee• acting within th• scope of their 
official duties and authority. 

3. The Navajo Tribal Council as the governing body of 
the Navajo Nation, hereby enacts the following provisions and 
amendments to the Navajo Sovereign Immunity Act in accordance with 
the above stated principle ■, including additions thereto as under­
lined and by deletion ■ th~reto a1 stricken, effective this date of 
enactment: 
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Exhibit No. 2 (cont.) 

1 Navajo Tribal Code, Section 352 11 amended aa follows: 

For the purposes of this subchilpter, "Navajo Nation• 
means: 

(1) Th• Navajo Tribal Council; 
(2) The Chairman, Navajo Tribal Council; 
(3) The Vice Chairman, Navajo Tribal Council; 
(4) The Delegate, to the Navajo Tribal Council; 
(5) The Certified Chapter, of th• Navajo Nation; 
(6) The Grazing Committees of the Navajo Nation; 
(7) The Land Boards of the Navajo Nation; 
(8) The Executive.Branch of the Navajo Nation Government; 
(9) The Judicial Branch·of the NavaJo Nation Government; 
(10) The Commissions of the Navajo Nation Government; 
(11) The Committees of the Navajo Tribal Council; 
(12) The Legislative Secretary of the Navajo Tribal 

Council; 
(13) The Enterprises of the Navajo Nation; 
(14) Navajo Community College. 

Section 353 is amended as follows: 

(al The Navajo Nation is a sovereign nation which is 
immune from suit. 

(b) Sovereign immunity is an inherent attribute of the 
Navajo Nation aa a sovereign nation and is neither judicially 
created by any court, including the Courts of the Navajo Nation, 
nor derived from nor bestowed upon the NavaJo Nation by any other 
nation or government. 

(c) The Courts of the Navajo Nation are created by the 
Navajo Tribal Council within the government o~ the Navajo Nation 
and the jurisdiction and powers of the Courts of the Nava1o Nation, 
particularly with regard to suits against th• Navajo Nation, are 
derived from and limited by th• Navajo Tribal Council as tha 
governing body of the Navajo Nation. 

(d) The special authority of the Congress of the United 
States relating to Indian affairs derive, from and ii consistent 
with th• recognition and fulfillment of its unique trust 
oblig~ to protect and preserve the inherent attributes of 
Indian tribal self-government. 

(e) The Navajo Tribal Council has enacted the Navajo 
Nation Bill of Rights in recognition of tho intere1ts and right• of 
the People of the Navajo Nation, from whom the sovereignty of the 
Navajo Nation derives, as expres1 ,elf-limitations upon the 
exercise of its sovereign powers and has provided herein for 
specific remedies and redress for individuals from the government 
of the Navajo Nation as only the governing body of the Navaio 
Nation is empowered and responsible to determine on behalf of the 
People of the Navajo Nation. 
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Exhibit No. 2 (cont.) 

(!) N•lther th• Ch&irm&n, N&v&jo Tribal Council, tha 
Vice Chairman, Nl~ajo Tribal Council, nor the delegata1 to the 
Nav&jo Tribal Council may be subpoenaed or otherwise compelled to 
appear or testify in the Courts of the N&vajo Nation or any 
proceeding which is under the Jurisdiction of the Courts of the 
Navajo Nation concerning any matter involving such official's 
action• pursuant to hi1/har official dutie1. 

Section 354 is amended a1 follow1: 

The purpose and intent of the Navajo Sovereign Immunity 
Act is to balance the interests of individual parties in obtaining 
the benefits and just redress to which they ara entitled, under the 
law and in accordance with the orderly processe1 of th~ Navajo 
Nation government, while at the same time protecting the legitimate 
public interest in securing th• purposes and benefits of their 
public funds and assets, and the ability of their government to 
function \olithout dy_~~.rence in fuGheranc:e of the general 
\olelfare and the greatest goocf of-iff""the -- peopre. All of the 
provisions of this act shall be applied a1 hereinafter set forth in 
order to carry out this stated purpose and intent of the Navaio 
Tribal Council, as the governing body of the Navajo Nation. 

Paragraphs (a) through (d) are reenacted as set forth in 
Navajo Tribal Code, Section 354. 

Subparagraph (e)(2) is amended as follows: 

(2) Any such judgment, order or award may only be 
satisfied pursuant to the expres1 provisions of the policy(ies) of 
liability insurance and/or established self-insured or government 
claims program of the Navajo Nation which ara in effect at the time 
of each such judgment, order or a\olard~ Reqard!ess of the existence 
of applicable and collectible commercial insurance coverage at the 
time any cause of action arise, or suit ii filed against the Navajo 
Nation, in no event shall any funds or other property of th• Navajo 
Nation be liable for satisfaction of any judg~ent against the 
Navajo Nation and/or other insured• thereunder, beyond the limits 
of any amounts specifically appropriated and/or reserved therefor 
at the time of judgment, \olhich shall be ~edified by law in 
accordance \olith 1uch limitation of fund1. This limitation shall 
apply to any deductible or retained liability or otherwise 
resulting from any inability or insolvency occ~rring any time prior 
to entry of such judgment; 

Subparagraphs (ell, (a)3 and (e)4 are reenacted as set 
forth in l Navajo Tribal Code, Section 354. 

Paragraph• (fl and (g) are reenacted. Section 355 is 
reenacted as set forth in l Navajo Tribal Code, Section 355. 
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CERTIFICATION 

I hereby certify that the foregoing re ■ olution wa ■ 
con ■ idered by the Navajo Tribal Council at a duly called •••ting at 
Window Rocle, Navajo Nation (Arizona), at which a quorua wa_, pre ■ -nt 
and that ■ a•• was pa111d by a vote of 67 in favor and O 
oppo ■ ed, thi ■ ...!.!:h_ day of .1!!:£._, 19aa. -- --
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Exhibit No. 3 

CAU-43-87 

Class "C' Resolution 
No BIA Action Required 

RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAVAJO TRIBAL COUNCIL 

Affirmin the Nava·o Nation's Reco nition and Res ect for 
Human Ri hts 

an the 
Pre on 

Civil ----------"'------------ ect for 

WHEREAS: 

1. The Navajo Tribal Council is the duly organized and elected 
governing body of the Navajo Tribe, a federally recognized sovereign Indian 
Nation, which as a distinct political community retaining its original natural 
rights, retains the power of regulating its internal and social relations by its 
own substantive laws in internal matters; and 

2. The intent of the United States Congress to promote the 
well-established federal policy of recognizing Indian self-government in its 
enactment of the Indian Civil Rights Act of 1968 (75 U.S.C. §1301-1303) was 
clearly discerned by the highest and Supreme Court of the United States, in 
addition to the objective of strengthening the position of individual members, 
in their internal relations with their own tribes; and 

3. In the l.i"ndmark first case decided by it pertaining to the 
Indian Civil Rights Act, the high court wisely examined its legislative 
history to discern that resolution in a non-tribal forum of disputes arising 
on the reservation, affecting reservation Indians could undermine the 

- authority of Tribal Courts and governments and thereby infringe as well 
upon the rights o1 Indians to govern themselves (Santa Clara Pueblo vs. 
Martinez, 436 U.S. 49, 62 (1978); and 

4. The Navajo Tribal Government, during the ensuing nineteen 
(19) years has continued to overcome its setbacks as does the government of 
the United States, while marking this two-hundredth (200th) anniver~ary of 
striving to strengthen and make its own commitment to fundamental human 
rights more perfect; and 

5. With means Jess drastic than a Civil War, the Navajo Nation is 
reforming its own government as intended by Congress, by broader 
amendments to its Bill of Rights than those enumerated in the Indian Civil 
Rights Act (Exhibit "A" attached hereto); by such implementation as a 
Judicial Branch vested with separate powers of injunctjon, mandamus and 
declaratory- relief (Exhibit "B" attached hereto); by providing. the 
accountability of other forums and remedies such as its new Ethics in 
Government Law (Exhibit II C." attached hereto); even by removing 
governmental immunity from compensatory redress to the extent its means 
and other public obligations permit (Exhibit "D" attached hereto; and 
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Exhibit No. 3 (cont.) 

6. The United States Civil Rights Commission is now conducting 
"investigations• inviting Tribal members to •expose" past setbacks and e,•en 
attempting to intrude and interfere with ongoing Tribal efforts to resolve its 
internal affairs and disputes without any attempt to justify their authority 
from a Congress which expressly intended to be first addressed bv such 
Tribal reforms and which the Navajo Nation can .only perceive as ignoring 
and undermining its demonstrative efforts to achieve full vindication of 
individual rights, together with the goal of self-government which the Navajo 
Nation believes was intended by both the Congress and Supreme Court of 
the United States of America. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

1. The Navajo Tribal Council hereby objects to the violation of its 
sovereign rights and the denial of substantive and procedural due process 
and fundamental fairness, bv the intrusive, divisive, destructive and 
unlawful manner in which these activities are being conducted by the 
Chairman and certain members of the United States Commission on Civil 
Rights, contrary to the laws, policies and expressed intent of the Congress 
and the Supreme Court of the United States of America. 

2. The Navajo Tribal Council further petitions the President and 
the Congress of the United States of America, to intervene and require these 
members of the United States Commission on Civil Rights to immediately 
desist from exceeding their authority, under the policies, laws and treaties 
of the United States applicable to its government-to-government relationship 
with recognized Indian Tribes. 

3. The Navajo Tribal Council, as the governing body of the 
Navajo Tribe, further instructs its governmental officers, in their respective 
official capacitles, to refrain from facilitating such continued actions by the 
United States Commission on Civil Rights, until such time as such lawful and 
appropriate governmental relationship is re-established, by justification of 
the Commission's defined authority as requested by the Chairman of the 
Navajo Tribal Council and the Attorney General; so that in this bicentennial 
anniversary of the American Bill of Rights, the sovereign governments of the 
Navajo and all other recognized Indian Tribes may also share in the American 
experience of furthering the cause of universal human rights and dignity. 

C:::ERTIFICATION 

I hereby certify that .the foregoing resolution was duly considered 
by the Navajo Tribal Council at a duly called meeting at Window Rock, 
Navajo Nation (Arizona), at which a quorum was present and that same was 
passed with a vote of 44 in favor and 14 opposed and 12 abstaining on 
this 12th day of August, 1987.~ --

~ • !. 
Chair 
Navajo ribal 
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Exhibit "A" 

AMENDMENTS 
Title 1, Navajo Tribal Code 

CHAPTER 1, NAVAJO NATION BILL OF RIGHTS 

Section 

1. Other rights not impaired; Abridgement or deletion only by public referendum 
2. Equality of rights not abridged by Tribal entitlements, benefits or privileges; 

nor by affirmative action necessary to support rights of. the Navajo· People 
to economic opportunity. . _ 

3. Denial or abridgement of rights on the basis of sex; Equal Protection and 
due process of Navajo Nation Law 

4. Freedom of religion, speech, press, and right of assembly and petition 
5. Searches and seizures 
6. Right to keep and bear arms 
7. Rights of accused; trial by jury; right to counsel 
8. Double jeopardy; self-incrimination; deprivation of property 
9. Cruel and unusual punishment; excessive bail and fines 

§ 1. Other rights not impaired; Deletion or abridgement only by public referendum 

The enumeration herein. of certain rights, shall not be construed to deny 
or disparage others retained by the people. No provision of this Chapter, 
the Navajo Nation Bill of Rights, shall be abridged or deleted by amendment 
or otherwise, except by referendum vote of the Navajo electorate, in 
accordance with applicable provisions of the laws of the Navajo Nation. 

§ 2. Equality or rights not abridged by Tribal entitlements, benefits or privileges; 
nor by afrll'mative action necessary to support rights of the Navajo People 
to economic opportunity 

Recognition, enactment, lawful implementation and enforcement of 
provisions for specific entitlements, benefits and privileges based upon 
membership in the Navajo Tribe or in other recognized Tribes of Indians 
and affirmative action in support of Navajo or othe!" Indian preference 
in employment and business contracting or otherwise necessary to protect 
and support the rights of Navajo People to economic opportunity within 
the jurisdiction of the Navajo Nation, shall not be abridged by any provision 
herein nor otherwise be denied. 

§ 3. Denial or abridgement of :rights on basis of se:r:; equal protection and due 
process or Navajo Nation law • 

Life, liberty and the pursuit!· of happiness are recognized -as fundamental 
individual rights of all human beings. Equality of rights under the law shall 
not be denied or abridged by the Navajo Nation on account of sex nor shall 
any person within its jurisdiction be denied equal protection in accordance 
with the laws of the Navajo Nation, nor be deprived. of life, liberty or 
property, without .due .process of law~ Nor shall such rights be ·deprived 
by any bill of attainder or ex post facto law. • • 

§ 4. Freedom of religion, speech,. press, and right of assembly and petition 

The Navajo ·Tribal Council shall make no law respecting an establishment 
of religion, or prohibiting the Cree exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom 
of speech, or of the press; or the right of people peaceably to assemble, 
and to petition the Navajo Tribal government for a redress of grievances. 
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.§ 5. Searches and se ..res 

The right of the people to be secure In their persons, ·houses, papers, and 
e!!ects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated. 
and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath. 
or a!!irmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and 
the person or things to be seized. 

§ 6. Right to keep and bear arms 

The right o! the people to keep and bear arms for peaceful purposes, and 
in a manner which does not breach or threaten the peace or unlawfully 
damage or destroy or otherwise infringe upon the property rights of others, 
shall not be infringed. 

§ 7. Rights or accused; trial by jury; right to counsel 

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy 
and public trial, and shall be informed of the nature and cause of the 
accusation; shall be confronted with the witnesses against him or her; and 
shall have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in their favor. No 
person accused or an o!!ense. punishable by imprisonment and no party 
to a civil action at law, as provided under Title 7 NTC, Chapter 5, Subchapter 
3, shall be denied the right, upon request, to a trial by jury of not less than 
six (6) persons; nor shall any person be denied the right to have the assistance 
of counsel, at their own expense, and to have defense counsel .appointed 
.in accordance with the rules of the courts of the Navajo Nation upon 
satisfactory proof to the court of this inability to provide for their own 
counsel for the defense of any punishable offense under the laws of the 
Navajo Nation. • 

§ 8. Double jeopardy; sel!-incrimination; deprivation of property 

No person shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy 
of libet'ty, or property; nor be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness 
against tfiemsel\'.es; nor shall private property be taken nor its lawful private 
use be impaired for public or governmental purposes or use, without just 
compensation. 

§ 9. Cruel and unusual punishments, excessive bail ancl rmes 

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel 
and unusual punishments inflicted. 
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Exhibit "B" 

Ch.3 JUDICIAL BRANCH T.7 § 20-i 

SUBCHAPTER 3. DISTRICT COURTS 

256. Temporary or preliminary injunctive relief 
257. Sovereign immunity of the Navajo Nation 

SUBCHAPTER 7. JUDGES 

Article L Generally 
354. Qualifications ·for judicial appointment 
355. Appointment; term of office 

Subchapter t. Generally 

§ 201. Establishment; composition 
There is hereby established the Judicial Branch within the Navajo 

Tribal Government. 
The Judicial Branch of the Navajo Tribal Government shall con­

sist of the District Courts, the Supreme Court of the Navajo Nation, 
and such other Courts as may be created by the .Navajo Tribal 
Council. 

Source. Tnoal Cotlllcil Res. CD-9'-85, E::dul,it D, passed Dee. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. .Ammded generally. 

§ 202. Seals of Co~ 
The Courts of the Navajo Nation shall each adopt a seal which 

shall be us·ed to authenticate their respective judgments and other 
papers.. The form of the seals and regulations for their use shall 
be specified by rules of court adopted and placed in effect as provided 
in 7 N.T.C. § 601. • 

Source. Tribal Cotlllcil Res. CD-94-1!5, E%hibit D, passed Dee. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Subatltuted "Courts of the Navajo Nation" for "Trial Court 

and the Courta of Appeals.n 

§ 203. Copies of laws 
Each Court of the Navajo Nation shall be provided with copies 

of applicable fe~~ Navajo N~tion and state laws and regulations. 
Source. Tnoal Ccnmcll Ru. CD-94-85, E:<hihlt D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. • 

§ 204. Law applicable 
(a) In all cases the Courts of the Navajo Nation shall apply any 

laws of the United States that may be applicable and any laws or 
customs of the Navajo Nation not prohibited by applicable federal 
laws. 
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T.7 § 204 COURTS AND PROCEDURE Ch.:! 

(b) Where any doubt arises as to the customs and usages of the 
Navajo Nation the court may request the advice o{ counsellors 
familiar with these customs and usages. 

(c) Any matters not covered by the traditional customs and 
usages or laws or regulations of the Navajo Nation or by applicable 
federal laws and regulations, may be decided by the Courts of the 
Navajo Nation according t.o the laws qf the state in.w.hich the mat-
ter in dispute may lie. • 

Source. Tn"bal Council Rea. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended Kenerally. 
L Nan.Jo law and cutom. This section clearly e%pre1111es the intent that 

Navajo law apply wherever possible. Johnson v. Dixon (C.A. 1983) 4 Nav. R. 
108. 

The application of custom de~nds on a good many circumstances and all 
the facts of the caae. Lente v. Notah, Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (De­
c:ided May 25, 1982). 

When applying custom, the court& should see whether a particular custom 
or trndition ia pnerally accepted and applicable to the par.ties before the 
.court. Id. 

Z. Common law. Navajo Common Law is a body of law which is fully binding 
on the Navajo Court of· Appeals and consists of the customs, traditions and 
usages of the Navajo People. Tome v. Navajo Nation (c.A.1983) 4 Nav. R.159. 

3. State law. Courts should carefully make certain tha.t the matter ia "not 
covered" by Navajo law, under subsection (c) of this section, before consider­
ing or proceeding to the use of state law. Johnson v. Dixon (C.A.1983) -4 Nav. 
R.108. 

Under this section, the traditions and customs of the Navajo ·People are to 
be applied where the Navajo Tribal Code is silent and federal law does not 
prohibit the applicatio~ of tradition and custom; it is only in a situation where 
there is no tradition or custom that the Tribal Courts are authorized to apply
State Law. Johnson v. Johnson (C.A.1980) 3 Nav. R. 5. • 

,-. Divorce-Divwon of property. Since nothing ia specifically stated- in the 
Navajo Tn"bal Code as to how either 11eparate or community property is to 
be divided upon divorce, this section is controlling in the. matter. Johnson v. 
Johnson (C.A.1980) 3 Nav. R. 5. 

Since, under Navajo tradition, a land use permit given from a father to a 
son cannot be characterized as his separate property, nor as community•prop­
.erty-the land use permits belonging to the entire family and to be used for 
the benefit of the entire family-district court properly applied Navajo tradi­
tion and custom in awarding land use permits, grazing permit and all other 
property connected with a farm to wife in divorce proceedings and the award 
and distribution of the property rights between the parties was a fair and 
just settlement pursuant to Title 9 Section 404 of the Navajo Tribal Code. Id. 

5. -Alimony. The courts of the Navajo Nation are empowered to avard ali­
mony in disso~ of mamap a.ea. Johnson v. Johnson (c.A. 1980) 3 Nav. 
&~ -

Nothing in Navajo tradition or cmtom would prohibit the court from apply­
ing New :Mexico law pursuant to this section and therefore, an award of ali­
mony in a marriage dissolution action in the tribal courts is both proper and 
authorized. Id. • • 

6. -Child custody. Since Navajo customs and traditions is but one of many
factors to be considered in child custody cases, a trial judge may be justified
in disregarding old ways, and the court of appeal will not overturn such a deci­
sion unless it was clearly an abuse of discretion. Lente v. Not.ab, Navajo Nation 
Court of Appeals (Decided :May 25, 1982). 
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§ 205. Record of proceedings 
Each Court of the Navajo Nation shall keep a record of all pro­

ceedings of the court, which record shall reflect the title of the case, 
the names of the parties, the substance of the complaint, ,the names 
and addresses of all witnesses, the date of the hearing or trial, by 
whom conducted, the findings of the court or jury, and the judg­
ment, together with any other facts or circumstances deemed of 
importance to the case. A record of all proceedings shall be kept at 
the appropriate court and shall be available for public inspection un­
less prohibited by order of the court or by applicable laws. 

Source. Tn1,al Council Res. CD-94-85, Ezh,1,it D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
198S amendment. Amended generally. 

§ 206. Cooperation of federal employees 
(a) No employee of the federal government shall obstruct, inter­

fere with or control the functions of any Court of the Navajo Na­
tion or influence such functions in any manner except as permitted 
by federal laws or regulations or in response to a request for advice 
or information from the Court. 

(b) Employees of the federal government, particularly those who 
are engaged in social service, health and educational work, shall 
assist the Court, upon its request, in the preparation and presenta­
tion of the facts in the case and in the proper disposition of the case. 

Source. Tn1ial Council Res. CD-94-85, Ezh,1,lt D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. 

§ 207. Action against provider of an alcoholic beverage 
(a) Any person who has been injured or damaged by an intoxi­

cated·person, or as a consequence of the intoxication of any person, 
may maintain an action in the courts of the Navajo Nation against· 
any person, individual, partnership, association or corporation sell­
ing or furnishing liquor or intoxicating beverages for consumption 
within the Navajo Indian Country if such liquor or intoxicating 
beverage was.~ ca¥.5e.~f t1;e intoxication. 

(b) Damages under this section shall include all damages to 
person or property, including, but not limited to, damages for wrong­
ful death, personal injury and loss of income, and shall include loss 
of support, companionship, service and affection !esulting from the 
death of a spouse; a minor child or the parent or guardian· of a minor 
child. 
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(c) In addition to any remedy available through subsection (a) 
above, the prosecutor of the Navajo Tribe is authorized to maintain 
an action for the benefit of an injured party under this section at 
the request of or after notice to such injured party. 

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to impose civil 
liability on any person as a consequence of: 

(1) The bona :fide sale or furnishing of ·liquor or intoxicating 
beverages for scientific, sacramental, medicinal or mechanical pur­
poses; 

(2) The transportation of liquor or intoxicating beverages in 
unopened containers and, :where applicable, containers with unbroken 
federal tax stamps, through Navajo Indian Country on any high­
way, roadway or railway right-of-way in conformance with 18 U.S.C. 
• § 1154. 

Source. Tribal Council Bes. c.T.A-10-78, pasaed J'an. 24, 1978. 
Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Subsection (d): Former subsection (d) (2) deleted and 

former mbaection (d) (8) ren~d as (2). 

Subckapter 8. Di.strict Courts 

§ 251. Appointment 
The District Courts of the Navajo Nation shall consist of such 

judges as shall be appointed by the Chairman of the Tribal Council, 
with confirmation by the Tribal Council 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CD-88-78, §§ 2, 3, passed Dec. 20, 1978. 
Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Elchibit D, passed D~ 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. 
1978 amendment. Subsection (a): Deleted sentence providing that council 

chairman may nominate person satisfying two-year probationary period as a 
permanent judge, and with council'a advice and consent may appoint auch a per­
son aa .a permanent judge. 

Subsection (d): Add.ec1. 
Reviaion ~ote. in view of deletion of aubsectiona (b), (c) and (d), deaipaticm 

o£ subsection (a) was omitted as unnecessary. • 
Prior law. Former sublll!ction (b) has been recodified at 'l N.T.C. § !54(a) 

and (b); former subsection (c) has been recodified at 7 N.T.C. § 355(c); former 
aubsectioil (d) has been recodified at 7 N.T.C. § 855(d). 

i 
§ 252. [Reserved] 

Prior law. Provisions of former § 252. relating to term of office of judges, 
was recodified at 7 N.T.C. § 355{b), by Tribal Council .Res. CD-94-85, E%hibit D, 
passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
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§ 253. Jurisdiction-Generally 
The District Courts of the Navajo Nation shall have original 

jurisdiction over: 
(1) Crimes. All violations of laws of the Navajo Nation commit­

ted within its territorial jurisdiction. 
(2) Civil Ca.uses of Action. All civil actions in which the defend­

ant is a resident of Navajo Indian Country, or has caused an action 
to occur within the territorial jurisdiction of the Navajo Nation. 

(S) Decedents' Esta.tes. All cases involving the descent and dis­
tribution of deceased Indians' unrestricted property found within 
the territorial jurisdiction of the court. 

(4) Miscellaneous. All other matters over which jurisdiction has 
been heretofore vested in the Navajo Tribal Court of Indian Of­
fenses, or which may hereafter be placed within the jurisdiction 
of the District Courts by the Tribal Council. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CF-19-80, § 1, passed Feb. 13, 1980. 
Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exln'bit D, pused Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. 
1980 AmendmenL Subsection (2): Added second sentence. 
Subsection (3): Deleted. Formerly provided for trial court jmisdiction of all 

cases involving the domestic relations of Indians. 
a. Nanfo Tribal courts. The courts of the Navajo Nation are empowered 

to award alimony in dissolution of marrlai:e cues. Johnson v. Johnson. (c.A. 
1980) 3 Nav. R. 5. . 

NQthing in Navajo tradition or custom would prolu'bit the court from apply­
ing New Mexico law pursuant to 7 N.T.C. § 204 and therefore, an a~ of 
alimony in a marriage· dissolution action in the tribal courts is both proper
and authorized. Id. • 

This section does not exclude review of ·Tribal Council actions from ita 
broad grant of power to '".he .caurta. Ralona v. MacDonald (c.A.. 1978) 1.Nav. 
.B: 189. • • _ 

.C. Crimes. Paragraph (1) of this section enables the Courts of the Navajo
Nation to issue summons or warrants applicable to a c1imina1 prosecution.
Navajo Nation v. Atcitty (O.A. 1983) 4 Nav. R. 130 (1983). 

5. Particular cue& Navajo Nation has the power to grant its courts personal 
jurisdiction over :foreign corporations as a consequence of such corporations' 
acts in ~vajq_territory, auch as wrongful repossession alleged minstant case, 
according"to modern_ expansions of the "minimum co~due process stand- •• 
ard. Thompson v. Lovelady'& Frontier Ford (c.A. 1978) 1 Nav. R. 282. .. 

This section's provision for jurisdiction over all other matters over which 
jurisdiction hu neen or may be vested implicitly asserts Navajo Nation juris­
diction over non-Indian, non-resident businesses and individuals, and court has 
jurisdiction over a non-Indian, non-resident business which allegedly wrong­
_fully repossesses personal property· upon Navajo land. Id. 

District court has civil jurisdiction,. under this section's provision for juris­
diction over "all other matters .•• which may- hereafter be placed within the 
jurisdiction of the Trial Court", to enjoin a threatened criminal trespass pro­
hibited by the code. Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and Power 
District v. International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local Union No. 
266 (c.A. 1978) 1 Nav. R. 277. 
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The Territorial jurisdiction of the Navajo Nation shall extend to 

Navajo Indian Country, defined as all land within the exterior 
boundaries of the Navajo Indian Reservation or of the Eastern 
Navajo Agency, all land within the.Jimits of dependent Navajo 
Indian communities, all Navajo Indian allotments, and all other land 
held in trust for, owned in fee by, or leased by the United States 
to the Navajo Tribe or any Band of Navajo Indians. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CJY-57-85, Exlu"bit A. pasaed July 25, 1985. 
Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, paued l>ec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended eenerally. 
Preamble. CJY-57-85 contained the following in the preamble: 
"7. It is the intent of these amendments that the reference to 'all land' is 

comprehensive and includes rights-of-way, fee land. and any other lands, not­
withstanding the nature of title thereto, within the exterior boundaries of the 
Navajo Reservation, Eastern Navajo Agency, dependent Navajo communities, 
Navajo Indian allotments and all lands held in trust for, owned in fee by, 
or leased by the United States to the Navajo Nation or any Band of Navajo 
Indians. Nothing herein shall be·construed as constituting authorization for the 
purchase or lease of lands by any Band of Navajo Indians; and 

"8. •Dependent Navajo Indian communities' is intended to encompass all lands 
currently within the Eastern Navajo Agency and auch other lands as may be 
determined consistent with Federal law to constitute dependent Navajo Indian 
communities." 

§ 255. -Writs or orders 
The District Courts shall have the power to issue any writs or 

orders necessary and proper to the complete exercise of their juris­
diction. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, .Exlu"bit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. ·substituted "District Courts" for "Trial Court''. 
L Garnishment. Enabling language of this section and former version of 

9 N.T.C. § 1S03 enable the District Courts of the Navajo Nation to order wage 
garnishment to any employer, trustee, financial agency or other person within 
the territorial jurisdiction of the Tribe for -ehild support. Heredia v. Heredia 
(C.A. 1983) 4 Nav. R. 124. 

Pursuant to 'l N.T.C. § '105 and this section, ::J'.led with Rule 23, Rules of 
Navajo Civil Procedure, earnishment is permi Tracey v. Heredia (C.A.
1983} 4 Nav. .R. 149. 

§ 256. Temporary or prwaliminary injunctive relief 
No District Court of the Navajo Nation shall enter an order for 

I 

tempora:ry or preliminary injunctive relief in any proceeding in 
which there is no appearance by the defendant, unless: 

(1} The District Court judge certifies in writing as to the spe­
cific irreparable harm which would occur were the temporary relief 
not to be ordered; and 
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/ (2) The legal counsel for the plaintiff certifies by affidavit as to 
the efforts which have been made to locate the defendant or defend­
ant's legal counsel to notify him or her of the hearing on preliminary 
or temporary injunctive relief. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CF-19-80, § 4, passed Feb. 13, 1980. 
Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 

1985 amendment. Substituted "District Court'' :for "court'', and "legal counsel" 
for "attorney" wherever such terms appeared. 

§ 257. Sovereign immunity of the Navajo Nation 
Jurisdiction of the District Courts of the Navajo Nation shall not 

extend to any action against the Navajo Nation without its express 
consent. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CF-19-80, § 3, passed Feb. 13, 1980. 
Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Substituted "District Courts" for "Trial Court" and "Navajo 

Nation" for "Navajo Tribe". 

Subchapter 5. Supreme Court 

§ 301.. Composition 
(a) The Supreme Court of the Navajo Nation shall consist of the 

Chief -Justice of the Navajo Nation and two Associate Justices of 
the Supreme Court. 

(b) The Supreme Court of t~e Navajo Nation shall sit at Window 
Rock, Navajo Nation (Arizona). 

Source. Tribal Council Res. ClVl:Y-39-78, § I, passed May 4, 1978. 
Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Substituted "Supreme Court of the Navajo Nation" for 

"Navajo Court of Appeals" wherever it appeared.
Subsections (c)-(e): Deleted. 
1978 amendment. Amended generally. 
Prior law. Former'Subsection (d) or this section was recodified and amended 

at 7 N.T.C. § 355(b). Former subsection (e) of this section was recodified and 
amended at 7 N.T.C. § 355(a) .. 

§ 302. Jurisdiction-Generally 

The Supreme Court shall have jurisdiction to hear appeals from 
final judgments and other final orders of the District Courts of ·the 
Navajo Nation••and su.ch other final administrative orders as pro­
vided by law. The Supreme Court shall be the court of final resort. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. 
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§ 303. Writs or orders 
The Supreme Court shall have the power to issue any writs or 

orders necessary and proper to the complete exercise of-its juris­
diction, or to prevent or remedy any act of any Court which is be­
yond such Court's jurisdiction, or to ca.use a Court to act where· such 
Court unlawfully fails or refuses to act within its jurisdiction. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Substituted "Supreme Court'' for "Court of Appeals", and 

substituted "Court'' for ''Trial Court" wherever it appeared. .... 
Subckapter 6. Supreme Judicial Council 

§§ 321-330. Repealed. Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, 
passed Dec. 4, 1985. 

The Judicial Reform Act of 1985, Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, p:issed Dec. 
4, 1985, abolished the Supreme Judicial Council. The Preamble to that Resolu­
tion provided in part as :follows: 

,;Since its inception, the Supreme Judicial Council bas heard only three (3) 
cases, yet its very existence bas continuously given rise to serious questions
and challenges to the competence of the Courts of the Navajo Nation in vari­
ous legal actions now pending or completed in Federal courts; and 

"If the Navajo Nation is to continue as a sovereign Nation and to move 
forward toward the reality of a three branch form of government, tbe Supreme 
Judicial Council must cease to exist, as Tribal sovereignty requires strong
and independent Tribal courts to enforce and apply the law." 

Pending cases before Supreme Judicial Council. Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, 
§ 4, stated as follows: "All cases presently pending before the Court of Appeals 
and the Supreme Judicial Council shall be transferred to the Supreme Court 
for final disposition." 

Subckapter 7. Judges 

Article 1. .Generally 

§ 351. Salaries 
(a) Salaries for Judges of the Courts of the Navajo Nation shall 

be established at the following base levels and negotiable thereon. 
(1) Probationary District Court Judges $25,000 per year· 
(2) District Court Judges 30,000 per year 
(3) Probationary Associate Justice 30,000 ~r year 
( 4) Associate Justices 35,000 per year 
(5) Probationary Chief Justice 45,000 per year 
(6) Chief Justice 55,000 per year 

(b) The probationary period for District Court Judges;. the Chief 
Justice and Associate Justices shall be two years from the date 
of appointment by the Chairman of the Tribal Council. 
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suant to such recommendation, may remove such probationary judge 
from office. Any judge so removed shall not be eligible for the status 
of retired judge and shall not be called to sit in any case pursuant 
to- 7 N.T.C. § 353. At the conclusion of the two-year probationary 
term, the Judiciary Committee shall review the record and qualifi­
cations of each probationary judge and shall recommend to the 
Chairman whether or not each probationary judge has satisfactorily 
completed the probationary term and should be appointed to a 
permanent position. The Chairman shall not appoint to a permanent 
position any judge not recommended by the Judiciary Committee, 
but the Chairman, at his discretion, may appoint any judges rec­
ommended by the Judiciary Committee to permanent positions. The 
appointments shall be submitted to the Navajo Tribal Council for 
confirmation. 

Source. Tn"bal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 

Article 2. Chief Justice 

§ 371. Administrative duties 
In ad~tion to his judicial duties, the Chief Justice of the Navajo 

Nation shall have the duty of supervising the work of all justices 
and judges of the Navajo Nation and shall have the duty of admin­
istering the Judicial Branch. He shall advise the Chairman of the 
Tribal Council and the Judiciary Committee of the Tribal Council 
as to whether probationary justices and judges shall be offered per­
manent appointments. 

Source. Tn"bal Council Res. CD-94-85, ExhI"bit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. 

§ 372. Acting Chief Justice 
The Chief Justice of the Navajo Nation shall designate one Asso­

ciate Justice of the Supreme Court to act as Chief Justice when­
ever the.Chi~f Justice is absent _from the territorial jurisdiction·· 
of the Navajo Nation, is on vacation, ill or otherwise unabJe to per­
form the duties of his office. The Chief Justice shall delegate to the 
acting Chief Justice som~ or all of the powers of' the office of 
Chief Justice. The.Chief Justice may at any time change his desig­
nation of the Associate Justice empowered to act as Chief Justice. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. 
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Subchapter 9. Clerks and Bailiffs 

§ 401. Clerks and Bailiffs-Appointment 

(a) Each judge of the District Courts of the Navajo Nation shall, 
with the approval of the Chief Justice, appoint clerks and bailiffs 
of the Court. 

(b) The Chief Justice shall appoint the clerk of the Supreme
Court. • .. •• 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CD-94-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. 

§ 402. -Duties and authority 
The clerks of the court shall have such duties and authorities as 

provided herein, or by rules of court adopted and placed in effect 
pursuant to 7 N.T.C. § 601, or as may be hereafter provided by reso­
lution of the Tribal Council, or as may be hereafter delegated by 
the Justices and Judges of the Navajo Nation. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CD-94.-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. 

§ 403. Salary and grade 
The beginning salary and increments for clerks and bailiffs of 

the court shall be in accordance with the prevailing rates estab­
lished by the Navajo Nation, and the positions shall be graded in 
accordance with the established personnel policies and procedures. 

Those presently serving as clerks and bailiffs shall be subject 
to the above provisions upon their appointment and approval by the 
Chief Justice. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CD-94.-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Amended generally. 

§ 404. Application of .Judicial Branch Personnel Policies and Pro­
cedures 

All employment in positions, other than Judicial appointments, 
within the Judicial .Branch shall be in accordance :with the estab­
lished Judicial Branch Personnel Policies and Procedures. 

: 
Source. Tribal. <;:ouncil Res. CD-94.-85, Exhibit D, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendmenL Amended generally. 
Prior law. Former provisions of this section, concerning judicia1 appointments 

of bailiffs and other court attendants, were recodified in part at 7 N.T.C. § 4.01. 
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actions as the Director shall deem necessary for the accomplishment 
and enforcement thereof. 

(8) Represent the Navajo Nation Washington Office in.executive 
level plannlna", 

(4) Represent the Tribal Government within the areas of the 
responsibility of the office in dealings and relations with persons 
and organizations outside the Tribal Government. 

(5) Conduct such special projects and programs as may be 
assigned. 

(6) Delegate authority to his or her staff. 
Source. Advisory Committee Res. ACAU-102-84, Exhibit A, § IV, passed Aug, 

23, 1984. 

Chapter 6. Ethics in @overnment 
SECTION 

SUBCHAPTER 1. NAVAJO NATION ETHICS IN GOVERNMENT LAW 

3751. Title 
3752. Legislative purpose and intent 
3753. Standards of conduct and restricted activities of public 

officials and employees 
3754. Certified Statement of Economic Interests; filing re­

quirements 
3755. Disclosure information required 
3756. Implementation and compliance with Ethics in Govern­

ment Law; duties and responsibilities; investigation, 
hearings, findings, reports and recommendations 

8757. Sanctions and penalties 
8758. Definitions 
3759. Severability 
3760. Effective date 
8761. Prior inconsistent law superceded 

SUBCHAPTER 3. ETHICS AND RULES OFFICE 

8771. Establishment 
3772. Purpose 
3773. Personnel and organization 
8774. Duties, responsibilities and authority 
8775: · Political practices prohibited 
3776. Office location and hours 
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3777. Construction 
3778. Amendments 

Subckapter 1. Navajo-Nation Ethics in Government Law 

§ 3751. Title 
This chapter may be cited as the Navajo Nation Ethics in Govern­

ment Law. 
Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU-40-84, Exhibit B, § 1, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 

§ 3752. Legislative purpose and in~ent 
(a) Purpose. Where government is founded upon the consent of 

the governed, the people are entitled to have complete confidence in 
the loyalty and integrity of their government. The purpose of the 
Navajo Nation Ethics in Government Law, therefore, is to require 
accountability to the people of the Navajo Nation by their elected, 
appointed and assigned public officials and employees in exercising 
the authority vested or to be vested with them·as a matter of public 
trust, by: 

(1) establishing and requiring adherence to standards of con­
duct to avoid such conflicts of interest as the use of public offices, 
employment or property for private gain, the granting and ex­
change of favored_ treatment to persons, businesses or organiza­
tions; and the conduct of activities by such officials and employees 
which _permits opportunities for private gain or advantage to influ­
ence government decisions; 

(2) providing for a more informed electorate by requiring 
tlie disclosure of significant economic and business interests and 
affiliations of public officials which involve any potential for con­
flict with the primary interests of-the people and government of 
the Navajo Nation. 

(3) requiring public officials and employees to abstain from 
using any function of their office or duties, in amanner which could 
place, or appear to place~ their personal economic or special inter­
ests before the interests of the general public. 

(b) Intent. It is the intention of the ~~vajo Tribal Council 
that the provisions of this Navajo Nation Ethics in Government 
Law be construed and applied in each instance, so as to accomplish 
-its--purposes of protecting the Navajo people from government 
decisions and actions resulting from, or affected by, undue influ­
ences or conflicts of interest. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU-40-84,·'.Ei~ibit B, § 2, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 
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§ 3753. Standards of conduct and restricted activities of public offi­
cials and employees 

(a) Conduct in Conformity With Applicable Rules and Laws. 
Public officials and employees shall at all times conduct them­
selves so as to reflect credit upon the Navajo people and govern­
ment; and comply with all applicable laws of the Navajo Nation 
with respect to their conduct in the performance of the duties of 
their respective office or employment. 

(b) General Prohibitions; Conflicts of Interest. 
(1) No public official shall use, or attempt to use, any official 

or apparent a~thority of their office or duties which places, or 
could reasonably be perceived as placing their private economic 
gain or that of any special business interests with which they are 
associated, before those of the generil public, whose paramount 
interests their office or employment is Intended to serve. 

(2) It is the intent of this subsection (b) that public officials 
and employees of the Navajo Nation avoid any action, whether or 
not specifically prohibited by the Standards of Conduct set out 
herein, which could result in, or create the appearance of, 

(A) using public office for private gain; 
(B) giving preferential treatment to any special interest 

organization or person; 
(C) impeding governmental efficiency or economy; 
(D) losing or compromising complete independence or im­

partiality of action; 
(E) making a government decision outside official channels; 

or 
(F) adversely affecting the confidence of the people in the 

integrity of the government of the Navajo Nation. 
(c) Use of Confidential Information for Private Gain. No public 

official or employee shall use or disclose confidential information 
gained in the course of or by reason of their official position or 
activities, to further their own··~onomic interest or that of anyone 
else. 

(d) Restrictions Against Incompatible Interests or Employment. 
(1) Public officials and employees shall not 

(A) have direct or indirect financial or other economic in­
terests nor engage in such other employment or economic ac_tivity 
which,: as determined in accordance with the provisions of this 
chapter and other applicable Jaws of the Navajo Nation, neces-
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sarily involves inherent substantial conflict, or appears to have 
such substantial conflict, with their responsibilities and duties 
as public officials or employees of the Navajo Nation; nor 

(B) engage in, directly or indirectly, financial or other eco­
nomic transactions as a result of, or primarily depending upon, 
in_formation obtained through their public office or employment; 
nor 

(C) acquire any economic or other financial property, con­
tractual or other economic interest at a time when they believe 
or have reason t.o believe, that it will directly and substantially 
affect or be so affected by their official actions or duties. 

(2) Subject t.o the restrictions and conditions set forth in 
this chapter, public officials and employees are free t.o engage in 
lawful financial transactions t.o the same extent as the general pub­
lic. Governmental bodies and agencies of the government of the 
Navajo Nation may, however, adopt further approved restrictions 
upon such transactions or employment as authorized herein and by 
other applicable laws of the Navajo Nation, in light of special 
circumstances or their particular duties. 

(3) No business or other entity shall employ a public official 
or employee if such employment is prohibited by or otherwise 
violates any provision of this chapter. 

(4) The term •~employment", within the meaning of this subsec­
tion (d), includes professional services and other services rendered 
by a public official or employee, whether rendered as an employee, 
consultant or other independent contract.or. 

(e) Abstention From Official Action. 
(1) When a public official or employee is required t.o take 

official action on a matter in which such public official or employee 
has a personal economic interest, they should first consider eliminat­
ing that interest. If that is not feasible nor required under sub­
section (d), such public official or employee shall 

(A) prepare and sign a written statement describing the 
matter requiring action and the nature· of the potential conflict, 
as soon· as such public official or employee is aware of such 
conflict and they shall deliver copies of such statement to the 
responsible party for inclusion in the official record of any vote 
or other decf sion or determination and also to the Ethics and 
Rules Committee; and 
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(B) abstain from sponsoring, influencing or in any manner 
attempting to influence any vote, official decision or determina­
tion wl).ich would favor or advance such person's personal eco­
nomic interest in such matter; and 

(C) abstain from voting or otherwise participating In the 
official decision or determination of such matter, unless other­
wise directed. by the authorized presiding official of the govern­
mental body making such decision or determination, or other­
wise legally required by law, or unless such person's vote, posi­
tion, recommendation or participation is contrary to their per­
sonal economic interest. 

(2) Unless otherwise provided by applicable law, the absten­
tion by such person from voting or otherwise participating in the 
official determination or decision shall not affect the presence of 
such person for purposes of establishing a quorum necessary for a 
governmental body, agency or commission to take such action or 
vote upon such m~tter. 

(3) Public employees shall also deliver a copy of such state­
ment to the Committee and to their immediate superior, if any, 
who shall assign the matter to anoth~r. If such employee has no 
immediate superior, he or she shall take such steps as the Commit­
tee shall prescribe or advise, to abstain from influencing actions and 
decisions in the matter. 

(4) In the event that a public official's or employee's partici­
pation is otherwise legally ·required for the action or decision to 
be- made, such person and the presiding official or immediate supe­
rior requiring such participation shall fully report the occurrence 
to the Committee. 

(f) Tribal Government Contracts; Restrictions and Bid Require­
ments. 

(1) No public official or employee or any me~ber of such per­
son's immediate family shall be a party to, nor have an interest in 
the profits or benefits of, any governmental contract of the Navajo 
Nation or of any investment of funds of the Navajo Nation, unless 
the contract or the investment meets the following requirements: 

(A) The contract. is let by notice and competitive bid or 
procurement procedures as required under all applicable laws, 
ru_les, regulations and policies. of the Navajo Nation, for neces­
sary materials or services for the governmental agency or entity 
involved; and 
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(B) In the continuous course of a b_usiness cpnunenced be­
fore the public official or employee assumed their current term 
of office or employment; and 

(C) The entire transaction is conducted at arm's length, 
with the governmenfal agency's full knowledge cif the interest 
of the public official or employee or a member of their immediate 
family; and 

(D) The public official or employee has faken no part in 
the determination of the specifications, deliberations or decision 
of a governmental agency with respect to the public contract; and 

(E) The public official or employee is not a member, office 
holder, employee or otherwise directly associated with the same 
governmental agency or entity primarily responsible for letting, 
performing, receiving, regulating or otherwise supervising the 
performance of th~ contract. 

The requirements of subdivision (f) (1) shall not apply to 
the negotiation, execution, award, transfer, assignment or ap­
proval of mineral or non-mineral leases, permits, licenses and 
like transactions other than contracts involving the investment, 
award or payment of government funds; provided, that such 
leases, permits, licenses and like transactions shall be subject 
to all other provisions of this section and to all other applicable 
laws, rules and regulation~ of the Navajo Nation and its govern­
mental bodies; and provided further that subdivision (f) (1) 
shall likewise fully apply to all conti:acting and ot4er activities, 
conducted thereunder, which are subject to this chapter. Provi­
sions in accordance with the purposes and intent of this chapter 
shall be incorporated as part of the rules, regulations and guide­
lines applicable to the negotiaqon, approval and assignment of 
such leases, permits, licenses and like transactions. 

(2) In the absence of bribery or a pu:i;pose to defraud, a pub­
lic official or employee or a member of their· immediate family shall 
not be considered as having an interest in a public contract or the 
investment of public funds, when such a person has a limited invest­
ment interest of less than ten percent (10%) of the ownership of 
net assets, or an interest as creditor of less than ten percent -(10%) 
of the total indebtedness of any business or 'pther entity which is 
the contractor on the public contract involved or in which public 
funds are invested, or which issues any security therefor. 

(g) Restrictions on Assisting or Representing Other interests 
Before GO'Vernmental Bodies for C1)11iplmsa.tion. No public official 
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or employee except an employee of a governmental body duly estab­
lished and authorized for such purposes by the Navajo Nation shall 
represent or otherwise assist any person or entity other than the 
Navajo Nation or a governmental body or political subdivision 
thereof, for compensation, before any governmental body where the 
matter before the governmental body is of a non-ministerial nature. 
This section shall not be construed to prohibit the duties of elected 
or appointed public officials to represent their constituents' interests 
before government agencies or entites nor the performance of minis­
terial functions, including but not limited to the filing or amendment 
pf tax returns, applications for permits and licenses, and other docu­
ments or reports. It does, however, prohibit representation of such 
other interests for any fee or compensation in seeking to obtain 
any legislation, contract, payment of any claim or any other govern-. 
mental benefit. 

(h) Restrictions on Assisting or Representing Other Interests 
Subsequent to Termination of Public Office or Employment. 

(1) No former public official or empioyee nor partner, em­
ployee or other associate thereof shall, with or without compensa­
tion, after the termination of such public office or employment, 
knowingly act as agent or att.orney for or otherwise represent any 
other person or entity (except the Navajo Nation, its governmental 
bodies or political subdivisions)_ by formal or informal appearance 
nor by oral or written communication, for the purpose of. influ­
encing any governmental body of the Navajo Nation or any officer 
or employee thereof, in connection with any proceeding, contract, 
claim, controv~rsy, investigation, charge or accusation, in which 
such former public official or employee personally and substantially 
participated, through approval, disapproval, recommendation, ren­
dering of advice, investigation or otherwise, while so acting or 
employed. -

(2) With respect to any such matter which was actually pend­
ing among such former public official's or employee's responsibili­
ties, but in which such person •.did not participate as set forth in 
paragraph (1), the prohibitions set forth hereunder shall apply 
for the period of two (2) years following the termination of such 
public office or employment. 

(3) Nothing in this chapter shall prevent a former public 
official or employee from nppcnring nnd giving testimony under 
oath, nor from making statements required to be made under 
penalty of perjury, nor from making appearances or communica-
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tions concerning matters of a personal and individual nature which 
pertain to such former public official or employee or are based upon 
such person's own special knowledge of the particular subject in­
volved, not otherwise privileged from disclosure by other applicable 
law; and provided further, that no compensation is thereby re­
ceived other than that which is regularly provided for witnesses 
by law or regulation. 

(4) The Navajo Nation, its governmental bodies and political 
subdivisions shall not enter into any contract with, nor take any 
action favorably affecting or economically benefitting in any man­
ner differently from members of the public at large, any person, 
business, governmental or other entity, which is assisted or repre­
sented personally in the matter by a former public official or 
employee whose official act, while a public official or employee, 
directly contributed to the making of such contract or taking of 
such action by the Navajo Nation or any governmentai body or 
political subdivision thereof. 

(5) :t,Jothing contained in this subsection shall prohibit a for­
mer public official or employee from being retained or employed 
by the governmental entity wliich he or she formerly served. 

(i) Unauthorized Compensation or Benefit for Official Acts. 
(1) No public official or employee shall .accept or receive any 

benefit, income, favor or other form of compensation for perform­
ing the official duties of their office or employment, beyond the 
aJllount or value which is authorized and received in their official 
capacity for performing such duties. 

(2) Subsection (i) shaU not be construed to prohibit the 
receipt of authorized compensation for the performance of other 
distinct and lawful public duties by public officials or employees. 

(3) No public official or employee, however, shall accept any 
benefit, income, favor or other form of compensation for the per­
formance of the duties of any other office or employment not 
actually performed or for which such official or employee is not 
otherwise properly authorized or entitled to receive. 

(j) Unauthorized Personal Use of Property of th~ Naw,jo 
Nation. No public official or employee shall use any property of 
the Navajo Nation or any other public property of·any kind for 
other than as authorized and approved for official purposes and 
activities. Such persons shall properly protect and conserve all 
such property, equipment and supplies which are 10 tntru1t1d, 
assigned or issued to them. 
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(k) Staff Misuse Prohibited. No public official or employee shall 
employ, with funds of the Navajo Nation, any unauthorized person 
or persons, nor persons who do not perform duties commensurate 
with such compensation, and shall utilize authorized emp1oyees and 
staff only for the official purposes for which they are employed or 
otherwise retained. 

(Z) Anti-N~potism. No public official or employee shall employ, 
appoint, or otherwise cause to be employed, nor nominate, nor 
otherwise influence the appointment or employment to any public 
office or position with the Navajo Nation or any governmental or 
political subdivision thereof, any person or persons related by 
consanguinity or affinity within the third degree, nor any member of 
the same household as said public ..official or public employee. 
Assignment of such persons to duties, positions, governmental of­
fices or other entities shall in all instances be made in strict com­
pliance with the current provisions of the Personnel Policies and 
Procedures of th~ Navajo Nation, as amended from time to time. 

(m) Restrictions Against Gifts o.r Loans To Influence Official 
Acts. 

(1) Except as otherwise provided herein or by applicable rule 
or regulation. adopted hereunder by the Ethics Committee of the 
Navajo Tribal Council, or by other applicable law, no public official 
or employee shall solicit or accept for themselves or another, any 
gift, including economic opportunity, favor, service, or ioan (other 
tl1an from a regular lending institution on generally available 
terms) or any other benefit of an aggregate monetary value of 
one hundred dollars ($100.00) or more in any calendar year, from 
any person, organization or group which. 

(A) has, or is seeking to obtain, contractual or other busi­
ness or financial relationships or approval from any govern­
mental office or entity with which the public official or employee 
is associated or employed; or 

(B) conducts operations or activities which are regulated 
or in any manner supervised by any governmental _office or entity 
with which the public official or employee is associated or em­
ployed; or 

(C) has any interest which, within two (2) years, has been 
directly involved with, or affected by, the performance or non­
performance of any official act or duty of such public official or 
employee or of the government office or entity with which the 
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public official or employee is associated or employed or which the 
public official or employee knows or has reason to believe is 
likely to be so involved or affected. 
(n) Permitted, Gifts, Awards, Loans, Reimbursements and Cam­

paign Contribution:S. 1Subsection (m) shall not be construed to 
prohibit 

(1) an occasional nonpecuniary gift, insignificant in value; 
(2) gifts :f;rom and obviously motivated by family or social 

relationships, as among immediate family members or family in­
heritances; 

(3) food and refreshments customarily made available in the 
ordinary course of meetings where a public official or employee 
may properly be in attendance; 

(4) an award or honor customarily and publicly presented 
in recognition of publi~ service; 

(5) a political campaign contribution, in accordance with all 
applicable election laws and provided that such gift or loan is 
actually used in the recipient's poiitical campaign for elective office 
of a governmental body or political subdivision thereof and pro­
vided further that no promise or commitment regarding the official 
duties of office or employment is made in return for such contri­
bution. 

(o) Adoption of Supplementai Codes of Conduct for Offici.als 
and, Emp_loyees of Governmental Entities of the Navajo Nation. 

(1) The chief executi_ve or administrator of every govern­
mental entity of the-Navajo Nation which is subject to the provi_. 
sions of this chapter is authorized j;o submit for approval and adop­
tion by the Committee and the Chairman of the Navajo Tribal 
Council such supplemental rules, regulations and standards of 
conduct for the public officials and employees of such entity, which 
are necessary and appropriate to... the special conditions relating 
to their particular functions, purposes and duties and not in con­
flict with the purposes and other provisions ·of this chapter. Upon 
adoption, such supplemental standards, rules ·and regulations shall 
be implemented in the same manner and to.~the extent applicable, 
as are all other standards, rules and regulations provided .and 
adopted in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. 

(2) Certified Chapters and other ·political governing bodies 
of the Navajo Nation are authorized and encouraged to draft, 
adopt, implement and administer stariddrds of conduct,· disclosure 
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requirements and other procedures, rules and regulations in con­
formity with the purposes and provisions of this chapter. 

Any lawful authorization for any sponsorship or conduct of 
participation or involvement in any business activity by: any politi­
cal subdivision of the Navajo Nation shall be conditioned upon its 
prior adoption of such provisions, and enforcement thereof, as 
approved by 'Qte Committee. 

(3) The Committee and the Navajo Nation Department of 
Justice shall provide such assistance as needed and requested by 
such governmental entities and political governing bodies of the 
Navajo Nation, in the preparation and drafting of such supple­
mental and implementing provisions as authorized and which are 
not in conflict with the purposes and ~rovisions of this chapter. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU-40-84, Exhibit B, § 8, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 
Tribal Council Ree. CD-93-86, § .1, paae~ Dee. 4, 1986. 
1985 amendment. Subdivision (f) (1) (E): Added second paragni,ph.
Subdivision (o)(2): Added second paragraph. 
Purpose of 1985 amendment. Tribal Council Rea. CD-93-85, Summary of 

Proposed Amendments, states as follows: 
Subdivision (f) (1) (E): 
"The addition is to conform with a written advisory opinion by the. Ethica 

and Rules Committee (EOP-002). In their opinion, it was determined that 
due to the language of this section, i.e., 'contracts'; 'competitive bid or pro­
curement.'; 'specifications ... with respect to the public contract', that it did 
not apply to the negotiations and award procedures for tribal leases. 

"Rather than proposing a new subsection within the 'Act', it is more feasible 
for the Commerce Department to incorporate 'conflict of interest' clauses in 
their 'Business Site Leasing Guidelines'. This will be similar to the 'conflict 
of interest' provision in the Navajo Nation Business Preference Law. 

"Those other general provisions of Section 3763 do remain applicable to 
leasing activities and other contracting • engaged in by the lessee. Through
the above-mentioned Advisory Opinion, the Ethics and Rules Committee re­
quested the Commerce Department to draft this 'conflict of interest' provision
in their 'Business Site Leasing Guidelines'. The adverse impact with failure 
to do this will mean that everybody that is applying for a business site lease 
will have to get clearance from the Ethics and Rules Committee. To avoid 
this, nnd rather than create another 'red tape', the appropriate place would 
be in the 'Business Site Leasing Guidelines'." 

Subdivision (o)(2): "The present provision of the 'Act' fa not applicable to 
Navajo Nation Chapters, it merely 'encourages' adoption of chapter ordinances 
in conformance with the 'Act'. With the growing interest by Chapters to be­
come involved in business activities (sewing plants, coalmining, bingo, etc.), 
it ia felt that Chapters be required to adopt standards of conduct, disclosure 
procedures, etc., should they choose to become involved in the sponsorship of 
any business activities. This requirement for those Chapters involved in 
business activities would be in the best interest ·of the Chapter residents and 
compatible with the intent of the 'Act'." 

§ 3754. Certified Statement of Economic Interests; filinir require• 
: ments - --:;,& 

(a) Persons Required To File Annual Statfflients. On or before 
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February 15 of each year (or as otherwise extended by approved 
resolution of the Committee, further providing for at least thirty­
five (35) days prior distribution thereof, as set forth in subsection 
(b) ) , the following persons shall fully and truthfully complete and 
file with the Committee, all information required, covering the 
twelve (12)-month period applicable thereunder, on the ofiicial 
form prescribed and designated as "Navajo Nation Economic Dis­
closure Statement", in accordance with all provisions of this chap­
ter: 

(1) Each person elected or appointed to any public office of 
the Navajo Nation as defined in section 3758 of this chapter, whose 
term of office or appointment included any part of the previous 
calendar year. 

(2) All candidates for election or appointment to any public 
office. 

(3) Those persons so notified by the Committee as provided 
hereunder, employed or otherwise assigned to any position of pub­
lic employment with or by the Navajo Nation as defined in section 
3768 of this chapter, during any part of the previous calendar year, 
and whose duties, as determined by the Committee, involved such 
participation in activities, advice, decisions or responsibilities as 
to have an effect upon the economic interests of the Navajo Nation 
or upon any Navajo person or persons, or are likely to have an 
effect thereon, in the current calendar year. 

(b) Availability and D~tribution of Economic Disclosure Forms. 
(1) It shall be the further responsibility of each public official, 

and candidate for publi_c office subject to this requirement, to obtain 
such disclosure forms, which the Committee shall distribute and 
provide in sufficient supply, together with the current Disclosure 
Guide and copies of the current rules and regulations of the Com­
mittee, at the offices of Legislative Affairs_, and of the Election 
Commission in Window Rock, Arizona, and at such other locations 
as the Committee deems appropriate, beginning no later than 
November 1 of each year. 

No later than November 30 of each year, the Committee shall 
determine, compile, adopt and publish as a current amended 9om­
mittee resolution, a complete list of the names all public employees 
from whom such disclosure statements shali be required, fncludinlr 
the position, job titles, or office of·publlc emplorment of each_em• 
ployee so designated. 
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(2) No later than January 10 of eaeh year, the Committee 
shall have mailed, delivered or otherwise distributed notice thereof 
to each public employee required to complete and file such annual 
statement of economic interests in accordance with this chapter 
and applicable rules and regulations pertaining thereto. Such noti­
fication shall include one (1) copy of the current Disclosure Guide, 
current Committee·rules and regulations and at least two (2) pre­
scribed Statement of Economic Interests disclosure forms (one (1) 
of which may be retained for the personal record of the public 
employee). The notice and enclosed materials shall also include a 
current directive of the Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council 
for completion and filing of such disclosure form, in accordance 
with this chapter. 

Adequate additional supplies of such forms, guides, rules and 
regulations shall also be maintained at the Office of the Director 
of Personnel of the Navajo Nation in Window Rock, and at such 
other locations as the Committee shall determine appropriate, be­
ginning not later than November 1 of each year. 

(c) Periods To Be Included in Statements of Economic Inter­
ests; Other Public Offi,cwls, Candidates, Nominees and Employees 
Requ,ired To File. 

(1) All elected public officials and public employees described 
in subsections (a) (1) and (a) (3) shall include all information re­
quired to be disclosed in the Statement of Economic Interests for 
the entire twelve (12)-month period of the previous calendar year. 

_ (2) Any person who becomes a public official, or candidate 
for election or appointment to public office or any public employee 
designated by the Committee after the end of the previous calendar 
year, shall within fifteen (15) days after first assuming such office, 
publicly announcing or authorizing any promotion for candidacy; 
being nominated for appointment; or receiving notice from the 
Committee, whichever is applicable, shall file a Statement of Eco­
nomic Interests as required hereunder, covering the twelve (12) 
months immediately preceding the date so required to file. Provided 
that, if any such ·person has otherwise already filed a Statement 
of Economic Interests covering the twelve (12) months of the 
previous calendar year, any Statement subsequently required here­
under need only cover the period (s) of the current calendar year 
not oth.erwise reported. 

A candidate for public office shall also file copies of all State­
ments of Economic Interests as and when required hereby, with 
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the Navajo Nation Election Commission, as a further. condition for 
such candidacy. Such candidates shall continue to file annual State­
ments of Economic Interests with the Election Commission and 
with the Committee until no longer a candidate by reason of elec-
tion, withdrawal or defeat. • 

(d) Copies of Elected Officials' and Candidates' Statements Filed 
and Mai?ttained as Pttblic Records. All Statements of Economic In­
terests filed by elected public officials and by candidates for elected 
public office shall be public records of the Navajo Nation and shall 
be maintained and made available for all purposes in the manner 
of such public records and in accordance with the provisions of 
section 3756 (a) (8) hereof. 

(e) Confidentiality of All Disclosure Statements Filed by Public 
Employees. A public employee filing any statement with the Com­
mittee pursuant to this chapter shall, on the same date, file copies 
of that statement with the Director of the Department of Personnel 
of the Navajo Nation and with the duly appointed Director or 
designated Administrator of the governmental body, as defined in 
this chapter, with which said employee is employed, or to which 
said employee is assigned, according to the official records of the 
Personnel Department. Such statement and all copies thereof filed 
by public employees pursuant ,to this chapter shall be deemed and 
maintained by the Committee and the responsible governmental 
bodies of the Navajo Nation in the same manner and to the same 
•extent as confidential employment personnel records of the Navajo 
Nation and shaII not be deemed, maintained or used for any pur­
pose or in any manner as a public record; nor shall any contents 
thereof in any manner be divulged or ·made available for inspection 
or copying by any person in any ma11ner nor for any purpose except 
as required for determination of relevant information pertaining 
to examinations, investigations and hearings conducted in accord­
ance with this chapter or otherwise .authorized by the laws .of the 
Navajo Nation pertaining to the confidentiality of official govern­
mental records of employee personnel. Violation of any provisions 
of this section shall be punishable in the same manner and to the 
same extent as provided by any provision of iaw applicable to un­
authorized disclosure of confidential information of any privileged 
official information or records of the Navajo,~ation. 

(f) Nondisclosure of Privileged, Information. Notwithstanding 
any provision of this chapter, nothing here~n shall be construed 
as requiring the disclosure by any 'P~I'sorl of any information which 
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is privileged from disclosure by any applicable law of, or recog­
nized by, the Navajo Nation. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU--40-84, Exhibit B, § 4, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 
Tribal Council Rea. CD-93-85, § 1, paued Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Subsection (a): Inserted "(or as otherwise extended by 

approved resolution of the Committee, further providing for at least thlrty­
ftve (35) days prior distribution thereof, as set forth In subsection (b))". 

Subaectlon (d): Amended generally. 
Subsection (f): Former subsection (d) redesignated as subsection (f). 
Purpose of 1985 amendment. Tribal Council Res. CD-93-85, Summary of 

Proposed Amendments, states the purpose of amendment to subsection 3764(d): 
"The disclosure process serves to remind elected public officials of their obli­
gation to put the public interest above personal considerations. It helps the 
electorate to monitor the activities of those who spend their dollars and partici­
pate in public policy decisions. It does not apply to government employees who 
are not elected by the public." 

§ 3755. Disclosure information requi~ 
(a) The Statement of Economic Interests shall disclose the fol­

lowing information for the preceding disclosure year, as certified 
to be true and complete by each person required to file such state­
ment in accordance with this chapter: 

(I) The name, address and, if applicable, census number of the 
public officer, candidate or employee and each member of his imme­
diate family and the names and addresses of all businesses with 
which each person is associated. 

(2) A description of any public office or employment held with 
any governmental body or jurisdiction other than the Navajo 
Nation. 

(3) A description of the position held and services rendered 
and of the ownership and/or direct or indirect investment, security 
or other beneficial interest of each person in each business with 
which the person is associated. 

(4) A description of the kind and nature of the income or 
other form of compensation received by each person from each 
business or other public office or employment with which the person 
is associated and the amount or value thereof. • 

(5) A description of the .goods or services provided by each 
business with which the person is associated and name and address 
of any single source of income or other form of compensation to 
such business which was twenty-five percent (25 % ) or more of the 
gross income of the business at any time during the disclosure . 
period. (This· shall not require disclosure of such information per­
taining to clients or customers in their private individual capacities.) 

(6) Location and description of all real-property, in which the 
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person or a member of the person's immediate family,- or dependent 
business, separately or combined, held any legal title or leasehold, 
business site, investment o:,: other beneficial interest at any time 
during the preceding disclosure period and the annual income, if ·in 
excess of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) during said period, de­
rived by the person from such interest. This paragraph docs not 
apply, however, to any Interest in real property and improvements 
thereon used as the primary personal residence or for the personal 
recreational use of the person required ,to submit the verified finan­
cial disclosure statement. 

(7) The names and addresses of all creditors to whom the 
person and/or members of the person's immediate family, in their 
own names or in the name of any other person, owed a debt of 
more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) or to whom a business 
with which said person or persons are associated owed a debt which 
was twenty-five percent (25%) or more of its total business indebt­
edness at any time during the preceding disclosure period, listing 
each such creditor. This paragraph shall not be construed to require 
diselosure of personal debts owed by the person or any member of 
the person's immediate family, resulting from the ordinary con­
duct of their personal affairs; nor of debts on residences or recrea­
tional property exempt from disclosure under paragraph (6). 

(8) The identification and amount of each debt exceeding five 
hundred dollars ($500.00) • owed at any time during the disclosure 
year to the person or members of the person's immediate family in 
their own names individually or combined, or to any other person 
for the use and benefit of such person or persons. The disclosure 
shall include the identification and amount of each debt owed to 
a business with which such persons are associated and which was 
twenty-five percent {25%) or more of the total indebtedness owed 
to the business at any· time during the preceding disclosure year. 

{9) The name and address of each source of any gift or loan 
the amount or value of which accumulated glf.ts or loans from any 
single source exceeds one hundred dollars ($100.00) received by the 
person and/or by members of the persons imm~diate family in their 
own names or by any other person during the preceding disclosure 
year, for the use or benefit of su~h person or persons, except any 
gifts permitted under section 3753 (n) of this chapter. 

(10) A list of all business licenses, pormlta, certUlcntions nnd 
site leases issued to, held by or in which the person or any member 
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of the person's immediate family or business with which such per­
sons are associated with had any interest at any time during the 
preceding disclosure year, including the name in which each was 
issued and the type and location of each such business. 

(11) A list of all bonds or any other evidences of indebtedness, 
together with their value, issued by the Navajo Nation or by any 
governmental body or political subdivision and held at any time 
during the preceding disclosure year by the person or by members 
of the person'.s immediate family in their own names, or by any 
other person for the use or benefit of such person or persons, which 
bonds or other evidence of indebtedness issued by a single entity 
had a value in excess of three hundred dollars ($300.00). 

(12) The statement shall further disclose the terms and par­
ties to any transfer or encumbrance of any reportable interest which 
occurred during the disclosure period and the consideration there­
for. 

(13) If an amount or value is required to be reported pursuant 
to this section, it is sufficient to report whether the amount or value 
of the interest falls within: 

Category 1: One thousand d61lars to ten thousand dollars 
($1,000-$10,000). 

Category 2: More than ten tho,usand dollars to fifty thou­
sand dollars ($10,000-$50,000). 

Category 3: More than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000 or 
more). 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU-40-84, Exhibit B, § 5, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 
Tribal Council Res. CD-93-85, § 1, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Subdivision (a) (5): Added second sentence. . 
Purpose of 1985 amendment. Tribal Council Res. CD-93-85, Summary of Pro­

posed Amendments, states the purpose of amendment to subdivision (a) (5):
"This provision is necessary in order to avoid undue disclosure of information 
which is more privnlu than public. In accordance with recent Court decisions 
to this effect, the Ethics and Rules Committee has not required the disclosure 
of such information on its approved disclosure forms." 

§ 3756. Implementation and compliance with Ethics in Government 
Law; duties and responsibilities; investigation,- hearings, 
findings, reports and recommendations 

(a) Ethics and Rules Committee of tlte Navajo Tribal Council. 
In accordance with all duties and authority as provided in this 
chapter and in the Plan of Operation of the Committee and as fur­
ther directed by the Navajo. Tribal Council, the Committee shall 
have the duties, responsibilities and authority to: 
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(1) ·:Adopt, amend and publish, after notice and approval by 
the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council, rules and 
regulations to implement all provisions of this chapter. 

(2) Prescribe and make availaole appropriate forms for dis­
closures of economic interests as required by this chapter, for dis­
tribution to all persons required to complete and file such disclosure 
forms. _ 

(3) Prepare and publish a Disclosure Guide clearly explain­
ing the procedures for completing and filing Statements of Eco­
nomic Interests by all persons required under this chapter to com­
plete, c~rtify arid file such disclosure statements. 

(4) Compile and maintain current lists of all persons required 
to file such disclosure statement..9, together with required filing 
dates and current lists of persons failing to file required statements 
when due, which lists shall be made available as matters of public 
record. 

(5) Provide for preservation of all statements and informa­
tion filed pursuant to this chapter, for not less than eight (8) years 
from the date of filing. 

(6) Ensure that all appropriate measur~ are taken for pro­
tecting the confidentiality of all statements, records, documents, 
other materials and information designa~d as such by this chap.: 
ter or by any other applicable rules or regulations of the Navajo 
Nation or other competent jurisdiction. 

(7) _Audit, review and evaluate all disclosure statements filed 
with the Committee. 

(8)· 'Provide that required disclosure statements of elected 
public officials and candidates for elected public office filed with the 
Committee are made ·available during regular office hours for pub­
lic inspection and copying at the Ethics and Rules Office and at 
identified Tribal offices located in the respective agencies of the 
Navajo Nation, where agencies is to-mean Western Navajo, Chinle, 
Shiprock, Eastern Navajo and Fort Defiance. No fee shall be 
charged therefor, which exceeds the cost of tnaking such copies. 

(9) Provide and maintain written ad~sory opinions on the 
requirements of this chapter upon requesf:from persons whose 
conduct is subject thereto and who have the specific need to use 
auch opinions to guide their own conduct. Provided, that any suet. 
opinion renderod bf ~• Committee, until amondod or ravol<od, 
shall be binding on the Committe~ IJ\!any ilubsoquent comp)(1lnt 
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concerning the person who requested the opinion and who acted 
in reliance on it in good faith prior to notice of any amendment 
or revocation, to the extent of its application to the material facts 
as presented by the person in requesting the opinion. Unless spe­
cifically waived in writing by the person requesting such a per­
sonal advisory opinion, or otherwies made public by such party, the 
Committee shall maintain the confidentiality of the party's identity 
and of specific details of material facts (such as names, dates, 
locations, etc.), except when required to determine relevant infor­
mation pertaining to examinations, investigations, hearings, find­
ings or other official proceedings required under this chapter. 

{10) Receive, examine and investigate complaints and conduct 
such hearings, in accordance with the rules and regulations law­
fully adopted and authorized hereunder and in accordance with 
the Committee's Plan of Operation and all applicable requirements 
of due process of law, as the Commfttee shall deem necessary to 
make its determination whether facts exist which constitute any 
violation or violations of, or noncompliance wi~. any of the re­
quirements, restrictions, prohibitions or other provisions of this 
Ethics in Government Law and which further establish the iden­
tity of the party or parties in violation or noncompliance there­
with. 

{11) Dismiss any complaint which does not allege facts suffi­
cient to constitute a violation or noncompliance as provided herein; 
or when, upon completion of the Committee's examination and in­
vestigation prior to hearing thereof; it finds no credible evidence 
tending to support allegations of such violation and/or noncompli­
ance. In such event, the Committe shall further determine whether 
any complaining party was motivated by malice or other purposes 
contrary to the spirit of this chapter, such as harassment or embar­
rassment for political, personal or other improper purposes. If the 
Committee makes such determination, it shall thereupon report the 
matter to the Navajo Tribal Council and appropriate law enforce­
ment authorities, for appropriate action, including the imposition 
of penalties or sanctions as applicable. By filing any complaint 
alleging any violation or noncompliance. under this chapter, such 
complaining party thereby submits himself to the jurisdiction and 
all applicable laws, rules and regulations of the Navajo Nation .. 

(12) Implement, facilitate and require compliance with all 
provisions of this chapter, in accordance with its stated purposes 
and intent, together with all rules and regulations lawfully adopted 
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hereunder and the provisions of the Committee's Plan of Opera­
tion. Wherever practical, however, the Committee shall first seek 
to obtain voluntary compliance and remedial action as appropriate 
hereunder, prior to institution of hearing proceedings and/or r.cc­
ommendation or petition for imposition of sanctions or penalties 
as provided herein. 

(13) Institute and conduct hearings • on any matter which 
cannot be resolved by voluntary compliance and remedial action, 
with the capacity of a quasi-judicial body, to make determinations 
of fact and where appropriate, to seek or recommend sanctions or 
remedial actions for approval, adoption and implementation by the 
Navajo Tribal Council and other appropriate governmental bodies, 
as provided herein. The refusal or unexcused failure of any party 
to voluntarily comply or.take such remedial action as directed by 
the Committee shall not constitute unintentional noncompliance 
but, if determined after opportunity for hearing hereunder to be 
contrary to the requirements of this chapter, shall be deemed a 
violation thereof, subjecting the accused to imposition of any or 
all penalties and sanctions applicable thereto. 

At any stage of proceedings hereunder, when probable cause 
has been shown to the satisfaction of the Committee that a viola­
tion of the applicable criminal laws of the Navajo Nation or of any 
other competent jurisdiction has occurred, the Committee shall also 
refer such findings for further action by the appropriate law en­
forcement agency or agencies. 

(14) Employ the services of director and such other adminis­
trative and secretarial staff of an Administrative Office of Ethics 
and Rules as authorized by the Committee's Plan of Operation and 
in accordance with the Personnel Policies and Procedures of the 
Navajo Nation, together with such facilities and equipment as it 
deems necessary for administrative assistance to carry out the leg­
islative policies and duties prescribed in this chapter, to the extent 
permitted by funds budgeted therefor. 

(15) Report quarterly to the Advisory Committee and an­
nually to the Navajo Tribal Council, summarizing the activities and 
recommendations of the Committee and recommending any changes 
to the chapter, or to any of the Committee's rules, regulations, poli­
cies or guidelines adopted pursuant to this chapter. 

(b) Co.mmitteo Hearings, Findings.and Recomniendations. Pend­
ing ndoption by·the Navajo Tribal Council of laws and procedures 
applicable to the conduct of such activities by the various adminis-
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trative bodies and agencies of the Navajo Nation, the Ethics and 
Rules Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council is hereby author­
ized to adopt, with the approval of the Advisory Committee and 
Department of Justice of the Navajo Nation, appropriate rules 
and procedures governing the conduct of all administrative exam­
inations, investigations, hearings, findings, recommendations and 
other proceedings required to fully carry out the provisions of 
this Ethics in Government Law. Such rules and procedures shall 
also be in accordance with all requirements of due process of law 
consistent with such administrative proceedings, including the 
rights of any person accused of violation of, or noncompliance 
with, any of the provisions of this law or any rule or regulation 
lawfully adopted hereunder, to retain,. and . be represented by coun-
sel of choice at such person's own expense at _all stages of such pro-
ceedings; to have adequate notice; and to be fully informed of the 
nature and extent of all complaints ang_allegations of such viola­
tions or noncompliance; to confront and cross-examine any com­
plainant and adverse witnesses; to be heard and to call and examine 
witnesses and to introduce evidence and exhibits in defense of such 
allegations. 

In order to- carry out such proceedings as authorized herein, the 
Committee is further empowered as a quasi-judicial body to admin­
ister oaths and to issue subpoenas to compel attendance of wit­
nesses for examination· and/or testimony and to produce such 
books, records, documents, reports o~ other information or mate­
rial objects as may be relevant to the subject matter of such pro­
ceedings. The Committee shall compile and maintain a complete 
record of all proceedings hereunder, including all statements and 
testimony of witnesses, documents and other materials obtained 
and considered at any stage of its examination, investigation or 
hearing and the accused shall have the right to first examine any 
material intended to be introduced at any hearing conducted here­
under for the purpose of making any determination or recommen­
dation pertaining to the imposition of any sanction or penalty 
authorized by law. 

The Committee may delegate and supervise its quasi-judicial 
powers to conduct hearings to determine factual issues, to duly 
constituted and authorized revi~w boards within the Executive, 
Administrative, or Judicial Branches of the government of the 
Navajo Nation, when the respondent or respondents are appointed 
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members or employees or otherwise under the supervision and 
authority qf such branches. The Committee shall itself r~view, 
amend or adopt in whole or in part, such recommended findings 
in making the Committee's final report and recommendations. 

All hearings shall be at closed session, unless the accused peti­
tions otherwise in writing; and all records, transcripts of any 
examinations, investigations and hearings shall remain confiden­
tial until final determination is made upon the report and recom­
mendation of the Committee as provided herein. Subject to these 
requirements, the Committee need not be bound, however, by un­
duly restrictive rules of evidence in the conduct of any hearing 
hereunder. 

Disobedience of any lawful order, process, writ, finding or direc­
tion of the Committee and/or any Executive, Administrative or 
Judicial body acting under the Committee's authorization as pro­
vided herein, shall constitute contempt and shall be heard and pun­
ished under the rules and procedures of the Courts of the Navajo 
Nation. 

The Committee shall close any hearing when completed and re­
view the entire hearing record, and where applicable, the recom­
mended findings by any delegated review board of the Administra­
tive or Judicial Branch; and thereupon, the Commifu!e shall deter­
mine and adopt by resolution, its findings of fact together with its 
recommendations, if any, for imposition of such sanctions and 
penalties provided hereunder, with the reasons therefor. The Com­
mittee shall forthwith deliver such resolution of findings and rec­
ommendations to the Chairman or Vice Chairman for presentation, 
review and approval by the Advisory Committee of the Navajo 
Tribal Council as provided herein .. 

(c) Committee To Refrain From Improper Political Practices. 
The Committee shall at all times refrain from using any informa­
tion or conducting any proceeding ·without justification as required 
hereund~r and for the purpose orcausing harm or injury to the 
political standing or reputation of any membt;lr of the Navajo Tri­
bal Council or the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Navajo 
Tribal Council or of any other person or entity, rather than for 
the intent and purposes set forth in this chapter. 

(d) Commit~ee Conflict of Interest; Advisofy Committee Powers. 
(1) In the event that any Committee member or member of 

his or her Immediate family is the subject of any complaint filed 
with or pending before the Commit~.a..' then the Advisory Com• 
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mittee of the Navajo Tribal Council shall sit as the Ethics and 
Rules Committee and in all such proceedings the Advisory Commit­
tee shall have and exercise all powers and duties conferred on the 
Ethics and Rules Committee by this chapter. 

(2)" No Committee member shall participate in any matter 
pending or before the Ethics and Rules Committee in which such 
member or any member of his or her immediate family is involved 
or has any material conflicting personal or economic interest, ex­
cept to testify or to produce other relevant and material evidence, 
as a witness duly subpoenaed for such purposes. The Advisory 
Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council shall appoint any mem­
ber of the Advisory Committee in the place of each ~thics and 
Rules Committee member so disqualified or otherwise unable to 
participate, which member shall have all the powers and duties 
conferred upon members of the Ethics and Rules Committee by 
this chapter, for all purposes of such"proceeding. 

(e) AdvisoT1J Committee of the· Na'Qajo Tribal Council. The 
Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council shall have the 
duties, responsibilities and authority under the provisions of this 
chapter, in addition to all other duties, powers and authority under 
all other applicable laws of the Navajo Nation and under the 
Powers and Duties enumerated in the Plan of Operation of the 
Advisory Committee, as approved and adopted by the Navajo Tribal 
Council and shall: 

(1) Receive and review for final approval all rules, regula­
tions and procedures proposed for adoption by the Ethics and 
Roles Committee of the Navajo Nation in consultation with the 
Department of Justice to implement provisions of this chapter. 

(2) Receive and review all findings, determinations and rec­
ommendations reported by resolution of the Ethics and Rules Com­
mittee as provided herein. 

If the Advisory Committee approves in full the resolution of 
findings and recommendations by the Ethics and Rules Committee, 
the Advisory Committee shall. thereupon adopt the same by resolu­
tion and forward all materials for final determination as provided 
herein. 

If the Advisory Committee disapproves of all or any part of 
the resolution of the Ethics and Rules Committee, both Committees 
shall first meet to review nnd determine the extent, if any, to which 
such differences mny be resolved and shall modify their 1·esolutions 
accordingly. The Advisory Committee shall adopt any revised 

179 



Exhibit No. 3 (cont.) 

Ch.6 ETIIICS IN GOVEllN.MENT T.2 § 3756 

findings or determinations which it approves and shall specify the 
findings and recommendations of the Ethics and Rules Committee 
which the Advisory Committee disapproves after such review and 
revisions, if any, together with any additional recommendations 
of the Advisory Committee and attach thereto a statement of the 
reasons for any dissent or disapproval by the Advisory Committee, 
of specified findings or recommendations of the Ethics and Rules 
Committee resolution. • 

The Advisory Committee shall, immediately upon passage of 
its resolution as provided herein, and in no event later than sixty 
(60) days following its initial receipt of the resolution of findings 
and determinations of the Ethics and Rules Committee, deliver 
the resolutions of both Committees for final determinations, reso­
lution and orders as follows: 

(A) In any case where an accused party is an elected pub­
lic official of the Navajo Nation, the Advisory Committee shall 
forward the resolutions of both Committees to the Chairman of 
the Navajo Tribal Council for final determinations, resolution 
and action by the Navajo Tribal Council. 

(B) In any case where any accused party is a public em­
ployee or otherwise appointed to and under the supervision and 
authority of the Executive or Administrative Branch of the 
Navajo Nation, the Advisory Committee, in addition to forward­
ing the resolutions of both Committees to the Chairman of the 
Navajo Tribal Council, shall simultaneously deliver duplicate 
copies of such resolutions to the Attorney General of the Navajo 
Nation; the chief executive administrator of the governmental 
body by whom such respondent is employed or otherwise having 
supervision and jurisdiction thereof; and to the Tribal Council 
Committee having the jurisdiction and .responsibility to monitor 
the operations of the governmental body de,signated above . 

. (C) In any case where the accused P.arty is an appointed 
official, member or employee or otherwise under the supervision 
and. authority of the Judicial Branch of the Navajo Nation; to 
the Chief Justice of the Courts of the N~vajo Nation and the 
Solicitor of the Courts of the Navajo Nation and the Chairman 
of the ·Judiciary Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council, in 
addition to the Chairman of the Navajo_ Trfbnl Council and 
Attorney General of the Navajo Nation. 
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(f) Executi1Je or Administrati1Je Branck. Within ten (10) days 
of receipt from within the Advisory Committee of the Resolutions 
of Findings and Recommendation of both the Ethics and Rules 
Committee and of the Advisory Committee, the Chairman of the 
Navajo Tribal Council, as Chief Executive of the Administrative 
Branch of the Navajo Nation, or in his absence, the Vice Chairman 
of the Navajo Tribal Council in such capacity, in consultation with 
the parties designated in subsection (e) (2) (B), together with the 
Director of Personnel, and, if applicable, the Executive or Admin­
istrative Branch review board which conducted the hearing of the 
case, shall meet and review such resolutions and make a draft final 
written decision of the case, for sub~ion to and final review 
by the Navajo Tribal Council at its next regular or special session. 

•·The Navajo Tribal Council may order any amendment thereto at 
its next regular or special session and in the event that the Navajo 
Tribal Council declines to so act, the decision of the Executive or 
Administrative Branch shall become final. 

(g) Judicial Branck. Within ten (10) days of receipt from the 
Advisory Committee of the Resolutions of Findings and Recom­
mendations of both the Ethics and Rules Committee and of the 
Advisory Committee, the Chief Justice of the Courts of the Navajo 
Nation, in consultation with the parties designated in section 
3756(e) (2), together with the Administrator of the Courts of the 
Navajo Nation and if applicable, the Judicial Branch review 
board which conducted the hearing of the case, shall review such 
resolutions and make a draft final written decision of the case, for 
submission to and final review by the Navajo Tribal Council at 
its next regular or special session. The Navajo Tribal Council may 
order any amendment thereto at its next regular or special session 
and in the event that the Navajo Tribal Council declines to so act, 
the decision of the Judicial Branch shall become final. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU-40-84, Exhibit B, § 6, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 
Tribal Council Res. CD-93-85, § 1, passed Dec. 4, 1985. 
1985 amendment. Subdivision (a) (8): Added "at the Ethics and Rules Office 

and at identified Tribal offices located in the respective agencies of the Navajo
Nation, where ageucies is to mean \Vestern Navajo, Chinle, Shiprock, Eastern 
Navajo and Fort Defiance" at the end of the first sentence. 

Subdivision (a) (14): Amended generally. 
Purpose of 1985 amendment. Tribal Council Res. CD-93-85, Summary of Pro­

posed Amendments, states as :follows: 
Subdivision (a) (8): "The Navajo Tribal Council objected to placing the 

burden upon officials for filing· such documents at a local public office. The 
Ethics nnd Rules Committee feels that it is necessary to have local access·to 
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ensure that the intent of the 'Act! is-accomplished by having an informed 
electorate. This amendment places the responsibility on the Ethics and Rules 
Committee for such filing at a local identified tribal office." 

Subdivision (a) (14): "This section recognized the establishment and status 
of the Ethics and Rules Office in accordance with the Ethics and Rules Com­
mittee, Plan of Operation, adopted subsequent to ·the stated purposes of the 
'Act'." 

§ 3757. Sanctions and penaltie1;1 
(a) Administrative Sanctions. 

(1) Upon final determination by the Navajo Tribal Council 
after opportunity for hearing, findings, review and recommenda­
tions as hereinabove provided, that any elected public official, can­
didate for public office or public employee has violated any provi­
sion of this chapter, the Navajo Tribal Council may, in accordance 
herewith and with any procedures applicable thereto under other 
applicable law of the Navajo Nation and with due consideration 
for the seriousness of the violation or offense and the culpability of 
such party, resolve to approve, adopt, order or impose any and all 
of the following sanctions and penalties: 

(A) Removal, discharge or termination from public office 
or employment in accordance with applicable Tribal law and 
procedure. • 

(B) Disqualification from candidacy for any specified elec­
tive office(s) or for all elective public offices of the Navajo Nation 
and/or appointment to or employment in_ any public office of the 
Navajo Nation, for four (4) years.from the effective date of 
removal, discharge or ·any other termination of public office or 
employment of the Navajo Nation which such person occupied 
or held on the last date of any violation determined hereunder. 

(C) Suspension from pubJic office or employment and for­
feiture of all compensation and benefits accruing therefrom, for 
not less than thirty (30) days _"11.or for more than one (1) year. 

(D) Issuance of a written: p-ublic rei>rimand, which shall 
be entered into such person's permanent record of employment 
or office and upon the permanent record of the public office or 
entity' of which such person is a member cir employee, according 
to provisions of applicable Tribal law and ~rocedures. 

(E) Issuance of a private reprimand to such person, with 
or without suspension of any or all other sanctions provided 
herein, upon such terms and conditions the Navajo Tribal Coun-

. cil shall deem appropriate. • • 

182 



Exhibit No. 3 (cont.) 

T~2 § 3757 ADl\l'N OF TRIBAL .AFFAIRS Ch.6 

(F) Imposition of such other civil penalties as hereinafter 
provided under subsection (b), which the Navajo Tribal Council 
shall deem appropriate. 

(G) No sanctions or penalty provided herein shall limit 
any other powers of the Navajo Tribal Council, Navajo Nation 
Courts, Judicial, Executive or Administrative Branches of the 
Navajo Nation, nor of any other entity or administrative officials 
or employees under other applicable law,· rules, regulations or 
procedures. 

(H) Accordingly, any public employee of the Navajo Nation 
is further subject to discipline, including suspension wi~hout pay 
or other benefits and dismissal as provided by other laws, regula­
tions and personnel policies or pr~edures applicable thereto. 

(I) The Navajo Nation Election Commission shall have the 
authority to disqualify any candidate for elective public office of 
the Navajo Nation and to withh9ld issuance of or revoke the 
certificate of· eligibility to take or hold any such public office 
for which a candidate has received the highest number of votes 
and to institute all proceedings for other remedies, sanctions and 
penalties as provided herein or under any other applicable law 
of the Navajo Nation, upon final determination of violation or 
noncompliance with the requirements of this chapter, as herein 
provided. 

(J) Any candidate receiving the highest number of votes 
for elected public office of the Navajo Nation who fails or refuses 
to file any disciosure statements or report, as required under this 
chapter, shall not receive a certificate of election and shall not• 
be eligible to take or assume any public office until the state­
ment is filed as required herein. 

(K) Any candidate for elected public office of the Navajo 
Nation who knowingly and willfully misrepresents, conceals or 
otherwise fails to fully disclose the nature, value or amount of 
any information required to be disclosed by this chapter shall 
not receive a certificate of election and if such person received 
the highest number of votes in the election for such public office 
for which he or she declared candidacy, shall not assume or hold_ 
such office, and shall be barred for a period of four (4) years 
from holding any elective public office of the Navajo Nation. 

:(L) The imposition of any sanction herein shall not operate 
to bar institution of or liability for any other civil, criminal or 
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misdemeanor action, judgment, liability or punishment applicable 
hereto, nor shall any sanction hereunder be barred thereby. 
(b) Other Civil Damages. 

(1) Public officials and employees shall, upon opportunity for 
hearing and final determination as provided hereunder, and with­
out regard to the imposition of any administrative sanction or 
criminal conviction, be further subject to, and personally liable 
for, violation of the following provisions: 

(A) Any public official or employee who violates any eco­
nomic disclosure or· reporting requirement of this chapter may 
be held liable to the Navajo Nation for civil damages in an 
amount not to exceed the value of any interest not properly 
reported. 

(B) Any public official or employee who realizes an eco­
nomic benefit. as a result of violation of any prohibition or 
restriction set forth in section 3753 of this chapter shall be 
liable to the Navajo Nation for civil damages in an amount not 
exceeding three (3) times the amount or value of the benefit or 
benefits so obtained. 

(2) If two (2) or more persons are responsible for any vio­
lation, each of them shall be liable to the Navajo Nation for the 
full amount of any civil damages prescribed herein, the full amount 
of which may be imposed upon and collected from each of them 
individually. 

(3) Any ,civil penalties imposed hereunder shall be collected 
in any manner authorized for recovery of debts or obligations 
owed to the Navajo Nation and shall be paid into the general fund 
of the Navajo Nation. 

(4) No imposition of any or all civil damages provided herein 
shall be a bar to institution of any civil, criminal or misdemeanor 
action, liability, judgment, conviction or punishment otherwise 
applicable hereto, nor shall determination of any such civil dam­
ages be barred thereby. 

(c) Misdemeanor Violations; Punishments. 
(1) Any person who is convicted or found guilty of knowingly 

and willfully violating any provision of section 3753 of this chap­
ter is guilty of a misdemeanor and for a first offense shall be fined 
not more than $1500.00 and may be 11entcncod to lnbor for not more 
than 180 days, or both. 
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(2) Any person knowingly and willfully filing any complaint 
authorized under this chapter or by any other applicable law, with­
out just cause and with malice or other improper purpose, including 
personal, political or other harassment or embarrassment, shall be 
guilty of a misdemeanor and for a first offense shall be fined not 
more than $500.00 and may be sentenced to labor for not more than 
180 days, or both. 

(3) Upon conviction of any subsequent offense prescribed in 
paragraph (1) or (2) of this subsection, such person shall be 
fined not less than $500.00 and shall be sentenced to labor of not 
less than 30 days nor more than 180 days. 

(4) A person convicted of a misdemeanor under this chapter 
shall not be a candidate for elective public office, nor be eligible 
for any appointive office of the Navajo Nation, nor any of its gov­
ernmental entities or political governing bodies, for four (4) years 
following the date of conviction. 

(5) A plea of nolo contendere shall be deemed a conviction 
fo~ purposes of this chapter. 

(6) No criminal or misdemeanor action, judgment, conviction 
or punishment hereunder shall operll.te to bar any action for civil 
damage or penalty or imposition of any administrative sanction 
provided hereunder; nor be barred thereby. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU-40-84, Exhibit B, § 7, passed Aug, 9, 1984. 

§ 3758. Definitions 
As used in this chapter: 
(1) "Business" includes any ente~rise, organization, trade, 

occupation or profession whether or not operated as a legal entity 
for profit, including any business, trust, holding company, corpora­
tion, partnership, joint venture, or sole proprietorship, consultant 
or other self-employed enterprise. 

(2) "Business with which -the person is associated" includes any 
business in which the person or a member of the person's immediate 
family is a director, officer, partner, trustee or employee, holds any 
position of management or receives income in any form such as 
wages, commission, direct or indirect investment worth more than 
$1,000 or holds any ownership, security or other beneficial interest, 
individually or combined, amounting to more than ten percent 
(10%) of said business. 

(3) ,"Candidate for public office" means any person who has 
publicly announced such intent, authorized promotion for, or filed 
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a declaration of candidacy or a petition to appear on the ballot 
for election as a public official; and any person who has been nomi­
nated by a public official or governmental body for appointment to 
serve in any public capacity or office. 

(4) "Committee" means the Ethics and Rules Committee of the 
Navajo Tribal Council. 

(5) "Compensation" or "income" means any money or thing of 
value received, or to be received as a claim on future services, 
whether in the form of a fee, salary, expense, allowance, forbear­
ance, forgiveness, interest, dividend, royalty, rent, capital gain, or 
any other form of recompense or-iny combination thereof . 

.(6) "Confidential information" means information which by 
law or practice is not available to the public at large. 

(7) "Conflict of Interest'' means the reasonable foreseeability 
that any personal or economic interest of a public official, or em­
ployee, will be affected in any materially different manner from 
the interest ·of the general public, by any decision, enactment, agree­
ment, award or other official action or function of any governmental 
body or political subdivisi~n of.the Navajo Nation. 

(8) "Dependent business" means any business, as defined herein, 
in which the person or members of the persoµ.'s immediate family, 
individually or combined, have any direct or indirect ownership, 
investment, security or other beneficial interest amounting to more 
than twenty percent (20%) of such business. 

(9) "Employee" means any person or entity working for, or 
rendering or exchanging any services or performing any act for or 
on behalf of another person, organization or entity in return for 
any form of pay or other compensation or thing of value received 
or to be received at any time temporarily, permanently or indefi­
nitely, in any capacity; whether as agent, servant, representative, 
consultant, advisor, Independent contractor or otherwise. 

(10) "Employment" means the status o~ relationship existing 
or created by and between a person designated or acting as an 
"employee" as defined herein and the pe~on, organization, group 
or other entity for whom or on whose behaif 'any such work, acts, 
services or other benefit has been, is being··or will be rendered or 
performed for pay or any other form of compensation. 

(11) "Economic interest" means an intet-est held by a person, 
members of the person's immedfate family or a dependent business, 
which is: • 
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(A) any ownership, income, investment, security or other 
beneficial interest in a business, or 

(B) any employment or prospective employment for which 
negotiations have already begun. 

(12) "Gift" includes any gratuity, special discount, favor, hos­
pitality, payment, loan, subscription, economic opportunity, ad­
vance, deposit of money, services, or other benefit received with­
out equivalent consideration and not extended or provided to mem-
bers of the public at large. • 

(13) "Governmental body" means any branch, entity, enter­
prise, authority, division, department, office, commission, council, 
board, bureau, committee, legislative body, agency, and any estab­
lishment of the Executive, Administrative, Legislative or Judicial 
Branch of the Navajo Nation, togelher with such political sub­
divisions and Certified Chapters of the Navajo Nation as shall 
adopt local ordinances, resolutions tr other lawful enactments in 
accordance with. the provisions of this· chapter. 

(14) "Immediate family" includes spouse, children and members 
of the household of public officials, public employees and candidates 
for public office, as defined in this chapter. 

(15) "Ministerial action" means an action that a person per­
forms in a given state of facts in a prescribed manner in obedience 
to the mandate of legal authority, without regard to, or in the exer­
cise of, the person's own judgment upon the propriety of the action 
being taken. 

(16) "Official discretionary action'' means any official function 
of public office or employment, including any vote, decision, opin­
ion, allocation, recommendation, approval, disapproval, finding, 
delegation, authorization, contract, commitment, settlement, dis­
bursement, release or other action which involves the exercise of 
discretionary authority, for, on behalf of or in.any manner affecting 
any interest or property of the Navajo Nation, including any gov­
ernmental body, political subdivision or member thereof. 

(17) "Public empfoyee" means any employee, as defined herein, 
temporarily, periodically, permanently or indefinitely in the employ­
ment of the Navajo Nation, and/or any governmental body thereof 
as defined herein, including intergovernmental personnel. 

(18) "Public office" means any elected or appointed office .or 
positiqn of permanent or temporary employment in any govern­
mental body of the Navajo Nation as defined herein. 
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(19) "Public official" means any person holding an elective or 
appointed office in any governmental body of the Navajo Nation 
as defined herein, including grazing committee members. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU-40-84, Exhibit B, § 8, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 

§ 3759. Severability 
If any provision of this chapter or the application of.such provi­

sion to any person, firm, association, corporation or circumstances 
shall be held invalid, the remainder of the chapter and the applica­
tion of such provision to persons, firms, associations, corporations 
or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid 
shall not be affected thereby. 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU-40-84, Exhibit B, § 9, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 

§ 3760. Effective date 
The effective date of all provisions of this Navajo Nation Ethics 

in Government Law shall be October 8, 1984. 
Source. Tribal Council Res. CAU-40-84, Exhibit B, § 10, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 

§ 3761. Prior inconsistent law superceded 
Upon the effective date of this Navajo Nation Ethics in Govern­

ment Law, all prior inconsistent enactments, laws, rules, policies, 
ordinances and regulations of the Navajo Nation and all branches, 
divisions, departments, offices and political subdivisions thereof, are 
superceded hereby and/or amended to comply herewith. 

Source. Tribal Council Re~. C~U-40-84, ~xhibit B, § 11, passed Aug. 9, 1984. 

Subchapter 8. Ethics and Rules Office 

§ 3771. Establishment . , 
There is hereby established the Ethics and Rules Office within 

the Navajo Tribal government, pursuant to Resolution CJA-1-83, 
dated January 25, 1983; Resolution ACMA-35-84, dated March 14, 
1984·; and Resolution CAU-40-84, dated August 9, 1984, the Navajo 
Nation Ethics in Government Law (codified in -subchapter 1 of this 
chapter, 2 N.T.C. §§ 8751-3761). 

Source. Advisory Committee Res. ACJN-109-86, ~ibit B, passed June 12, 
1985. 

§ 3772. Purpose 
The purpose of the Ethics and Rules Office shall be to provide 

administrative assistance to the Ethics and Rules Committee of 
the Navajo Tri.bal Council in en~uring adherence to legislative 
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mandates under the Navajo Nation Ethics in Government Law, 
Ethics and Rules Committee Plan of Operation, and other appli­
cable laws of the Navajo Nation; and: 

(1) To represent the interests of the Navajo Nation in main­
taining the highest standards of ethical conduct by the elected and 
appointed public officials, officers and representatives of the Navajo 
Nation, in the performance of their public and official duties and 
functions. (Includes candidates and public employees.) 

(2) To maintain and make available for official information, 
complete and cu1Tent written records of all laws, resolutions, rules, 
regulations and other official enactments, rulings, decisions or opin-

0 

ions relating to requirements, prohibitions or standards of ethical 
conduct or disclosure by elected and appointed public officials, offi­
cers, employees and representatives of the government of the 
Navajo Nation; together with current and complete records of 
such written disclosures as may be required by the laws of the 
Navajo Nation. • 

(3) To protect the interest of the Navajo people in fair, honest 
and efficient conduct of the government of the Navajo Nation, in 
accordance with the laws of the Navajo Nation and the will of the 
Navajo people, through review,"recommendation and sponsorship 
of projects, legislation, rules and standards in furtherance of these 
ends. 

Source. Advisory Committee Res. ACJN-,-09-85, Exhibit B, passed June 12, 
1985. 

§ 3773. Personnei and organization 
(a) There is hereby established the position of Director for the 

Ethics and Rules Office and administrative/secretarial staff as may 
be budgeted by the Navajo Tribal Council. 

(b) The Ethics and Rules Committee and the Executive Director 
of the Office of Legislative Affairs shall have the authority to 
employ the Director of the Ethics and Rules Office. 

(c) The Director shall have the authority to hire the adminis­
trative/secretarial staff, pursuant i:o the Navajo Tribal Personnel 
Policies and Procedures. 

(d) All. Ethics and Rules Office personnel shall be subject to 
the Navajo Tribal personnel compensation, benefits, policies and 
procedures. 

(e) -The Director of the Ethics and Rules .Office shall be adminis­
tratively responsible to the Executive Director, Office of Legislative 
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Affairs in carrying out policies authorized and directed by the 
Ethics and Rules Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council, as pro­
vided under section 3772 of this subchapter. 

Source. Advisory Committee Res. ACJN-109-85, Exhibit B, passed June 12, 
1985. 

Revision note. Reference to organizational chart omitted :for purposes of 
11tatutory :form. 

§ 3774. Duties, responsibilities and authority 
(a) The Director shall have the authority. necessary and proper 

to carry out the purpose set forth in section 3772 of this chapter. 
(b) Under general direction, the Director of the Ethics and 

Rules Office shall have the duties, responsibility, and authority to 
assi~t the Ethics and Rules Committee of the Navajo Tribal Coun­
cil to: 

(i) Provide recommendations to the Ethics and Rules Com­
mittee concerning rules and regulations necessary to implement 
provisions of the Navajo Nation Ethics in Government Law and 
to publish same after p:r;oper approval. 

(2) Prescribe and make available appropriate forms for eco­
nomic disclosure statements and distribute such forms to all per­
sons required to complete and file with the Ethics and Rules Com­
mittee of the Navajo Tribal Council. 

(3) Establish policies and procedures for completing and fil­
ing economic disclosure statements and provide training as deemed 

' .necessary. , 
(4) Maintain cu~nt list of all persons required to file eco­

nomic disclosure statements. •• 
(5) Provide for the preservation 9f economic disclosure state­

ments filed with the Ethics and Rules Committee and ensure their 
confidentiality in accordance with the Navajo Nation Ethics in 
Government Law and all applicable· rules and regulations. 

(6) Audit, review and ~valuate all economic disclosure state­
ments and make available for public- access those deemed public 
records during regular office hours. ' 

(7) Provide and maintain written advisory opinions on the 
requirements of the Navajo Nation Ethics in Government Law, 
upon request from persons whose conduct is subject thereto and 
who have specific need to use such opinions. 

(8) Receive, examine and investigate c9lllplaints and conduct 
such hearings, in accordance with rules and regulations lawfully 
adopted and authorized to determine :f{l!Cts of allegations or non-.. -.. 
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compliance with provisions of the Navajo Nation Ethics in Govern­
ment Law. 

(9) Implement, facilitate and require compliance with all pro-
• visions of the Navajo Nation Ethics in Government Law in accord­

ance with stated purposes and intent, together with lawfully 
adopted rules and regulations, and the provisions of the Ethics 
and Rules CQmmittee, ·Plan of Operation. 

(10) Assist in instituting and conducting hearings on any 
matter which cannot be resolved by voluntary compliance and/or 
remedial action: 

Source. Advisory Committee Res. ACJN-109-85, Exhibit B, passed June 12, 
1985. 

Revision note. Slightly reworded for pw;posea of statutory form. 

§ 3775. Political practices prohibited" 
The staff shall not, for the purpose of personal gain, use any in­

formation or conduct any proceedings f9r the intent of causing 
harm or injury to the political standing or reputation of ~ny mem­
ber of the Navajo Tribal Council, the Chairman and Vice Chair­
man of the Navajo Tribal Council, or any other employee, or officer 
of the Navajo Nation. 

Source. Advisory Committee Res. ACJN-109-85, Exhibit B, passed June 12, 
1985. • 

§ 3776. Office location and hours 
The administrative office of the Ethics and Rules Office shall be 

located in Window Rock, Arizona. Mailing address is as follows: 
P.O. Box 308, Window Rock, Arizona 86515 

The office shall be open Monday through Friday, between 8:00 a.m. 
and 5: 00 p.m., in the absence of any directive to the contrary from 
the Director, Ethics and Rules Office. 

Source. Advisory Committee Res. ACJN-109-85, Exhibit B, passed June 12, 
1985. • 

§ 3777. Construction 
NoU1ing contained in this Plan of Operation shall be construed 

to limit the authority of the Ethics and Rules Committee of the 
Navajo Tribal Council and/or their representativ~ in ensuring 
adherepce to and carrying out the legislative intent of the Navajo 
Nation Ethics in Government Law and the Ethics and Rules Com-
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mittee's Plan of Operation, and all applicable laws of the Navajo 
Nation. 

Source. Advisory Committee Res. ACJN-109-85, Exhibit B, passed June 12, 
1985. 

§ 3778. Amendments 
This Plan of Operation may be amended by the Ethics and Rules 

Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council and subject to the approval 
by the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council. 

Source. Advisory Committee Res. ACJN-109-85, Exhibit B, passed June 12, 
1985. 

Chapter 7. Personnel 

SUBCHAPl'ERl.GENERALLY 

Nmw SECTION 

8812. Compensation of members of Tribal commissions 

SUBCHAPTER 8. TRAVEL AND TRAVEL EXPENSES 

3851. Definitions 
3852. Governing law 
3853. Requirements for official travel 
3854. Travel Authorizations 
3855. Advances against salary to C9ver travel expenses 
3856. Allowable travel expenses-Generally 
3857." -Privately-owned vehicles 
3858. -Tribal vehicles 
3859. -Commercial aircraft 
8860. -Chartered aircraft 
3861. -Lodging 
3862. -Meals 
3863. • -Telephone 
3864. -Taxis, buses and limousines 
3865. -Tips 
3866. -Registration and conference fees 
3867. --Other expenses 
3868. -Payment of per diem or expenses of other authorized 

travelers 
3869. Reimbursable expenses 
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NAVAJO SOVEREIGN IMHTJNITY ACT 

(Amended December 11, 1986 by CD-60-86) 

l N.T.C. Sections 351-355 

Navajo Tribal Code: Title l: General Provi~ions 

Section 351. Establishment: 

There is hereby established the Navajo Sovereign Immunity Act. 

Section 352. Definitions: 

For the purposes of this subchapter "Navajo Nation" means: 

(l) The Navajo Tribal Council; 
(2) The Chairman, Navajo Tribal Council; 
(3) The Vice Chairman, Navajo Tribal Council; 
(4) The Delegates to the Navajo Tribal Council; 
(5) The Certified Chapters of the Navajo Nation; 
(6) The Grazing Committees of the Navajo Nation; 
(7) The Land Boards of the Navajo Nation; 
(8) The Executive Branch of the Navajo Nation Government; 
(9) The Judicial Branch of the Navajo Na-tion Government; 

(10) The Commissions of the Navajo Nation Government; 
(11) The Committees of the Navajo Tribal Council; 
(12) The Legislative Secretary of the Navajo Tribal Council; 
(13) -The Supreme Judicial Council of the Navajo Tribal Council; 
·(14) 'rhe Enterprises of the Navajo Nation; 
(15) Navajo Community College. 

Section 353. General principles of sovereign immunity: 

(a) The Navajo Nation is immune from suit. 

(b) Neither the~ Chairman, l!avajo ·Tribal Council,;, the :Vice• Chairman, 
Navajo Tribal Council, nor the delegates to the Navajo Tribal Councii may be 
subpoenaed or otherwise compelled to appear or testify in the Courts of the 
Navajo Nation or any proceeding which is under the jurisdiction of the Courts 
of the Navajo Nation concerning any matter involving such official's actions 
pursuant to his/her official.duties. 

Section 354. Exceptions to the general principles of sovereign immunity; 
Purpose and iru:ent: 

The purpose and intent of_the Nav~jo Sovereign Immunity Act is to balance 
the interests of individual parties in obtaining the benefits and just redress 
to which they are entitled, under the law and in accordance with the orde~ly 
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processes of the Hsvajo Hation government, while at the same time protecting 
the legitimate public interest in securing the purposes and benefits of their 
public fnnds and assets, and the ability of their government to function 
without undue interference in furtherance of the general velfare and the 
greatest good of all the people. All of the provisions of this act shall be 
construed as set forth in or~er to carry out this stated purpose and intent. 

(a) The Havajo Nation may be sued in the Courts of the Navajo Hation·­
vhen explicitly authorized by applicable Federal lav. 

(b) The Havajo Nation may be sued only in the Courts of the N~ajo 
Nation vhen explicitly authorized by resolution of the Navajo Tribal Council. 

(c) Axi.y exception to the immunity of the Navajo Nation and assumption of 
liability pursuant to this act does not apply in circumstances in vhich such 
liability has been or is hereafter assumed by third parties, including any 
other gover=ental body or agency, nor for which the Navajo Nation has been or 
is hereafter indemnified or held harmless by such parties, to the extent of 
such assumption or indemnification of liability. Nor does any liability 
assumed by the Havajo Nation pursuant· co this act extend to any party or 
parties as third party beneficiary or otherwise, other than the party or 
parties to wh0111 such liability is expressly assumed, and then only to the 
extent, circumstances and conditions specified thereby. 

(d) Axi.y liability of a public entity or public officer employee or agent 
assumed pursuant to this act is subject to any other immunity of that public 
entity or person and is subject to any defense vhich vould be available to the 
public entity or person if they vere private entities and/or persons. 

A public entity ·is not liable for any injury or damage resulting 
•from an act or 0111ission of any public officer employee or agent if that party 

is not liable; nor for the actions or omi~sions of public officers, employees 
or agents which are determined to be contrary to or without authorization or 
othervise outside or beyond the course and scope of such officer's employee's 
or agent's authority. 

This section does not immunize a public officer, employee or agent 
from individual liability, not within Tribal insurance coverage, for the full 
measure of the recovery applicable to a person in the private sector, if it is 
established that such _conduct vas outside. the scope of his or her et1ployment 
and/or authority. •• •· 

Volunteers duly authorized by the Navajo Nation or any political 
subdivision thereof, in performing any of their authorized fnnctions or duties 
or training for such functions or duties, shall have the same degree of 
responsibility for their actions and enjoy the same immunities as officers and 
employees of ·the Navajo Nation and its goverm:iental entities performing 
similar vork. 

{e} nie Havajo Nation may be sued only in the Courts of the Navajo 
Nation vith respect to any claim vhich is vithin the express coverage and not 
excluded by either c0t:I111er~ial liability insurance carried by the.Navajo Nation 
or an established Navajo Nation self-insured and/or other clai11:s prograi:i ,of 
the N~vajo Nation government, approved and adopted pursuant to the lavs of the 
Navajo Nation and further subject to the folloving provisions and limtations: 
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(1) No judgment. order or award pertaining tc any claims permitted 
hereunder shall be for more than the limits of valid and collectible liability 
insurance p~licies carried by the Navajo Nation covering each such claim and 
in force at the time of such judgment• including deductible amounts to the 
extent appropriated by the Navajo Tribal Council; nor for more than the amount 
of coverage provided for each such claim under established claim reserves as 
appropriated by the Navajo Tribal Council. or otherwise established pursuan1;, 
to any self-insured liability and/or other Navajo Nation, government cllWIIS' 
program. approved and adopted pursuant to the laws of the N1vajo Nation; 

(2) Any such judgment. order or award may only be satisfied 
pursuant to the express provisions of the policy(ies) of liability insurance 
and/or established self-insured or government claims program of the Navajo 
Nation which are in effect at the time of each such.judgment, order or award; 

(3) No cause of action shall lie and no judgment may be entered or 
awarded on any claim for punitive or exemplary damages against the Navajo 
Nation; nor against any officer, employee or agent of the Navajo Nation act:ing 
within the course and scope of the authority of such office. employment or 
agency; 

(4) Notwithstanding any provisions of this subsection (e) • there 
shall be no exception to the sovereign immunity of public entities, officials. 
employees or agents of the Navajo Nation from claims for injury or damage 
alleged to have been sustained by: 

Policy decisions or the exercise of discretion made by a public 
official. employee or agent in• the ._exercise of judgment or discretion vested 
in the entity or individual; 

A decision made in good faith and without gross negligence in 
carrying out the law. except that this provision does not immuni;,:e a public 
entity. officer, employee or agent from liability for false arrest. false 
imprisonment or malicious prosecution; 

I.egislative or judicial action or inaction or administrative 
action or inaction of a legislative or judicial nature, such as adopting or 
failure to adopt a law or by failing to enforce a law; 

Issuance. denial. suspension or revocation of, or the failure 
or refusal to issue. deny, suspend'or revoke any permit, license, certificate. 
approval, order or ~imilar authorization, nor by the termination or reduction 
of benefits under a public assistance program;if the public entity, officer, 
employee or agent of the Navajo Nation is authorized by law to determine 
whether or not such authorization or benefits should be issued, denied, 
suspended or revoked; 

Probation, parole, furlough or release from confinement of a 
prisoner or other detainee or from the terms and conditions or the revocation 
thereof, except.upon. a showing of gross negligence; • 

Any injury or damage caused by an e~caping or escaped person or 
prisoner, a person·resisting arrest, or by a prisoner to himself or herself, 
or to any other prisoner, except upon showing of gross negligence; 
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The enumeration of the above immunities shall not be construed 
to waive any other immunities. nor to assume any liability except as 
explicitly provided in this act. 

(5) Subject to all other provisions of this Act, the express 
coverage of any commercial liability policy insuring the Navajo Nation or of 
any self-insurance program established by the Navajo Nation. for sums which. 
the Navajo Nation as insured shall become legally obligate\! to pay as damage· 
because of personal injury and/or property damages, shall' include liability· 
for such actual monetary loss and damage which is established by clear and 
convincing evidence, to be the direct and proximate result of the wrongful 
deprivation-or impairment of civil rights as set forth in Chapter l of Title l 
of the Navajo Tribal Code, the Bill of Rights of the Navajo Nation. In the 
sound exercise of judicial discretion, the Courts of the Navajo Nation may, to 
the extent deemed proper and appropriate in any action for damages for 
wrongful deprivation or impairment of civil rights as provided herein, avard 
necessary costs of suit and/or reasonable fees, based upon time and value. 
incurred for legal representation; or require each or any party thereto, to 
bear their own respective costs and/or ·1egal fees incurred therein. 

(f) Any officer, employee or agent of the Navajo Nation may be sued in 
the Courts of the Navajo Nation to compel him/her to perform his/her 
responsibility under the expressly applicable laws of the United States and of 
the Navajo Nation, .which shall include the 11111 of Rights of the Bavajo 
Nation, as set forth in Chapter 1, Title 1, Navajo Tribal Code. 

(1) Relief awarded by the Courts of the Navajo Nation under this 
subsection (f) shall be limited to declaratory or prospective mandamas or 
injunctive relief and in accordance with the express provisions of the laws of 
the United States and the• Navajo Nation establishing the responsibility for 

, such performance. The Courts .may further, in the exercise of judicial 
discretion, award necessary costs of suit and/or reasonable fees for legal 
representation, in the same manner and to the same extent provided in 
paragraph (5), subsection (e) hereof. 

(2) No relief as provided under this subsection (f) may be awarded 
by the Courts of the Navajo Nation without actual notice to the defendant(s), 
nor before the time provided in this act for answering complaints, motions or 
orders to show cause, nor without opportunity for full hearing of all defenses 
and objection thereto,. _in accordance with all provisions of this act and all 
other applicable law{sJ. •· • 

(3) This subsection (f) shall not apply to the Chairman ·of the 
Navajo Tribal Council, the Vice Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council, or the 
delegates to the Navajo Tribal Council. 

{g) Contracted or otherwise retained counsel and other attorneys 
employed by the Navajo Nation may be sued for malpractice when authorized ~y 
the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council. 
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Section 355. Procedure with respect to actions authorized by this 
subchapter: 

(a) Any person or party desiring to institute suit against the Navajo 
Nation or any officer, employee or agent of the Navajo Nation as authorized by 
this subchapter shall, as a jurisdictional condition precedent to institution 
of such suit, provide notice to the Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council, and.. 
to the Attorney General of the Navajo Nation, as provided he~ein. 

(1) Such notices shall be sent by certified or' registered mail,. 
addressed to the main administrative offices of the Chairman of the Navajo 
Tribal Council and of the Attorney General of the Navajo Nation, return 
receipts requested. The time of such notice shall commence to run only from 
the date following .actual delivery of both notices as evidenced upon sncb. 
receipts, and filed together with such notices with the Court in which such 
action is subsequently to be commenced. The Chairman of the Navajo Tribal 
Council and the Attorney General of the Navajo Nation shall ensure the 
availability, during all regular office hours, of office staff personnel duly 
authorized to accept and receipt for delivery of such notices provided herein 
and their receipt thereof shall not waive the assertion of any appropriate 
defense pertaining to the validity of such notice or service. 

(Z) Such notices shall state the name of each prospective 
plaintiff; the identity of each prospective defendant; the nature of all 
claims and relief which will be sought, and the correct address, name and 
telephone number of each prospective plaintiff's attorney or counselor (if 
any). 

(3) i. No action shall b·e accepted for filing against the Navajo 
Nation or any officer, employee or agent of the Navajo Nation unless the 

-plaintiff has filed proof of compliance with this subsection (a) by service of 
the notices as required by this subsection at least thirty (30) days prior to 
the date on which the complaint or any other action is proposed to be filed 
with such Court. 

ii. In any action against the Navajo Nation or any officer, 
employee or agent of the Navajo Nation, the time for responding to valid 
service of any summons and complaint shall be sixty (60) days; to valid 
service of any order to show cause, not less than thirty (30) days; and to 
valid service of any _motion, not less than twenty (20) days.. Any claim 
against the Navajo Natlon or any public entity, officer, employee or agent 
thereof, which is filed pursuant to this act, is deemed generally denied sixty 
(60) days after valid service of the complaint, unless the claimant or 
claimant's attorney or counsel filing the complaint is advised of acceptance 
or of a specific or othendse limited denial in writing or by responsive 
pleading filed before the expiration of sixty (60) days; and any such claim 
shall otherwise proceed in the sace manner as upon the filing of such general 
denial thereof. These time periods may not be shortened by Rule of Court or 
Judicial Order, but shall be extended by any longer period provided by other 
applicable.. law, rule or order of Court. 
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iii. Any person or party filing a complaint against the Navajo 
Nation or any officer, ·employee or agent of the Navajo Nation shall serve by 
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, a copy of this 
complaint together with summons duly issued, upon the Chairman of the Navajo 
Tribal Council and the Attorney General of the Navajo Nation. Service of 
summons and complaint against any -officer, employee or agent of the Navajo 
Ration shall be made by any means authorized under"the Rules of the Courts o~. 
the Navajo Nation, provided that .the time for response th,ereto shall be as~ 
provided herein and service upon such parties shall not be; effected by such 
required service upon the Chairman of the Navajo Council and the Attorney 
General of the Navajo Nation. 

iv. In any action in vhich any claim is asserted against the 
Navajo Nation or any public entity thereof, upon vritten demand of the Navajo 
Nation Department of Justice, made at or before the time of ansvering, served 
upon the opposing party and filed with the Court vhere the action is pending, 
the place of trial of such action shall be changed to 'llindov Rock, Navajo 
Nation. 
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UNITEp STATES COMMISSION ON CIVIL RIGHTS 

ENFORCEMENT OF THE INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT 

Statement of Sandy Hansen 
Attorney at Law 

July 15, 1988 
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INTRODUCTION 

At the request of Brian Miller, deputy general counsel for 

the United states Commission on Civil Rights, I am submitting 

-this written statement to supplement testimony that I have been 

asked to give at the Commission's hearing on enforcement of the 

Indian civil Rights Act, scheduled for July 7, 1988, in 

Flagstaff, Arizona. 

My name is Sandra (Sandy} Hansen. I am a 1986 graduate of 

the University of Colorado School of Law and am admitted to 

practice law before the courts of the State of Colorado, Federal 

District Court for the District of Colorado, and Tenth Circuit 

Court of Appeals. 

Before enrolling in law school, I worked for the Cherokee 

Nation of Oklahoma as director of personnel (1980-1981}; 

communications director (1981-1983}; and legislative aide (1981-

1983} ..From 1976-1980, I assisted va~ious Tribes and Pueblos in 

Oklahoma and New Mexico de~elop merit-based personnel management 

systems. Since graduating from law school, I have worked for a 

law firm that specializes in federal Indian law. I have served 

as the lead counsel representing the Navajo Education and 

Scholarship Foundation, Inc., in its dispute with the Navajo 

Nation since February 25, 1987. I have also served as the lead 

counsel representing the Oglala Sioux Nation and Ft. Mojave 

Ind~an Tribe in Indian Child Welfare Act cases tried in Boulder 

County (Colorado} District and Santa Cruz (California} Municipal 

Court. 
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THE DISPUTE BETWEEN THE NAVAJO EDUCATION AND SCHOLARSHIP 
FOUNDATION, INC., AND NAVAJO NATION 

on October 12, 1983, the Advisory Committee of the Navajo 

Tribal Council1 enacted a Resolution establishing the Navajo 

Education and Scholarship Foundation (NESF). The purposes of the 

Foundation were to raise funds from private and public sources 

(1) to finance the construction of a building to house the 

educational programs of the Navajo Nation (and related programs) 

and (2) to fund a scholarship program for Navajo students who 

were ineligible to receive scholarships from the tribal or 

federal government. The original Articles of Incorporation 

authorized the Chairman of the Navajo.Tribal Council, with the 

consent of the Advisory Committee, to appo"int the members of 

NESF's Board of Trustees. The original Articles also required 

the Advisory Committee's approval of any amendments to the 

Articles. Dr. Robert Roessel was instrumental in the creation of 

NESF and serv~d as its first executive director. He te~tified at 

the Commission's Hearing on August 13, 1987, that the original 

~ncorporators and the tribal government intended NESF to be 

separate from the tribal government from the Foundation's 

inception. 

On January 30, 1986, the Navajo Tribal Council enacted the 

1The Advisory Committee is comprised of 18 delegates to the 
Navajo Tribal Counci1 and is charged with, among other things, 
conducting the business of the Navajo Nation when the full 
Council is not in session. The members of the Advisory Committee 
are selected by the Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council. There 
are no geographic or other criteria for selecting the Advisory
Committee members. 
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Navajo Nation's first corporation law. The law took effect in 

August 1986. From January 1986 until November 1986, the Board of 

Trustees and staff of NESF debated various amendments to NESF's 

Articles of Incorporation. On November 13, 1986, certain 

amendments were approved by the executive committee of NESF's 

Board of Trustees. The amendments divested the Chairman of his 

authority to appoint future members to the Board of Trustees. 

They also divested the Advisory Committee of any future authority 

to approve appointments to the Board of Trustees or amendments to 

the Articles of Incorporation. 

By Resolution adopted on November 13, 1986, the Advisory 

Committee approved the proposed amendments and authorized NESF to 

file the amended Articles of Incorporation with the Navajo 

Department of Commerce for issuance of a certificate of 

incorporation. That certificate of incorporation was issued to 

NESF on December 16 ,. 1986. 

On December 30, 1986, the Advisory Committee accepted a 

transfer of the Navajo Education Center from NESF to the Navajo 

Nation. 2 NESF transferred ownership of the building to the Tribe 

on the condition that the Foundation be granted a 25-year lease, 

at a cost of $1 per year, of 535 square feet of office space in 

the Center. The transfer agreement and lease were expressly 

incorporated into the Resolution by which the Advisory Committee 

2The Navajo Education Center was built by NESF from 1983-
1986 with $2.5 million in private funds raised primarily. by then­
Chairman Peterson Zah and $1 million contributed by the Navajo 
Nation. The building presently houses the Navajo Division of 
Education and Navajo Educat~on and Scholarship Foundation, Inc. 
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accepted ownership of the Center. By its terms, the lease may be 

renewed for 25 years, at a rate of $1 rent per year, and may be 

cancelled only upon (1) mutual agreement of the parties; (2) 

unilateral decision of NESF; or (3) a decision by the Navajo 

Nation not to rebuild the Center in the event of its destruction. 

On January 12, 1987, Peter MacDonald succeeded Peterson Zah 

as Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council. Because of his past 

success in raising funds for the Foundation, NESF's Board of 

Trustees employed Mr. Zah as chairman of the Foundation's 

National Advisory Council on or about February l, 1987. The 

Council is primarily responsible for raising funds to finance 

NESF's scholarship programs. 

On February 25, 1987, the Advisory Committee enacted two 

resolutions affecting NESF. 3 In the first, the Advisory 

Committee declared NESF to be an entity of the Navajo Nation, 

rescinded NESF's amended Articles of Incorporation and re­

instated NESF's original Articles of Incorporation as the 

Foundation's governing document. In the second, the Advisory 

Committee approved Mr. MacDonald's removal of the then-sitting 

members of the Board of Trustees and his appointment of their 

purported successors. 

4we immediately filed suit, naming Chairman MacDonald, Vice-

3The Resolutions are attached as Exhibit A. 

4"We" refers to Dale White, formerly an associate at 
Fredericks & Pelcyger and now a partner in Whiteing, Thompson & 
White, Boulder, Colorado; Mike Nelson, a lawyer who practices in 
Window Rock, Arizona; and myself. Later, Mr. Nelson recused 
himself from the case and Richard Hughes, of Lu~bben & Hughes, 
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Chairman Johnny R. Thompson, the delegates to the Advisory 

Committee, and the purported appointees to the Board of Trustees 

as defendants. The suit was filed in the Navajo District Court 

for the District of Window Rock and alleged that the February 25 

Resolutions were contrary to the Navajo Bill of Rights, Indian 

civil Rights Act, and Navajo Corporation Code. Our principal. 

claim was that the Resolutions constituted an impermissible 

•taking" without due process of law. 

The honorable Robert Yazzie presided over the case.5 

Initially, the Foundation was granted a temporary restraining 

order, enjoining the defendants from assuming control of the 

Foundation. At the hearing on our motion for a preliminary 

injunction, Assistant (Navajo) Attorney General William A. 

Riordan raised the defense of sovereign immunity. He argued 

that, because we had named the defendants in their official 

capacities and had asked for injunctive relief, the Court wa~ 

without jurisdiction to hear the case. Judge Yazzie ruled that 

the Navajo Sovereign Immunity Act does deprive the Courts of the 

Albuquerque, New Mexico, appeared as local counsel. 

5If there is a hero in this case, it is Judge Yazzie. 
Although he is a probationary judge, he had the courage to rule 
on the basis of law and principle, rather than self-interest and 
political expedience. Therefore, I use the term "honorable" not 
merely as a courtesy or convention, but also as an expression of 
my respect for Judge Yazzie as an honorable, courageous and 
learned jurist. 

If Judge Yazzie is representative o:- the calibre of judges 
and justices sitting on the Navajo bench, the Navajo People can 
rest assured that they will receive a fair and impartial hearing 
in tribal court, whatever their claims and whoever the defendant. 
His actions reflect that he believes that no person - and no 
group of persons - is above the law. 

204 



Exhibit No. 4 (cont.) 

Navajo Nation from hearing cases against the Chairman, Vice­

Chairman or delegates to the Navajo Tribal Council acting as such 

when the relief sought is equitable. As a consequence, the Judge 

dismissed our case, without prejudice. 

Mike Nelson and I then prepared an identical complaint, 

naming the same defendants in their individual capacities. As we 

were preparing to file the complaint, we received a telephone 

call from Michael P. Upshaw, attorney general of the Navajo 

Nation. Mr. Upshaw invited us to a meeting, attended by himself, 

Bill Riordan, Larry Ruzow (representing Chairman MacDonald or 

Vice Chairman Thompson) and another attorney whose name I can't 

presently recall (representing Chairman MacDonald or Vice 

Chairman Thompson). At the meeting, -we were persuaded to 

withhold filing our complaint as a demonstration of our good 

faith intent to attempt to negotiate a settlement to the case. 

On March 12, 1987, representatives of each of the competing 

Boards of Trustees met to begin negotiations. The •MacDonald• 

appointees presented the "Zah" appointees with a list of •non­

negotiable" demands. Those demands included (1) recognition that 

NESF was an entity of the Navajo Nation, subject to the plenary 

control of the Advisory Committee and (2) termination of Peterson 

Zah as an employee of the Foundation. 

Rather than throw out the baby with the bath water by 

conceding to the "MacDonald" appointee's non-negotiable demands, 

the "Zah" appointees asked us to file a new Complaint. However, 

the "MacDonald" appointees won the race to the courthouse with 
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the Attorney General filing a quo warranto action against the 

•zah" appointees on March 13, 1987. 

The parties stipulated that the action could be decided on 

cross-motions for summary judgment. The Judge entered an order 

appointing three persons from each Board to conduct the affairs 

of the Foundation and directing that those persons employed by 

the Foundation as of February 25, 1987, continue their employment 

unless they were removed by the "interim Board" while the case 

was pending. 

After briefs were filed and oral argument was heard, Judge 

Yazzie issued an Opinion and Order. 6 On September 18, 1987, the 

Judge held that NESF was and always had been an entity separate 

from the Navajo Nation. He expressly declared that the February 

25 Resolutions of the Advisory Committee were •invalid and of no 

effect• because they had been enacted without due process of 

law. 7 

The Attorney General filed motions for reconsideration, stay 

of execution, and additional findings of fact and conclusions of 

6Attached as Exhibit B. 

7Despite the Judge's declaration, the Navajo tribal 
government continued to assert control over NESF. In November 
1987, the c•zah•) Board of Trustees passed a resolution directing 
Fiduciary Trust of New York to sell certain stock and remit the 
proceeds to the Foundation. Counsel for Fiduciary Trust 
responded that the Attorney General's office had blocked the sale 
on the ground that no action by NESF was valid unless approved by 
the interim Board. Fiduciar; Trust ignored our argument that the 
mere filing of a motion to stay the execution of the Judge's 
Opinion and Order did not operate to continue the interim Board. 
To this date, Fiduciary Trus~ has not complied with NESF's demand· 
that the stock be sold. 
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law. As the prevailing party, we filed a motion for an award of 

attorneys' fees on behalf of the "Zah" Board of Trustees. While 

those motions were pending, the Advisory Committee enacted a 

Resolution recommending that the Navajo Tribal Council adopt 

legislation in support of the filing of the Attorney General's 

post-trial motions.a 

The Advisory Committee's Resolution was presented to the 

Tribal Council on February 4, 1988. However, the legally 

operative portion of the Resolution had been changed. Instead of 

merely indicating the Council's support for the Attorney 

General's post-trial motions, the Resolution (1) declared NESF to 

have been, since its inception, an entity_•fully owned and 

controlled by the Navajo Nation" and (2) directed the Advisory 

Committee "to take all actions necessary to implement the 

mandates of th[e] Resolution and ensure the ~ontinuing status and 

operation. of [NESF.] as a government non-profit corporate [sic] 

entity of the Navajo Nation.• See Resolution Clauses 2-3, 

Resolution CF-8-88 (Navajo Tribal Council, February 4, 1988).9 

During the debate on proposed Resolution CF-8-88, a member 

of the "MacDonald" Board of Trustees, the Attorney General, 

Assistant Attorney General Bill Riordan, and four council 

delegates who supported enactment of the Resolution were 

permitted to speak in favor of the Resolution. ~ Transcript of 

Navajo Tribal Council Meeting (February 4, 1988).10 The Chairman 

8Attached as Exhibit c. 

9Attached as Exhibit D. 

lOAttached as Exhibit E. 
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refused to permit any opponent of the Resolution to speak during 

the Council's debate. One delegate who opposed the measure, who 

is also a "Zah" appointee to NESF's Board of Trustees, had his 

hand raised, signaling his desire to be recognized by the 

Chairman, during three speeches made in favor of the Resolution. 

When the Chairman refused to recognize him, the Councilman stood 

during the fourth, and final, speech made in favor of the 

Resolution. At least three other Council delegates signaled 

their desire, but were not permitted by the Chairman, to speak 

out against the proposed Resolution.ll 

Despite the lopsided "debate", the initial vote on 

Resolution CF-8-88 ended in a tie, with 38 delegates voting in 

favor and 38 delegates voting in opposition to the measure, and 

one delegate abstaining. 12 Chairman MacDonald cast the tie­

breaking vote, and the measure became law. 

On February 16, 1988, Assi~tant Attorney General Bill 

Riordan sent a copy.of Resolution CF-8-88 to Judge Yazzie by way 

of a letter. In the letter, Mr. Riordan asked the Judge "to take 

judicial notice of [the) contents [of the Resolution], 

particularly for reconsideration of the basis for the District 

Court's decision herein dated September 18, 1987, viz: the 

Court's imputation of the legislative intent of the governing 

body of the Navajo Nation." See Letter from William A. Riordan 

11see Various Newspaper Articles, attached as Exhibit F. 

12see Tally of Council Delegate Votes, Resolution CF-8-88 
(February 4, 1988), attached as Exhibit G. 
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to the honorable Robert Yazzie (February 16, 1988). 13 

We responded by way of a 26-page memorandum in which we 

argued that Resolution CF-B-88 was invalid because it constituted 

an ex post facto law and impermissibly intruded upon the 

authority of the Courts to interpret statutes in violation of 

Navajo principles of separation of powers. In the alternative, 

we argued that the Resolution was entitled to no weight if it was 

introduced as evidence of the present legislature's 

interpretation of a prior legislature's actions. Finally, we 

argued that Resolution CF-8-88 was invalid because it constituted 

a "taking" without due process and just compensation. 

Judge Yazzie scheduled oral argument on all of the post­

trial motions for April 22, 1988. Deputy (Navajo) Attorney 

General Eric Dahlstrom did not respond to our memorandum 

addressing Resolution CF-8-88 at the hearing. His only response 

to the substance of our memorandum was to state, in~ post­

hearing memorandum: 

Respondent [sic] urged in their supplemental memorandum that 
the [sic] Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CF-8-88 is 
invalid or, in the alternative, if it is valid, respondents 
should be compensated for a taking of the assets of NESF 
without due process. Petitioners' supplemental memorandum 
attempts to discredit CF-8-88 as evidence of intent [sic] of 
the Advisory Committee. The action of the Navajo Tribal 
Council, CF-8-88, is not concerned with the 'intent' qf the 
Advisory Committee. Its actions supersede those of the 
Advisory Committee. The powers of the Advisory Committee 
derive entirely from the Navajo Tribal Council. 

Petitioner's Response to Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to 

Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration and Findings of Fact and 

13Attached as Exhibit H. 
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Conclusions of Law at l-2, Upshaw ex rel. Benally v. Gorman, No. 

WR-CV-96-87 (Window Rock D. Ct., May 2, 1988). 

Acting pursuant to the authority delegated to it by 

Resolution CF-8-88, the Advisory Committee enacted another 

Resolution affecting NESF on May 24, 1988. 14 By Resolution ACMY-

107-88, the Advisory Committee: 

l. "terminated and rescinded [the •Lease or use agreement"] 
with regard to the current tenant and occupants of the Navajo 
Education center, who are unlawfully claiming private ownership 
and control of the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation"; 

2. requested "the Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council 
[to] immediately take any and all actions necessary to enforce 
the termination of the Lease and use agreements as to said 
private individuals and to secure possession of the premises by 
the Navajo Nation for the use and benefit of the Navajo Education 
and Scholarship Foundation as a wholly owned public entity of the 
government of the Navajo Nation•; 

3. directed the "Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation Board, appointed by Advisory committee Resolution ACF-
53-87 and confirmed by Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CF-8-88, 
[to] hold a formal meeting as soon as possible to begin the 
challenging task of implementing the goals and purposes for which 
the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation was created as a 
governmental ~nti~y of the Navajo Nation•; and 

4. requested the •chairman, Navajo Tribal Council, and the 
Department of Justice [to] implement and enforce the purpose and 
intent of this Resolution, should there be a·failure by any 
former Trustee, Officer, employees or other persons unlawful 
[sic] claiming private ownership or control of the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation, and compel them to comply 
with delivery of all Foundation books, accounts, minutes, 
records, and [sic] in his/her possession, to the Trustees of the 
Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, by authority of ACF-
53-87, confirmed by Navajo Tribal council Resolution CF-8-88.• 

Resolution ACMY-107-88 (May 24 ,. 1988) . 

Mr. Zah telephoned me at home on the evening that Resolution 

ACMY-107-88 was enacted. As he stated in an affidavit later 

14see Resolution ACMY-107-88, attached as Exhibit I. 

210 



Exhibit No. 4 (cont.) 

filed with the Court,15 Mr. Zah said that he had received a tip 

that someone was tampering with the lock on the exterior door to 

NESF's suite of offices in the Navajo Education Center around 

6:30 p.m. on May 24. Acting on that information, he and another 

Foundation employee (Duane Beyal) went to the Center. Upon 

entering NESF's offices, Mr. Zah discovered Lloyd House and a 

workman inside the suite.16 

According to his affidavit, Mr. Zah told Mr. House that he 

was going to spend the night in the Foundation's offices, and 

that if Mr. House wanted to remove Mr. Zah, he would have to get 

the police to serve him with a court order. Mr. House and the 

workman then left the offices, but returned a short time later in 

the company of Marshal Tome, former editor of the Navajo Times 

during a previous MacDonald administration. 

Despite Mr. Zah's protests, Mr. House and the workman 

removed the locking mechanism on the door to NESF's suite and 

replaced it with a locking mechanism for which employees of NESF 

had no keys. 

On May 25, we filed a motion for a temporary restraining 

order in the District Court of the Navajo Nation for the District 

of Window Rock. Judge Yazzie issued the order enjoining the 

Attorney General, nMacDonald" appointees to NESF's Board, •their 

officers, agents, servants, employees, counsel and all persons 

15Mr. Zah's affidavit is attached as Exhibit J. 

16Mr. House later purported to be the executive director of 
NESF, appointed by the Advisory Committee or "MacDonald• Board of 
Trustees. 
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who receive actual notice of th[e] order" from: 

1. evicting [the "Zah" Board] and/or their employees from 
[NESF's offices in] the Navajo Education Center: 

2. interfering in any way with [the "Zah" Board's] and/or 
their employees' right to peaceably occupy and beneficially 
use [NESF's suite of offices] in the Navajo Education 
Center: 

3. interfering in any way with [the "Zah" Board's] and/or 
their employees' conduct of the affairs of [NESF]: 

4. purporting to act or acting as the Board of Trustees of 
[NESF] or otherwise attempting to control, direct, or manage 
the affairs of [the] Foundation: and/or 

5. enforcing or implementing [Resolution ACMY-107-88]. 

Temporary Restraining Order at 1-2, Upshaw ex rel. Benally v. 

Gorman, No. WR-CV-96-87 (Window Rock D. Ct. May 25, 1988). At 

5:55 p.m. on May 25, 1988, Mr. House and Major Morris of the 

Navajo police department delivered a letter from Donald Benally, 

chairman of the •MacDonald" Board of Trustees, purp~rting to 

terminate Mr. Zah's "employment and status as Executive Director 

of [NESF].*17 The following morning, a copy of the Temporary 

Restraining Order issued by Judge Yazzie was posted on an 

interior window to the Foundation's offices, so that it would be 

visible to all who approached the offices from the hallway. 

on the morning of May 26, 1988, Lloyd House again appeared 

in NESF's suite. On this occasion, Mr. House was accompanied by 

two officers of the Navajo police department. One of the men 

showed Mr. Zah a copy of a court order signed by Judge Wayne 

Cadman of the Navajo District Court for the District of Chinle. 

17A copy of the letter is attached as Exhibit K. 
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The order was issued pursuant to an action filed against Mr. Zah 

by "The Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation" and "Lloyd 

House, executive director of NESF". 18 The Order directed Mr. Zah 

to vacate NESF's suite of offices and "to deliver all foundation 

[sic] books, accounts, minutes, records, [sic] in his and her 

[sic] possession to [Mr.] House". Mr. Zah stated in his 

affidavit that he had no notice that any action had been filed 

against him until he received Judge Cadman's temporary 

restraining order.19 

Mr. Zah read the restraining order issued by Judge Yazzie to 

the police officers and informed them that he had no intention of 

vacating NESF's offices. Meanwhile, I telephoned Judge Cadman's 

chambers and informed his clerk that we were filing a writ of 

prohibition with the Supreme Court of the Navajo Nation and would 

ask for sanctions against the Judge on the ground that the Chinle 

District Court was clearly without jurisdiction to enter a 

temporary restraining order, since the case was pending in the 

Window Rock District Court, and on the ground that the Chinle 

District Court did not have venue. Later that morning, I 

received a call from Judge Cadman's clerk informing me that the 

Judge had dissolved his temporary restraining order and 

transferred the action to Window Rock.20 

18A copy of the Chinle Order is attached as Exhibit L. 

19see Affidavit of Peterson Zah, at 4, lines 18-24, attached 
as Exhibit J. 

2Osee also Order, No. CH-CV-1O9-88, CH-CV-11O-88 (Chinle D. 
Ct. May 26, 1988), attached as Exhibit L. 
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On the evening of May 26, 1988, Mr. Zah received unofficial 

notice that Bobby Charley, chief executive administrator of the 

Navajo Nation, had directed Col. Bill Kellogg, director of the 

Navajo Division of Public Safety, to "administratively close• the 

Navajo Education Center from 7:00 p.m. on Thursday, May 26, 1988 

through 5:00 p.m. on Friday, June 3, 1988.21 

on the morning of Friday, May 27, Judge Yazzie, Deputy 

(Navajo) Attorney General Eric Dahlstrom and I had a telephonic 

hearing on Mr. Dahlstrom's motion to dissolve the Judge's 

temporary restraining order. On the basis of that hearing (at 

which Colonel Kellogg testified, without notice, as an expert 

witness), Judge Yazzie entered an order (1) placin~ the Navajo 

Education Center under the immediate supervision of the Navajo 

Division of Public Safety; (2) permitting access to the Center by 

all employees through 5:00 p.m. on Friday, May 27; and (3) 

closing the Center to all persons wexcept as may be necessary to 

protect the Education Center facility or the public safety" until 

"the hearing scheduled before [the] Court at 2:00 p.m. on May 31, 

i988 or soon [sic] thereafter as the Court may Order.•22 

Although Judge Yazzie verbally issued the •Additional Order" 

in the presence of Eric Dahlstrom and Colonel Kellogg, NESF 

employees were not permitted access to the Navajo Education 

Center until after the Judge entered his written Order at 2:30 

21A copy of Mr. Charley's Executive Order is attached as 
Exhibit M. 

22A copy of Judge Yazzie's "Additional Order" is attached as 
Exhibit N. 

214 



Exhibit No. 4 (cont.) 

p.m. on May 27. The Foundation's employees left NESF's offices 

shortly before 5:00 p.m., and turned their keys over to Colonel 

Kellogg and have not been permitted to return to the office since 

then. 

on May 31, 1988, the Advisory Committee met in executive 

session and enacted Resolution ACMY-108-88. 23 In that 

Resolution, the Advisory Committee: 

1. again cancelled the "lease or use agreement" for NESF's 

offices in the Navajo Education Center and directed NESF's 

employees to •immediately vacate the premises": 

2. again requested the Chairman of the Navajo Tribal 

Council to •immediately take any and a1·1 actions necessary to 

enforce the termination of the lease and use agreements": 

3. directed •[a]ny member of the Board of Trustees, any 

officer and any employee of [NESF] who is in possession of or has 

knowledge of the location of Foundation books of [sic] accounts, 

construction contracts together with all related documents and 

inspection logs, records, financial statements, reports required 

by the Articles of Incorporation or bylaws, and any other 

official records of the Foundation" to provide those records to 

the Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council: 

4. recommended to the Budget and Finance Committee that it 

"immediately contract for an independent audit of [NESF] and 

that the audit be delivered to the Advisory Committee and Budget 

23A copy of the Resolution is attached as Exhibit o. 
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and Finance Committee"; and 

5. requested the "United states Department of the Interior 

as part of its trust responsibility, [sic] to take all proper and 

necessary action to protect the Navajo Education Center in light 

of Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CF-8-88." 

See Resolution ACMY-108-88 (Advisory Committee May 31, 1988). 

Deputy (Navajo) Attorney General Eric Dahlstrom delivered a copy 

of Resolution ACMY-108-88 to me at 2:16 p.m. on May 31, as we 

were preparing to argue our motion for a preliminary injunction 

before Judge Yazzie. 

In response to our motion for a preliminary injunction and 

to the Attorney General's motion for a stay of execution of the 

Judge's September 18, 1987, Order, Judge Yazzie re-appointed the 

interim Bo_ard of Trustees "to control, direct and manage the 

daily affairs of the Foundation.•24 He also specifically 

enjoined "[a]ll partie~, their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, counsels and all persons who receive actual notice of 

[±he] order[] from evicting the current employees of the 

Foundation from the Foundation offices.* Finally, he prohibited 

anyone from removing NESF's books, accounts, minutes and records 

from the Education Center without the approval of the interim 

Board. In chambers, in the presence of Eric Dahlstrom and 

myself, Judge Yazzie stated on at least three occasions that the 

May 31 Order'would expire 30 days after he issued his final Order 

24A copy of Judge Yazzie's Order of May 31, 1988, is 
attached as Exhibit P. 
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on the remaining post-trial motions. 

Despite Judge Yazzie's attempt to adjudicate a compromise, 

the Navajo Education Center remained closed to NESF and tribal 

employees until June 13, 1988.25 

on June 2, 1988, the Judge issued an Order denying the 

Attorney General's post-trial motions for reconsideration and 

additional findings of fact and conclusions of law. The Judge 

also denied our post-trial motion for an award of attorneys' 

fees. 26 

on June 8, 1988, the Budget and Finance Committee passed a 

resolution appropriating tribal funds for an audit of NESF. 

Shortly thereafter, and over our protests, Peat, Marwick & Main 

of Albuquerque were permitted access to the Foundation's offices 

in order to begin the tribe's audit of NESF's books and 

accounts. 27 

On June 15, 1988, I received a letter from,Deputy (Navajo) 

Attorney General Eric Dahlstrom stat~ng his opinion that the 

Judge's Order of May 31, 1988, expired when the Judge issued his 

final Order of June 2, 1988. 28 He did not explain how he reached 

25When the Center was finally re-opened, NESF's offices 
remained locked and off-limits to everyone. 

26Judge Yazzie's Order of June 2, 1988, is attached as 
Exhibit Q. 

27rn order to comply with the Judge's Order and diffuse the 
situation, we suggested that the audit be conducted by order of 
the interim Board rather than by Resolution of the Advisory 
Committee. No Tribal official ever responded to the suggestion. 

28Attached as Exhibit R. 
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this opinion given the Judge's statements in chambers on May 31, 

1988, that the Order would expire 30 days after he filed his 

ruling on our post-trial motions. Mr. Dahlstrom also said that 

NESF employees would not be permitted access to NESF's offices in 

the Navajo Education Center. Despite Judge Yazzie's rulings in 

their favor, NESF's employees have not been permitted to enter 

their offices since 5:00 p.m., May 27, 1988. 

On July 1, 1988, the Attorney General filed a Notice of 

Appeal of Judge Yazzie's September 18, 1987, and June 2, 1988, 

Opinions and Orders. On July 5, 1988, NESF filed a Notice of 

Appeal of that portion of Judge Yazzie's June 2, 1988, Opinion 

and Order denying NESF's request for an award of attorneys' fees. 

COMMENTSf9 

F.rom my perspective as a non-Indian, the Tribe's response to 

its dispute with the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation 

demonstrates a degree of lawlessness that one would be hard 

pressed to find equaled anywhere else in the United States. The 

situation at Navajo is reminiscent of the legend wherein, in 

response to Chief Justice Marshall's opinion in Worcester v. 

Georgia, 31 U.S. (6 Pet.) 515 (1832), then-President Andrew 

Jackson purportedly said, *It's John Marshall's law: let him 

29These comments reflect my own, personal reaction towards 
the dispute between the Navajo Nation and NESF and in no way 
reflect the opinions of the officers, employees, or agents of 
NESF or of any law firm for which I have worked or am working. 
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enforce it.n30 In effect, the Tribe's response to losing in 

Tribal Court has been to say, "It's Robert Yazzie's law: let him 

enforce it." 

In the Worcester-Jackson sense, the situation at Navajo can 

be seen as a normal growth process from which will emerge a 

clearer understanding of the role that the Navajo People want the 

Navajo Tribal courts to play in interpreting and shaping laws on 

the Reservation. Viewed in that perspective,·the situation at 

Navajo is, in my opinion, something that the federal government 

should let the Navajos work out themselves, free from 

interference from other sovereigns. 

However, there are differences between the situation on 

which the Worcester-Jackson legend is based and the current 

situation at Navajo. Those differences may require intervention, 

given Congress' declaration that Tribes' authority is limited in 

that it may not intrude upon individual rights. 31 

First, the reaction attributed to President Jackson has been 

_ 30In response to Justice Stewart's decision in Washington v. 
Washington State Commercial Passenger Fishing Vessel Ass'n, 443 
U.S. 909 (1980), then-Washington Attorney General Slade Gorton 
was reported to have said •It's federal law, let them enforce 
it." Justice Stewart is purported to have admonished Mr. Gorton 
that federal marshals were available to do just that. The story 
illustrates that constitutional struggles are not foreign to 
other sovereignties in the United States, even in this modern 
era. 

31see 2·5 u.s.c.. § 1302; Halona v. MacDonald, l Nav. R. 189, 
204 (Nav. Ct. App. 1978) (opining th~t 25 u.s.c. § 1302 
"precludes[] an exclusion of judicial review of legislative 
actions because that law [the Indian Civil Rights Act] is a 
mandate for Indian governments which necessarily assumes and 
requires judicial review of any allegedly illegal action by a 
tribal government"). 
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discredited: he didn't respond "It's John Marshall's law, let him 

enforce it."32 By contrast, the A.C. did enact Resolutions ACMY-

107-88 and ACMY-108-88 which have the effect of saying, "It's 

Robert Yazzie's law, let him enforce it." By directing a. Board 

which had been appointed pursuant to laws which had been declared 

"invalid and of no effect"33 to begin operating the Foundation 

and by directing NESF's employees to turn over the Foundation's 

business records to the Tribal government, the A.C. demonstrated 

that it has no intention of being bound by the adverse decisions 

of a Tribal court. 34 The message delivered by A.C. Resolutions 

ACMY-107-88 and ACMY-108-88 and Tribal Council Resolution CF-8-88 

is that, if the administration doesn't like the Tribal Courts' 

decisions, it will seek a legislative reversal of those 

32When I was doing res·earch on Professor Charles Wilkinson's 
book, American Indians. Time and the Law: Native Societies in a 
Modern Constitutional Democracy (Yale 1987), I found numerous 
scholarly works in which President Jackson's legendary reaction 
to the Worcester decision was debunked. 

33see Opinion and order, WR-CV-96-87 (Window Rock D. ct. 
September 18, 1987). 

34In a memorandum sent to the "MacDonald" appointees 
shortly after Judge Yazzie issued his September 18, 1987, opinion 
and Order, the Assistant Attorney General Bill Riordan 
recommended that the "MacDonald" Board seek a "legislative 
solution• to the Judge's ruling. Nothing in the record of this 
case, which includes the transcript of the meeting at which the 
Tribal Council enacted Resolution CF-8-88, indicates that the 
Council members or A.C. delegates were ever cautioned by the 
Department of Justice that such a "solution" could be interpreted 
as an unlawful usurpation of judicial authority or a violation of 
Tribal or federal law. 
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decisions, and-give those reversals retroactive effect. 35 

Second, unlike the federal courts, the Navajo Courts are 

apparently without any power to enforce their decisions: While 

the Tribal administration can - and did - employ the Tribal 

police to deprive NESF employees of access to the Foundation's 

business records, the Tribal Court had no reciprocal force to 

compel the Tribal administration to release NESF's books to their 

rightful owners. The testimony that Assistant Secretary of 

Indian Affairs Ross Swimmer delivered at the Commission's hearing 

in Washington, D.c., made it clear that neither the Tribal Courts 

nor NESF could appeal to the Bureau of Indian Affairs to 

withhold funding for the Trioal police until they ceased being 

used to interfere with NESF's adjudicated civil rights. As a 

result, the Courts and NESF are without a remedy to enforce 

NESF's adjudicated civil rights until a benevolent, civil-rights 

oriented administration is elected. 

PROPOSED SOLUTIONS 

As a non-Indian, I do not feel that it is my role to propose 

solutions to the situation at Navajo except to encourage the 

Commission to ask Indian people for their suggestions. I will 

suggest that any solution to the problem of enforcing civil 

35Albert Hale, former Deputy Assistant (Navajo) Attorney 
General, and Mike Nelson, formerly staff counsel to Chairman Zah, 
have told me that, during the Zah administration, the Attorney
General's office would c!ten present an unbiased legal analysis 
of a proposed law while the Chairman's attorneys would present 
the administration's position. In my experience, that isn't 
happening under the current administration. Rather, the 
Attorney General's office is being used to present the 
administration's position, and the opposition is being stifled. 
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rights in Indian country that involves a diminution of Tribal 

sovereignty should be accompanied by a restoration of Tribal 

sovereignty in areas where that sovereignty has been diminished 

by Congressional action or judicial decision, e.g., a restoration 

of criminal jurisdiction over non-Indians or non-member Indians 

where Tribes seek to assert such jurisdiction. 

I would like to comment on two solutions that I understand 

are being considered. First, I have read the draft amendments to 

the Indian civil Rights Act proposed by the Department of 

Justice. The bill proposes federal judicial review of Tribal 

court decisions and authorizes the Department of Justice to bring 

actions in federal court for civil rights violations on behalf of 

individuals when there is no Tribal forum available. The draft 

bill does not specify whether the federal courts should be 

limited to appellate, or whether they may exercise de novo, 

review. 

Even as a non-Indian, I have a number of serious problems 

with the draft bill and categorically do not support it in its 

original form. Also, if the draft bill had been in effect on 

February 25, 1987, when NESF's trouble with the Navajo Nation 

began, it would not have afforded any timely relief to the civil 

rights deprivations that NESF continues to suffer. It would not 

have enabled NESF employees to gain access to their records in a 

timely manner. It_would not have reduced the cost of NESF 

defending its rights against abusive conduct. by Tribal 

officials. It would not have stopped the Tribal government from 
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attempting to usurp judicial authority. 

The draft bill presupposes that the problem with enforcement 

of civil rights is in Tribal court. Nothing could be further 

from the truth at Navajo. Judge Robert Yazzie, who adjudicated 

the NESF case, was not swayed by Tribal politics when he ruled, 

contrary to the Tribal government's position, that NESF has been 

a non-Tribal entity since its inception. Although he is a 

probationary judge, Robert Yazzie was not motivated by personal 

or familial self-interest when he declared that laws enacted by 

the Advisory Committee were "invalid and of no effect". 

Throughout this litigation, it has been the Courts of the Navajo 

Nation, and particularly Judge Robert Yazzie, that have 

vigorously, and with principle, attempted to protect the rights 

of NESF against abuses by the Tribal government. 

Nothing in the draft bill would assist the Courts of the 

Navajo Nation _in their mission. Rather, it would simply add to 

the already exorbitant cost of attempting to protect a 

~itigant's rights from abuses by the Tribal government. In that 

if36regard, federal courts are to be authorized to review Tribal 

Court decisions, some mechanism for compensating an individual 

for the additional cost of that review should be enacted and 

funded. 

In contrast to the proposed Justice Department bill, the 

second pro:.,..osed solution to enforcement of civil rights in Indian 

36And, I in no way mean to imply support for the draft 
Justice Department bill. 
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country could have benefitted NESF if it had been in effect at 

the time this action arose. If 25 u.s.c. § 450m were read (or 

amended) to require the Secretary of the Interior to withhold 

funding to a Tribal program that is being used to discriminate 

against or violate an individual's adjudicated rights, NESF would 

probably have access to its business records today. Based upon 

Judge Yazzie's decisions of September 18, 1987, and June 2, 1988, 

NESF could have asked the Navajo Area Director to withhold 

funding for the Tribal police when they were used to deny NESF's 

employees access to the Foundation's business records. Once BIA 

resumed administration of police services on the reservation, 

NESF's employees could have obtained the Foundation's business 

records. In that way, BIA could have assisted in enforcing 

NESF's adjudicated rights, rather than funding the continued 

abridgement of those rights. 

I respect Indian Tribes and their authority, and ability, to 

govern. Based upon that respect, I oppose any diminution of 

Tribal sovereignty. However, I also respect the rights of 

individual Indian people. Where a Tribal government has shown 

itself unable or unwilling to enforce laws guaranteeing 

individual liberties, I believe the rights of the individual 

should take precedence over the authority of the government. 37 

37My belief that governmental authority should be prohibited 
where the exercise of that authority infringes on individual 
liberties seems to parallel the beliefs of the Navajo People. 
Before Congress enacted the Indian Civil Rights Act, the Navajo 
Tribal Council limited the Tribe's governmental authority by 
guaranteeing the People most of the rights accorded by the 
federal Bill of Rights. 
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Because of my respect for Tribal governments and my belief 

that any government's authority should not be pe=itted to 

infringe on basic individual liberties, I believe that, if the 

federal government is going to become actively involved in 

enforcing civil rights on Indian reservations, amending§ 450m is 

preferable to enacting the proposed Justice Department bill. 38 

First, amending§ 450m would "penalize" only those Tribes whose 

officials continue to abuse a person's civil rights, in violation 

of the Tribe's own court's orders. Tribes that honor their 

court's decisions would not be affected by the amendment. 39 

Second, withholding funding has a reservation-wide impact that 

could encourage Tribal members to take a second look at their 

Tribal officials, and the way in which those officials treat 

other branches of g_overnment and other persons. In that way, 

the amendment may encourage Indian people to oust oppressive 

officials and elect officials.who respect individual liberties 

38Again, I express no opinion as to whether federal 
intervention is necessary. 

39Tribes could seemingly get around a requirement tha~ BIA 
funding be withheld if it were used in the Tribe's effort to 
deprive an individual of his/her adjudicated rights by using non­
federal sources to fund the abridgement. However, the amendment 
could be written so as to pe=it BIA to withhold federal funding 
regardless of the source of funds used to finance the continued 
abridgements. If this approach were adopted, the amendment to§ 
450 would be similar to the Civil Rights Reauthorization Act. 
Also, language would be required to hold the BIA harmless for 
withholding funds in the event the Tribal Court's decision were 
overturned by the Tribe's appellate court. 
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and Tribal concepts of separation of powers. 40 

CONCLUSION 

As the Commission has heard in the past, one of the grievous 

"sins" that the federal government has historically perpetrated 

against Indian people and Indian Tribes is to treat them as one~ 

to make all Tribes and Indian people suffer for the perceived 

wrongs of one. While it is difficult for Congress to address the 

problems of each Tribe individually, it should not diminish the 

authority of the other Tribes on the ground that the Navajo 

Nation has abridged the rights of NESF. If anyone is to be held 

accountable for the Navajo Nation's abuse of authority, it should 

be that Tribe alone. In that regard, I encourage the Commission 

to be conservative and creative in its recommendations to 

congress and the President and, as others have done before me, I 

urge the Commission to guard against sweeping too broadly. 

Thank you for the opportunity to make thes~ comments. I 

wish you inspiration in your deliberations and recommendations. 

Sandy Hansen 
Attorney at Law 

40The notion of separation of powers is not foreign to the 
Navajo People. Writing for a unanimous Court in Halona v. 
MacDonald, 1 Nav. R. 189, 205 (1978), Justice Bluehouse said: 

[The Tribal Council and its Chairman have never questioned 
the authority of the Tribal Courts to pass upon the legality 
or meaning of Tribal Council actions.] That is because they 
have a traditional and abiding respect for the impartial 
adjudicatory process. When all have been heard and the 
decision is made, it is respected. This has been the Navajo 
way since before the time of the present judicial system. 
The Navajo People did not learn this principle from the 
white man. They have carried it with them through_history. 
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ACF-52-S7EXHIBIT A 

Class •c• Resolution 
No BIA Act ion Required. 

RESOLUTION OF THE 
ADVISORY COMMI.TTEE OF THE 

NAVAJO TRIBAL COUNCIL 

Confirming the Creation and Continuing Existence of the 
Nava;o Education and Scholarshio • n as an Entitv of 
ilie ~ 

A 

WHEREAS: 

l. Pursuant to Section IV (B) (1) of the Plan of Operation of the 
Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council, as approved and adopted by 
Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CJA-1-81, the Advisory Committee is 
empowered to create only •any. enterprise, college, ONEO, or other entity of 
the Navajo Nation by adoption of its Plan of Operation•, and is further 
authorized •to amend or rescind that Plan•: and 

2. The Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council is not 
authorized or empowered under its Plan of Operation, adopted and approved 
by Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CJA-1-81, to create nor to charter nor 
otherwise establish any entity separate and apart from the Navajo Nation; and 

3. No body or entity other than the Navajo Tribal Council, as the 
governing body of the Navajo Nation, pursuant to Title z, Navajo Tribal Code 
Section 101, nor the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council under 
those powers and authority delegated from the Navajo Tribal Council, is 
authorized to adopt, amend or rescind any or all provisions or articles of any 
Plan of Operation of any entity of the Navajo Nation: nor is the Advisory. 
Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council authorized or empowered to redelegate 
such authority to any entity: and 

4. Pursuant to the authority ·and powers of the Advisory Committee 
of the Navajo Tribal Council as hereinabove set forth in paragraphs (1) and 

. (Z},- the-Ad-visor-y-GammiHee-erea:ted and e-st:rnllshed the Nava30 Education and 
Scholarship Foundation on October lZ, 1983 as an entity of the Navajo Nation 
by Advisory Committee Resolution ACO-171-83, approving -and adopting a Plan 
of Operation for the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, therein 
designated _as • Articles of Incorporation of the· Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation, a nonprofit Corporation chartered under the authority 
of the Navajo Tribe of Indians•; and 
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5. Nci-ther the Navajo Tribal Council nor the Advisory Committee of 
the Navajo Tribal Council has ever rescinded the Plan of Operation of the 
Navajo Education and Scholarshi? Foundation, approved and adopted by 
Advisory Committee Resolution AC0-171-83 (supra); and 

6. The Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council by 
Resolution ACN-183-86, purported to approve •amendment by substitution of 
. . . amended Articles of Incorporation of the Navajo Education and Scholarship. 
Foundation, Inc.", without hearing, consideration, deliberation or further.~ 
discussion of any specific amendments thereto, in the transcript of the official,.!, 
record of that action, on November 13, 1986, attached as Exhibit "A" hereto; 
and 

7. The Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council has 
determined that no such purported amendment to the Plan of Operation of any 
entity of the Navajo Nation should be approved or adopted without full 
disclosure of each specific deletion and addition of every proposed amendment 
thereto, with opportunity for due deliberation by the Advisory Committee to 
determine the substance and compliance thereof with all applicable authority 
and laws of the Navajo Nation. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT:. 

l. The Advisory Com~ittee of·. the Navajo Trio~! Council hereby 
affirms that the creation, establishment and continuing existence of the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation only as an entity of the Navajo Nation, 
pursuant to Advisory Committee Resolution ·AC0-171-83. 

2. The Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal . Council hereby 
rescinds in full Resolution ACN-183-86 of the Advisory Committee of the Navajo 
Tribal Council,- hereby declaring null 'and void any and all purported 
amendments by substitution or otherwise, of the Plan of Operation of the 
Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, Inc., purported to be approved 
thereby. 

3. The Advisory Com~ittee of the Navajo Tribal Council hereby 
amends the Plan of Operation of the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation as approved and adopted by Advisory Committee Re-solution 
AC0-171-83, by deletion of. all provisions• stricken by strike marks (/ // /) 
therefrom, and by additions underlined therein, as set forth in _Exhibit· "B", 
·attached hereto :ind incorp~rated herein. • 

,f. ·The Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council hereby 
amends ·the Articles of Incorporatipn of the Navajo Education and Scholarship. 
Foundation as a not for profit corporate entity of the Navajo Nation, certified 
under the authority of the Nav:..;o Nation, by substituting therefor, the 
articles as amended in the Plan of Operation of the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation, attached as Exhibit "B" hereto and by reference 
incorporated therein. 
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5. .:.nc Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council hereby 
a!firms tha: any and all rights, title and interests of any kind or nature. 
including real, ?ersonal, mixed, or other property rights, whether vested, 
beneficial, inchoate or contingent. and whether previously, now or hereafter 
acquired, held or received by, for or on behalf of or on account for the 
Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation (a.k.a. Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation, Inc., NESF, etc.), a nonprofit Corporation chartered 
under the authority of the Navajo Tribe of ~dians, a not for profit 
Corporation chartered under the authority of the Navajo Nation, or any other 
designation, alter ego, successor or assignee thereof are and shall be and 
remain the rights, title and property of the Navajo Nation (a.k.a. the Navajo 
Tribe of Indians), subject to the uses, purposes and conditions set forth in 
the Plan of Operation, designated as Articles of Incorporation for the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation (Inc.), a nonprofit Corporation . 
chartered under the authority of the Navajo Tribe of Indians, adopted and 
approved by Resolution ACO-171-83 of the Advisory Committee of the Navajo 
Tribal Council on October 12, 1983, as amended herein. 

6. The Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council hereby 
affirms that no assignment, transfer, encumbrance or other alienation of any 
rights or property .of the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, an 
entity of the Navajo Nation created by Advisory Committee Resolution 
ACO-171-83, under any name or designation whatsoever, nor any incorporation 
or other organization or reorganization thereof under the laws of any 
jurisdiction other than the Navajo Nation are or shall be authorized or valid 
without express consent by lawful resolution of the Navajo Tribal Council or of 
the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council, and then only to the 
extent of and subject to the limitations of such authorization. 

CERTIFICATION 

I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was duly considered 
by the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council at a duly called 
meeting at Window Rock, Navajo Nation (Arizona), at which a quorum was 
present and that same was passed by a vote of 11 in favor and O opposed, 
this 25th day of February, 1987. 
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ACF-53-87 

Class 1 C" Resolution 
No BIA Action Required. 

RESOLUTION OF THE 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE OF THE 

NAVAJO TRIBAL-t"bUN°CIL -

WHEREAS: 

l. The Advisory Committee of the .. Navajo Tribal Council is 
authori:z:ed and empowered by Section 4 (B) (l) •of its Plan of Operation, by 
Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CJA-1-81, to . cr!!!ate any entity of the Navajo 
Nation by adopting its Plan of Operation- and to amend or rescind that Plan; 
and 

z. By Resolution ACO-171-83, the Advisory Committee of the Navajo 
Tribal Council adopted the Plan of Operation of the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation as an entity -~f the Navajo Nation; and 

3. By Resolution ACN-183-86, the "Advisory Committee of the Navajo 
Tribal Counc:il; purported to .amend said Plan of Operation 9f the Navajo 
Education ' and Schqlarship Foundation, ··including the constitution and 
appointment of members of its Board of ·Trustees; and 

4. By Resolution ACF-52-87,.- adopted February 25, •. 1987, the 
Advisory Committee of the Navajo ,Tribal Council rescinded '·Resolution 
ACN-183-86 in f~l, affirmed the cr~_ation of .Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation as a Tribal·· entity , under its. 'Plan.· of Operation . adopted by 
Resolution ACO-171-83, ·:' and amcn'ded' that ~Plan of Operation, .including 
authori:z:ing the Chairman •'of the "Na:vajo Trib~l:~Counc:il to declare v:acant the 
seat of any member of the Board ·of Trustees and to appoint any successor 
Trustees with the concurrence of the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal 
~uncil; and 

5. Current disputes and confusion concerning the constitution. and 
lawful membership .,f the Board Of' Trustees. of the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation have arisen~ and remain unresolved and threaten the 
continuing ability of the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation to 
perform and accomplish its functions and duties·. pursuant to its Plan of 
O?eration as approved by the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal 
Council. 

\ 
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NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT: .~· . 
l. The Advisory Comntlttee of the Navajo Tribal Council hereby 

a!firms and concurs with the· removal.. by· the" Chairman of the Navajo Tribal 
Council of all prior and existing-.: members' of the'· Board of Trustees of the 
Navajo Education and Scholarship;- Foundation, attached as Exhibit •A•. and 
incorporated herein.· ' •• •

' - -· -· ,..... -,: ;-· ::... . . -
Z. The Advisory Cpmmittee ··of t_he ~avajo Tribal Council. hereby 

approves the appointment· by the ._~hairm.an .of\the Navajo Tribal Council of the 
following named ten . (10) members: tO:.--the :· Board. of Trustees of-.. the Navajo 
Education .and Scholarship •Foundatior(::to ~ succeed_ and replace all prior and 
existing members thereof,- pursuan't' to ;_.Exhibit.;·•-A• ·attached and incorporated 
herein: .:f •• • •• '··· • • 

Dani~! Tso .• ,:-. -Crvn/'J, cck<.e, Cc),rl.rn,fk.o 
Donald Benally..•. ·' 
Loyce Phoenix:'.~ - UO 

• Rebecca Martgan '!.64 ee- -lo 1,t'R -ia 7rt&(.) 
.,.Bobby. Charley: •• -f1$sf ,t,, V1U- (;J;',.., _ 

Richard ·Kont:z: - .. • D,~eelt;r CM,{E, taA; UAcl:/ kn) 
Pat;l Sage ,t··. . , • - e:rf11L,.. " J::.t,<.ir:.:, a;n,.,,.,,-fkc_, ir.or 
Kee Ike ·Ya:z::z:i~..,." . . . 

- Manuel Shirley •• -(:,/yWJ C-t11. C.5 -.; /;;,.<.Jo ~,.,.,11:C'-' 
Lewis Calamity·_•: .. : ' 

.. ···-· . 
••'=:;~;_-,:,<=-=-;:f:·\:·:"~--;.;:~·:•:;~* ·:.--..:.:. •:· :-• : ·.::. .. 
../ CERTIE:ZCATION •.{:-i~~d" .. 

··•1···~- -----~r •. ~·-:··.· -···._.• '.};,' ··:~~;~:;:..~,- ~-::~--~~t.s.---.. ;.~-----:=~:.-.~-v~:;.:>-: •. 
. . . :·I hereby,:certify' that.:the."':foregoing,; resolution' was;,:duly,~:considered 

by the ·:·Advisory·· Committee . of,. ~e ·:;N_~~ajo'°fr{1_h~iil!.:,~u~cil;;'aq i (duly. called 
meeting,. ·at,... Window Rock. •Navajo ~iltion;:~{~~:i;j)n~)·, :: at: which· a";'..quorum- was 
present and·. that· same··wa.s passC;dJ}:iyi;a:,;._vi;it_iifo~fll·-:~ ~avor~·and-(0 opposed, 

w, zsth ~¥ "' F.s~=· ""'J!t\'.~~•Mf':;EP /?;' _ • 
... ... halrm . ... . : . ~~ • 
• avajo:Trib l"Councif•;:·

•. ·::.. ~ 
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EXHIBIT B 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE NAVA.JO NATION 

JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF WINDOW ROCK, ARIZONA 

WR-CV-96-87 

FINDING OF PACTS, CONCLUSION OF LAW 

OPINION AND ORDER 

ONALD BENALLY, et. al. 
Relaters 

vs. 

UY GORMAN, et. al. 
Respondents. 

Upshaw, Attorney General, William A. Riordan and Arita 
Navajo Nation Department of Justice, Attorneys for Rela-

ichard Hughes, Luebben, Hughes, Tomita & Borg Law Firm; Dale T. 
ite and Sandra Hansen,Fredricks & Pelciger Law Firm, Attorneys 

or Respondents. 

UDGE ROBERT YAZZIE PRESIDING 

INTRODUCTION 

This case involves the question whether the Navajo Education 

nd Scholarship Foundation (hereinafter NESF or "The Foundation"} 

is a Tribal entity or a private Non-Profit Corporation. The 

oundation ·was organized solely for purposes of raising funds 

from private and public sources to support the education goals and 

rograms for the benefit of Navajo students. 

To determine the legal status of the Foundation, this Court 

look at the authority of the Advisory Committee and the 

and responsibilities of a corporate entity under Navajo 

aw. 
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PARTIES 

1. Petitioners Michael P. Upshaw is the Attorney General of 

he Navajo Nation. 

2. Relaters include Donald Benally, Daniel Tso, Loyce .Phoe­

ix, Rebecca Martgan, Bobby Charley, Richard Kantz, Paul Sage, Kee 

ke Yazzie and Manuel Shirley. 

3. Respondents include Guy Gorman, Sr., Vivian L. Arviso, 

louise DeGroat, Annie D. Wauneka, Alyce Rouwalk, Rosalind Zah, 

avid L. Tsosie and Albert A. Yazzie. 

4. All the individual relaters and respondents are enrolled 

embers of the Navajo Tribe with permanent residence with the Na­

ajo Nation. 

5. Navajo Education Scholarship Foundation, Inc., was estab­

ished and created on October 12, 1983. 

6. The principal place ct NESF is at Window Rock, Navajo Na-

ion. 

.JURISDICTION 

7 . .Jurisdiction arises pursuant to 7 N.T.C. section 253 (2) in 

hat the cause ot action hereto have occurred within the territo­

ial jurisdiction of the Navajo Nation. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. On .January 28, 1981 the Navajo Tribal Council adopted a re­

ised Plan of Operation for the Advisory Committee of the Navajo 

ribal Council. See Resolution C.JA-1-81 at 2 N.T.C. 341-344 (1985 

upp.} In that Resolution, the Tribal Council authorized the Ad-
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isory Committee "[to] create any enterprises, colleges, O.N.E.O., 

r other entity of the Navajo Nation by adoption of it Plan of Op­

ration and to amend or rescind that plan ... " 2 N.T.c. 343 

b). 

2. The Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation was first 

stablished by the Advisory Committee by Resolution AC0-171-83. 

nder this resolution, the Advisory Committee adopted NESF Ar­

icles of Incorporation and declared NESP as a "nonprofit, 

on-member Corporation." The resolution further provided that: 

a) The Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council appoint NESP 

oard of Trustees, with Advisory Committee concurrence. See Ar­

icle V (DI. 

b) The Advisory Committee has fu~l authority to approved any 

d all amendments to the NESF Articles of Incorporation. (See Ar­

IX.) 

3. On_ J'anuary 30, 1986, the Navajo Tribal Council enacted the 

Nation Corporation Code and Navajo Nation Non-Profit Corpo­

ation Act by Resolution CJ'A-2-86, which became effective August 

, 1986. 

4. On November 13, 1986 the Advisory Committee approved amend­

ents to NESF Articles of Incorporation by Resolution.ACN-183-86. 

hat resolution: 

a) Gave the majority of a quorum of NESF Board of Trustees 

uthority to appoint future trustees of NESP. (~ Article [D]);. 

b) Eliminated the need for Advisory Committee approval 

f amendments to NESP Articles of Incorporation, and authorized 

he NESF Board·of Trustees to amend the articles; and 
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c) The Advisory Committee further authorized HESll' 

oard of Trustees nto comply with the Navajo Tribal law by filing 

the amended) Articles of Incorporation with the Commerce Depart­

ent to comply with the Navajo Tribal Law.a 

5. The first NESF Board of Trustees, Respondents herein, are: 

Guy Gorman, Sr. Alyce Rouwalk 
Vivian L. Arviso Rosalind Zah 
Elouise DeGroat David :I. Tsosie 
Annie D. Wauneka Albert A. Yazzie 

6. On December 18, 1986, the Commerce Department issued NESF a 

ertificate of Incorporation, authorizing it to transact business 

ithin the Navajo Nation as a non-Profit Corporation. 

7. On February 25, 1981, the Advisory Committee passed two 

esolutions which attempted to: 

a) Reestablish NESF only as an entity of the Navajo Nation. 

he Advisory Committee fully rescinded Resolution ACN-183-86 which 

d created NESF - a private nonprofit corporation, separate from 

he Navajo Nation. The Advisory Committee further declared the 

ESF Articles of Incorporation as null and void. ~ Resolution 

CF-52-81. 

b) Remove all the existing members of the Board 1 (Respon­

ents) and replace them with the Relaters as successors of NESF 

oard of Trustees: 

Donald Benally Richard Kontz 
Daniel Tso Paul Sage 
Loyce Phoenix Kee Ike Yazzie 
Rebecca Martgan Manuel Shirley 
Bob~y Charley Lewis Calamity 

(;_ 
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8. On March 13, 1987, the Navajo Nation and on behalf of Re­

ators filed Quo Warrant Proceeding against Respondents to prevent 

espondents from taking any further action as NESF. 

9. Because of the unresolved question of which Board is i~ the 

alid Board of NESF, it was necessary during the pendency of this 

ction, the Court appoint these persons as the Interim Trustees 

o manage and direct the daily affairs of NESF. 

ISSUES 

I. WAS THE ACTION OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON NOVEMBER 13, 
986 PROPER AND VALID? 

II. WAS THE ACTION OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON FEBRUARY 25, 
987 PROPER AND VALID? 

OPINION 

ntroduction 

'When a court is faced with reviewing any legislative action,· 

hat review must be conducted under certain principles. The main 

rinciple of judicial review is the presumption that the legisla­

ive act is proper and legal. The word "presumption" is a legal 

erm which means that a thing is accepted as true or proven unless 

hat presumption is rebutted by evidence to the contrary. One of 

he factors in determining whether an act is proper or legal is 

hether the legislative action is rationally related to a le-

i timate governmental purpose .. 

A second presumption guiding the courts is that the 

egislators acted from proper motives. If the legislative body 

id a proper-and legal act the court will not examine the motives 
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t the legislators. Motives will be examined only to the extent 

eeded to determine it the legislative action should be in­

alidated on grounds ot fraud and bad faith. 

A government consists ot at least three functions: determi­

ation of principles and policies of the society being governed; 

xecution of those policies through the instruments of government: 

nd resolution of questions and disputes arising under the prin­

iples and polices ot the society. 

The formulation of principles and policies should be done as 

lose to the people as possible. In the United States this usu­

lly means the legislative bodies whose delegates are representa­

ives of the people. The reason tor this is that no government 

an exist indefinitely without the support and voluntary obedience 

f a majority of t,he people. 

2 N.T.C. section 101 says that the Navajo Tribal Council is 

he gover~ing body of the Navajo Tribe. A review of the Navajo 

ribal Code indicates that Tribal Council as representatives of 

he Navajo people retained to itself the legislative functions and 

stablished the Executive Branch and the Judicial Branch to carry 

ut the other functions ot government. 

As has happened with the states and federal government, the 

avajo Nation government became so complex that further authority 

ad to be delegated. Generally, this delegation has been to ad­

inistrative agencies. The Navajo Nation is experiencing a 

evelopment of administrative bodies and of administrative law. 

The search for ways to make large and complex government ef­

icient has not stopped with administrative agencies. Governments 
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lso make use of corporations to provide certain governmental ser­

ices. 

It appears to the Court that the underlying questions in this 

ase are delegations of authority and the validity of those del­

gations. 

Tribal Council has delegated certain powers to the Advisory 

ommittee. Historically, the Advisory Committee has exercised pow­

rs in excess of those given to the other committees of the Tribal 

ouncil. The Court has not done an extensive study of the histor7 

f the Advisory Committee but finds that the Plan of Operation of 

he Advisory Committee which was passed by ~ribal Council on 

anuary 28, 1981, is the current delegation under which the Advi­

ory Committee operates. A review of the Navajo Tribal Code shows 

hat many statutes under which the Navajo Nation operates were 

assed by the Advisory Committee but not the full Tribal Counc±l. 

n effect Advisory Committee often operates as a second legisla­

ive body. The Court, however, does not have the enormous task of 

eciding whether this is proper. All the court need consider for 

urposes of this case is whether the Advisory Committee had the 

ewer to establish NESF in 1983 and the validity of subsequents 

cts of the Advisory Committee toward NESF. 

The Plan of Operation of the Advisory Committee sets forth 

purposes of the Advisory Committee. Those purposes include at 

N.T.C. section 341 (b): 

(1) Act as the Executive Committee of the Navajo Tribal 

ouncil with general authority (as specifically provided herein), 

o act for the Navajo Tribal Council at such times when the Navajo 
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ribal Council is not in session. 

(2) Monitor and coordinate the activities of all divi­

ions, departments, and enterprises of the Navajo Nation 

The Plan of Operation of the Advisory Committee contains the 

ollowing enumerated power: 

To create any enterprise, college, ONEO, or other entity of 
the Navajo Nation by adoption of its Plan of Operation, and 
to amend or rescind that Plan, and to amend, or rescind the 
Plans of Operation of any entiti'es already created by the 
Tribal Council. 2 N.T.C. Section 343 (B) (1). 

This is apparently one of the "specifically provided" powers 

eferred to in 2 N.T.C. section 341 (b)(l). 

By this Plan of Operation the Navajo Tribal Council delegated 

o the Advisory Committee the power to crea~e and abolish entities 

f the Navajo Nation. The Court is not able to determine whether 

his was a new delegation of authority. It is clear that in the 

arly years tribal entities and enterprises were established by 

Navajo Tribal Council. 

The word "entity" generally means an organization or body 

has some existence independent of its individual members and 

An entity has a recognized existence and being of its own. 

or example; the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council 

s an entity. It has existed for many years even though the 

individual members have changed. An entity may also be a 

orporation. 

Advisory Committee was delegated the power to create enti­

ties. The Court finds as a matter of first impression that ,this 

elegation by Tribal Council was proper. 
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Advisory Committee was given the power to create an entity by 

dopting its plan ot operation. The Advisory Committee was given 

he power to rescind plans of operation. This implies the right to 

bolish an entity. Advisory Committee had the authority to estab­

ish NESF as a tribal entity in 1983. The question is whether t~e 

dvisory Committee did in fact create the foundation as a tribal 

ntity by adopting its Plan of Operation. The Advisory Committee 

ever adopted a Plan of Operation designated as such for the foun­

ation. The Advisory Committee instead adopted "Articles of In­

orporation of the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation." 

It is easy to assume that because the Navajo Nation did not 

ave a Corporation Code prior to January 30, 1986, that the Navajo 

ation could not authorize incorporations prior to that time. This 

s incorrect. The Court has briefly reviewed the history of c~r­

in England and the United States. In this review the. 

relied on Ballentine on Corporations, Rev. Ed. (1946). 

In England, prior to corporation acts, charters were granted 

ither by the king or by a special act of Parliament. In the 19th 

entury England passed acts that dealt with the chartering of cor-

oration. 

In the United States corporations were created by special 

cts of the various state legislatures until the 19th century when 

he states began adopting general incorporation laws open to all 

pplicants. Ballentine at section 8 (a) jays: 

State legislatures have plenary power to create corporations. 
Formerly, corporations were created exclusively by special 
acts-- that is, by acts creating a particular corporation, as 
distinguished from a general law allowing any persons to 
organize themselves into and be a corporation by complying 
with prescribed conditions; and corporations may still be 
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created by special act, in the absence of a constitutional 
prohibition. Corporations may also be created under the au­
thority of general laws. In most of the states, in order to 
remove the danger of favoritism and corruption in the cre­
ation of corporations, the people have adopted constitutional 
provisions declaring that, with certain exceptions, the leg­
islature shall not pass any special act creating a corpora­
tion, but that corporations shall be formed under general 
+aws only; and where there is such a prohibition, a special 
act creating a corporation is absolutely void. Formerly when 
a corporation was to be organized a private bill had to be 
introduced in the legislature, referred to a committee, 
passed through both houses and signed by the governor of the 
state. Delay, expense and corruption often resulted. Gen­
eral incorporation laws now make it possible for almost any 
enterprise to be conducted in corporate form upon compliance 
with simple formalities. 

The Court finds that prior to the enactment of the Navajo Na­

ion Corporation Code the Navajo Tribal Council had the inherent 

overnmental power to charter corporations. This inherent govern­

ental power was recognized by the Navajo Tribal Council in 1979 

hen it chartered Toyei Industries. The first "whereas" clause of 

he resolution (CAP-13-79) granting the corporate charter says, 

"The authority to grant charters to corporations is an element of 

he inherent sovereignty of the Navajo Nation." 

The chartering of corporation was done on an individual basis 

equiring a separate act of Tribal Council for each incorporation. 

1th the adoption of the Navajo Nation Corporation Code the Navajo 

ation provided a uniform procedure for the chartering of corpora-

tions and provided certain laws under which each corporation must 

function. 

The Court is persuaded by certain exhibits submitted by peti­

tioners that the authority to charter corporations was never del­

gated to Advisory Committee. The Court is particularly persuaded 

y the minutes of Tribal Council on January 28, 1981, at which the 
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lan of Operation of the Advisory Committee was adopted that sue~ 

ewer was deliberately withheld from Advisory Committee. 

On its face the act of the Advisory Committee on October 12, 

purporting to grant a charter, was in excess of its author-

As the Advisory Committee was in the habit of establishing 

tribal entities and calling the authorizing document a "Plan of 

peration" the Court finds that Advisory Committee intended to 

harter NESF as a corporation. 

Although Advisory Committee had no authority on October 12, 

1983, to charter corporations, the Court finds that the subsequent 

curse of dealing with the NESF by the Navajo Tribal Government 

atified the act of incorporation. 

Navajo students and the public, particularly donors, were.al-

lowed to believe NESF was properly chartered. The Budget and Fi­

ance Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council authorized a grant to 

ESF from the Pittsburgh and Midway Coal Mining Company Scholar­

hip account to the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation 

(BFAU-118-86). The Navajo Nation permitted NESF to solicit funds 

or construction of an education center and to oversee the con­

truction of the center. The Navajo Tribal Council appropriated 

unds ($1,000,000) toward construction of the building (CS-72-85). 

etitioners' exhibits contain documents which were drawn up to 

ransfer the building to the Navajo Tribe with NESF having the 

right to lease space in the center as consideration for the ef­

forts of NESF in raising the money to build the center. On October 

12, 1983, the Advisory Committee granted a charter to NESF and 
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he Navajo Tribe Government thereafter acted toward NESF and al­

owed NESF to be held out to the public as a properly chartered 

orporation. 

The Court is not prepared to say that a governmental functic~ 

as delegated to NESF. The 1983 Articles authorize NESF to "so­

icit funds from private and public sources for the support of the 

ducational goals and programs of the Navajo Tribe." (Article 

II, B.} That Article also designates some specific purposes for 

hich the solicited funds could be used. Soliciting funds for the 

se of Navajo People does not appear to be an exclusive governmen­

al activity. Petitioners cite certain Tribal Code section on so­

icitation of funds as support for the argument that NESF was a 

tribal entity. These sections were passed by Tribal Council in 

1970 making it a crime to solicit funds without authority in the 

ame of the Navajo Tribe or Navajo groups "for the purpose of de­

frauding.the Navajo Tribe, the Navajo People, or any group, class 

or individuals thereof." At the same time Tribal Council set forth 

conditions under which the authority to solicit funds could be 

granted. Those sections were contained in Chapter 3 of Title 17 

of the Navajo Tribal Code. Chapter 3 was repealed in 1977 with 

the revision of Title 17 which is known as the Navajo Tribal 

Criminal Code. 

The act of incorporation creates an entity that for certain 

purposes is regarded as a legal person and is entitled to certain 

civil rights .guarantees. May a legislative body delegate to a 

private "person" certain powers and authority normally exercised 

by that legislative body? The Court has relied to some degree on 
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utherland Statutory Const::-uction (4th Ed.) tor guidance on the 

ssues ot delegation of power. In Sutherland the issue of valid 

elegation comes under the threshold question of constitutionally, 

articularly the U.S. Constitution. The U.S. Constitution con­

ains broad parameters of the power which each branch of govern­

ent may exercise. In addition the Tenth Amendment states: 

The powers not delegated to the United States by the consti­
tution, nor prohibited by it to the States, are reserved to 
the States respectively, or the people. 

Here we have the enabling document ct the U.S. goverrunent 

elegating power from the people to the three branches of govern­

In the Navajo Nation, the governing power was originally 

in Tribal Council which delegated certain powers to the Ex­

cutive Branch and the ~udicial Branch. Despite these differences, 

d perhaps in light ot them, the Court tinds the material in 

utherland instructive. Section 4.11 ot the treatise deals with 

delegation of legislative power to priva~e persons. 

Generally a delegation to a private person to decide what the 

shall be or when a law shall be ettective has been held in-

alid. On the other hand, delegation ot legislative power to pri­

ate persons which is more of an administrative decision making 

process has-been upheld. The granting ot eminent domain powers to 

rivately owned utility companies with the companies ha~ing the 

authority to decide what properties should be taken and when has 

een upheld. Private agricultural and environmental groups have 

een given the authority to nomina·te candidates for appointment to 

tish and game consarvation and control agency. This was upheld 

on the grounds that a delegation of legislative authority is legal 
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there are sufficient safeguards to assure that arbitrary power 

not concentrated in persons or groups motivated by 

elf-interest. In additidn, private persons are frequently del­

gated powers in the creation of new political subdivisions, such 

drainage, water or reclamation areas, schools, park 

istricts, etc. 

The Court is not prepared to say there was a delegation to 

ESF. If there was, it appears to have been a valid delegation. 

NESF has not been delegated any law making powers. The pur-

oses of NESF are limited. NESF is subject to the laws of the Na­

ajo Nation through the Navajo Nation Corporation Code. The Code 

ets out a procedure for involuntary dissolution and for revoca­

ion of the articles of incorporation. 

The nex~ question is one of tribal property. The Court is .. 
ot convinced that NESF has ever had "tribal property" other than 

that app~opriated from-the Navajo Tribe to NESF for specific pur­

oses. The Court is thinking in particular of the $1,000,000 ap­

propriated for the building and the one time appropriation from 

the Budget and Finance Committee in 1986. The 1983 Articles at 

rticle III B. 2. state as one of the uses of funds collected: 

To provide for the construction of a Navajo Education Center 
to bel·ong to the Navajo Tribe and to house the programs of 
the Navajo Division of Education and related programs of the 
Navajo Tribe. It may do this either by providing funds to 
the Navajo Tribe for·use in constructing said building, or 
elje by otherwise participating in its construction pursuant 
to agreements entered into between the corporation and the 
Navajo Tribe. 

As for any other property that might have belonged to the Na­

vajo Nation, it appears that it was placed in the control of NESF 
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y the Navajo Nation. 

The 1983 Articles at Arti~le IV on dissolution of NESF pro-

ides: 

In the event of the liquidation or dissolution of the Corpo­
ration, whether voluntary or involuntary, no director, 
trustee, officer of the Corporation, or any other private 
person shall be entitled to any distribution or divisi"on of• 
its assets. Any assets remaining to the corporation at dis­
solution or liquidation, after paying or providing for its 
liabilities, shall be distributed to one or more nonprofit, 
charitable organizations which are true-exempt under section 
501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code or its successors, 
or, if permissible under federal tax law then in effect, to 
the Navajo Tribe, to be used to carry on activities consis­
tent with purposes for which this corporation was organized. 
The specific recipients will be determined by written agree­
ment between the corporation and the Navajo Tribe. Any as­
sets not so distributed by a Court of the Navajo Tribe to 
such a nonprofit, charitable organization, or to the Navajo 
Tribe if permissible under federal tax law then in effect, in 
accordance with said purposes. 

Article IV of the 1986 Articles Provides: 

In the event of the liquidation or dissolution of the Corpo­
ration, whether voluntary or involuntary, no Trustee, Officer 
of the Corporation, or any other private person shall be en-
titied to any distribution or division of its assets. Any 
assets remaining to the Corporation at dissolution or 
liquidation, after paying or providing for its liabilities, 
shall be distributed to one or more not for profit, 
charitable organizations for purposes of awarding scholar­
ships to Navajo students which organizations are true exempt 
under Section 50l(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 
or its successors. 

The 1983 Articles provided for options for disposition of the 

ssets of NESF on dissolution. One of those optional distributees 

ts the Navajo Tribe. It seems unlikely that the Navajo Tribe 

ould be only a possible recipient of property it already owned. 

he 1986 Articles provide no choices. The only distributees upon 

issolution are nonprofit organizations providing scholarships to 

avajo students. The assets which are acquired to benefit Navajo 
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tudents must be distributed for their benefit upon dissolution o= 

ESE'. 

In addition the Nonprofit Code at section 320 prohibits 

hares of stock and dividends. Section 303 permits a merger or 

onsolidation only if the corporation surviving the merger is a 

onprofit corporation. 

The situation is somewhat analogous to a trust with NESF be­

the trustee and Navajo students being the beneficiaries. 

This is very different from the situation in Tome v. Navajo 

Nav. R. 159 (Window Rock District Court. 1983) where the 

ontemplated transaction would have given a private individual ab­

elute ownership of tribal assets. In Tome the Court also found 

there were sufficient disparities in the valuation of the as­

to raise the questions of fiduciary responsibilities and !:!'_ood 

aith in the transfer of assets. Through the NESF money is taken 

in and distributed outside the legislative process. Through the 

SF certain people are designated to oversee the funds. It does 

ot appear that any intrinsic governmental powers have been del-

gated to the Foundation. The Court further finds that no tribal 

ssets have been removed from the intended beneficiaries. NESF, 

oth prior to November 13, 1986, and after, receives and 

istributes funds for the benefit of Navajos. 

The Court holds that the Advisory Committee chartered the 

ESE' and that the Navajo Nation ratified that by subsequent acts. 

holding is very limited as it pertains to NESF. Advisory 

ommittee has the power to create and abolish tribal entities. It 

oes not have the power to grant corporate charters. 
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NESF was given the power to solicit donations and to distrib­

te those donations, The Court is not convinced, however, that 

his is an exclusive delegation. The Court sees no prohibition on 

he Navajo Nation soliciting and negotiating for scholarship and 

ducational donations to be given to the Navajo Nation or to NESF. 

he Navajo Nation through its appropriate governmental bodies may 

hannel donations to NESF or may make appropriations to NESF. 

he Navajo Nation may also make other dispositions of educational 

nd scholarship donations to the Navajo Nation that are not incon­

istent with the terms and conditions of the donation. 

No specific property has been identified to th~ Court as be­

ng in question. The court can address the issue only in the lim­

ted manner above. 

ISSUE I. 

WAS THE ACTION OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
ON NOVEMBER 13, 1986 PROPER AND VALID? 

The 1983 Articles provided for participation by the Advisory 

ommittee in two instances. The trustees were to be appointed by 

he Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council and their appointment 

oncurred by the Advisory Committee, Article V. D, Article IV pro­

ided: 

These Articles of Incorporation may be amended by a majority 
vote of the Board of Trustees. Prior written notice of at 
least two weeks shall be given to all members of the Board of 
Trustees of any proposed change in the Articles. No amend­
ment or alteration of the Articles of Incorporation shall 
take effect until the same is approved by a vote of the Advi­
sory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council. 

On November 13, 1986, the Advisory Committee by resolution 

CN-183-86 approved amended Articles of Incorporation for NESF. 
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his action of approval was authorized under the original Articles 

Incorporation. 

The Advisory Committee also authorized NESF to tile the 

ended Articles with the Commerce Department to comply with Na-

ajo Tribal law. It is not clear that Advisory Committee had the 

uthority to direct such tiling. It is clear, however, that NESF 

ad the authority to tile its Articles and receive a certificate 

t incorporation. 

NESF was already a corporation chartered by the Navajo Na­

tion. When NESF tiled its amended Articles on November 13, 1986, 

it subjected itself to the laws of the Navajo Nation for the 

regulation and supervision ot corporations as contained in the Na­

ajo Nation Corporation Code. 

The action of Advisory Committee in approving the amended ._Ar­

icles was proper even though by the act Advisory Committee ap-. 

roved a change in the way the Board is selected and removed from 

the Advisory Committee any authority to approve future amendments 

to the Articles of Incorporation. 

The Court has found nothing in its review of this case and 

the law which could have been prohibited the Advisory Committee 

from retaining in the Articles of Incorporation certain powers and 

authority even though the corporation is registered under the Na­

ajo Nation Corporation Code. This was not done. 

ISSUE II 

WAS THE ACTION OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
FEBRUARY 25, 1987 PROPER AND VALID? 

-Prior to passage of the Navajo Nation Corporation Code, cor-
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orations chartered by the Navajo Nation were dissolved either 

oluntarily or involuntarily by act of Tribal Council. Just as 

he Corporation Code provides a uniform method for the chartering 

f corporations, it also provides uniform procedures for the 

egulation of corporations. 

One of the rights of corporations is due process. The Court 

finds that at the very least this means that changes in the corpo­

ate structure must be according to law. The Navajo Nation Corpo­

ration Code provides procedures for the amendment of articles of 

incorporation and procedures for the dissolution of corporations. 

nee the foundation became a corporation it automatically received 

he legal right to have the law followed in actions regarding the 

foundation. 

The Court understands the desire of the Advisory Committe~ to 

continue to have input into NESF. As was expressed earlier in 

opinion, the Court generally will not examine the motives be­

ind a leglslative act if the act itself is proper and valid. The 

pposite is also true. The Court will not examine the motives be­

ind a legislative act if the act itself is improper or invalid. 

he act of the Advisory Committee on February 25, 1987, was not 

ccording to the law of the Navajo Nation and the best of inten­

ions will not make it so. 

NESF was incorporated on October 12, 1983. It registered un­

er and became subject to the Navajo Nation Corporation Code on 

ovember 13, 1986, by filing its Articles of Incorporation. The 

Court holds that any subsequent acts toward NESF which were not in 

ccord with its Articles of Incorporation and with the Navajo Na-
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avajo Nation 
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j /1-. (_ 
EX!IIBIT C ~ I I;,_ /) •' --_,,_: 

FOCFOS@ Rl:501.UTICN a= 11-iE 
1-0vl':JJN CC',MITIEE OF TI-E /fl'f/ gs 

NA-VAJO 1RleAL CIJ.N:IL 

Fou rporate 
Ent1 y I nan ire I va1 t1on 

Department of Justice to Pursue Action 1n ()jo Warranto on Benalf 
or the Attorney General or the Navaro Nation, ex rel. Relators 

1. By enactrrent of Navajo Tribal C.Ounci I Resolution CJA-1-81 
approvirg and adoptirg the Plan of Cperation of the .Advisory Cartnittee, the 
Navajo Tribal C.Ounci I has authorized, errpo.vered ard required the Mvisory 
Carmittee of the Navajo Tribal Council to create only official entities of the 
Navajo Nation, and to adopt, arerd or rescird Plans of QJeration for al I such 
entities of the Navajo Nation, in conformity with the organizational structure 
authorized by the Mvi sory Cartni t tee; ard 

2. By Resolution KD-171-83, the fldvisory Carmittee of the Navajo 
Tribal Council duly approved and enacted such a Plan of Cperation for the Navajo 
Education ard Scholarship Foundation, designatirg its organizational structure 
as Articles of Incorporation for a non-profit organization created under the 
laws of the Navajo Nation; and 

I 
.;, J;' 4 i'orr·'o'°··Art'rc:f •• f'• • or Navaja' 
~ ~ _ . resc, I:'", n,sorpora... . _as appr ·-Resolut ro9 
• l 'J •·•··-•-·~ 

I 7 
.0 • ) II. By Resolution CJA-2-86, the Navajo Tribal C.Ot.nci I enacted the 

; Navajo Nation C.Orporation c.ade on January 30, 1986, thereby providirg for 
inc_orporation under the laws of the Navajo Nation of profit and non-profit 
entities, v.hether privately o,,ned organizations or goverrrrental entities of the 
Navajo Nation, includirg certified O,apters and other entities of the Navajo 
Nation as authorized by the Navajo Tribal Council ard/or the Mvisory Cannittee, 
effective h.gust 1, 1986; ard 

S. The Navajo Education ard Scholarship Foundation, ~f~cocpor.ated,n,as 
not been incorporated under the laws of any jurisdiction other than under the 
Navajo Nation C.Orporation c.ade as authorized on Novffiber 1-3, 1986 by .advisory 
Carmittee Resolution J'Ol-183-86, "Approving i'merrlrent by Substitution to the 
Articles of lncorporat ion of Navajo Educat 10n ard Scholarship fourdation, Inc. 11 ; 

a 

. ..... 6. The Jldvisory Cromittee of the Navajo Tribal Counci I is _rfot{c-- -
oi.lthorize<;l' to transfer, sel I or otherwise consent to or authorize expropriation -r'- . 
of ·=ership rights of any organization or property of the governnent of the ~-_,_,I 
Navajo Nation to any private o,,nership or control, such appropriation beirg ,f-v "' ..-::; 
reserved for approval only in accordance with the Plan of Cperation of the ,,._+. 
B..,c!get and Finance-Cromittee adopted by Navajo Tribal Council Resolution· "'-:-, 
C,\P-17-84 and ar::proved by the Navajo Triba r Counci r as the governing body of the --"~ 
N,..,vajo Nation; and -
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7. By Resolution POl-183-86, "fl.pprovirq Arendrent by Substitution to 
the Articles of Incorporation of the Nava10 Education ard ::,cnolarshtp 
1-oundatton,.'.JQCDCPOG1ted;1 the /idv1sory ummttee on Noverrner 13, 1986, arenaed 
said Articles

1 
ard authorized incorporation of Navajo Ed.Jcation ard Scholarship 

Fourdation, (Qo.?.M@~edfby fi I iog only said arended Plan of q:,eration as the 
Articles of" Non-Profit lncorporatTon of Navajo EdJcation ard Scholarship 
Foundation, 1Jl:i.?,jj,gl~tedtp:'lls an entity of the ovemrent of the Navajo Nation 
trtder the 1-bn-Proft t Corporation e or t e va10 t1on, 1 ea as suc:n on 
Decenber 18, 1986, (Exhibit A attached hereto) ard duly emended on March 13, 
1987 (Exhibit B attached hereto): and 

8. The deletion by Mvisory Camtittee Resolution ~-183-86 fran the 
arerded Plan of q:,eration or Articles of Incorporation of Navajo Education and . 
Scholarship Foundation, ;JfKii~f~ecfof the Mvlsory Omnittee's sole authority ,.~~-;.• 
and responsibi I ity to approve further areu:irent of said Plan of q:,eratlon or ~ ..., 
Articles of Incorporation is ~1'9'.&&~~gll~§.beyord ,~lJ~:..: 
the p<:H,"er and authority of the Mvisory Camtittee delegated by Navajo Tribal ~.,t.--:r-
Oxzici I Resolution CJA-1-81: ard I 

9. Said anission or deletion fran the Plan of q,eration and Articles 
of Incorporation of Navajo EdJcatlon ard Scholarship Foundation• .~r.ated;t ", 
together with .Advisory Camtittee Resolution ~-183-86 -re duly corredeci"'ard' j 
arerded by Mvisory Cannittee Resolutions KF-52-87 and J!0=-53-87. respectively, / 
on February 25. 1987. and by Arendnent to the Artic_les of Incorporation of , 
Navajo Education and Scholarship Fourdation, ,r@ir:j:ioct!f~ as a non-profit 
govemnental corporation of the Navajo Nation. certified and filed by the 
Incorporation Office of the Navajo Nation. Department of Canrerce on March 13, 
1987 (Exhibit B attached hereto): and 

1o. ~~m, !itt2iWs:-vtG Uxi4ah'tr"~Jbl:-C.!;::-::the..' 
~tT~-~-~-~~~~J:_iba~--- __,_:__;~
;:£:rr~~I~-~S:-.:,!~fu!:I~~\-:-0(, Resalutlons- K:F-52--87.. and.-KF.53c:8 ; 

11. ~tsl'err"ari:f'~-~t~__;;.__~iJt~i.'..:.tl!lll98t:in ·t~· Q.Jo :War_ranto 
action:by·Mic:liae~~ Ginerar;;-ex:,rel., Rel a tors vs7Cuyto'nra·n. 
S~et?.½r I-:-;- Respondents ._L\\R-:Ol=.96..,-87-J.-tfie~W,nda.v-~ck:.D1sr.r..1ct __tour.~ .!:! . the 
N(i,~J~: §;_~on~5:: refused,,;-to-:-~i ze • the va I idi ty of Mvi sory Camii_~-~~e 
~o.!_u_t_ions...KE-:-51.~si...and•KF-53-87.. _respectively. as confi_rming the..status of 
~fo.:_EdJcat.ion·.Scho.lat:"ship'Fpunda.t.i-oCl,·•'ncorpor.tted·as- an. entity of the.Navajo 
Nation:: based·~·upon the aforesaid. anission or deletion in the substituted 
~t to Navajo Ed.!cation· Scholarship Foundation's Articles. of 
lncorp"<iration; as approved and adopted by Mvisory Comni ttee Resolution, 
KN-183-86. 

I-ON, THERl:FCRE BE IT RESOl..\18) TI-\A.T. 

d / 1. ·~!,~,o!:;i'.."!-Ccrnni:t.tee~of~tlJe~!.iclaiajo~,:i:.ib'aLCounci I hereby 
:,Jd'l,(,(,,,. @~-~-~tl,at. t e. va10 i"ribaF_CoU)cl'r confirm and adopt 'ktvisory Camti ttee 

Resolutions KD-171-83, P0'-52-87 and 'KF-53-87, respectively, ~r,s~_ifu'·-~-G'C 
-~~ru~oo~"KN-183:.8~.~as the duly enacted resolutions of the Mvisory~ittee -
of the Navajo Tribal Counc:i I p.1rsuant to Navajo Tribal Counc:i I Resolution 
CJA-1-81, together with the Articles of Arendrent to Navajo Education and 
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Schol.ii-ship Fourdation.,~tp?.t.;!.;~~A.-ticles of Non-Pi-ofit lncoi-poi-ation. as 
cei-t i ficd by Navajo N3t ,on Ccmrci-ce Dcp;ii-trrcnt 's Office of Incorporation on 
M:ii-ch 13. 1987. (Exhibit Battachcdhereto). 

2. gbe!~;Jdviso·r,y;°'l~tt~iliaialo.;.,.1'.i:.i.ba l::=.O;.lUl(:~~~thel" 
ceco111c:sds;'.;.that,~-~va10 :rribal Counci-i:' confirm and declare the init1ar. 
continuous ard present status of Navajo Education ard Scholarship Fotn::lation. 
·lncorporate:Vas a non-profit corporate entity. fully o,,ncd and controlled by the 
Navajo Nation. for the benefits and purposes of Navajo People and Students 

1
served thereby. and in accordance with the..'a(ores;iicf~ctrrents of the Jldvisory ~ 
Canni ttee of the Navajo Tribal Coulci I .~confimed and adopted herein. $ •va...-qe.:,, 

3. ~~~CaimiYtei:?of"'"":'""tfie'";.Navafo· T'ri~I •Cot.nci !":.further 
reccmrerds tha't"'tfie Navajo Ti-iba'I "c.oislcil"-aAJ°rove'and 'adopt tlie·-posrtion of the 
At tomey-Cenera+-;-an:t:_d_\ rect- the Nava jo:Na t \Pl'.l' Departsrent" of' ..:Just:i ce· to. contirx.re 
to: pursue reconsideration in Winc!ow-Pock.Dlstric:t Court ktion 1-b. \\R-ol-96-87 
in· QJo Warr.into, on behalf' of' the Attorney General of the Navajo Nation ex rel. 
Relator-s. and fai I irg such reconsideration by the WindaN Rock District Court 0:f 
the Navajo Natlorr In accordanc:e herewith. to petition the Suprerre Court of. the 
Navajo Nation ...for: .. stay.of. execution of such contrary order or orders of the 
\VindaN "Rock District Court and to appeal said dec:ision(s) and order(s) to the· 
Suprem: Court of. the Navajo Nation, pendirg further Resolution of the. Navajo 
Trl.bal_"._Co!Slc:i I as the govemirg body of the Navajo Nation. 

****** 

Ola.lRWN: Uetbers of the kfvisory Canni ttee: As you' 11 recal I this 
is an orgoir,g st.bjec:t that has been directed during the Council's bud;iet session 
last fal I that this particular item be pursued with this Caimi ttee as the 
oversight entity. and in response to that this is the result and the resolution 
has C\OH been read to_ read. 1he floor is "°" open for discussion. 

cx::w-LD BelAU.Y: Yr. Olairmm. llmt:>ers of the Cannittee: I rrove to 
approve the pi-oposed resolution. 

O!o\lRWN: Uetbers of the Cannittee: You've heard Mr. Donald Benally 
making the rrotion to adopt the proposed resolution and reccmrend it on to the 
ful I Counci I; seconded by Mr. llaruel Shirley. So there's a rrotion on the floor. 
The floor is nOH open for the discussion. 

RE't?-0!..D 1-W<RISCN: Mr. Chainran. 1/eroers of the Comni ttee: I have a 
question on Paragraph 10 of ""hereas"; I wasn't aware of that. Also. would it 
be appropriate to delete that? 

O!o\lR.'r'N: The question to the Justice Dcpartsrcnt. the possibility of 
deletirg Paragraph 10 urder the "v,hereas" section? 

WILLIA\\ Rlcr,o,N: 1hank you. Mr. Chairmin. Mm:lers of the Coomittee. 
Mr. Harrison: n,e resolution could be enacted in effect without that reference 
as you point out. •Mt reccmrcndation. unless you have other reasons that I don't 
see on this. is that it v.ould be wiser to address it because the purpose hei-e is 
to clarify misurderstandirg that may have existed at the Council or .wroc-g 
Comni ttces of t1,e Counci I. 
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I think one of your responsibilities in your plan of operation as the 
Pdvisory Cannittee is to coordinate the activities of al I other Cannittees, 
departrrents and divisions, and v.here there is an inconsistency as there really 
is here by addressing it, you are showing that you're conscious of that position 
and that you are seeking to resolve it by your interpretation. 

1 t i sn' t necessary for you to propose that the Counc i I as a 'M10 I e 
adopt that position, but you're not trying to rescind that resolution of the 
6:i.Jcation Cannittee but if you don't address it. it'll contirue to exist and 
it's possible that sarebody might ask, well. how cane you caq>letely ignored the 
position of the 6:iJcation Cannittee v.hich was directed specifically to the 
Pdvisory Cannittee, if you read the provisions on it. 

As I say. I feel base on misunderstanding of v.hat that resolution 
really says, rurber one, it· doesn't tenninate the corporate status of NESF: 
nnber one. It doesn't make it lrrpossible for any of the fonner menbers to be 
added to the present board provided they recognize that they are dealing with an 
entity of the Navajo Nation. 

The short answer is. yes, it can be deleted without affecting the 
legality of the resolution. Perhaps I assure too rruch, but I thought It might 
be wise to address that existing resolution since it is one in opposition and it 
is another standing cmmi ttee of the Tribal Council. So that Y«JUld be a matter 
to your decision, not mine. 

0¥.lR#N: Mr. Harrison, the Counselor recanrended that we address 
this particular item that you raised a question on, so I yield the floor back to 
you. 

RE'fllOl.D HAffil!:CN: Mr. Oiainran, Plerrbers of the .Advisory Cannlttee: 
I'm goiog to leave it up to the rroving party. 

O!AIR<l6N: There is a request to the rroving party to exercise his 
dJscretion on this particular paragraph. 

Al.EX RlCGS: Mr. Oiainran, /.lertbers of the Comnittee: I just have a 
question in regard to the directive that was made, 1 think it Oiarley long that 
gave a directive v.hereby the Couici I had voted on it. Md this 6:i.Ication 
Cannittee resolution was acted on on the 26th of February, so it's way before 
the Counci I have acted on the directive after this February 26th .6:i.Ication 
Comnittee resolution. So I just wonder, v.hich has rrore barrier, v.ho has rrore 
weight, the fact that the total Council have given a direction. 1hat is ll'I{ 
question. kd is it possible to recall that directive? I think Mr. Long made 
it very clear. 

Q-!AlR'#:-t: There is a question on the Education Cannittee's resolution 
that is attached; Mr. Riggs is concerned about the date that this was enacted 
upon, that was back in February of 1 87. As you'll recall, you, the .Advisory 
Cannittee, had stated in your resolution that you didn't pick up this particular 
issue until after this date. So he is concerned with that, and I v.ould like to 
cal I on Mr. Riordan if there is any possible conflict. 
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WIU.1#.\ RI~: Mr. O,ainran. Verrbers of the Cannittee: Mr. Rig;is' 
point I believe is acaJrate and if I'm not misunderstanding. v.tiat he's saying is 
it kind of responds to v.hat I was saying that you would be resolving this 
apparent conflict and position. I think v.hat Mr. Risgs is saying. hasn't the 
Counci I pretty wel I already resolved that by stating that that is the ful I 
Council's policy that it is an entity v.hich is in support of v.hat your position 
is. I have thOU)ht of that and I think it's a good point v.hich would rmke it 
also-make it 1TDre possible to delete that in view of the action already taken so 
that. rerrermer. I was saying that there was sare concern that sarebody might ask 
you. ha.v care you didn't resolve that conflict. I think Mr. Risgs has given the 
answer because the full Comcil considered it and resolved it. But I stand to 
be corrected on that. and I feel that's a good point. 

OtA.IR#N: "Thank you. Mr. Riordan. I just I ike to pose a question to 
you in order to be consistent ·with Mr. Risgs' concerns. ha.v rruch wi 11. it distort 
the resolution if we add a neN 11....tiereas" rrentioning the Cot.ncil's directive? 
Would that furthenrore confuse it or would it rrake clear as to Mr. Risgs' 
question? 

WIU.1#.\ RI~: Mr. Olainran. Mm:>ers of the Cannittee: I believe 
there already Is a reference to the bud;Jet resolution of the Counci I. arrl we 
wouldn't be adding - if I'm not mistaken, v.hat the question and the discussion 
was is that we delete the reference to the 6:iication Canni ttee, that would ncit 
cause a great deal of problem. we• 11 Just delete t-lnber to that Mr. Harrison 
addressed as E:xhibi t "C" and then E:xhibi t "C' would be rerroved and that 'Mlllld 
not create any confusion in the rest of the resolution. 

0-t,\IR#N: Now back to the ITDVing party, Mr. Benally. 

OJW.D 88'W..l..Y: Mr. Cliairmm. Mem:>ers of the Cannittee: I think base 
upon the staterrent of Mr~ Risgs here. base on the prior direction rrade by the 
Navajo Tribal Counci I that sort of supersedes the Education Canni ttee. and I 
feel that the EdJcation Cannittee feels differently today. I've talked with a 
c~le of the Cannittee rraibers and I think this section. we don't need to 
incorporate into the resolution so I wi 11 delete that section under 1-urber to 
under the "v.hereas" clause. 

0-t,\IR#N: Mr. 1,anuel Shirley conaJrs. If there are no other 
questions. we'll nOH vote on this. So all those in favor of adopting this 
proposed resolution and recannending it to the ful I Counci I. please raise your 
right hand; opposed. the sare sign. This wi 11 also include the arendrents. 
With your vote of 13 in favor and none opposed. you have hereby adopted this 
resolution and recannended it to the full Council for their consideration. 
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EXHIBIT D CJ"-8-118 

Cl••• •c• Kaaolution 
Ko BIA Action Required 

R!:SOttJ'l'IOH OJ' TRE 
HAVAJ'O TRIBAL COtJHCIL 

Confirming and Declaring th• Continuing Statua of th• 
Hava1o Education and Scholarahip Poundation 1 Inc., - a 

Governmental Hon-Profit Corporate Entity of the Hava1o Hation 

WEREAS: 

1. By anactJlant of Havajo Tribal Council Raaolution 
CJA-1-a1. approving and adopting th• Plan of Operation of th• 
Adviaory co-ittae, th• llavajo Tribal Council, - th• 11ovarnin11 
body of th• Havajo Nation, haa authorized, -powered ~ 
required th• Adviaory co-itt•• of th• Havajo Tribal Council to 
create only official antitiaa of. the Havajo Hation,. and to 
adopt, -end or reacind Plana of Operation tor all such entiti•• 
of the Havajo Hation, in conforaity with the or!1&1lizationa!1 
structure authorized 'by th• Advisory co-ittee: and 

2. By Jteaolution ACO-171-83, the Adviaory C~itt•~
! 

of th• Havajo Tribal Council duly approved and enacted such a 
Plan of Operation tor tha Havajo Education and Scholarahip 
l!"oundation, d-iguating ita or11anizational atructure - Articl•• 
of Incorporation tor a non-profit or11anization created under the 
la- of the Xavajo Xation: and 

3. The Advisory C~itt•• of the Xavajo Tribal 
Council haa never reacinded the Plan of Operation or Article• of 
Incorporation of llavajo Education and Scholarahip l!'oundation, 
Inc., - approved 'by Keaolution ACO-171-83: and 

,. By Reaolution CJA-2-86, th• Havajo Tribal Council 
enacted th• Havajo Hation Corporation Code on J'anuary 30, 1986, 
thereby providin11 tor incorporation under the la- of th• Havajo 
Hation of profit and non-profit antiti••• whether privately 
owned or11anizationa or 11overnaental entiti•• of the Havajo 
Hation, including cartified chapter• and other entities of the 
llavajo Hation aa authorized ·'by th• Havajo Tribal Council and/or 
the Adviaory co-itt-, affective AU!1U■ t 1, 1986; and 

e. The llavajo Education and Scholarship Poundation, 
Inc.. t2a not been incorporated un~•r th• la- of any 
juriadiction ~thar than under th• Havajo Hation Corporation Code 
•• authorized on Hova■ber 13, 1986 by Adviaory co-itt•• 
haolution ACH-183-86, •Approving A■endment by SUbatitution. to 
th• Articl•• of Incorporation of Navajo Education and 
Scholarahip J'oundat1on. Inc.•: and 
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5. Th• Adv1aory co-1tt•• ot the Navajo Tribal 
Council 1• without authority to transfer, ••ll or otherwi•• 
consent to or authorize expropriation ot ownership rights ot any 
orqan1zation or property ot th• governaent ot the Havajo Kation 
to any private ownership or control, such appropriation 'beinq 
re ■ erved tor approval only in accordance with the Plan ot 
Operation ot the Budget and !'inane• co-itt•• adopted by the 
Havajo Tribal Council Resolution CAP-17-84 and further approved 
by the Navajo Tribal Council as th• governing body ot the Navajo 
Hation; and 

7. By Reaolution ACH-183-86, •Approving benchlent by 
Subat1tution to th■ Article• ct Incorporation ot the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation, Inc.•, the Adviaory 
co-itt■• on Hove■ber 13; 1986, -•nded aaid Article• and 
authorized incorporation ot Navajo Education and Scholarship 
!'oundat1on, Inc. by tiling only aaid -•nded Plan ot Operation 
as the Articles ot Non-Profit Incorporation ot Navajo Education 
and Scholarship Foundation, Inc., as an entity ot the goverrm■nt 
ot the Navajo Nation under the Non-Profit Corporation Code ot 
th• Navajo Ration, filed•• auch on Dec■■ber 18, 1986, (Exhibit 
•A• attached hereto) and duly -■ended.on March 13, 1987 (:Exhibit
•s• attached hereto); and 

a. Th• deletion by Advi ■ory co-1ttee Re■olution 
ACN-183-86 tro■ the -•nd■ d Plan ot Operation or Articles ot 
Incorporation at Kavajo Xducation and Scholar■hip !'oundation, 
Inc., at the Ad.vi■ory co-itt•••• ■ale ,authority and 
reaponsibility to approve further ~~-,nt_ot_ ■,aid .Plan of 
Operation or Article■ of Incorporation 1■ _beyond th• power and 
authority of th• Advi■ory co-ittee delegated by Navajo Tribal 
Council Re■olution CJ'A-1-81; and • 

9. Said omis■ ion or deletion fro■ the Plan of 
Operation and Article■ of Incorporation of Havajo Education and 
~cholarsh1p Foundation, Inc., together with Advi ■ory co-itt•• 
Reaolution ACN-183-86, were duly corrected and -•nded by
Advisory co-ittee Resolutions AC7-52-87 and ACP'-53-87, 
respectively, on February 25, 1987, and by bendlllent to the 
Articles of Incorporation of Navajo Education and Scholarship 
!'oundation, Inc., - a non-profit govern■ental corporation ot 
the Navajo Nation, certified and tiled by the Incorporation 
Otf1c• of th• Havajo Hation, Department at Co11111erce on March 13, 
1987 (Exhibit •sa attached hereto); and 

10. The Navajo Tribal Council, by enacting directive 
to Budget Resolution C0-50-87, directed th• Xavajo Tribal 
Education sy■ t•• to sponsor thi ■ propo ■ •d r••olution tor t1nal 
adoption and enactment by th■ Xavajo Tribal Council, to clarify 
and declare th• legislative int ■nt ot the governing body ot th• 
Navajo Nation, that Navajo Xducation and Scholarship Foundation 
1• and ha• continuously existed only•• a non-profit gov■rn■ent 
entity ot the Navajo Nation: and 
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ll. By Re ■ olution ACJA-2O-88, the Advisory Co111.111itt•• 
ot th• Navajo Tribal Council ha• reco111111ended in consideration ot 
th• toregoing respective actions th.at th• Navajo Tribal Council 
contir• th• continuing ■ tatus ot Navajo !ducation ~d 
Scholarship l!'oundation, Inc., as a governmental non-profit 
corporate entity ot the Navajo Nation, organized and exiating 
tor the benefit of the Navajo People and ■ tudents served 
thereby. 

HOW THEREl!'ORP! BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 
I 

l. Th• Navajo Tribal Council hereby contir- and 
adopts Advisory Co111111itt ■ e Resolutions ACO-171-83, ACF-&2-87 arid 
ACF-63-87, respectively, a• the duly enacted resolut±ona of th• 
Advisory Co-ittee of th• Navajo Tribal Council pursuant to 
Navajo Tribal Council Reaolution CJA-1-81, together with the 
Articles ct Amendment to Navajo !ducation and Scholar•h~p 
l!'oundation, Incorporation•• Articles of Non-Proti;t 
Incorporation, aa certified by the Navajo Nation co-ere• 
Department'• Ottice of Incorporation, on March 13, 1987 (l!bchibi:t 
"B" attached hereto). The Navajo Tribal Council rescinds 
Reaolution ACK-183-86 - an ultra vir•• act of the Advisoey 
C0111111ittee. 

2. The Navajo Tribal council hereby further contirias 
and declare■ the initial, continuous and preaent atatus of 
Navajo Education and Scholarship l!'oundation, Inc., - a 
non-profit corporate entity, fully owned arid controlled by the 
Navajo Nati9n, .. _tor the banetit■ and--purpos- ot Navajo People 
and students ••rv•d thereby and in accordance with the 
authorized enac"tlllents ot the Advisory Co111.111itte• ot the Navajo 
Tribal Council as contiraed and adopted herein. 

3. Th• Havajo Tribal Council hereby directs the 
Advisory C0111111itt•• to take all action■ necessary to impleaent 
"the :mandate■ of this Resolution and ensure the continuing status 
and operation ct the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
l!'oundation, Inc., as a government non-profit corporate entity of 
the Navajo Nation. 

CERTil!'ICATION 

I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was 
duly considered by the Navajo Tribal Council at a duly called 
•••ting at Window Rock, Navajo Nation (Arizona), at which a 
quorum was present and that same -s passed by a vote of 39 in 
favor, ~ oppoaed and __l_ ab■ tained, thi• 4th day of 
February. 1988. 
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EXHIBIT E 

(Whereupon, the following was read by Larry,~Foster.) 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 
OF THE NAVAJO TRIBAL COUNCIL 

r;:::--~. • ...... ~ --~·. -.:::-c 

Confirming and Declaring the Continuing Status of the 
Navajo Edtrc::nion and Schlrlarship Foundat::!:on, Inc., as a 

Governmental Non-Profit Corporate Entity of the Navajo Nation 
and Directing the Navajo Nation Department of Justice to Pursue 

Action in Quo Warranto on Behalf of the Attorney General 
of the Navajo Nation, ex rel. Relaters 

WHEREAS: 

1. By enactment of Navajo Tribal Council Resolution 
CJA-1-81 approving and adopting the Plan of Operation of the 
Advisory Committee, the Navajo Tribal Council, as the governing 
body of the Navajo Nation, has authorized, empowered and 
required the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council to 
create only official entities of the Navajo Nation, and to 
adopt, amend or rescind Plans of Operation for all such entities 
of the Navajo Nation, in conformity with the organizational 
structure authorized by the Advisory Committee; and 

2. By Resolution AC0-171-83, the Advisory co-ittee 
of the Navajo Tribal Council duly approved and enacted such a 
Plan of Operat,ign f= ~.wa,_jo Educatiol:L_ and Scholarship 
Foundation, designating its organizational structure as Articles 
of Incorporation for a non-profit organization created under the 
laws of the Navajo Nation; ~d 

3. The Advisory co-ittee -of the Navajo Tribal 
Council has never rescinded the Plan of Operation or Articles of 
Incorporation of Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, 
Inc. as approved by Resolution ACD-171-83; and 

,. By Resolution CJA-2-86, the Navajo Tribal Council 
enacted the Navajo Nation Corporation Code on January 30, 1986, 
thereby providing for incorporation under the laws of the Navajo 
Nation of profit and non-profit entities, whether privately 
owned organizations or governmental entities of the• Navajo 
Nation, including certified Chapters and other entities of the 
Navajo Nation as authorized by the Navajo Tribal Council and/or 
the Advisory co-ittee, effective August 1, 1986; and 

5. The Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, 
Inc. has not been incorporated under the laws of anv 
jurisdiction other than under the Navajo Nation Corporation Code 
as authorized on November 13, 1986 by Advisory Committee 
Resolution ACN-183-86, "Approving Amendment by substitution to 
the Articles of Incorporation of Navajo Education and 
Scholarships Foundation, Inc."; and 
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6. The Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal 
Council is without authority to transfer, sell or otherwi~e 
consent to or authorize expropriation of ownership rights of any 
organization or property of the government of the Navajo Nation 
to any private ownership or control, such appropriation being 
reserved for approval only in accordance with the Plan of 
Operation of the Budget and Finance Ccmmittee adopted by--Navajo 
Tribal Council Resolution CAP-17-84 and further approved by t~e 
Navajo Tribal Council as the governing body of the Navajo 
Nation; and 

7. By Resolution ACN-183-86, "Approving Amendment bv 
Substitution to the Articles of Incorporation of the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation, Inc.", the Advisory 
Committee on November 13, 1986, amended said Articles and 
authorized incorporation of Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation, Inc. by filing only said amended Plan of Operation 
as the Articles of Non-Profit Incorporation of Navajo Education 
and Scholarship Foundation, Inc. as an entity of the government 
of the Navajo Nation under the Non-Profit Corporation Code of 
the Navajo Nation, filed as such on December 18, 1986, (Exhib~t 
"A" attached hereto) and duly amended on March 13, 1987 (Exhibit 
"B" attached hereto); and 

8. The ,deletion by Advisory Committee Resolution 
ACN-183-86 from the amended Plan of Operation or Articles of 
Incarporat.i!m of Navajo Educa.- ◄ "?l "'"ri "c1-o,..3 ,,,.,.ship l!'oundation!, 
Inc. of the Advisory Committee's sole authority an~ 
responsibility to approve further amendment of said Plan of 
Operation or Articles of Incorporation is beyond the power and 
authority of the Advisory Committee delegated by Navajo Tribal 
Council Resolution C3A-1-81; and • 

9. Said omission or deletion from the Plan of 
Operation and Articles of Incorporation of Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation, Inc., together with Advisory Committee 
Resolution ACN-183-86, were duly corrected and amended by 
Advisory Committee Resolutions ACF-52-87 and ACF-53-871 
respectively, on February 25, 1987, and by Amendment to the 
Articles of Incorporation of Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation, Inc. as a non-profit governmental corporatioi:aof the 
Navajo Nation, certified and filed by the Incorporation Office 
of the Navajo Nation, Department of Commerce on March 13, 1987 
(Exhibit B attached hereto); and 

10. The Navajo Tribal Council, by enacting directive 
to Budget Resolution C0-50-87, directed the Navajo Tribal 
Education System to sponsor this proposed resolution foi final 
adoption and enactment by the Navajo Tribal Council, to clarify 
and declare the legislative intent of the governing body of 
Navajo Nation, that Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation 
is and has continuously existed only as a non-profit government 
entity of the Navajo Nation; and 
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11. By Resolution ACJA-2O-88, the Advisory Committee 
of the Navajo Tribal Council has recommended in consideration of 
the foregoing respective actions that the Navajo Tribal Council 
confirm the continuing status of Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation, Inc. as a governmental non-profit 
corporate entity of the Navajo Nation, organized and existing 
for the benefit c-f tire Nava-jcr ~le and-~~ served 
thereby. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

l. The Navajo Tribal Council hereby confirms and 
adopts Advisory Committee Resolutions ACO-171-83, ACF-52-87 and 
ACF-53-87, respectively, as the duly enacted resolutions of the 
Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council pursuant to 
Navajo Tribal Council Resolution C3A-l-8l, together with the 
Articles of Amendment to Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation, Inc.•s Articles of Non-Profit Incorporation, as 
certified by the Navajo Nation Commerce Department's Office of 
Incorporation, on March 13, 1987 (Exhibit B attached hereto). 
The Navajo Tribal Council rescinds Resolution ACN-183-86 as an 
ultra vires act of the Advisory Committee. 

2. The Navajo Tribal Council hereby further confirms 
and declares the initial, continuous and present status of 
Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, Inc. as a 
non-profit corporate entity, fully owned and controlled by the 
Navajo Nation, for the benefits and purposes of Navajo People 
and Students served thereby and in accordance with the 
authorized enactments of the Advisory Committee of the Navajo 
Tribal Council as confirmed and adopted herein. 

3._ The Navajo Tribal Council hereby directs the 
Advisory Committee to take all actions necessary to implement 
the mandates of this Resolution and ensure the continuing status 
and operation of the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation, Inc. as a government non-profit corporate entity of 
the Navajo Nation. 

LARRY FOSTER: Mr. Chairman, you have attached the 
Exhibit "A", which is the Navajo Nation Corporation Code which 
is r!!ferenced herein; you also have Exhibit "Ba, its also a 
similar document of the Navajo Nation Corporation Code for the 
certificate of articles of incorporation which has been 
referenced here in the resolution. 

There's language in the resolution, in the heading of 
the resolution, if you would look on the signature approval 
sheet which is the SAS form, you would have ~hat certain 
language has been deleted from the resolution and that it be 
incorporated in the heading, that particular -- those amendments 
should read in the heading where the reading will be as follows: 
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"Confirming and Declaring the Continuing Status of Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation, Inc., as a Governmental 
Non-Profit Corporate Entity of the Navajo Nation." Put a period 
there. From there on after, all the remaining sentence will be 
stricken, so that will be the appropriate heading, Mr. Chairman. 

!.EO R-. -BEGAY: Mr:- Chairman, Members--a£---1:.!J.e NalTajO 
Tribal Council, Staff, Visitors: I wish to entertain a motion 
to adopt the resolution as read and as explained by Mr. Foster. 
I believe that this body, the Navajo Tribal Council, is the 
governing body of the Nation and it also has the authority, the 
obligation and the duty to reconsider, nullify, amend or confirm 
the actions of any of the standing committees, whether they be 
legitimate or questionable actions. 

I believe that the Council, the actions and the 
approval of this resolution will confirm that this body, the 
Navajo Tribal Council, is the final authority in the decisions 
that they made and also the decisions that are made by the 
standing committees can be reaffirmed or can even be done away 
with by this Council. Therefore, Mr. Chairman, I make this 
motion to adopt the resolution. 

CHAIRMAN: Motion has been made by Leo R. Begay; 
seconded by Roselyn John. Ms. John, do you have anything you 
want to say? 

ROSELYN D. JOHN: Mr. Chairman, Members of the Navajo 
Tribal Council: I would like to make the second to the motion 
made by Leo R. Begay. 

CHAIRMAN: Members of the Tribal Council: Mike, do 
you wish to ~ake any remarks at this time? 

MICHAEL UPSHAW: Mr. Chairman, Members of the Navajo 
Tribal Council: Mr. Chairman, I wish to defer my remarks until 
after Ms. Martgan from the Division of Education. 

CHAIRMAN: Ms. Martgan. 

REBECCA MARTGAH: Mr. Chairman, Members of the Navajo 
Tribal Council: On October 12, 1983, the Advisory Committee 
established the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, by 
approving its Plan of Operation as the "Articles of 
Incorporation" of an entity of the Navajo Nation. The authority 
delegated to the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation as 
a tribal entity was to act for and on behalf to the tribal 
government, as its administrative agency, !~ accomplishing the 
government's responsibility for representing the Navajo public 
interest in the education of Navajo students. 

The Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation was 
created by the Navajo Tribal Government to support and carry out 
the education policies of the Navajo Tribe - not to compete with 
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it philosophically, financially, politically and to cause 
discord and disharmony. Attempts to take away the funds raised 
by and donated to the Tribal Government, for operation of NESF 
is in actuality an attempt to talce over NESF and the use and the 
control of its funds by private interest groups. 

All of the d=.ions- wh±l::h !.avajo r':dui::ati= and 
Scholarship Foundation claims to have "raised" from 1983 to 1986 
were either transferred from tribal scholarship accounts or 
acquired by the Navajo Education and Scholarship Founda'tion as 
an entity of the Navajo Tribal Government. NESF admits its 
status has been, ever since its creation, a tribal entity, even 
though when the Navajo People voted a change in their elected 
officials at the end of 1986, individuals associated with NESF 
attempted to run NESF as a private corporation. 

It was only after the 1986 elections - after all of 
those scholarship funds have been transferred to, or acquired 
by, Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation as an 
administrative agency which was an integral part of the Navajo 
Tribal Government, that the people entrusted with its operation 
and management attempted to use the previous administration's 
Advisory Committee and the Navajo Nation Incorporation laws to 
completely divorce the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation from the Navajo Tribal Government. An attempt was 
made to talce tribal assets and-rights as private properties 
settlement. The Department of Justice discovered that these 
actions were invalid and contrary to the laws of the Navajo, and 
.sought and is still seeking the aid of the Courts of the Navajo 
Nation in recognizing and protecting the Navajo Nation's 
paramount property and governmental rights in the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation as a tribal entity. 

The former NESF Board's proclamation that "In December 
1986 the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation gave the 
Navajo Education Center to the Navajo Nation," is completely 
inaccurate and misleading. Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation, which has admitted in court that it was created in 
1983 by the Advisory Commi'ttee as an entity of the Navajo 
Nation, was commissioned by its Plan of Operation to construct a 
facility for the ownership of the Navajo Nation. Nation 
Education and Scholarship Foundation was never given any right, 
title or interest, separate and apart from that of the Navajo 
Nation. 

However, it completed the construction of the Navajo 
Education Center and turned it over for use of tribal education 
offices in the following manner: Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation solicited donations for the construction 
of the Education Center and the facilities to be cons~ructed 
were to be completed in all respects. However, because of 
contract and legal problems, delay in the commencement of the 
construction and some funds not arriving in time, all the 
planning work was not completed. Even though the building was 
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constructed completely with public funds, donated to the 
scholarship programs of the Navajo Tribal Government, the Tribe 
could not apply these funds for the Center the way it is 
normally done when the Tribe undertakes construction. The 
result is a facility which remains in need of more money and 
work for its proper completion. 

Navajo Education Division requested an appropriation 
of Tribal Capital Improvement Funds (CIP) in the amount of 
$968,000 for intending to complete unfinished work on the 
facility. Accordingly, $960,000 was released to the Design and 
Engineering Department for these purposes and through the 
coordinated efforts of the Design and Engineering Department, 
the Navajo Tribal Education system and the Purchasing Services, 
t~is work continues to progress. 

Though a smooth transition of facilities management 
and maintenance has not happened, which has made it impossible 
to attend to the incomplete work and repairs. Since there 
should be warranties of the various aspects of the construction, 
the contractors who undertook the work need to be contacted to 
remedy numerous structural problems on the buildings. Since 
there was not an official inspection from the Tribe of the 
construction and sign off on the building, tribal facilities 
management and maintenance offices are reluctant to touch the 
building. 

There was never any action taken by the former Board 
of Trustees of the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation 
to separate Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation from the 
tribal government which the former board alleges they determined 
to be in the best interests of the students and the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation, until they tried to do so 
by obtaining a restraining order again.st the present Chairman 
and Vice Chairman and members of the Advisory Committee of this 
Navajo Tribal Council on February 27, 1987. 

Contrary to what has been released to the news media 
by the former board and their associates, Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation I s former Board o·f Trustees did not vote 
on approving the substituted amendment until after they were 
presented to and acted upon by the Advisory Council on November 
13, 1986. Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation's own 
records and minutes have revealed that the attempt to delete the 
Advisory Committee's authority to approve future amendments was 
made and presented by the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation's Executive Committee -- not by its Board. 

In fact it was not until five days after the 
Foundation's Executive Committee succeeded in getting its 
proposed post-election amendments by substitution past the 
Advisory Committee on November 13, 1986, that the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation's Executive Director, 
dispatched ballots by mail on Novecber 18 to the Navajo 
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Education and Scholarship Foundation Board members to ratify 
such substitutions, after they are acted upon by the Advisory 
Committee. 

Returned correspondence from the other Board members 
further clarified that the ratification ballots were not even 
accompanied by the substitlrted amendments, just a half-page 
summary from the Executive Director whi.ch neglected to even 
mention that the Advisory Committee's authority to approve 
future documents had been deleted without any record of 
explanation, discussion or even reading to the Advisory 
Committee. This is despite the false claim that the Board of 
Trustees asked the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal 
Council to relinquish its control of the Foundation. 

Another inC'Crrect and misleading fact is that when it 
was authorized by the previous Administration's Advisory 
Committee to incorporate as a non-profit entity under the laws 
of the Navajo Nation, NESF was in fact being "transferred" from 
the Navajo Tribe into private hands. 

The Navajo Nation Corporation laws specifically 
provide that any entity of the Navajo Nation may b' certified as 
a nonprofit corporation, as long as it is authorized by the 
lawful tribal authority, in this case the Advisory Committee of 
the Navajo Tribal Council. However, the Navajo Nation Commerce 
Department is given absolutely no autho:i:i.ty to dissolve any 
tribal entity. Furthermore, even if it wanted to, does the 
Advisory Committee have any power to trans.fer any tribal entity 
over to private ownership? The former Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation Board itself admitted that the Advisory 
Committee has no authority whatsoever to create any kind of 
private enti.ty. 

Although the previous Administration's Advisory 
Committee could dissolve the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation as a tribal entity by rescinding its Plan of 
Operation, they chose instead to specifically amend not rescind 
NBSF's Plan of Operation as a tribal entity en November 13, 
1986. 

Moreover, if the Advisory Committee had dissolved 
Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, under both law and 
its own Articles of Incorporation, the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation's property and rights as a nonprofit, 
government organization, would then revert to the Navajo Tribe 
and the Tribal Council would then have to approve any transfer 
of these tribal rights ai,d property over to private ownership 
and control. The Navajo Tribal Council has delegated no such 
authority to the Committee - it specifically deleted from the 
Advisory Committee's Plan of Operation authority to charter any 
organizations. 
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So the only way that the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation could lawfully be incorporated under the 
Navajo Nation Corporation Code is as a continuing public entity 
of the Navajo Nation, which the Council's Advisory Committee 
confirmed by its resolutions in February 1987, ACF-52-87 and 
ACF-53-87. 

The Government of the Navajo Nation, a• the elected 
representatives of the Navajo people, must accept and exercise 
its ultimate responsibility to make education available to all 
its constituents. There is no greater public interest of the 
Navajo Nation than the Education of its own students the 
greatest of all assets of the Navajo Nation. 

Also if you will note, if you have a question 
regarding where the funds came from, you Nill note that you have 
a listing of where those donations came from in your packet. 
Thank you. 

MICHAEL UPSHAW: Mr. Chairman, Vice Chairman, Members 
of the Tribal Council: The resolution before you is a result of 
your 198a budget directive that the Division of Education 
promulgate the law or policy to resolve conflicting authorities 
surrounding the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation and 
reaffirming the Advisory Co11.mittee 1 s action of February 1987. 
The purpose of this resolution which is before you is for the 
Council, the ~jo Tribal- Council, you, to state c.learly the 
intentions of the Navajo Tribal Government concerning the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation. 

What I will do at this point is give you a general 
overview of our position from the Department of Justice and then 
also a fur~her discussion of the November of 1986 Advisory 
Committee resolution which seems to be at the crux of the matter 
here. I'd like to defer the remainder of my time to Mr. 
Riordan, Assistant Attorney General, ~ogive you his co-ents 
and his analysis regarding the United States Department of 
Internal Revenue Service's sanction of the Foundation and some 
of the concerns that are associated with it. 

As you would probably know already from listening to 
Ms. Martgan's report and also discussion among you and also 
reading the newspaper articles, that that issue here is whether 
the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation is a tribal or a 
private entity and that the concern here is a dispute over the 
meaning of the actions that are taken by the Advisory Committee. 
One view is that the Advisory Committee set up the Foundation as 
a private corporat.on, wholly separate and independent from the 
Navajo Tribal Government. • 

The position that I have and the Department of Justice 
is that while the Foundation is independent, •• are many tribal 
enterprises, for example, NAPI, NTUA and so forth that the 
Foundation is a non-profit organization, it was not turned over 
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into a private corporation. We contend that the Foundation is 
still owned by the Navajo Tribal Government and is still 
answerable to the Navajo Tribal Council. This resolution 
clarifies that the Navajo Tribal Council -- that the Foundation 
is an entity of the Navajo Nation Government. The Advisory 
Committee has authority to create corporations under the Navajo 
Corp=~on Law as tribal ent~-= a.l.a.o as pr..ivate entities. 

We believe that what the Advisory Committee did was 
incorporate the Foundation under the Navajo Corporation Code as 
a tribal entity. The Advisory Committee does not have the power 
to give away the property of the Navajo Nation to private 
corporations. That is what the Advisory Committee's resolution 
of November 13, 1986 tried to do, however, we advised here and 
make the legal conclusion that that Advisory Committee in that 
action was acting beyond their scope of authority and their 
action is not valid. 

This resolution makes clear that the Navajo Tribal 
Council argues that any such Advisory Committee transfer was 
invalid. The Advisory Committee has the authority to set up 
tribal entities including tribal corporations. It can also set 
up how the boards of directors are to be selected in the future 
and also it can mandate how the charters and the plans of 
operation can be a.ended or rescinded from time to time. 
However, that doesn't mean that the organization is no longer 
owned by the Navajo Tribal Government, for example, under the 
Navajo Nation Corporation Code, chapters are allowed to 
incorporate. Just by the fact that a chapter of the Navajo 
Government incorporates does not mean its private and wholly 
separate and independent from the Navajo Government again. 
This resolution is an opportunity for the Navajo Tribal 
Government through you, the Members of the Council, to express 
their intention concerning the status of the Navajo Education 
Foundation. 

I will go ahead and give you the chronology of Council 
and the Committee actions relating to the creation and operation 
of the Education Foundation. On January 28, 1981, the Navajo 
Tribal Council adopted a revised plan of operation for the 
Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council. In that 
re•olution the Navajo Tribal Council authorized the Advisory 
Committee to create any enterprises, colleges, ONEO or any other 
entity of the Navajo Nation by adopting a plan of operation and 
to -end or rescind that plan. 

On October 13, 1983, the Advisory Committee passed a 
re•olution establishing the Education Foundation and adopting 
the articles of incorporation and declaring it a non-profit 
corporation to gain the tax exempt status. This resolution 
further provides that the Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council 
appoint the Foundation's Board of Trustees. Also the Advisory 
Committee has full authority to approve any and all amendments. 
On November 13, 1986, the Advisory Committee approved amendments 
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by substitution to the Poundation's Articles by Resolution 
AC-183-86. That resolution gave them the majority of the quo= 
of the Poundation's Board of Trustees authority to appoint 
further trustees of the·Poundation. 

Second, it also eliminated the need for Advisory 
Commi.t.~e approval.. of amendmei:::.t te- .tlle--'l?oundat:ion!..s:;;,a.rticles of 
incorporation and authorized the Board of Trustees to amend the 
articles. It also appointed the -- it also authorized the 
Poundation to comply with Navajo Tribal law by filing amended 
articles of incorporation with the Commerce Department. The 
first board of trustees pursuant to that action was Mr. Guy 
Gorman, Sr., Vivian Arviso, Elouise DeGroat, Annie D. Wauneka 
and Alyce Rouwalk and Roselyn Zah and David Tsosie and Albert 
Yazzie. 

On February 25, 1987, the Advisory Committee passed a 
resolution which reestablished the Poundation as an entity of 
the Navajo Nation. The Advisory Committee fully rescinded the 
November 13, 1986 Advisory Committee resolution which created 
the Poundation as a non-profit corporation. The Advisory 
Committee further declared the Poundation•s articles null and 
void. It also removed the existing members of the Board and 
replaced them with the following Board members: Donald Benally, 
Daniel Tso, Loyce Phoenix, Rebecca Martgan, Bobby Charley, 
Richard Kontz, Paul Sage, Kee Ike Yazzie, Manuel Shirley and 
Lewis Calamity. 

As I pointed out earlier that it is the Justice 
Department's position that the Advisory Committee or the B&F 
could not transfer or sell property of the Navajo Tribe to a 
private non-tribal corporation. That's been the Department of 
Justice's position at the inception of the Poundation. I will 
go ahead and present to you the minutes of the Budget and 
Finance Committee of July 1986 or August 1986 wherein the Budget 
and Finance committee was presented with a resolution that would 
transfer P&M lease monies to the Foundation. In there there was 
a concern that was raised by my predecessor, Ms. Claudeen Bates 
Arthur, then Attorney General, the concern she had was whether 
or not the Navajo Nation could transfer tribal property to a 
private corporation. 

In response to that concern, the then Assistant 
Attorney General, Albert Hale, advised -- gave advice to the 
Budget and Finance Committee that was entered on record. In 
that advice, which I still hold, Mr. Hale concluded that the 
Foundation is a tribal non-profit charitable and tax exempt 
entit~·. In concluding, Mr. Hale stated the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation has all the appearances of a Tribal 
enterprise, the board of trustee members are appointed by the 
Chairman and confirmed by the Advisory Committee of the Tribal 
Council. Annual audit reports are required to be submitted to 
the Budget and Pinance Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council. 
The board of trustees may amend the articles of incorporation, 
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but amendments are not effective until approval by the Advis~ry 
Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council. 

So I just want to emphasize that this is not a 
position that I have adopted by myself alone recently, we have 
continued the analysis that was made in that opinion that was 
rende:z:eed: ~-~ Budget and- Fi.nan=--<:oim.it~e -en-Au.gust· 5·, -1-986 
by Attorney General Claudeen Bates Arthur and also Mr. Albert 
Hale. I still -- we still hold the analysis that the Advisory 
Committee does not have the authority to transfer tribal 
property to a non-tribal private foundation. In order to do 
that, under the Tribal Code which I refer to Budget and Finance 
Committee authorization, Section 372 contained in Title 2 that 
the B&F would need to recommend -- review and recommend to the 
Tribal Council any such action. Under Section 343, the Advisory 
Committee does not have any authority to transfer property of 
the Navajo Nation to a private foundation. 

The Advisory Committee does have authority to create a 
tribal entity and in present circumstances, what we're looking 
at is that the Advisory Committee's action of November 1986 was 
invalid because (1) all they could do was create a tribal entity 
and they had no authority to create other than a tribal entity 
and (2) they had no authority to transfer property to a private 
foundation and (3) that the Advisory Committee could not 
re-delegate to a private foundation the authority that was given 
to it to oversee the plan of operation of the Foundation. 

Based on that, it is our conclusion that the action of 
the Advisory Committee of November 13, 1986 was beyond their 
scope of authority and that because of that, it has no effect or 
validity of transferring tribal property. I'd like to also 
point out that under the Tribal Code, Title 2, Section 57, it 
~tates that· -- which deals with provisions concerning tribal 
property, this is Section 57 (c) the sale, gift, loan, exchange 
or other disposition of any tribal property,. not specifically 
authorized by regulations or other directives by the Tribal 
Council, is illegal. 

So based on that, we have at this point recommended 
earlier to the Advisory Committee that the Council action that's 
appropriate at this time, our advice, based on our conclusions, 
legal conclusions that the action of November 13 Advisory 
Committee was beyond the scope of authority that this matter has 
to come back before you and clarify the intention of the Council 
relating to the status of the Foundation. 

Also to correct any action that was taken by the 
Advisory Committee that was beyond the scope of authority, 
therefore, we're recommending that the Council reaffirm the 
resolution of October 13, 1983 which created the Fo'Clldation as 
an tribal non-profit corporation. Also to reaffirm the 
resolution of February 1987, reaffirming the status of the 
Foundation as a tribal non-profit corporation. 
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I will go ahead and conclude at this point and have 
Mr. Riordan speak to some concerns that you should have 
regarding the Foundation and its relationship with the Internal 
Revenue Service. 

WILLIAM RIORDAN: Mr. Chairman, Members of the Tribal 
Council 0-elegates, Members of- die 'fribal- o:tvisions, ~rbents, 
Staff and Guests: I will not review again the outline because I 
believe its been very clearly presented to you, as to th• 
Tribe's position, but in a particular area I've been asked to 
address because there has been some misinfor-tion apparently 
that's been publicized. The Tribe has had to really struggle to 
assert its position in view of the initial claims that by trying 
to assert its position that the Foundation was created and 
always has been and is a tribal entity, that that was likened to 
be a takeover by the Tribe, when in fact to claim that there had 
been an authorized transfer from a tribal entity to private 
hands would be just the opposite, it would a takeover by private 
individuals of a public asset and a public entity of the Navajo 
Nation. 

Other misinfo=ation concerns the tax status ot the 
Foundation and that is probably because it has been a factor in 
trying to view the intent of the Advisory Committee. The 
Advisory Committee has no authority, it does not have authority 
to transfer assets of the Tribe. Neither does the Advisory 
Committee have any authority to creet~ a private en.:tity of any 
kind. In fact, in 1981 when the Advisory Committee sought to 
have its plan of operation approved by the Tribal Council, 
there was a proposal that would include the authority of the 
Advisory Committee to issue a charter to a private organizatio~ 
and in considering that the. Tribal Council ■pecifically 
addres ■ ed it, it specifically said no, that they did not want 
that authority to b~ delegated to the Advisory Committee, that 
it would be retained by the Council itself. 

This chartering had been·used in the past and in the 
absence of the Tribal Corporation Code as a means of obtaining 
tax exempt status, so that the recognition of a non-profit 
organization by the governing body of the Navajo Tribal Council 
would qualify that body for tax exempt status to accept 
donations so that donations would be tax deductible to the 
donor. It is not correct to state that the tax ■tatus· of the 
Education Foundation is as a private non-profit corporation 
under 501 (c) of the Internal Revenue Code. That application 
was made, its true but it was rejected by the Internal Revenue 
as not being the correct statement of the status of the 
Foundation. Instead the actual tax exempt status that ha■ been 
issued by the Internal Revenue is•for a public non-profit entity 
which includes a governmental corporation. 

We've experienced the same thing in the past, its a 
very common misunderstandir.g, even among many lawyers that you 
must "incorporate in order to quality for tax exempt status and 
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that is net true, that is net the only organization that is 
recognized by the Internal Revenue. Before we had our 
corporation code, the chapters were even considering, they 
wanted to run non-profit programs, that they would have to 
incorporate under some state law which of course makes it 
unthinkable to place a subdivision of the Navajo Tribe 
GOJJ'ermaent ~ ~te ;1:W:iscl!.-tion by-means c~ .±:l:c::lrporation. 

But it was not necessary if you simply applied on 
behalf of the chapter this was done, this is how I personally 
became aware of it, the chapter got its non-profit recognition, 
its tax exempt status by simply submitting its status as a 
governmental entity, that is non-profit. This is actually the 
analysis and the status that came back from Internal Revenue. 
Why is that important, its also important because although its 
been recognized that the Advisory Committee had no authority to 
create a private entity, there's been a position taken by the 
party seeking to take over NESP, that even if it didn't have 
that authority, there must have been some intent to do so 
because they refer to their articles in the plan of operation as 
articles of incorporation but it makes it very clear when you 
read the history of that that the reason for that was to qualify 
for tax exempt status, not as a private organization, but as a 
governmental organization and as a governmental corporate body 
which is very co-on in the Federal Government, as numerous 
federal corporations, examples are the Federal Deposit, the 
Insurance Corporation, various loan programs. 

In effect they operate -- in law they operate as 
wholly owned by the Federal Government in a non-profit corporate 
form and they are regarded in law aa agencies of the government 
and this i• exactly what the intent of the AC resolution was 
because they could de no other than to say that there was such 
an intent is to presume an intent to de something ·unlawful and 
the legislative record does net bear that cut. The Advisory 
Committee acted lawfully and created a tribal entity, the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation. Thank you. 

ALEX RIGGS: Mr. Chairman, Members of the Tribal 
Council, Visiting Friends and 3ustice Department which has 
interpreted acme cf the laws and also the Education Foundation, 
the way it has separated from the tribal government. As we 
have received the report from Ma. Martgan and also Michael 
Upshaw and then Mr. Riordan. I think to say that it has become 
clear, some cf us didn't really -- -a not really aware of the 
extent cf the infomticn that was supplied to us in terms of 
the tribal laws that we have. Truly, the Advisory Committee has 
the authority to set up an organization as the charter but not 
to separate and make a separate entity from the tribal 
government. This is not their line of authority. 

Sc what we are doing is just taking the action that 
the Advisory Committee had taken and bring it back within the 
tribal government, the way it should be and that is merely the 
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understanding that we're getting as well as the Attorney 
General's inter~retation that he has outlined. I believe that 
it is only right that we bring the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundat~on back in the non-profit organization 
within the Tribal Government. This is the way that it has been 
and that's the way it should be. On no grounds that the 
Advisory Commit:.tee can authorize, i:t should llOt se.t- a precedent 
as to giving a separate entity of the organization as this. 

So many information that has been made clear to us, 
Mr. Chairman, I believe this is the right approach that we will 
be making. I would like to see that the set rules and the 
resolution be set as this to reset up the Navajo Tribal 
Scholarship Foundation as it has been, a non-profit organization 
within the Navajo Tribal Government. Mr. Chairman, it is only 
proper that we vote on this resolution and set it back the way 
it should be and this is my comments and thoughts, Mr. Chairman. 

CHORUS: Vote! Vote! 

ROBERT WHITEHORSE: Mr. Chairman, Members of the 
Tribal Council, Justice, BIA, Ms. Martgan, Visitors: I'd like 
to make a comment on this issue before the Tribal Council. I'm 
not going to go into great detail but my interpretation of the 
resolution is that we try to bring the entity that was blessed 
as a private entity, to bring it back under the Tribal -- under 
the Navajo Nation, the Tribal Council, so it would be set up 
similar like HTUA, NECA, other business enterprises that's 
branched off the Navajo Tribe. 

So I have looked through the Foundation, as far as the 
appropriation that has been made, the donation, I see that Mobil 
Oil Company ·operating in Aneth has donated and I concur with 
them that it is the one that donated half a million and also 
Texaco. Today, the people who live in Aneth, are beginning an 
uprising with these oil companies because of the non-preference, 
its not being implemented the way the law is stated under the 
Navajo Tribe. They in turn use this that they have donated this 
in good faith to the Navajo Tribe, therefore, the community 
should recognize the oil company since a good term of 
cooperation is being practiced, but if we're going to have this 
foundation that's going to be set aside as a private entity, I 
think we should make it known to the oil company that they are 
making donations, not to the Tribe but they are making it to the 
one that's branched off and spaced off, the entity that is no 
longer controlled by the Navajo Tribe. 

I think based on this terms I think the people in Utah 
have a legitimate argument against these companies that they 
have not donated any. I think it would be only proper if we 
bring this entity back under the control of the ·Navajo Tribe. 
Then the corporation and the agreement and whatever terms will 
be settled based on the donation that has been set aside in the 
previous years. So I· just want to cite this one. 
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I knew after its brought back under the entity like 
similar enterprises, I knew that it could be controlled and run 
and whatever the intent of this Foundation can continue. 
don't think we're talking about the Beard members there, the 
people, the staff that's being staffed now, I think we're only 
authorizing that this entity will be joined back within the 
Nation, so we can be all ~ whale. ..SO the.....scholarships and 
whatever can be distributed accordingly, equally, based en the 
terms being decided, should also be oversighted by the Education 
Committee. 

BENJAMIN HOUSE: Mr. Chairman, Vice Chairman: I'd 
just like to reiterate what we're discussing here, that the 
infcrmaticn that we received from our Attorney General and Ms. 
Martgan, that this entity is solely the property of the Navajo 
Tribe. The Navajo Tribe is responsible and has its duty tc 
protect tribal property, exercising its duty tc protect its 
resources. I realize we're not dealing with private 
corporations because the Foundation is a tribal entity and it is 
without question tribal property. 

I can see that someone might say that we're 
interfering with cases pending in court and someone might say 
that we have no respect for tribal courts, tribal judges or the 
Judicial system, to wipe out this entity. That's not the case, 
we're not wiping it out, we'•re simply putting it back with the 
Navajo Tribe, that's all that we're asking in its right place. 
Thank you. 

CHORUS: Vote! ·vote! 

ANDERSON TULLY: Mr. Chairman, Vice Chairman, Members 
of the Tribal Council: Just from ~he review of the documents 
and the information that we have received so far, one question 
that I have maybe to the Attorney General or Ms. Martgan, the 
purpose and int~ntion of the Foundation itself, I presume that 
the operation itself is solely supported by private donations. 
As we look into the documents that we have before us, many of 
the companies that are affiliated with the Navajo Tribe have 
donated the most funds. 

After the discussion thus far has indicated tc me 
certainly the Foundation belongs as a tribal entity, a 
governmental entity, with that the Navajo Tribal Council has the 
ultimate authority to carry out the responsibility to •protect 
the property of the Navajo people. With that I think what this 
Council is doing is trying tc clear up some of the unclear 
authority that was made, such as the authority of the AC, that 
the Advisory Committee has tc create or establish a private 
entity. With this, I think we have this Council has 
mentioned over and over again that the Council has the ultimate 
authority to amend er to correct anything that is UDSatisfactory 
to the policies. I think this is what we're doing, we're trying 
tc clear up some cf the things -- correct some actions that were 
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dcne illegally. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRMAN: Ycu had a question, did you say, Mr. TUlly 
of the Attorney General? 

ANDERSON TULLY: Yes, either tc the Attorney General 
er Ms. Martgan about the funds that are donated to the 
Foundation. What was the intention in the first place er what 
funds were tc be used for the operation? 

CHAIRMAN: Mr. Upshaw, er if you dcn•t have the 
answer, Ms. Martgan. 

REBECCA MARTGAN: Mr. Chairman, Members cf the 
Council: The intent cf the donations was tc build the Education 
Center. Thank ycu. 

CHAIRMAN: You're asking fer the vote, but here's the 
situation as I understand it. 

Members cf the Tribal Council, its very clear tc me 
that perhaps to many cf you by asking fer the question by now, 
we'll soon have that that there is nc authority en the part cf 
the Advisory Committee tc give away tribal monies and tribal 
assets without the Tribal Council acting en it. What we're 
talking about probably right now is an asset well over 84 
million. Just as if the Tribe has established an authority like 
the Tribal Utility Authority, the Advisory Committee dces not 
have the authority to say, okay, we'll just make NTUA a private 
enterprise to be run and awned by Mickey Dalton. There's about 
820 million worth of tribal assets in that enterprise. Its juat 
simply the case where the action of the Advisory Committee was 
not appropriate, was not legal, consequently, you are being 
asked to correct that situation and let the Poundaticn continue 
tc operate and exist under the entity cf the Navajo Tribal 
Government. 

If you want tc vote, let's have a vote. 

(Comments were made by various Council Delegates from 
the fleer.) 

CHAIRMAN: Order. All those in favor of the motion to 
approve this proposed resolution indicate by voting yes: 
apposed. 

(Comments were made by various council Delegates frcm 
the fleer.) 

CHAIRMAN: Everybody voted? 

(Comments were made by various Council Delegates frca 
the fleer,) 
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CHAIRMAN: Members of the Tribal Council: The vote is 
38 in favor, 38 opposed and l abstaining, that's a tie vote, so 
I wil¾ cast my vote in favor of the yes, so the resolution 
passes with 39 in favor, 38 opposed and l abstention. 

Members of the Tribal Council, with that vote of 39 in 
favor, 38 opposed and l abstention, -~a_proposed resolution is.. 
hereby approved as read. 

We'll now recess for lunch until 1:30. 

(Whereupon, at 12:20 p.m., the Tribal Council recessed 
and reconvened on the same day at 2:10 p.m.) 

Chairman Peter MacDonald, Presiding 

CHAIRMAN: The Council meeting will now come to order. 
We'll now have roll call. 

(Whereupon, there were 51 Council Delegates present at 
the commencement of the afternoon session.) 

Clij\IRMAN: Members of the Tribal Council: We do have 
a quorum, we• ll now move on with our agenda. Its my 
understanding that Item 17, Adopting the Recommendations on the 
Prevention of Child Abuse and Molestations on School Settings on 
the Navajo Reservation, is readyr if that is so, then I'd like 
to have it handed out to the Members of the Tribal Council and 
read. 

This particular item facing the Council really is a 
serious problem throughout the Reservation, its something that 
we neod to· addresa in order to provide a safe and healthy 
environment for our children, whether it be in school or 
wherever they might be. After the proposed resolution is read, 
I'd like to have explanations made here by the parties 

·sponsoring th• resolution. 

(Whereupon, the following was read by Larry ~ester.) 
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C11a1r111an naits 
debate, casts 
deciding vote 
By Richard Slits 
Dine Bureau 

WINDOW ROCK. Arb:. - Democ­
racy and the rl&ht or free speech 
took a forced vac ■Uon Crom the 
Navajo Tribal Council chambers 
'l)lunday. 

Navajo Tribal Chairman Peter 
MacDonald ralused lo allow many 
council dele1atea to ■peak and then 
cast the decldln& vote on the Navajo 
EducaUon and Scholarship Founda­
tion iuue. 

The vole strips the foundation or 
lt.s private 1tat111 and &Ives the tribal 
1overnment power over the founda­
tion. Its lundralsln& arm ii headed 
by former tribal chairman Pelenon 
Zah. 

Afterward, hall the council chara• . 
ed that the session wu beln& run . 
like a dictatorship. 

The resoluUon beln& voted on wu 
to confirm and declare the contlnu­
ln& 1tat111 of the fOWld ■Uon u a 
1ovunmental, non-profit corporate 
enllly of the Navajo NaUon. 

Last February the Advisory Com­
mittee dismissed the foundaUon's 
board ■ nil appointed Its own board to 
take over. The orl1ln ■ I board 
claimed It had been made a private 
corporation, while the tribe 
maintains It has been a tribal entity 
all ■lon1, and the iuue ii 1Ull pend­
Ing In Navajo courts. 

The vote ended In a 311-311 deadlock, 
with one abstention. MacDonald 
then quickly announced that he was 
cuting the decldln& vote, declared 
the resolution approved, and recess­
ed the council for lunch. 

Council members were oulr■ &ed 
when MacDonald called (or a vole on 
the foundation resolution, when 
many had not been recoplzed by 
the chair and 1Ull had questions they 
wanted answered. 

The Yole It.sell wu almost antl­
cllmaUc, compared to the drama 
leadln& up to It and the verbal pro­
tests afterward. 

Low Mountain and Jeddllo Council 
Dele&ate David Taosle wu particu­
larly upset that he wu not recog­
nized. He I■ a member of the tribe'• 
EducaUon Commlllee and bu serv­
ed on the foundation'■ board. 

"It ■eema llke the Education Com­
mittee lhould .be allowed to voice 
lheii- ciplnloci,.. TIOII• &aid: ''There 
were two or three of Ill with •wJI' 

hands up wbo were not recopbed." 
Education Committee Chairman 
Daniel Tso wu one of thole. 

After keeplq hi■ band raised 
lhrou1h three qther dele1ate 
speeches, Tsosie then stood up with 
hi ■ hand ■ till raised, throu1h 
another speech. 

It didn't help. 
Rather than recoanlze dele1■ tes 

who may have questioned or spoken 
a1alnst the resolution, MacDonald 
went down the list and called on his 
·,table of 1tauncb 1upporter1 to 
■peak Instead. 

Council delegate■ Tsosie, Tso, 
Stanley Y■ule. Mar1hall Plummer, 
and many other■ were lelt with their 
hands In the air, while the chairman 
called on delegate■ Robert Billy 
Whitehorse, Benjamin House and 
Anderson Tulley. 

Upon calling for a vole, Mac­
Donald had to pick up hi■ gavel and 
call for order when dele1 ■w verbal­
ly expreSJed their oulr■ &e. 
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'I.Ar uuD C:I t : Wi I 
c~ce to speak!", and -■we still 
have questions!" rang through the 
chamber. 

Delegates did vote, however, and 
the tQte board lit up like a red and 
green Chrlstmu tree. Many or the 
red "Nay" lights were lit up for the 
Ont Ume ■ Ince the current admlnls­
traUon took office. 

'1'he ~. which usually Is pre­
domlnanUy gr~en, showed an equal 
mix of red, leading to the Ue vote, , 
which wu then broken by the 
chairman. 
--~ii cleariy~onstrate■ that we 
have a dictator who only call■ on 
people who ■hare his views and 
won't call on other■ with different 
view■, for fear ol ~ more obtecUve 
debate," Tsosie said. 

Tuba City delegate Irving Billy 
was furious, calllng MacDonald's 
actlon •iDict■torlal." . 

"Awful,"wuthewordRockPolnl 
delegate Ernest Begay used. 

''The way Uil■ WU handled WU 
enUrely unfair," Aid Hard Rocle 
delegate Percy Deal. "All lhe side■ 
must be beard, Including lhe enUty 
dlrecUy Involved - lhe foundaUon. 
'1'bls ls an actlon I 1trongly reject." 

'1'be re50luUon bad been presented 
by Navajo "EducaUon Director Re­
becca Martgan, but no one repre• 
aenUng the foundation had been al· 
lowed lo ■peak.

'1'he abstenslon was cast by Teec 
Nos Pm Council Delegate Frank 
Farley, who told the Independent he 
did so bec:ause lhe other aide had not 
been allowed to express Its view■• 
. Upon cllsmlsslng the council for 
lunch, MacDonald left lhe chamber, 
while lrustrated delegate■ descend• 
ed down front to quesUon Navajo 
Atto~y General Michael Upshaw. 
"You're making a mocker, of the 

tribal jusUce ■y■lem,". _Billy told 
Upshaw.

Council member Tom Bahe asked 
Upshaw what his poslUon wu on 
how lhe delegates were not recog-
JJlzed and given the Door. . 

"I don't have anything to do with 
that," Up■haw reaponded. "That's 
the chalrman'■ prerogaUve." 

_ • J sho-- _Jvlse ..... evcr,uuc 
be recognized," Bahe said. "You 
should have stood up for our rights." 
. Upshaw told the delegates he 
would have been out or order if he 
had done anything. lie suggested 
that lhe COWlCll come up with some 
rules that everyone be recognized, 
but the delegates countered that that 
was his job. 

One or the many observers silting 
In the gallery Thursday was Zah, 
who Is In charge or (undraising for 
the foundation. 

"It's unfortunate the Tribal Coun­
cil has to employ this kind or tactic," 
he said afterward. "We are still in 
court and It's not over yet." 

Zah said the approved resolution 
means a "disrespect for the Navajo 
courts and Judges," because the 
·matter still ls being decided In court. 

"The sad thing about this whole 
. thing Is the students are gelling 

hurt, and haU of the council dele­
gates are frustrated and voiceless," 
Zah said. .,If he (MacDonald) 
doesn't hear them, then hall the 
Navajo people are without a voice." 

Zah said when he was chairman he 
recognized the opposlUon and let 
them have their say. His strategy, 
he added, was to recognize lhe oppo­
■lUon first, and then mount counter­
arguem·enls. 

-■Jn America, by the U.S. Conslllu­
tlon, we have room for opposition," 
Zah said. "Whal I saw today looked 
more like Russia. 

.,No corporation ls going lo relo­
cate _to lhe reservation lC they see 
these kind or exhibiUons carried put 
In the Navajo Tribal Council," Zah 
said. 

Council member lilorrls Johnson 
also brought up the economic devel­
opment concern, saying he believed 
Thursday's action will only hurt the 
tribe's economic· development 
lnlUalive. 

"Whal company ls going lo trust 
us now?" Johnson asked. ''This 
seems to tell the private sector th:il 
we are unstable. 

"There were 3S or us who weren't 
given the Ooor. 

278 



l 

Exhibit No.:-4·(cont.) 

Monda,-, Febru ■ r,- a, 1!188 

Editorials___ 
AVote Against Navajos 

A Navajo tnllal judse ruled Jut fall that tha 
Navajo Education and Scbolarahlp Foundation is an 
Independent eorporatlon and not, as Navajo Chair­
mm Peter MacDonald arsued, an arm or the tribal 
sovernment. 

But a court decision wasn't irood enou1h for Peter 
Mael)onald. 

Whlle-anomeys for the tribe's justiee department 
appealed the decision, MacDonald last week went 
one step better. Ht cast the tle•brealtln1 -.cite for a 
Navajo Tribal Councll resolution maJda, the fDIIII• 
datlcm an arm of the tribal eovemment. Or, •c1ar­
l!11D1• the law for the courts, a1 MaeDonald's press 

•seerewy explained. 
!lut the real explanation for MacDonald's con• 

tloued crusade asalmt the foundation's lndepend• 
enee is painfully transparent. 

MacDonald's lons•tlme rival, Peterson Zall, is 
chief fund•raiser for the foundation. 'Plaeins the 
foundation under the tribal 1ovemment just happens 
10 slve MacDom.ld the power to hire-and fire-Its 
emplo,-ees. 

MacDonald alrudy has provt11 that he will 
exercise that power. Last Janu&:7, the tribe's 
advismy commlttN - appointad bf MacI>onald -
fired the foundation board that had hired Zah. Those 
ririn1s prompted Zah to seek an lnjlinetlon In tribal 
court. 

MacDonald's press aeerewy said after last week's 
vote that the foundation wu Wesally made an 
Independent corporation durln1 Zah'a lellllre u 
lribal chairman. MacDonald In the put has charsed 
that Zall ls ulinl the foundation for·hl• ow'II polltleal 
purposes. (This, from a man wbo cast h1I tie­
brealdns vote after bannln1 any debate by tha • 
oppo1ltlo11.) 

Thue same araumenu were made befon the 
tribal Judie last fall. The Judie ruled oth~e. Thi 
proper avenue for resolvlnl these dl!f1ranee1 Is 
ri11htly throu1h appeal, not by rewrir:1111 the law In 
the middle of the same. 

The nd fact Is that It's not just MacDonald's 
credlbWty that suffers from aueh mlqulded eaca. 
pades u lut week's· vole. 

The tribal council In 1!116 passed a law to protect 
corporations sueh as the education foundation from 
the ver, kind of poUllcal Interference currently belns 
practleed In Window Rocle. The Navajo Nation needs 

•jobs despera1ely; aetlons like the one taken lu1 week 
can only send a ne111tlve menace to companJes 
conslderln1 doill1 business In Navajo countrf. 

And education ls key to strenrthenin1 the Navajo 
economy. Meddlln1 wllh a foundailon that raises 
scholarships !or needy students ls the pettiest or 
polities. 
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EXHIBIT F 

ALBUQUERQUE JOURNAL 
Friday, February 5, 1988 

"MacDonald Vote Decides Zah Dispute" 

wa1 an Independent corporationBy Susan Landon 
created under the Navajo Corpora-: 

JOURNAL STAl'f WRITER tlon Code. 
•No one will tru1t u1 If we don'tAs aeveral Navajo Tribal Council follow our own law,• said Morrismemben shouted that they bad 

Johnson, a tribal council memberbeen denied the ri1ht to speak, 
from northweatem New Mexicotribal Chairman Peter MacDonald who oppoaed the resolution. •We're on Thursday cast the tle-breakln1 
cbanalna our lawa ln the middle of vote In a resolution 1lvln1 the tribal 
the game.•11ovemment power over a founda• 

But Karen Dlakun, pres1 scretary tion headed by his lonatlme rival • 
for MacDonald, aald the resolution Peterson Zah, chief fund-raiser 

for the Navajo Education and Schol.: clariflel for the COUrtl that the \ 
arshlp Foundation, said, ■ne whole foundation 11 a tribal corporation. 
purpose or all this ls so MacDonalcl She 11ld· the matter ls atlll before 
can rire me as a foundation em.. the courts, where attorneys for the 
ployee - he can't do that when the ·tribe'• Ju1tlce • Department have 
foundation Is aeparate and lndepen• appealed the SeP.tember rullna. 
dent!' 

Zah said he will abide by whatev• .MacDonald and Zah were bitter j er the tribal court finally rule, inopponentsjn the 1986 campalp for • 
the case. • jchairman, with MacDonald narrow~ He added, •By voting aaalnst the !ly winnina the election. 
foundation'• lndepende~ce, Mac•But a statement Issued by Mac~ 
Donald ba1 made a mockery of the Donald's office late Thursday &ale.\ Navajo Nation Corporation Code,the roundatlon was Wegally made tribal COUrtl and tribal judaeL'" an Independent entity by a. tribal 

advisory council ln the closlnc The vote waa tied 38 to 38, with 
months of Zah"s administration. one ab1tentlon, when MacDonald 

"Today, the Navajo Nation clar• CHt the decldlni vote In favor of a
ICied the Intent as to the status of re10lutlon ayln1 the foundation ls a
the foundation as a non-profit tribal tribal entity. .
corporation,• the :.iatement said. • John1on and council member

Tribal council members opposlni David Tsosie of northern Arizona
the resolution during the council's said not one opponent to the resolu• 
-winter session In Window Rock; tion waa allowed by MacDonald. to
Ariz., on Thursday aald the vote will speak. The chairman presides over 
hurt the tribe'• attempts to attract tribal council meetlnas. 
business to the reservation. They 
said a tribal Judae bad already ruled 
last September that the foundation-
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"Usually, the opponents are 
allowed to say a few words, at least. 
This time we were never given the 
(Joor - never! We believe if we'd 
been given the floor, we could have 
persuaded some of the other 38 
supporters of the resolution to vote 
with u1," Johnson said. 

MacDonald quickly adjourned the 
council session for lunch and left, 

·Johnson ■aid. More than a dozen 
council members then clustered 
around Navajo Attorney General 
Michael Upshaw, criticizing the 
way the vote had been handled. 

"The education scholarship foun­
dation legal counsel and board 
members were not allowed to pre­
sent their case - It was an infringe­
ment on due process and civil 
rights," Johnson said. 

Ms. Diakun said the tribe's Advis­
ory Committee in 1983 and in 1987 
stated. the foundation is a tribal 
corporation. Those two votes were 
taken when MacDonald was 
chairman. 

She ■aid action taken by the 
advisory group 1;1nder Zah was un-

lawful because the committee does 
not have the power to transfer 
tribal property to an independent 
group without Tribal Council ap­
proval. 

The Navajo Education and Schol­
arship Foundation has three em­
ployees. This semester, it will 
award about 80 college scholarships 
and 7S college preparatory schol­
arships to Navajo students, Zah 
said. He said the total amount of the 
scholarships will be more than 
Sl00,000. 

The foundation raises money 
from the private sector. founda­
tions and individuals to send Navajo 
students to school. 
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INDEPENDENT 
February 11, 1988 

"Zah: No Force in Ed Transition" 

By Betty Reid 
OlneBuruu 

WINDOW ROCK, Ariz. - Tribal 
attorney ■ have auured Navajo Edu­
callon and Scholanhip Foundallon 
officiall that force won't be used to 
remove them, according to former 
Navajo Chairman Peter■on Zah. 

Zah ■poke to more than 70 per■ona 
who gathered Wedne■day at the 
CoundaUon to find out the future of 
organlz.allon following lut week'• 
Navajo Tribal Council action. . 

The council recommended In a :ss-
38 deadlock with one absteDUon to 
put the foundallon under tribal con­
trol. Tribal Chairman Peter Mac­
Donald cut the lie-breaking vote. 

Zah me~Uoned that be, along with 
foundallon· o!flclala Guy Gorman 
and Annie Wauneka, vi■ lted Navajo 
Nallon Attorney General Michael 
Upshaw Jut Friday. 

The group asked If there would be 
a repeat of lul year'■ attempted 
removal of Zah by MacDonald'■ 

■WC member■. That action followed 
an Advisory CommlUee vote to dls­
aolve the foundalloD. 

Up1haw could not be reached for 
comment and Navajo Nallon Preu 
Secretary Karen DlakUD WU report­
ed OD leave. 

Zah aald the attorney general told 
Ml. Wauneka that be dld riot want 
the ·foundallon dl■ pute to become 
any more heated than It already 11. 
He added that Upshaw uld be would 
follow whatever the tribal courta de­
cide. Courts are expected to rule OD 
the trlber■ current appeal to reverae 
Jut September'• declllon. 

In September, the Navajo court 
ruled that the foundallon waa an 
Independent corporallon created 
under the Navajo Nallon Corpora­
tion Code. 

"I would have to aay that I believe 
our allomey general, .. ■aid Zah. 
"We will honor hi■ word." 

He dlaputed radio new1 account■ 
In the Navajo language about bow 
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•lbe fouodaUon bad become indebted 
by not paying Ill taxes. 

Zah told the group that IL wam'l 
true because the fOUDdaUon hu a 
tax-a:empl ■talus. Al for stories 
which ■aid the foundaUon wu con-
1trucled using tribal fund■ , be ■aid 
the tribe contributed only $1 mllllon 
lo the $1 million project. The re­
maining $3 million came from pri­
vate corporaUon■ , be aid. 

Zah f~ queaUoned the ac­
tlon of the COUDcll saying lhal It 
mates a mockery of the lrlbal 
courta. 

"From here on, will we take our 
traffic Uctell lo the Navajo Tribal 
Council to determine our fate?" he 
asked. "What u■e I■ the lrlbal court■• 
If the council act.I like a Judge." 

lie charged that the mlalon of the 
current admlnlalraUon I■ lo acquire 
the foundaUon, leaving room (or 
tribal official■ lo "step on hll neck." 

"Some people mav say that, 'we 
Please 1ee ZAH, page 2. 

eZah • • C 
Conllnued from page t 
won,• bul ll la the children who bene­
fit from the foundation who are los­
er■ ," aid Zah. "I'm not hurting. 
The chairman b not hurting, for he 
II doing well. It'■ the children who 
are hurting." 

Zah ■aid the foundation bu 
$500,00(( lifafiducwy-ln15t'fund:· • 

Rebecca Martgisn; "director· of the 
Navajo EducaUon Division, aald 1he 
did not. .believe that.. the children. 
were·suffering from recent actions. 

1• She aald an estimated $30,000 was 
given out in scholarship awards last 
year. 

Ma. Martgan, however, said meet­
Inga almllar lo Wednesday's will 
only create a further dlvi.Bion among 
the Navajo people. 

"ll la not good (or the Navajo 
people lo have our heads together In 
anger.'' ahe aid. "llwe want peace, 
we need lo get together." 

Wednesday'• meeting was apon­
aored by the Dine RJghls A3socia­
Uon, which Invited Zah lo talk about 
the foundallon. 
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ALBUQUERQUE JOURNAL 
Monday, Feruary 8, 1988 

EDITORIALS 
"A Vote Against Navajos" 
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February 5i 1988 

Navajo Tribe makes 
ed takeover official 
Dine Buraeu Thursday night the Navajo tribal "The council received a .report "These resolutions created and 

WINDOW ROCK, Ariz, - The chairman'• office, released a pre• from the Department or Justice that reaffirmed the roundallon as a non• 
Navajo Tribal Council Thursday ap­ pared 1lalemenl regarding the vole, the action of the Advisory Commit• prom tribal corporation. 
proved a resolution to keep U1e The 1talement readl II followa: lee on Nov, 13, 1006, creating the "The November, 1986, Advisor)' 
Navajo Education and Scholar1hlp "The 1006 councU budget re1olu• foundation as a non-prolll, private, Commlllce action was said lo be 
Found~tlon II a tribal entity, lion paued durln1 the fall ae11lon non-tribal. entity, w11 beyond the unlawful because Iha Advisory Com• 

Navajo ·l'rlbal Chairman Peler directed lhe Navajo Division or Edu• acope or the authority or lhe Advlso­ mlllee could nol lransrcr tribal oro, 
MacDonald c11t the tle,breaklng cation and the Department or Jus• ry Commlltee, perty without approval or Council," 
vole lo approve the resolution. lice to 'promulgate alaw or policy to "Subsequently, the council rcsolu, "Secondly, the Advisory Commit, 

The resolution conllrDll and de• resolve conflicting aulhorllles ,ur. Uon or loday rescinded lhe Nov. 13, Ice could not rcdelcgatc Its authority
clares the continuing status of the roundL~g the Navajo Education and 1006, reaolutlon of tho Advisory Com, lo a private enllly to approve ad• 
foundation u a governmental, non• Scholanhlp Foundation, and reaf• mltlee and reaffirms the Advisory mendmenls lo lhc plan of operation
profit corporate enUty of the Navajo firming lhe Advisory Council action Commlllee resolutions of October, or the articles or corporation or a 
Nation. or February, um.' 1983, and.February, 1987, tribal cnllly, 
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THE ARIZONA REPUBLIC: State &Vallev 

"Navajo Council Seeks To Rule Scholarship Agency" 

Stricter controls 
sought over board 
that raises funds 
By MARK SHAFFER 
Northan Arizona BurHU 

The Navajo Tribal Council has 
recommended thnt the independent 
Navajo Education and Scholanhip 
Foundation be placed under control 
of the tribe. 

The advisory resolution, which

I critics say is an attempt to sap the 
• independence of corporations doing 

business on the reservation and lo 
undercut Chairman Peter MacDon• 
ald'a political oppoaillon, passed 
39-38 on Thursday. 

Council delegates had deadlocked 
38-38 on the advilory resolution -
a recommendation to the tribal 
court, which is deliberating on the 
foundation's status. MacDonald 
cost the tie-breaking vole. 

Angry delegates later charged 
that MacDonald, who conducted 
the council meeting, never con• 
suited with the council'■ education 
committee and only recognized four 
proponents of the resolution lo 

speak during floor debnle. 
The foundation wa■ creeled in 

1983, 1eparale from tribal govern• 
. menl., by former Chairman Peter­
son Zah to help raise funds to build 
an education center ond provide 
more scholarship■ for Navajo col­
lege students. 

Aller MacDonald defeated Znh 
in the 1986 election for chairman, 
Zah was picked by the foundation's 
board as head fund-raiser. 

The tn"be'a advisory committee 
then changed the plan of operation 
for the foundation and replaced 
three of Zah'a aupporlen on the 
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board with three sympathetic to 
MacDonald. 

Members of the board then filed 
suit in tribal court, alleging that 
the advisory committee did not 
have authority lo change the board. 

Judge Robert Yazzie of Window 
Hock District Court, in a ruling in 
September, upheld the right of the 
foundation to be separate from the 
tribe. 

The tdbe appealed Yazzie's rul­
ing lo the Navajo Supreme Court 
but it was remanded to the district 
court for final disposition. 

- Nm•ajo, B3 

NAVAJO 
Continued from B 1 

Diakun said she expects the 
Tribal Council's action to place a 
great deal of pressure on Yazzie to 
reverse his decision. District Court 
judges are appointed and can be 
removed by the chairman. . 

Meanwhile, education officials 
chastised the council for its deci­
sion. 

"It's nothing but an insult to the 
political process," said Alice Rou­
walk, a member of the foundation's 
board of directors. "It shows a lack 
of respect for the court sys~m 
when the legislative branch goes in 
and dictates action." 

Zah· said the resolution "makes a 
mockery of the tribal corporation 
code" and predicted that it would 
stifle all business developri1ent on 
the nation's largest reservation. 
Economic development has been a 
linchpin of MacDonald's adminis­
tration. 

The corporation code was 
adopted in 1986, Zah said, to keep 
tribal politics out of questions on 
economic development. 

"By MacDonald personally vol­
ing in favor of this measure, it's 
c·rippled his own program. No 
business in its right mind would 
invest millions at his urging," Zah 
said. "It's also destroyed the credi­
bility of the foundation." 
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EXHIBIT H 

:. 
.t 

THE NAVAJO NATION/ 
PETER MacDONALD. CHAIRMAN 

TIii-: N.-u-.-uo TRIBAi. COl'NCIL 
JOHNNY R. THOlWl'SON, VICE CHAIRM.-t(V -· 

TH£ N,ffAJO TRIBAL COUNCIL 

AF'l'G-10025-88 

NAVAJO NATION DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
Post Office Drawer 2010 

Window Rock, Arizona 86515 
(602] 871-6343/6348 

February 16, 1988 

Hon. Robert Yazzie, Judge 
Window Rock District Court 
Post Office Box 447 
Window Rock, Arizona 86515 

Re: Michael P. Upshaw, Petitioner, ex rel. 
Relaters v. Guy Gorman, Sr., et al. 
Window Rock District Court No. WR-CV-96-87 

Dear Judge Yazzie~ 

I am enclosing for the record herein, a copy of 
certified· Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CF-8-88, 
Confirming and Declaring the Continuing Status of the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation, Inc., as a Governmental 
Non-Profit Corporate Entity of the Navajo Nation. 

Since this has now been enacted into the laws of 
the Navajo Nation, I am further requesting you to take 
judicial notice of its contents, particularly for 
reconsideration of the basis for the District Court's 
decision herein dated September 18, 1987, viz: the Court's 
imputation of the legislative intent of the governing body of 
the Navajo Nation. 

Accordingly, I am also requesting your immediate 
scheduling of hearings on the post-judgment motions of bot~ 
parties, as ordered by the Supreme Court of the Navajo Nation 
on November 23, 1987. 

I have conferred with counsel for respondents, and 
both parties are agreeable to any day or daysfithin the week 
of March 7 through March 11, 1988 for all mot·.on hearings. 

Posl Ollb llml JaleWllldow Rock. Nan)o Nalloa IARIZONAl•l6Dll 171-I 
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Hon. Robert Yazzie 
February lo, 1988 
Page 2 

As you know, it is imperative ~hat certain matters 
pending since March and April 1987 be resolved at your 
earliest opportunity, including the continuing effect of your 
own March 25, 1987 Order which appointed Interim Court 
Supervised Trustees, and which has never been rescinded. 
pending final determination of all the ongoing issues in this 
case. 

The urgent necessity for immediate compliance with 
your March 25, 1987 order is clearly demonstrated by the 
position of Fiduciary Trust International, as expressed in 
the enclosed correspondence. 

I would certainly also appreciate your •Jritten 
order confirming your previous denial and dismissal of 
respondents' motion to strike a portion of petitioner's 
pleadings based upon allegations of fraudulent 
misrepresentation to this Court. These allegations have 
already been to be wholly untrue and without merit or 
justification- and I therefore respectfully swimit that the 
vindication of this matter on the record is~ overdue. 

Sincerely, 

NAVAJO NATION 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

illiam A. Riordan 
Assistant Attorney General 
Counsel for Petitioner 

WAR/ah 
Enclosures 

xc: Sandy Hansen, Esq. 
Fredericks & Pelcyger 
Suite 216 
1881 9th Street 
Boulder, Colorado 80302 
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EXHIBIT I AQ-\Y-107-88 

Class "C'' P.esoluticn 
tlo BIA Ace-1..on Required. 

RESOLUr!CN OF 1llE 
.MNTSO'JY aM1lTIEE: OF 1llE 

NAVAJO 1lUBAL a:oN:l!. 

Teminat:fng and Rescind:l.rut the ErlsEi5 Lease 
tr., the Nava10 c.c:ucancn and sdiolars= retnda.ncn 

tEEREAS: 

1. The Navajo Tribal Council, bv Resolution CF-8-88, has con£~ 
and specifically declared the int:ent: and dete=iI!aticn of the~ body of 
the r-ravajo Nation chat: che Navaio Education and Scholarship F=dation, has been 
creat:ed by the authorlt:y vest:ed in the Advisorv Camti.ttee of the Navaio Tr-1..bal 
Cruru:i!., under the laws and auchorlt:v of the Navaio Tribal Council, and erists 
onlv as a gove:rn:mnt:al entit:y of the.Navajo Nation; and 

2. Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CF-8-P.8 is consistent -wit:.1-i and 
confi= the l~lat:ive int:ent: of che Advisorv Ccm:rl.::t:ee as expressed in 
Resolution AC0-171-83, .ACF-52-87, .ACF-53-87, and ACJA-20-88; ar.d 

3. The tTavajo Tribal Council has also expressly rescinded Advisorv 
<".amti.tt:ee Resolution AQT-182-S6 insofar as the s.me has been errcneouslv 
int:e.."'1)reted by· cert:a:l.n parties and entities as ~l~ an intent: of che 
Advisory Ccm!l:i.tt:ee to violat:e the unequivocal laws of the Navajo !!aticn hv 
at:t:~ting to either transfer the st:at:us, conttol, property or other rig;ht: of an 
ent:it:y o: the Navaio Nat:ion to prlvat:e ownership; or to abrogate or re-delegate 
·the sole ducy and authorlt:y or·che Advisory Ca!mittee to private parties so chat 
they could appnM! furt:her amenaoents to the Articles of a w'bolly =ed encicv 
of the Navajo Nation; and 

4. Bv -reascn of the foregoin!';, and pursuant co CJA-1-81, the Advisory 
C.a:Clitt:ee of the Navajo Tribal Council has the sole authorlt:v and -respon.<:::bilit:v 
to take all actions necessary to ~lBIBlt: the mndat:es of Resollll:ion CF-8-88 co 
ensure the contillUation and operation of che tTavajo F.ducation and Scholarship 
Foundation, as a govenmB1.t:al, non-profit: entit::, of the Navajo Nation; and 

5. The Advisory Catm.ttee is -required !::· its Plan of Operation 
(CJA-1-81) to take such action as it deems necessary to p-rese:cve the interests 
of the Navajo tfati.on during tilm!s when the Navaio '!'ribal Ccuncil is not: i.-1. 
session; and 

6. Advisorv C.aanittee Resolut:ion ACD-~31-86 ~ a Trans::er 
i\.gree?Ent: :rem and "lease back" to t.1-ie Navaio Education and ScholarshiD 
:'amdat:ion for .the building, pursuant: to che Plan of Operation of the Advise~ 
Camti.ttee of t:.~e Navaio Tribal Council Resolution (CJA-1-81) and the Pl.an of 
Operation of the Navajo F.du.cat:ion and Sc.1-iolarship F=dat:ion adopted bv the 
Advisorv <"..a:mtt:ee Resolution .Am-171-83, and confL"1:Ed bv Navaio Tr-1..bal Council 
Resolution CF-8-88, can only const:it:Ut:e a~ee?Ent:.'l :'or use pen:iits f= ::he 
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Navaio Naticn government as omer of the oremi.ses on Tribal. c:ust land bv 
end.ties of the Nava:io Tribal govemi:e1t, inc11.ldfilg: . '1he Navajo F.ducation and 
Scholarship Fouru:laticn under its approved Plan of Operation "to ccnso:uct a 
building for the ownership of the Nava:io Nad.on"; and 

7. The:re are no Navaio Tribal records evidenc~ that the llureau of 
Indian Affairs ever approved the agreerent described in ACl)-~31-86, wich. in 
arr, event, is not required for use bv Navajo Tribal end.ties; and 

8. Insaruch as fo= direccors of the Navaio Education and 
Scholarship Fouru:lation have asserted their private or.nership and concrol of the 
Navajo Educ.ad.on and Scholarship Fouru:lati.on and its public assets of the Navaio 
people and their goverrm:nt, said pard.es are in violation of the laws and 
auchoriey of the ~ bodv of the Navaio Nad.on and also the tems of the 
aforesaid agreements beareen the N.Naio Had.on and the N.Naio F'.ducation ar,d 
Scholarship F=dation, an entit:y creaced and 'llholly =ed by the N.Naio Nacion; 
and 

9. The forcer Board of :'rustees. Officers and scaff of the N'avaio 
Education and Scholarshitl F=dation, ccnt:inued as a tribal end.CV bv Re.<;olution· 
Aai-183-86 t1CIJ occupy the huil~ pursuant to the agreement e.'Cf!CUted on or 
about Januarv l'.?, 1987, bv reason of their unlawful claim as private o..ners o:: 
the Navaio F..ducacicn and Scholarship Foundation; and 

10. The individual :o= Board 1:IS!bers have clearlv violated the 
tems and conditions of their use agres:e:it in the fol~ additional 
instances: • 

a). Use the pnmises for ourposes other chan cax,:yiJ:lg on the business 
of an end.ey of the N.Najo Natim ~thout written caisent of the 
tlavaio Nation pursuant to para!lnPh 4; and 

b). Conducting and enga~ in substantial propaganda and otheMse 
a~ting to in...4'luence l~lad.on catt:ral:y to the use agres:e:it 
and the status of the N.Na.io Education and Scholarship Foundation 
as an end.CV of the t'ava.io Nad.on; and 

c) • Paragraph 14 relating to termir.ad.on is c:ondicicned upon the 
cont:lnu:iilg ownership and operation of the N.Najo Educ.ation and 
Scholarship Found.ad.on as an end.CV =ed and ccncrolled bv the 
goverment of the N.Naio Nad.on; and 

11. Q1 February 7, 1988, the Navajo F.ducation and Scholarship 
Foundation Board of Trustees passed a resolution (attached as Exhibit "A:') 
request~ that the Advisory Ca!I!li.ttee termim.te the lease executed pursuant to 
Advisory u::nmi.ttee Resolution ACD-231-86; and • 

12. In view- of the forei;oing. i!= is the dutv and responsibilitv of 
the Advisory Cair.ti.ttee of the Navajo ?tad.on to immdiately rescind and terminate 
the agrea:El'lt ~th the f= Board te!i:iers, agmts and ~loyees ru:rw oc~ 
arr, part of t.'ie premises of the Navaio F.ducation Center, under claim of private 
=ership of the Navaio Educa,;ion and Scholarship F=dation. in c!.ear violatim 
of the laws, public policies and cmoertv rights and interests of the ~=t 
of the N.Na_iq Nat;r,n. • 
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tl'X1 'IBEEFCRE BE rr RESCJ.VED 111.Al': 

1. Toe I.ease or use agree!Slt: for the N:ava;o Educai:i.cn ar.d 
ScholarshiP Foundaticn as a wiloilv-- cr,;rmd ent:il:'1 of the Navajo Nat:icri ~ was 
atll:horized. by Advisor7 Camrl..ttee Resolucion ACD-231-86 and eicecut:ed bv 
Vice--Cl1aiman Edward T. Begay- on 'or about: Jarrua:v 12, 1987 in the rume of the 
tlavaio Nation, is herebv cet!!Iinat:ed and rescinded with ~d co c.',e =enc 
ceoant: and occupants of the Navajo Educat:icn Center, ,;.ho are unl.awfullv c!..a:iming 
private a..nership and CIXlC:Ol of c.'1e Navajo Educaticn and Scholarship 
Fcundacion, furth.e=re, they are hereby ordered co imnedi.acely vacace c.'1e 
premises. 

2. Toe Advisory Camrl..ccee of the Nava~o Tribal Council requests c.'iac 
the Chairman of che Navaio Tribal Council imDedi.atelv t.ake anv and all ac~..cns 
necessarv to enforce the cexminat:ion of t:he Lease and use agre=ts as co said 
cri'late individuals and co secure pessession of che pre!!lises bv t:he Navaio 
Nation for the use and benefit of the Navaio Education and Scholarsh.i..c 
Foundation as a ,;.hollv owned public entity of che ~C'terrmen.C of the Navaio 
Nacion. 

3. The Navaio Educat:icn and Scholarship Foundation Board, .mpointed 
bv Advisorv Ccm:dccee Resoluticn ACF-53-87 and con_~ bv ~avaio Trl.bal 
Council Resolution CF-8-llS, should hold a fcri::al meecing as soon as cossible co 
b~ c.'1.e diallenging task of urple!!Ent:in11; c.'1.e ~ls and purposes for whi.c.'1 t:he 
Navaio Educa~..cm and Scholarship Foundat:icn was created as a g=cal entit:'J' 
of the Navaio Nacion. 

4. The Chairman, Navaio Tribal Council, and t:he Deoar=t: of 
Just:ic:e, are requested to :ill:plBIBIC and enforce the purpose and ini:enc of this 
Resolucion, should t:here be a failure by an'f fmmer Truscee, Officer, emplovees 
or ocher person unlawful. cl.aiming privace =ship nr· conc:ol of c.',e ~..avaio 
F.ducaticn and Scholarship Foundation, md canpel t:han co cai;,ly with deliverv of 
all Foundacion books, accounts, minuces, records, and in hisiher possessicn, to 
the Trustees of the Mava_;o Educaticn and Scholarship Foundation, by auchoricy of 
ACF-53-87, cc:nf!..med by Navaio Tribal Cctmeil Resolution. CF-8-88. 

CERl'IFICATICN 

I hereby cert:i£y chat: t:he forego~ resol.ucicn was riulv considered bv 
the .Advisory Camrl..ttee of t:he Navaio Tribal Council at: a duly called 1:2ecing at 
H~ Rocle, Navajo Nation (Arizona), ai: 'l<hi.ch a quoru:i was present: and c.'iat: 
sai:e was passed by a vote of 10 in favor and 4 opposed, this 24th day o: 
Hay, 1988. --- ---
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E::fflI3IT A 

NAVAJO EDUCATION ANO SOiOLARSHIP FOONOATION 
B01IRD OF T-RUSTEES 

RESOLUTION-REQUESTINC THAT ALL FORMER Me.lBERS OF THE BOARD 
OF ffiUSTEc:i. ALL FORMER ANO dJRRENT OFFICERS. EMPLdYEES ANO 
STAFr- MEMBERS oF t'AE FOUNOAflON to OlsCLOSE AND DELIVER ALL 

BOOKS OF ACCOUNTS. FINANCIAL RECORDS. BOARD RESotutlONS 
MiNUfEs. CORRESPONDENCE. ADOif REPORTS. ANO OTHER REcORDs 
REI.At INC to THE BOS INESS ACTI Vlti ES OF t'AE FOONOAT ioN ANO 

tAAf ALL :.AID INDIVIDUALS IMEOIAfEL9 VACATE ANO REM\IE 
THEIR PERSONS ANO PERSONAL PROPERTY FROO THE PREMISES ANo 

BOILOING tONS,RUCTEO FOR ANO ON BEAALF oF THE NAVAJO 
eo□CAtlON ANO sCAoLARsfilP FolJNOAtlON 

M-IEREAS, by Resolution ACF-52-87 the Advisory Coamittee 
of the Navajo Tribal Counci I confirmed the creation and 
continuing existence of the Navajo Education and Scholarship
Foundation as an entity of the Navajo Nation, rescinded Advisory 
Conmi ttee Resolution AOl-183-86, and amended the Plan of 
Operation of the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundatlon:_.and 

WHEREAS, the Navajo Tribal Council by Resolution 
CF-8-88 confirmed the previous actions of the Advisory Conmittee 
as set forth in Resolutions AC0-171-83, ACF-52-87, and ACF-53-87, 
rescinded Advisory Coamittee Resolution AOl-183-86, and conflnned 
the continuing status of the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation as a governmental non-profit corporate entity of the 
Navajo Nation: and 

. M-IEREAS, it Is desirable and appropriate for this Board 
of Trustees, which has been duly appointed and confinned by
Advisory Conmittee Resolution ACF-53-87, to proceed to take 
control and operation of the Navajo Education and Scholarship
Foundation program and activities as mandated by the Navajo
Tribal Council and by our own Plan of Operation: and 

M-IEREAS, the Navajo Tribal Council by Resolution 
CF-8-88 has directed the Advisory Conmittee to take al-I actions 
necessary to implement the mandates of said· Resolutions and to 
insure the continuing status and operation of the Navajo
Education and Scholarship Foundation as a government non-profit 
corporate entity of the Navajo Nation; and 

WHEREAS, this Board agrees with the _Navajo Tribal 
Counci I mandate to Advisory Coamittee of the Navajo Tribal 
Council ~xpressed in Resolution CF-8-88 to continue to be 
involved in protecting the assets of the Founaatlon and insure 
the operation and continuation of the Foundation's educational 
and charitable goals and purposes; and 
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..'.;_-,.
1.)t;· ; ,j WHEREAS. th Is Board f Inds that the ac: t I on of the Navajo 

,.i;;0::·· -, 1 Counc:11 In Resolution CF-8-88 c:onstl tutes a final 
•i·!?~/-. ;;'., ·':in of the disputes and confusion surrounding the Navajo 
:;':~~,'.-~-::::i:::n and Scholarship Foundation. and that It is both 
,(,/. ''~?~ iry and appropriate for- this Board to meet and begin the 
~~:.:·_:i; ·'f obtaining possession of al I proper-ty and assets of the 
i':.~·~.,::•':Jja .~Ion tl:f protect and preserve them from any possible waste
~'Pi.:~!o get the scholarship program bac:k Into ful I operation: and 
;,~!- ;.:·:..'j ~ .- :'· . 

~:f~(~f' (? WHEREAS. this Board must lmnedlately take possession 
\:;<::If control of al I assets of the Foundation. c:ol lect. review and 
t-.:~: .Jate all financial and operational records of the Foundation 
\"}·,,'} . .::te. identify and deal with any and all obligations of the 
;:~'.:-~_ur,..:a U on. prepare for Spr-i ng appll cat Ians and awar-ds of 
f:'.:,:,:~., Iarsh i ps. and c:omp I e te Independent aud i ts of the ff nanc: i a I 
¼f.fii ·t~ds and affairs the Foundatron for 1986 and 1987 as this
i:i'-oa .,cf be I I eves the on I y Independent aud I t conduc: t ed of the 
f~~cords of the Foundation was performed In September. 1985: and 

rdltil Board ~~R~;t!~!~- ~~~ fob~el:v:~ ~~~~e~~y Offof7°c:9:r.me:;r a~; 
S;J1:ii:-mer ol'" current employee of the Foundation should and must show 
;~ '''i:,per respect for and c:ompl lance with t-he expression of ·the 
f N~\.ajo Tribal Counc:f·I and cooperate with thi.s Board In any and 
iJ~II '!"ays possible to Insure full and proper acc:ountabi'llty for 
•: /11 inc:ome and a 11 expend I tures of the Founda t I on to date and to 
~:.::Insure a smooth transition of full operational and administrative 

I 

. control to this Board to avoid any further dlmlnistvnent or 
;~Jisruptlon of service to needy Navajo students: and 
,•.:I • 

WHEREAS. the Board of Trustees. Offlc:er-s. and staff ofi the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation as established in
•1 Resolution ACN-183-86 continue to oc:c:upy the bui ldlng pur-suarit to 
[, the Lease which was executed on or about January 12. 1987. Said
i Lease Is c:learly In vloldtlon of .law and sound publ le: pol icy and 
l should be terminated and rescinded lmnedlately.· 

NOW. THEREFORE. BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

1. The Board requests that all for-mer member-s of the 
Board of Trustees. al I former or cur-rent officers of the 
Found·ation. and all former- or current employees of the 
Foundation who have possession of or knowledge of the location of 
books of accounts. financial records. Board Resolutions and 
minutes. cor-respondence. audit reports. or any other r-ecor-ds 

,_., to the business activities of the Foundation. 
• '.'·:0 r said records to or- imnediately set forth in 

•• - --i custodian of any such r-ecords to the 
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2. The Board :'requests - tha Ca I I fonner members of the 
Board of Tr·ustees, and al I former or current officers, and al I 
forme.i:a or··curre·nt-amployees o!. tha'<:.!:ounda.tlon, or anY. other 
ped ~'51: -"P~~fi..~:~~!·..icr.!]~i:-~~·.:.euri?.9ses ·~2:r·-the. .Founda t [g~ put 
as Idil-_,!Ml, :1l'E·~t!,_s- and_ w.o.r1<. ·together. to- re.so Ive. any_. cont Inu i ng 
con1u!!~~:.!ili·t u;i~.•.!o. $!_fou!!g_a ;J~.c.;.,s.ons.L~:!..l!!!.L':!.i Jh :._!In,;! pursuant 
to t_h!.:_~!1,!!a:!'i<_:~'ii.rn__;~at_~of _ _J_ift!::_li<!~aj~ J_r.i!i,al_..C.ou!).Ci I as 
expr=.~.!!~? Ln ~es.:?l!:!-!.:!~!1__:ff::~-=~-8 .:!n_q_ m.o'!'.! ..J'?rw<!.rc:! _tog.etner ~o 
accome U.sfi- ~-11~::.:.~Es_a ~:!.C?.!'~ _an_q_..,i;_.h'P." I .~~~I ': ...E!!'=.P05_e5 . 0 f the Nava f 0 
Tri b!.:.=J}:J:~~"!~.-!.s e~F..~.s~.~5,!_ _:i:ri·:m.~ ....!'f!!.1....2..f" .!Jper.._a t.l on_ fc:,r the 
Nava j o.:_Educa t~a- acd· Sena Iarsn lp_Found:a t.i on.•.._. ·---- ... _- .. . - .. - - . 

3. To·i;-·aoard ;e~uest~ tnat- the.Advisory Connuttee of 
the Navajo Tribal Counci I and the Navajo Tribal administration 
through the-0.ffice of t-Jre Chai•rman, -Navajo Tribal Counc~t· assist 
this Board ·in obtaining al.I financia•1· and other business records 
of the Foundation, assist this Board. In contracting for and 
paying for necessary independent financial audits and other 
fiscal ·repor'ts· and activities· to enable ··the Foundation to go 
forward with its goals and purposes, and to assist this Board in 
obtaining possession of and protect against waste of any and all 
Tribal assets .and property belonging to. our relating to the 
Founda ti 01:1, and~ that the NaYa j o Tri be take any and a I I action 
necessary to obtain. inmediate ·possession of the Foundation 
bui ldtng including.-but no.t• l·imi ted to, tennination of the Lease 
executed pursuant to Advisory Conmlttee Resolution ACD-231-86. 

CERTIFICATION 

I hereby certify that the foregoing Resolution was duly 
cons Ide red by the Board of Trustees of the. Navajo Educ a t•i on and 
Scholarship Foundation.at a duly called meeting at Window Rock, 
Navajo Nation (A~lzona), at which a quorum was present and that 
same:was passed· by a vote. of 7 in favor and O opposed, 
this 19th day of February~. ---

of Trustees 
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EXHIBIT J 

Sandra Hansen 
FREDERICKS & PELCYGER 
suite 216, 1881 Ninth Street 
Boulder, Colorado 80302 
(303) 443-1683 

Richard Hughes 
LUEBBEN, HUGHES, TOMITA, BORG 

SIMPSON & EBY 
Suite 200, 809 Copper, N.W. 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 87101 
(SOS) 842-61.23 

Attorneys for Respondent 
Navajo Education and 

Scholarship Foundation, Inc. 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE 

EXHIBIT A 

NAVAJO NATION 

DISTRICT OF WINDOW ROCK 

MICHAEL P. UPSHAW, Attorney General, 
Navajo Nation, 

ex rel. 

DONALD BENALLY, 

vs. 

GUY GORMAN, SR., 

Petitioner, 

et al. , 

Relaters, 

et al., 

Respondents. 

County of Apache 
ss 

State of Arizona 

)
) No. WR-CV-96-87 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) AFFIDAVIT 
) OF PETERSON ZAH 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Peterson Zah, first being duly sworn, deposes and sa}3: 

l. I am the chairman of the National Advisory Council of 

the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, Inc. 

2. In the late afternoon of May 24, 1988, I received 

1 
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notice that the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal1 
Council had enacted a Resolution •Terminating and Rescinding2 

the Existing Lease to NESF*.3 

3. I was further advised that, by this Resolution, the4 I 

Advisory committee had directed the Navajo Nation Department 

of Justice to secure possession of NESF's suite of offices on6 

the second floor of the Navajo Education Center and to seize7 

the books, accounts, records, and minutes of the Foundation.8 

4. Acting on that information, I picked up Duane Beyale,9 

another Foundation employee, and we went to NESF's suite of 

11 offices on the second floor of the Navajo Education Center 

12 around 7:00 p.m. on TUesday, May 24, 1988. 

s. When Mr. Beyale and I arrived at the offices, I13 
observed Lloyd House, an employee of the Navajo Nation's14 
Division of Administration and Finance, and another person 

whose identity is unknown to me, but whom I believe to be a16 
locksmith.17 

6. When I entered NESF's offices, I observed Mr. House18 
and the unknown person standing inside the Foundation's19 
offices, with the lights turned off. 

7. When I discovered Mr. Hous~ and his accomplice inside21" .,,, 
NESF's suite of offices, I became angry. After telling Mr.22 
House what I thought about his participation in this latest23 

attempt to seize control of the Foundation, I told him that24 
the May 24 Advisory Committee Resolution was invalid. I told 

him that we (meaning myself and the Foundationis Board of
.26 

27 2 

28 
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Trustees) were not given advance notice of the Resolution and 

that we had not been given a copy of the Resolution. I told 

him that the case was in court, and should be decided there. 

I told him that, in order for him to oust us from our office, 

Lloyd House would have to get an order from the Tribal Court. 

I told him that I was going to spend the night in the 

Foundation's offices, and that if he wanted to remove me, he 

would have to get the police to serve me with a court order. 

s. Mr. House appeared visibly upset by my appearance in 

the Foundation's office. He said something about the 

Advisory Committee having sent him there. He rifled through 

some papers he was holding, but did not produce a copy of the 

May 24 Advisory Committee Resolution. 

9. I went into my office and telephoned NESF's atto=ey 

and told her what was happening. I believe that Mr. House 

and hi-s accomplice left NESF~s suite shortly after I entered 

my office. 

10. Around 8:15 p.m. (I'm not absolutely certain about 

the time), Mr. House, the man whom I believe to be a 

locksmith, and Marshall Tome retu=ed to NESF's offices and 

proceeded to remove the locking mechanism on the door to 

NESF's suite which leads to the hallway to t:he Navajo 

,Education Center. Despite Mr. Beyale's and my protests, they 

replaced the door knob and locking mechanism with a locking 

mechanism for which employees of the Navajo Education and 

Scholarship Foundation, Inc., had no keys_. 

3 
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1 11. I believe that the persons who installed the new 

2 locking mechanism were acting in response to the Advisory 

3 Committee Resolution passed on May 24, 1988, and that they 

4 received their instructions from officials of the Navajo 

Nation. My belief is based upon Mr. House's initial comment 

6 that he had been sent to the Foundation's offices by the 

7 Advisory Committee. 

g 12. On the morning of May 26, 1988, Lloyd House again 

9 appeared at the Foundation's offices. This time, he was 

accompanied by two officers of the Navajo police department. 

11 13. Mr. House or one of the police officers, I forget 

12 which, showed me a copy of a court order signed by Judge 

13 Wayne Cadlllan, of the Chinle District Court. That order was 

14 issued pursuant to an action filed against me by the •Navajo 

Educatipn and Scholarship Foundation• and •Lloyd House, 

16 executive director of NESF• and directed me to vacate the 

17 Foundation's suite of offices. 

18 14. Before Mr. House and the police officers showed up in 

19 the Foundation's offices on the morning of May 26, 1988, I 

had absolutely no notice that an action had been filed 

21 against me in the Chinle District Court. I had not received 

22 any telephone calls about such an action. I had not received 

23 any papers concerning such an action. I had not been 

24 notified in any way about such an action. 

15. I called my lawyer and told her about Mr. House's 

26 restraining order. on her advice, I tried to show the police 

27 
4 

28 
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officers a copy of the order Judge Yazzie of the Window Rock 

District Court had signed on Wednesday, May 25, 1988, 

restraining petitioner, relaters, and anyone with actual 

notice, from interfering with respondents' and NESF's 

employees' right to occupy the Foundation's suite of offices. 

The police officers refused to even look at Judge Yazzie's 

order. 

16. While I refused to leave the Foundation's offices, 

Lloyd House stayed in the reception area of the offices. 

17. Late in the morning of May 26, 1988, my attorney 

c~lled and advised me that Judge Cadman's clerk had just 

telephoned and told her that Judge Cadman had dissolved his 

temporary restraining order issued against me and had 

transferred.the •NESF v. Zah• action to Window Rock District 

Court. Shortly thereafter, Mr. House left the Foundation's 

offices. The police officers stayed to, as they said, 

•protect public safety•. 

18. Sometime on the evening of May 26, 1988, I received 

unofficial notice that Bobby w~~, chief executive 

administrator of the Navajo Nation, had directed Colonel Bill 

Kellogg, director of the Navajo Division of Public·safety, to 

•secure• the Navajo Education Center, i.e., to prohibit 

anyone from entering the building from 7:00 p.m., May 26, 

1988, through 5:00 p.m., June 3, 1988. I was told that Bobby 
Cfy;,f/e<.f 
£09.,ge said that the building had to be secured in order to 

•protect public safety•. 

5 
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19. At no time prior to my hearing, unofficia~ly, that 

the Navajo Education Center was being •closed• did Mr. 
C!J-a,'te< t
G-ec:ge, Colonel Kellogg, or anyone else advise me that such 

an action was being considered, nor did anyone ask me if, as 

a tenant of the Navajo Education Center, I believed such a 

drastic measure was needed. 

20. Al~hough I believed Mr. George's order to be in 

violation of this Court's temporary restraining order, 

neither I or any of the Foundation's employees attempted to 
t+-ter 

enter the building until May 27, 1988, w=a we learned from 
!_!,ct. 

our lawyer that this Court had issued an Order directing"ll!:t:. 

Kellogg and Mr. 'ft2''1'' to permit us to enter the building 

through 5:00 p.m., Friday, May 27, 1988. 

21. When we (myself, Faye Ki·nlicheenie"; and Duane Beyale) 

returned to the Foundation~s offices at about 2:30 in the 

afternoon on May 27, 1988, we discovered that the locking 

mechanism we had placed on the Foundation's door on May 26, 

1988, (to replace the one installed by Mr. House's workman) 

had been removed and that a locking mechanism for which we 

had no key had been installed in its place. This new locking 

mechanism must have been installed sometime between·s:oo p.m. 

on May 26 and 2:30 p.m. on May 27, 1988, as at all other 

times a Foundation employee was in NESF's office and would 

have told me that s~meone was again tampering with our door. 

22. Because petitioner, relaters, and persons acting in 

concert with them have engaged in a continuous co~rse of 

6 
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1 co.nduct over a period of fifteen months, I believe that they 

2 will continue to pursue their agenda to convert NESF to a 

3 Tribal entity unless they are enjoined from doing so. 

4 23. I believe that, unless they are enjoined from doing 

so, employees and officials of the Navajo Nation will 

6 continue to interfere with the rights of respondents and 

7 employees of the Navajo Education ~nd Scholarship Foundation, 

8 Inc. 

9 24. I believe that irreparable harm will. occur, in that 

officials and employees of NESF will be wrongfully excluded 

11 from their leasehold without notice ,and an opportunity to be 

12 heard and will be wrongfully deprived of their lawful right 

13 to direct the affairs of the Foundation without notice and an 

14 opportunity to be heard. 

25. When the controversy over the legal status of NESF 

16 began on February 25, 1987, the outstanding pledges to the 

17 Foundation totaled more than $100,.·ooo. From February 25, 

18 1987, until this court issued its Opinion and Order, the 

19 Foundation did not receive a single payment on those 

outstanding pledges, and received no new contributions, 

·21 despite repeated attempts by myself to collect those funds. 

22 26. Donors who had pledged funds to the Foundation before 

23 February 25, 1987, told me that they would not make good on 

24 their pledges until the controversy over the Foundation's 

legal status was settled, and a lawful Board of Trustees was 

26 recognized. Thus, as a consequence of the Advisory 

27 7 

28 
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1 Committee's attempts to seize control of NESF, funds which 

2 were pledged to NESF have not been deposited in NESF's 

3 int&rest-bearing accounts. As a consequence, NESF's 

4 scholarship accounts have not grown to the extent they would 

have but for the Advisory Committee's, petitioner's and 

6 relaters' actions. 

7 27. Also, from the period February 25, 1987, to September 

8 18, 1987,:tno;,;new pledges were received by NESF. NESF will 

g neverJ:.na,1the extent to which its scholarship accounts would 

have increased but for the actions of the Advisory Committee, 

ll petitioner, relaters and persons acting in concert and 

12 participation with them. 

13 28. Since September 18, 1987, when this Court issued its 

14 Opinion and Order, NESF has received a payment of more than 

$40,000 on a pledge that was outstanding from February 25, 

16 1987, until the date it was paid. We have received 

17 assurances from another donor that another pledge will be 

18 paid within the next few weeks. The donors who have and who 

19 have promised to make good on their pledges have told me that 

they are now willing to contribute to NESF because the legal 

21 status of the Foundation has been settled by Order of this 

22 
Court. 

23 29. Based upon my experience and discussions with persons 

24 who have pledged money to NESF in the past, I believe that 

donations to NESF will dry up unless petitioner, relaters, 

26 and persons acting in concert and participation with them are 

27 
8 
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enjoined from purporting to act, or acting as, the Trustees, 

officers, and employees of NESF. 

30. Based upon the past conduct of petitioner, relaters, 

and persons acting in concert and participation with them, 

believe that, unless they are restrained, they will continue 

to violate the clear import of this Court's Order of 

September 18, 1987, by attempting to seize control of NESF 

and to convert it to a Tribal entity. 

31. The above statements are based on my own personal 

knowledge, experience, observation and belief. 

.c?~.. :r= 
Chairman, National Advisory Council 
Navajo Education and Scholarship

Foundation, Inc. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this -3\si- day of May,
1988. 

Notary lie 

My Commission Expires: 

~~-Gmmlssion E.~pires Feb.~- ;an~ 

9 
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EXHIBIT K 

THE ~AVAJO NATION 
-IL­

W:.ClllaMAII 

May 25, 1988 

Mr. Peterson Zah, Executive Director 
Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation. Inc. 
P.O. Box 2360 
Window Rock. Arizona 86515 

Dear Mr.Zah: 

You are hereby given notice that your employment and status as 
Executive Director of the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation, Inc, .• Is terminated effective 5:00 P. M. this date. 

This action Is done pursuant to the Resolution of the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation, Inc .• Board of Trustees 
passed this date and attached hereto. 

Sincerely. 

'{ck,: 1t'L .d . 
. ~ W1Ht ru:,- ~~r.-

Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation, Inc. 

RErl::IVEO 

MAY ~ 5 1988 

Alls'd ........._,.. 

POSTOFl'ICl:IIOX308 • W1NOOWROCX.NAV/I.JONAtlON~JAll15 • (1021ffl-l 
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fak,~IL f'/4.,t.,..,,....; 
pf/,a t)~ 

2,.,.;J -;3.-:;-''c--
EXl!IBIT L 

5/z..6/'r'J
IN TI-IE DISiRICT COURT OF TI-IE NAVAJO NATION 

JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF OllNLE, ARIZONA 

The Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation NO. 
Board of Trustee and C.n - C '- - Id "i - g-:rLloyd L. House, Ph. D, in his 
Capacity as Executive Director of 
NESF Board of Trustees 

RESTRAINING ORDER 
Pl a int I ff 

VS, 

Peterson Zah, et. al. 

Defendants 

Upon receiving and reviewing the Complaint for Injunction 

and Certification of Notice of Plaintiffs and good cause shown by 

Certified Complaint, It is hereby ORDERED and ADJUDGED that the 

request of Plaintiff for RESTRAINING ORDER IS HEREBY GRANTED. 

The Defendants are hereby enjoined and restra.ined from 

further Interferences and occupancy of the Offices of the Navajo 

Education and Scholarship Foundation as directed by the Advisory 

Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council. 

The· Posting of Security Bond shal I not be required of 

Plalntlff as the matter involves a Tribal entity 

The Defendant Peterson Zah and others are hereby ORDERED 

to iamediately vacate the premises and offices of the Navajo 

308 
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Education and Scholarship Foundat Ion and further ordered that 

defendant. Peterson Zah and others are hereby directed to 

del Iver al.I foundation books. accounts. minutes. records. In his 

and her possession to Dr. Lloyd L. House. Ph. D.• Executive 

Director of Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation. by 

authority of Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CF-a-as and 

Advisory Conmittee Resolutlon AC\IY-107-BB. 

The Defendants may appear to Show Cause before this Court 

why the Injunction should not be made permanent on the~day 

of June. 1988, at 10:00 a.m•• 

It is further ORDERED that in the interest of preserving 

peace and_ safety of al I related p:3rt1es the restraining ORDER 

shall stay In effect with force of law until further order of the 

Court and upon flnal adjudication of the maner and the Navajo 

Nation Division of Public Safety Is hereby directed to enforce 

• this Order lnmedlately without delay. 

So Ordered on this qS day of May. 1988 at "the hour 

of 9-E:J~ p.m. "' 
~.~-

Navajo Nation 

-2-
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RETURN OF SERVICE 

I, hereby, c:ertl fy that the Complaint and Restraining Order was 
personally served upon Defendant anti others on this 7G"'day of 
May. 1988. at /l;l-5r. c-,}I «:..:.-

:.. 
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EXHIBIT~ 

THE NAVAJO NATION 
PITEi M.t.c00N&&JJ Jmaatr 11. THCllll'SCN 

CIIAWWO Vlea-

EXECUTIVE ORDER 

May 26, 1988 

MEMORANDUM 

TO Mr. BIii Kellogg, Executive Director 
Division of Public Safety 

FRO\I Bobby Charley. Chief Executive Administrator 
Office of the Chairman/Vice-Chairman 

SUBJECT: Navafo Education Center 

By and through the authority vested In me as Chief Executive 
Administrator, Office of the Chairman/Vice-Chairman, I find It 
necessary to administratively close the Navajo Education Center 
from 7:00 p.m. Thursday, May 26, 1988 to 5:0Q p.m. on Friday,
June 3, 1988. 

This action Is necessary because of the continuing disturbances 
to the public peace that has been occurlng and is still occurlng 
at the Navajo Education Center. For the sake of public safety, I 
am hereby directing that the Navajo Division of Public Safety 
assume control and secure the area and protect the people and 
property of the Navajo Nation. • 

DISTRIBUTION: All Navajo Divisions/Departments 

f'O;IT~f!'IC!!l!OX,!ml • WI.~~ ~OCK.!"'VAJONJ,i:,ON{ARJZOHAl 14515 • (1021171_.9'1 
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EXIIIBIT N 

DI 'l'HE DlS'naC'l' ~ "OF ·'l'HE NAVAJO HATIOH 

.;nJDICIAL .DISTlUC'l' OF VIfflX7ti JiCICX, AlUZOHA 

:~ P. •UPSH1.W, At.torney General, I 
'l'h• Navajo Nation, I 110. VK-CV-96-87 

I 
Petitioner, I 

I ADDITZOOAL ORDER 
ex rel. I 

I 
DONALD BENJ\LLY, et al., I 

I 
Relaters, I 

I 
vs. I 

I 
GUY GORMAN, s:a.• et al., I 

I 
Respondents. I 

I 

Upon consideration of 'the Mcticn to Dissolve or 

Modify the Temporary Restraining Order which was presented tc 

the Court on May 27, 1988. and upon hearing the arguments cf 

counsel including counsel fer respondent whc presented her 

&%gllments over the telephone, and upon .considering th• 

presentation made by Colonel Kellogg, Division cf Public 

Safety, Navajo Nation it is, 

FUaTHER Ol!DERED that the Amended Order of May 26, • 

1988, is further &mended by adding the fellowing addi-E"ional 

provision: 

IT IS Ftm'l'HE.2 ORDERED that based on concerns for 

public safety as presented tc the Court by Colonel Kellogg, 
i

Division of Public Safety, Navajo Nation, the Education Center 

located in Window Rock shall be placed under the imaediate 

supervision of the Division of Public Safety until further 

Order of the Court. The supervision shall be exercised under 

the fellowing guidelines: 
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(al Access to the Education Canter shall be 
1 

granted to employees of the Navajo Nation and of the Navajo
2 

Education Scholarship Foundation who have legitimate business 
3 

in the Education Center until 5:00 p.m., May 27, 1988;
4 

lbl After 5:00 p.m. on May 27, 1988, and until 
5 

the hearing scheduled before this Court at 2:00 p.m. on May 31,
6 

1988, or soon thereafter as the Court may Order, no access to 
7 

the Education Canter shall be provided to any person except as 
8 

may be necessary to protect the Education Center facility or 
9 

the public safety;
10 

lcl No records may be removed from the Education
11 

Center by any person; and
12 

!di This Order shall be posted on the door of the
13 

Education Center by the Division of Public Safety.
14 

Entered by the District Court of Window Rock on this15 
~th day of May, 1988 at;?."~(.,16 

17 

·1a 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
-2-
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Exhibit No. 4 (cont.) 

E."<HIBIT 0 

ACMY-108-88 

Claaa •c• Resolution 
No BIA Action Required 

RESOLUTION OF THE 
ADVISORY COMMI~EE OF THE 

NAVAJO TRIBAL COUNCIL 

Terminating anJ Rescinding the Existing Lease 
to the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, 

Providing for an Independent Audit of the Books 
and Accounts of the Foundation 

WHEREAS: 

1. The Navajo Tribal Council, hy Reeolution CF-8-88, haa 
confirmed and specifically declared the intent and determination of 
the governing hody of th• Navajo Nation that th• Navajo Education 
and Scholarship Foundation haa been created hy the authority vested 
in the Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council under th• 
laws and authority of the Navajo Tribal Council and axiata only aa 
a governmental entity of the Navajo Nation; and 

2. Navajo Tribal Council Resolution CF-8-88 ia 
consistent with and confirms the legislative intent of the Advisory 
Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council aa axpreaaed in Reaolutiona 
AC0-171-83, ACF-52-87, ACF-53-87 and ACJA-20-881 and 

3. By r~ason of the foregoing and pursuant to Resolution 
CJA-1-81, th• Advisory Committee of th• Navajo Tribal Council haa 
the aol• autliority and raaponaibility to take all action• necaaaary 
to implement the mandates of Resolution CF-8-88 to ensure the 
continuation and operation of the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
?oundation, as a governmental, nonprofit entity of the Navajo 
Nation; and 

4. Advisory Co=ittee Resolution ACD-231-86, Approving a 
Transfer Agreement from the •lea•• hack• to the Navajo Education 
and Scholarship Foundation for the building, pursuant to th• Plan 
of Operation of the Adviaory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council 
Resolution (CJA-1-81) and confi=•d by the Navajo Tribal Council 
Resolution CF-8-88, can only constitute agreements for u•• permits 
from the Navajo Nation Government aa owner of th• praai••• on 
Tribal trust land by entitiea of the Navajo Tribal Government, 
including: The Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation under 
its approved Plan of Operation •to construct a building for the 
ownership of the Navajo Nation•; and 

5. There are no Tribal records evidencing the Bureau of 
Indian Affair• ever approved the agreement described in Resolution 
ACD-231-86 which, in any event, is not required for use by Navajo 
Tribal entities; and 
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6. Inaomuoh •• former director• of the Navajo Education 
and Scholarship Foundation have asaerted their private own■rahip 
and control of the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation and 
aaid parti ■■ are in violation of th■ law■ and authority of the 
governing body of th• N&.-q.jo Nation am &J.ao the u:m■ of the 
afora ■aid agreement■ between the Navajo Nation and the Navajo
Education and Scholar ■ hip Foundation, an entity created and wholly 
owned by the Navajo Nation; and 

7. The fo.rmar B~rd of Truat•••• officer ■ and ■ taff of 
the Navajo Education and Scholarahip Foundation now occupy tha 
building pursuant to the agreement executed on or about January 
12, 1987, by raa ■on of their unlawful claim a■ private owner■ of 
th• Navajo Education and Scholar■hip Foundation; and 

8. The individual fo.rmar Board mallbar ■ have clearly
violated tha t ■ rma and condition ■ of their u ■■ agreement in th• 
following in ■ tanca ■: 

a) U ■• the premiaa ■ for purpo ■•• other than carrying on 
the bu ■ in••• of an entity of' the Navajo Nation 
without written consent of the Navajo Nation 
pursuant to Paragraph 4; and 

b) Conducting and engaging in political action and 
otharwi•• attempting to influence l ■qi ■lation 
contrary to th• ua ■ agreement and ■ tatu■ of the 
Navajo Education and Scholar■ hip Foundation a■ an 
entity of tha Navajo Nation; and 

c) Paragraph 14 relating to te.rmination 1■ conditioned 
upon the continuing own■r ■hip and operation of the 
Navajo Education and Scholar■hip Foundation •• an 
entity controlled by the government of the Navajo 
Nation; and 

9. On February 7, 1988, the Navajo Education and 
Scholar■ hip Foundation Board of Tru■t■•• pa■a•d a ra ■ olution 
(attached a■ Exhibit •A•) r■queating that the Advisory C01U1itt■ a of 
the Navajo Tribal Council t ■.rminat■ the l•••• executed pursuant to 
Advi ■ory Committee Re ■ olution ACD-231-86; and 

10. The original Article ■ of Incorporation for the 
Navajo Education and Scholarahip Foundation and all ■UDaequant 
amendment ■ to the Articles provide that the Navajo Education and 
Scholarahip Foundation ■hall account for all income received and 
that auch income ■hall ha appl'ied for the purpo■e ■ for which ■aid 
funde were contributed; and 

11. The Advi ■ ory Committee of th• Navajo Tribal Council 
1 ■ r■apon■ible for an ■ uring accountability of the Navaj,o Education 
and Scholarahip Foundation funda; and 
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12. The Adviaory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council 
believe• •it imperative for the protection and preaervation of 
tribal reaourcea to obtain full and accurate information aa to the 
a11et1 and obligation• of the Navajo Education and Scholarship 
Foundation ao that th• Powrdat:ron may get cm with ita important 
public goals and pw:po•••• 

NOW THEREFORE Bl!: IT RESOLVED THAT: 

1. Th• leaae or uae agreement for the Navajo Education 
and Scholarahip Foundation aa a wholly owned entity of the Navajo 
Nation, which waa authorized by Advisory Committee Resolution 
ACD-231-86 and executed by former Vice Chairman Edward T. Begay on 
or about January 12, 1987 in th• name of the Navajo Nation, ia 
hereby terminated and rescinded with regard to the current tenant 
and occupants of the Navajo Education Center, who are unlawfully
claiming private ownerahip and control of the Navajo Education and 
Scholarship Foundation and furthermore they are hereby ordered to 
immediately vacate the premi•••· 

2. Th• Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal Council 
requests that th• Chairman of th• Navajo Tribal Council immediately 
take any and all actiona nece11ary to enforce the· termination of 
th• lease and uae agreement• aa to said private individuala and to 
••cure po ■ eeaaion of th• premise ■ by the Navajo Nation for the uae 
and benefit of th• Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation a• a 
wholly owned public entity of the government of the Navajo Nation. 

3. Any member of the Board of Trusteea, any officer and 
any employee of th• Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation who 
ia in po ■ aeaaion of or ha ■ knowledge of the location of Founaation 
booka of account ■, construction contract• together with all related 
documents and inapection loga, records, financial atatamenta, 
reports required by the Article• of Incorporation or bylawa, and 
any other official recorda of th• Foundation shall immediately 

·provide ■aid recorda to th• Chairman of the Navajo Tribal Council 
or hia designated representative ■. 

4. Th• Advisory Co111111ittee of the Navajo Tribal Council 
recommenda to the Budget and Finance Committee of the Navajo Tribal 
Council that it i1111Z1ediately contract for an independent audit of 
th• Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, book■ of account ■ 
and record■ for 1988 and any prior year for which an independent 
audit haa not been completed and that ■ aid audit report and any 
audit■ in existence be delivered to the Advisory Committee of the 
Navajo Tribal Council and the Budget and Finance Committee of the 
Navajo Tribal Council pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation. 

5. Th• United Statea Department of the Interior aa part 
of its trust responsibility, ia hereby requested to take all proper 
and neceaaary action to protect the Navajo Education Center in 
light of Navajo Tribal Council Reaolution CF-8-88. 
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CERTIFICATION 

I h•r•by certify that th• foregoing raaolution waa duly 
considered by the Advisory Committee of th• Navajo Tribal Council 
at a duly called m•eting at Window Rock, Navajo Nation (Arizona), 
at which a quorum waa pr•a•nt and that aam• waa paa ■ed by a vot• of 
.!.Lin favor and _L oppoaed, thi ■ 31at day of May, 1988. 
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EXHIBIT A 

NAVAJO EDUCATION ANO SOiOLARSHIP FOUNDATION 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

RESOLUTION-REQUESTING THAT ALL FORMER MEMBERS OF THE BOARD 
OF tR□ sTEES. ALL FORMER ANO c□AAENT OFFICERS. EMPLOYEES AND 
STAFF MEMBERS OF T'Ht7=00FIOATION fO OISctose ANO DELIVER ALL 

BOOKS O}a'l!;ccbUNT5 . F I NANCI AL RECCRDS . BOARD RESOLD t loNS 
MIN□fES. toRRES?Or-lb'ENCE. AUDIT REPORTS. ANO OTHER RECCRDS 
RELATING tO tAE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF T'HE FOUNDATION ANO 

T'HAf ALL SAib INOIVID□ALS IIJMEOIAfELY VACATE AND REMOVE 
THEIR PERSONS ANO PE!&lNAI:7''R.0PERTY FRCM me PREMISES AND 

au ILO ING CONsTJrotiEnOR ANO ON BEHALF CF T'HE NAVAJO 
EDUCATION ANO ScAOLARSHIP FOlJNOAfiON 

WHEREAS, by Resolution ACF-52-87 the Advisory Comnlttee 
of the Navajo Tribal Councl I • confirmed the creation and 
continuing existence of the Navajo Education and Scholarship
Foundation as an entity of the Navajo Nation, rescinded Advisory 
Committee Resolution ACN-183-86, and amended the Plan of 
Operation of the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation: and· 

WHEREAS, the Navajo Tribal Councl I by Resolution 
CF-8-BB confirmed the previous actions of the Advisory Committee 
as set forth in Resolutions AC0-171-83, ACF-52-87, and ACF-53-87, 
rescinded Advisory Committee Resolution ACN-183-86, and confirmed 
the cont I nu Ing status of the Navajo Educa t I on and Scho I arsh Ip
Foundation as a governmental non-profit corporate entity of the 
Navajo Nation: and 

WHEREAS, it Is desirable and appropriate for this Board 
of Trustees, which has been duly appointed and confirmed by
Advisory Committee Resolution ACF-53-87, to proceed to take 
control and operation of the Navajo Education and Scholarship
Foundation program and activities as mandated by the Navajo
Tribal Council and by our own Plan of Operation: and 

WHEREAS, the Navajo Tribal Council by Resolution 
CF-8-BB has directed the Advisory Conmlttee to take all actions 
necessary to Implement the mandates of said Resolutions and to 
Insure the continuing status and operation of the Navajo
Education and Scholarship Foundation as a government non-profit 
corporate entity of the Navajo Nation: and 

WHEREAS. this Board agrees with the .Navajo Tribal 
Council mandate to Advisory Committee of the Navajo Tribal 
Council expressed in Resolution CF-8-88 to continue to be 
Involved In protecting the assets of the Foundation and Insure 
the opera t I on and cont I nua t I on of the Founda t I on I s educat Iona I 
and charitable goals and purposes; and 
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'MiEREAS, this Board finds that the action of the N1v1Jo 
Tribal Councl I In· Resolution CF-a-aa constl tutes a· final 
resolution of the disputes and confusion surrounding the Navajo
Education and Scholarship Foundation, ~nd that It 11 both 
necessary and appropriate for this Board to meet and begin the 
tasks of obtaining possession of 111 property and 111ets of th ■ 
Foundation t~ protect and pr ■ s ■ rv■ them from any possible waste 
and to get the scholarship program back Into full operation: and 

WHEREAS, this Board must lnmedlat ■ ly Uk• possasslon
and control of all assets of the Foundation, collect, r ■vi ■w and 
evaluate all financial and operational records of th ■ ·Foundatlon 
to date, Identify and deal with any and all obligations of th• 
Foundation, prepare for Spring appl rcatlons and awards of 
scholarships, and complete Independent audits of the financial 
records and affairs the Foundatron for 19116 and 19117 as this 
Board bel leves the only Independent audit conducted of the 
records of the Foundation was performed In September, 19115; and 

WHEREAS, this Board believes that any former member of 
the Board of Trustees, any former or currant Officer, and any
former or current employee of the Foundation should and must show 
proper respect for and comp 11 ance with the express I on of t·he 
Navajo Tribal Council and cooperate with this Board In any and 
all ways possible to Insure full and proper accountability for 
all income and all expenditures of the Foundation to date and to 
Insure a smooth transition of full operational and administrative 
control to this Board to avoid any further dlmlnlstvn■nt or 
disruption of service to needy Navajo s~udents: 1nd 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees, Offlcars, and staff of 
the Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation as ■ stabilshad In 
Resolution ACN-183-86 continue to occupy the building pursuant to 
the Lease which was exacut ■d on or about January 12, 1987. Said 
Lease Is clearly In violation of law and sound public pol Icy and 
should be terminated and rescinded lnmedlataly. 

NOW, TiiEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 

1. The Board requests th1 t a 11 former members of the 
Board of Trustees, all former or current officers of the 
Foundation, and al I former or current employees of the 
Foundation who h~v• possession of or knowleage of the location of 
books of accounts, financial records, Board Res·olutlons and 
minutes, correspondence, audit reports, or any other records 
relating to the business activities of th• Foundation,
lnmedlately d■ I Iver said records to or· lnmedlat ■ ly set forth In 
writing the location of and custodian of any such records to the 
Chairman, Navajo Trlbai"Council, 
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2. ihe BoardFrequests·thaCall former members of the 
Board of Trustees, and al·I fo-rmt1" ·or -on-rent ·i,-fftett's-;· and al I 
form~h,_~~~ c2,r:"e.!1J::.:empl_~y!~~ --~!.:..~h~.}::,f~um:lat.l!)n, _9r- anv.. !)ther 
pers~~=~~~~-~~~- ~J-~.:;,.a!!.(# .:eurJ?.OS&lJ -~!- th ■- Foui:idatt9i:i put 
as lde-·irll, :d·Es:l5utes- and 'WO-l'lt. ·together-. to- resolve an'£ cont lnulng 
con1us~•onrelilliia to:"ttiii-1:ouncia floa-:·cons istiint ·w1 th and pursuant 
to ttfi':'mincfui-.~~lriteiit-Tor-r;;.::·_NavaTo"-:-1r'1 ba I •• Counc 11 as 
expriissea.·,n ''R'isoluiJFn--cF=il-ai1-ai,c1·-mov1 °·forwai-d-· togatner to 
accomeUSh· ,:he~:!_du~a tie:,Ji.~~- ·_an_~-:·ch~ ~~~-1?,i ~~:i~~po~•s.: 0 f ~he Nava j 0 

Trlb!:E.~:§l~~'!L!S e~r-~-S~.!!.1...~·:~.t,-~ J't~!l.. .!!J° J?p~r..,a;lo~ f9r the 
Navajo.: E_ ucat~2;_aai:I_Si: o Iar!!! Ip_Fo~d!t_lon.•..... _____ -· _- . . . -.. - . 

l. i-fii; "Board ;e~ues.t'"s tnat the Advisory Conm1tt11 of 
the NavaJo Tribal Councl I and th• Navajo Tribal administration 
through th■- Off Ice of ttr• Cha I rman, ·Nava Jo Tr Iba I Counc I 1· ass Is t 
this Board ·In obtaining al.I flnanc:la·f an·d other- business records 
of the Foundation, assist this Board. In contracting for and 
paying for necessary Independent financial audits and other 
!!seal ·reports and activities· to enable ·the Foundation to go 
forward with Its goals and purposes, and to assist this Board In 
obtaining possession of and pr-otect against wast• of any and all 
Tribal assets .and property belonging to our relating to. the 
Foundation, and.. that the NacvaJo Tribe take any and all· actl-on 
necessary to obtain. Immediate ·possession of the Foundation 
bul ldi.ng lncludlng,~tnrt not· Mml ted to, termination of the Lease 
executed pursuant to Advisory Committee Resolution ACD-231-86. 

CERTIFICATION 

I hereby certify that the for-egolng Resolution was duly 
considered by the Board of Trustees of the Navajo Educat"lon and 
Scholarship ·Foundation.at a duly called meeting at Window Rock, 
Navajo Nation (Ar.fzona), at which a quorum was present and that 
same:was passed by a vote of 7 In favor and O opposed,
this 19th day of February-;7"§n. -

o'f Trustees 
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EXHIBIT P 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF TRE NAVA.10 NATION 

.JUI>'ICIAr. DISTRICT OF WINDOW ROCK:, ARIZONA 

ICRAEL P. UPSHAW, Attorney General, l 
The Navajo Nation l 

l NO. WR-CV-96-87 
Petitioner, ) 

) 
ex rel .. l 0 RD ER 

l 
DONALD BENAr.I.Y, et al., ) 

) 
Relaters, l 

l 
s. l 

l 
GUY GORMAN, SR., et al., l 

Respondents. l 
l 

This matter coming before the Court after notice of hearing 

on the Motion for Preliminary Injunction; all parties bein~ 

present in Court and represented by counsel, and after hearing 

testimony and argument of counsel, the court finds: 

~- That the Court llas authority to issue orders in aide ot 

its jurisdiction under 7 N.:.c. section 255 which 

provides: 

•The trial court shall have the power to issue 
any writs or orders necessary and proper to the 
complete exercise of its jurisdiction." 

Pursuant to that section, this Court has inherent 

authority to preserve the status quo to k1!1!p everything 

the same. That the court has the inherent power to 

prevent people from resorting to self-help remedies anc 

causing confusion. The equitable powers of the courts 

are extensive and extend to permitting the court to 

protect its own jurisdiction. 

I 
1: - 1 -ii 
II 
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b. Based upon the evidence. presented today and the 

testimony presented by Colonel Kellogg at a hearing on 

petitioner's Motion to Dissolve and, given the state ot 

affairs surrounding NESF the court finds that it is in 

the best interest cf NESF and the Navajo Nation fer 

the Court tc operate the foundation with an inter!:. 

board cf trustees. The interim beard of trustees shall 

control, direct, and manage the daily affairs cf the 

foundation. 

The Court hereby Orders as fellows: 

l. The Temporary Restraining Orders as Amended and as 

supplemented with the Additional ORDER of May 27, 1988 

is hereby vacated. 

2. The Motion fer Preliminary Injunction is taken under 

advisement. 

3: The Petitioner's Motion to Reinstate the Interim Board 

is granted in the fellowing respects: 

a. The interim board consisting cf six (6) 

individuals shall be reappointed and continue to 

operate, control, direct, and manage the affairs 

of the Foundation. 

b. The Board shall consist cf three members of 

Realtors and three members cf the Respondents as 

fellows: Alice Rouwalk; Vivian Arviso: David 3. 

Tsosie; Kee Ike Yazzie; Rebecca Mortgan; anc 

Richard i<:ountz. 

- 2 -
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c. Rebecca Martgan and Vivian Arviso are appointee 

interim co-executive directors who shall be 

responsible tor carrying out the decisions and 

policies ct the Board. All checks and other 

action ct the interim Board shall require the 

signature ct both executive directors to bind 

NESF, The keys to the foundation shall be· 

given to and shall remain in the possession of· 

the co-executive directors. 

d. The interim Board shall meet at le-t twice, 

weekly at times and places to be decided by the· 

Board. Failure of a Board member to attend a. 

meeting may be grounds tor contempt. Any Board 

member not able to serve as a Board member shall 

request the Court in writing to appoint a 

replacement Board member. The interim board may 

make decisions by simple majority vote. In the 

event ot a tie vote, the parties shall present 

the issue to the court tor resolution. 

e. All parties, their otticers, agents, servants, 

employees, counsels and all persons who receive 

actual notice of this order are hereby enjoined 

tram evicting the current employees at the 

Foundation from the Foundation offices. 

- 3 -
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t. No books, accounts, minutes and records ct NZSl: 

may be removed trom the Education Center excep~ 

upon the direction ct the Interim Board or 

turther Order ct the Court. The interim board 

shall have access to all books, accounts, minut­

and records. 

So ORD~ this .?/ 

I 
il 
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EXHIBIT Q 

IN THE DISTRIC7 COURT OF THE NAVA.;C NATION 

JUDICIAL DISTRICT 01: WI?t"I)OW ROCK, ARIZONA 

)
J ~C. WR-CV-96-67,ICnAEL P. UPSHAW, Attorney General, 

he Navajo Nation, 
) 

Petitioner, rl?.(f.> f::;' : , .,i ;st,\
?iS'::7~;:;;C:..,. !~~INION AND 

x rel. ~D'..,-
) JUN 6 _198B ORDERONALD BENALLY, et.al., 
) . 

Relaters, 
~-~i " 1,;h<.1~ 

s. ) 
) 
)UY GORMAN, SR., et al., 
I 

Respondents. ) 

If-----------------> 
This matter was initiated by Petitioner a~c Re:atcrs 

hereafter Petitioner) on March 13, 1987, as a Quo Warrantc 

roceeding. Quo Warranto is an action to test the a~thority under 

It may also be used to challengehich one holds public office.. 

The petition asked the court to declare thatorporate existence. 

eiators and not Respondents were the proper Board of Trustees cf 

he Navajo Education and Scholarship Foundation, Inc. (hereafter 

'ESF). 

on March 25, 1987, by st,ipulation of the parties the court 

ssued an order appointing an interim Board of Trustees a~d interin 

a-executive rlirectors of NESc. 

On April 6, 1987, Respondents filec a Motion for Summary 

udgment. On April·S. 1987, Responden~s fi:ed a ~e?lY brief. 7his 

iling of cross motions was by agreement of counsel. 

nformed the Court of this agreement and r~quested that upon th~ 

ross motion for Summary Judgment the Court would hold ora: 

oral arguments were had on April 23.rguments upon the motions. 
- 1 -
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987. On September 18, 1987, the court issued its decision. On 

ctober 19, 1987, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal. On the same 

ay, Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration and a Motion for 

dditional Findings of Facts and·conclusions of taw in the trial 

curt. 

On October 29, 1987, the District Court issued an Order 

tating that an extension of appeal time is a matter for the 

upreme Cou?"t. 

On November 23, 1987, the Supreme Court issued an O?"der 

hat the Motion for Additional Findings of Facts and the Motion to 

lter or Amend the Judgment had been timely filed in the District 

·ou?"t and dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisd!ction. The 

upreme Court also ordered that the new appeal time would not begin 

o run until the district court judge disposed of all motions 

entioned in the Supreme Court's order. 

On April 22, 1988, oral arguments were had on Respondent's 

,otion for Atto?"ney's Fees, Petitioner's Motion for 

econsideration, Petitioner's Motion for Additional Findings of 

•acts and Conclusions of Law, Petitioner's Motion for a Stay of 

•xecution and for Extension of the Interim Board. 

!. Motion for Reconsideration 

Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration of the Opinion anc 

rder entered September 18, 1987 was denied on Octobe?" 26, 1987. 

nder the former Navajo Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 5 (cJ. 

of Appeal, no appeal is allowed unless the party seeking an 

ppeal files a ~otion for Reconsideration·with the Dist?"ict Court. 

he newly revised and appellant procedures, however, do not contain 

provision for Motion for Reconsideration. Since the olc 
- 2 -

326 



Exhibit No. 4 (cont.) 

ppeJlate rule requiring Motion for Reconsideration as a conditicn 

f appeal was abolished, there is no requirement now for enterins a 

,otion for Reconsideration befo"e an appeal is filed. In addition, 

he Navajo Rules of Civil Procedure do not provide for Motion for 

econsideration. The denial of the Motion for Reconsideration 

ilea by the petitioner, ex rel. is hereby affirmed. 

II. Petitioners' Motion for Additional Findings of Facts 

nd Conclusions of Law. 

Rule 23 of the Navajo Rules of Civil Procedures states: 

The Court shall have the power to order any 
relief required after the determination of the 
facts, and law, whether such relief be 
equitable or legal in nature. 

At anytime after the final order or judgment, 
the Cour~ ~ay in the interes~ of justice 
reopen a case in order to correct errors or to 
consider newly-discovered evidence, or for any 
other reason consistent with justice. 

This is the only civil rule relating to post-trial motions. 

ule 6 (bl of the Navajo Rules of Civil Appellate Procedure 

rovides that the appeal time may be extended when certain motions 

I 
re timely filed. One of those is a motion to amend or make 

dditional findings of facts whether or not granting the motion 

ould alter judgment. 

Rule 28 of the Navajo Rules of Civil ?rocedure is the rule 

n summary judgments. That rule states in part: 

The judgment shall be rendered forthwith if 
the pleadings, depositions, answers to 
interrogatories and admissions on file, 
together with the affidavits if any, show 
there is no senuine issue as to any material 
fact and that the moving party is entitled to 
judgment as a matter of law. 

3_ 
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?e.t1tioners•s Motions for Additional i:indings of Facts andl 

onclusions of Law and the Memorandum in support attempts 't:0
I 

resent new evidence 't:hrough memorandum arguments and a't:tached 

xhibits. 

The Court in considering its decision on the Cross Motion 

or Summary Judgment considered the pleadings, briefs, and exhibi't:s 

ubm1tted by the parties as required by Rule 28 of the Navajo Rules 

f Civil Procedure. 

Petitioner has not demonstrated to the Court that the 

dditional findings are ·within the materials originally submitted 

o the Court or that the arguments and exhibits submitted with the 

ct.ion for a Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law were not 

vailable to Petitioner at the time the Motion for summary Judgment 

as filed. 

A Motion for Additional Findings of Facts and Conclusions 

f Law is not a proper method of submitting additional evidence to 

he court if that evidence was available at the time the court was 

riginally requested to make a decision whether by trial on the 

erits or by summary judgment. 

Petitioner's Motion for Additional Findings of Fact and 

nclusions of Law is denied. 

!II. ATTORNEY'S FE:;~ 

The Respondents are seeking attorney's fees from the 

't:itioner, ex rel. Whether a par't:y in a lawsuit is entitled to 

torney's fees depends upon whether there is a legal basis for 

I
ch claim. The former Court of Appeals {now the Navajo Supreme 

urtJ ruled that each party in litigation must bear the costs of 

eir own attorney's fees. The Navajo Courts must .exer.cise 
4 -
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estraint in. allowing recovery of such fees. Arthur v. Hall, 3 

av. R 35(1966). However, such fees are permitted in these 

ircumstances: 

l. Where statute provides for attorney's fees or other 

xceptions made by Tribal Council or the Navajo Supreme Court. 

ohn v. Herrick, A-CV-23-85. 

2. !n contempt proceedings where the action of a party may 

e properly viewed as vindicating the authority and dignity of the 

ourt. Hall, l!!..:. 

3. Where a contract provides for payment of attorney's 

ees. Hall, 1£.:. 

I 4. !nan action for dissolution of marriage, the court may 

1
rder one party to pay a reasonable amount toward the attorney's 

ees of the other party. Morgan v. Morgan, A-CV-13-83. 

5: Where a party fails to comply with the discovery rules 

nd orders compelling discovery, which results in unnecessary costs 

o opposing party. Chavez v. Tome, A-cv-2,-es. 

Where evidence shows a special set of circumstances 

stablished by Navajo law, only then can an award of attorney•s 

ees be appropriate. Here, the Respondents have not· shown any 

vidence to justify that Petitioner must bear the Respondents' 

ttorney's fees. Absent any justification, therefore, the cla!m 

for attorney's fees is hereby denied. 

I IV. Motion for Stav of Execution and Continuance of Order 

ointin Interim Trustees. 

The Petitioner's Motion for Reinstatement of the Interim 

oard was granted on May 31, 1966. 

The Motion for Stay of Execution was mooted by the S~preme 
- 5 -
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ourt's Order of November 23, 1967, A-CV-31-67. 

The above is the ruling of the Court upon al: Motions. 7he 

curt believes this disposes of the matter. 

The Court now wishes to briefly address some remarks tc 

ounsel for the purpose of adv!sing that certain matters were 

onsidered. 

l. Navajo SkiJl Center v. Benailv (A-CV-08-84): 30th 

ides argued that the decision in this case supported their 

osition. The Court disagrees with both interpretations of ?.kill 

that a government may establish a corporation to carry 

ut a governmental purpose and in that s!tuation the principles of 

dministrative law apply. The Skill Center had started ehistence 

nder a Plan of Operation a!!C a few years ~ater had been 

ncorporated under the law of New Mexico. The issue of whether 

hanges in the structure and in the articles of incorporation of 

he Skill Center had to be according to New Mexico corporate law• 

as not before the Court. i 
I 

2. 7he Court did not address the issue of Tribal Counc!l: 
I 

I iesolution Cr-6-66. Petitioner did send the court a let:ter; 
I 

dvising the Court of the resolution. The issue was ncit sub~jtted' 

o the Court by formal pleading nor was it addressed at oral 

rgument. The Court. therefore, made no Cecis!on on the propriety 

f considering it or upon its interpretation. The Court has seen a 

f. •• er tne •• hIopy o tne resoliut ons ana is und. i m;,ress1on tnat t. e 

esolution supports the Court's finCi~~ that NEsr·s corpor~t~ 

xistence began on October lZ, ]983, anC that it has continued as a 

onprofit corporation since that time. In resolved clause number 

dvisory Committee Resolution AC0-171-83 which approved the 
- 6 -
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rticles of Incorporation for NESF was confirmed. Resolved- clause. 

umber 2 confirms the "initial, continuous, and present status" o= 

ESF as a non?rofit corporation. 

3. Both parties have used the terms "public" and "private" 

hen speaking of NESF and have talked about "owner". The Cou:·~ 

elieves there are many ambiguous terms which are used i~ 

onnection with corporations and that it should be careful of using 

hose terms without adequate consideration. The word "public" i:a 

ometimes used in relation to a for' profit corporation in which 

~wnership of stock is available to the general public. At the time 

~ corporati9n decides to sell stock to the general public this is 

eferred to as "going public". A clos,;,l y held for profit 

:orporation is also sometimes referred to as a "private" 

orporation. 

The Court has continuously used only nonprofit corporation 

hen referring to NESF. Whether a corporation is incorporated by~ 

overnment or by private indivieuals, the act of incorporation 
I 

fnvo~es the laws of the jurisdiction in regard to corporations and 
I 
_ust be followed. 

I Further, the Court is not persuaded that a nonprofit 

orporation has "owners". The Court is particularly not convinced 

that NESF has "owners". This is consistent with the Court's
I 
! 
ftatement in the September 18, 1967, opinion that "The situation is 

iomewhat anajogous to a \"rust w.ith ilESr" being the trustee and 
I 
Navajo students being the beneficiarie,;." In fact the Board ::s 

l 
l 
~signatTedheas a Board of Trcstees rather ~h~t a Board of Directors. 

act.of chartering a corporation establishes an entity 

hat, under the law, has some of the same rights and duties. as 
- 7 -
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nd!v.!rl11als. llESF as a cor!>orate ent.1 ty e:<ists :i::idependcnt of a;:.'! 

• art!cular individuals on the Board and independent of a;:.7 

-!,rt!cular individual as Execu~ive Director. 

I 
I 4. Finally, both parties have referred to December 

966, the date the certificate c,! !ncorporation was issued, as 

ate NESF became subject to the Navajo Nation Corporation Code. 

ec. 325 of the Navajo Nonprofit Corporation Act states: 

Upon the filing of the articles of 
incorporation, the corporate exis~ence begins, 
and the filing is conclusive evidence that all 
conditions precedent required to be performed 
by the incorporators have been complied with, 
and that the nonprofit corporation has been 
incorporated under this chapter, except as 
against the Navajo Nation in a proceedings tor 
involuntary dissolution of the corporation or 
revocation of the art.icles of incorporat:ic~. 

Under the law of the Navajo Nation, NESF became subject tc 

he Navajo Nat.ion Corporation Code on November 13, 1986, the date 

he articles were filed. 

So Ordered this d-

- 6 -
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EXHIBIT R 

THE NAVAJO NATION 
PETER MacDONALD, CHAIRMAN 

THE NAVAJO TRIBAL COUNCIL 
JOHNNY R. THOMPSON, VICE CHAIRMA%.r- :-=..~-;i.,,~,-n1\ 

THE NA YAJO TRIBAL co'!}~:.~.. H. :~! ~\ ~'~i 
Jt~~-~ t "/ 1::~:1 

June 15, 1988 

Ms. Sandra Hansen 
1881 9th Street, Suite 216 
Boulder, Colorado 80302 

RE: Navajo Education Scholarship Foundation 

Dear Sandra: 

The Petitioner, in consultation with Realtors, is 
considering whether to file an appeal of Judge Yazzie's 
decision of June 02, 1988. In the meantime, several 
questions have arisen concerning the current state of 
affairs. 

It is the position of Petitioner that the May 31, 
1988 Order was in the nature of a preliminary order. As a 
general rule such an order becomes merged with the final 
judgment. Often a preliminary order would be incorporated
in a perma.nent injunction. No permanent injunction was 
issued in this case. 

The May 31, 1988 Order dealt with two issues - the 
interim board and occupancy. Neither the final Opinion and 
Order nor the September 87 Opinion and Order addresses 
either of these issues. The May 31, 1988 Opinion and Order 
simply states that Petitioner's Motion to Reinstate the 
Interim Board was granted on May 31, 1988. It does not 
state for how long it will be effective. Judge Yazzie could 
not have intended in his final ordedr to both ratify the 
Gorman Board and to continue the interim board. Therefore, 
it is Petitioner's position that the interim board ceased to 
exist on June 02, 1988. 

If Petitioner decides to file an appeal of the 
final Opinion and Order, a stay and other interim relief -
including reimposition of the interim board-could be 
requested or stipulated to by the parties. 

Petitioner's _position is consistent with the 
position I took with Judge Yazzie in chambers. As I recall, 

told the Judge that if either party was unsatisfied with 
the final decision, they could seek interim relief in 
connection with an appeal. 

I 
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Ms. Sandra Hansen 
June -15, 1988 
Page 2 

Petitioner's position is that the May 31, 1988 
Order regarding occupancy is no longer in force. The June 
02, 1988 Opinion and Order makes no reference to occupancy
rights. Had the Judge intended to rule on occupancy rights,
he would have said so. The Adviso~y Committee's termination 
of any occupancy rights of NESF constitutes the valid action 
of the Navajo Nation. NESF employees will not be permitted 
access to the offices in the Education Center. 

The Navajo Nation is deeply concerned with the 
financial affairs of NESF. Whatever the legal status of 
NESF, the Nation has a legitimate right to be assured that 
funds donated to NESF were not misappropriated. The most 
recent NESF draft audit raises real concern that the 
financial affairs of NESF may not be in order. On June 08, 
1988, the Budget and Finance Committee appropriated funds 
for an audit of NESF and directed the Chairman of the Budget
and Finance Committee to arrange for the audit. 

The Navajo Nation does not believe that any assets 
or property of the Nation were lawfully conveyed to NESF. 
The assets of NESF, including liquid assets, office 
equipment and furnishings, remain the property of the Navajo
Nation to the extent they are traceable to donations made to 
the Navajo Nation or grants from the Navajo Nation. 

I assume that NESF employees may have left 
personal items in the offices in the Education Center. Upon 
request, arrangements will be made to allow employees to 
remove their personal items. 

7O~urs, _ 

~'efahlstrom 
Deputy Attorney General 

ED/dw 
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JuZyl9, Z988 

Assistant Attoi>ney General. 
u. s. civil Rights C,ustice "Dept) 
I{ashington, D. C. 20530 

Dear Sir: 

Navajo Attorney General. Michael. Upshab) said PeteI' MacDonald Sr. told 
him to take Civil. Rights panel. probin<1 case to Federal Coui•t to question 
whetheI' the Commission has the I'ight ·to investigate TI'ibaZ. governments. 

Quote, "any Civil. Rights group" b)hetheI' it's the U.S. Civil Rights 
Co1T111ission has no damn authority to investigate the Nava.fa TI'ibaZ. qot•ern­
ment said Peter Ma.cTJonaZ.d Sr. 

Chairman PeteI' ·UacDonaZd SI'., cor.unanded the Adt•isory Co1111'1ittee and 
Budget and Finance Conmittee to oppose the "heavy-handed" tactics of the 
Commission because the tz,ibe feels it does not have the Jurisdiction to 
investigate the tribal. government. The Chairman of the·TI'ibaZ. Council. 
Peter f.facDonaZ.d Sr. said the. ColT1Tlission 's actions are contradictory to 
I'ecent statements by President Reagan that he would tI'eat the tribes as 
"equal. par>tneI's 11 • 

PeteI' MacDonald said the Navajo Tribal Advisory Committee and Eudget 
and Finance Co1mzittee are upset that the Co1T111ission continously .fails to 
reaZ.ize that the tI'ibe has a BiZ.l of Rights which affoI'lis tribal. members 
due process and equal. protection. 

"Ile are mofe than t,Jil.l.ing to take any suggestions I'egaI'liing improve­
ment elf ouz, judicial. system but AC and B&F make the l.aws foz, the Navajo 
People", "not the Federal government" said fuc!Jonald. 

Sincerely, 
Dineh.Rights Association, Inc. 

G.;;~-1~~--
Edzuaro .r. Little 
P.O. Bo:z: 855 
Tuba City, AI'izona 86045 
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We, the undersigned, as a canoerned person, hereby peti,tiai against the 
:interference of the Navajo Tribe Council ..dn the operations of the Navajo 
E::lucatian and Scmlarship Fou!Xlation. "We petition for the Navajo -Fi!ucation 
r.ir.::; Sch.::,larship Fa.mciation to ranain a private. foundation and not a Tril:.,al 
enticy. Furt:hel:m:>re, ._ petition that the :rndian Civil Rights Act le 
acknowledged and ahered to. All violatiais of the In4i.an Civil Rights 
Act must cease. We petition that ~ IIxlian Civil Rights k:t no lOIXJer 
be violated by disobeying Tribal court C>i:ders. 

Signablre Census ll 

Pa- 6o,I('. f/451,tft~,ff:=:P-ZZ;i"q 

Po 'h:1-lfc!<t~~ #·34£:. 

(J-,_f-fr ~ i',,.JL~ . tfz.,-.. ")'1-' 

~ f//Jt, Tl)P.,A.. CJ, l ~ ,,147 

z:;~~ o/~z3 

&/b&1/ -f¼ea-:&~ !Ot/f?.llJ 

/3;y ?9~ f:a..,a.liAs /d</ :;J. / ,rf 

/lJ9/,2-l'/q 

& 61/ ~/~~ RI/ff 
Pl &P!!·;/44 L~ /tJ.f-457 
"j)•o• /!r-oX #.5·:;.r 1 

..S/2,(Qi...U/ #-2,, n,r¥ . ;?;t/if~r 

f~Y?9'1f • ' ' 
~ '91_--:; f[t.3;,B 

C,4·_/ 
•. ···:·.:· ~-:: ..:..:· 
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PEI'ITION 

We, the undersigned, as a concemed person, hereby petition against the 
interference of the Navajo Tribe Council in the operations of the Navajo 
Education and Scholarship Foundation. We petition for the Navajo ,Education 
and Scholarship Foundation to retain a private foun:lation and not a Tril:al. 
entity. FurtheIIIore, we petition that the Indian Civil Rights Act be" 
ac:kncMledged and ahered to. All violations of the Inqian Civil Rights , 
Act must cease. We petition that~ Indian Civil Rights Act no longer 
be violated by disobeying Tribal court orders. 

Signature Census JI 

fllLM~ 13oy :fl Z.{163 d.J..A7.- 72. Fl7 
' 

SML:w ~~ 80\4 YB '.L ~ '!/6Jf 'J 

[Ooy 196 r'.~ <Jt['_t/°cJ7 

~-,r?, /~ ,4. 3t1"2,,ttkl 

-~;.;._,..:...,..:=-_.,.5,""''/l-""/<..£.~e:.io€""'0'""'""1!=),'-"" 121 -,rl., 
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PEITI'IOO 

We, the undersi.gna:i, as a caicemed perscn, hereby petitioo against the 
interference of the Navajo Tribe Council in the operations of the Navajo 
F.ducation and Scholarship Foundatic:n. We petitic:n for the Navajo -F.ducatic:n 
and Scholarship Foundation to retain a private foundation and ·not a Tr:i.bll 
entity. Furth=re, we petition that the Indian Civil Rights Act be 
ackna,,.,ledged and ahered to. All violations of the Indian Civil Rights 
Act lTUSt cease. We petition that the Irrlian Civil Rights Act no longer 
be violated by disooeying Tribal court orders. • 

Signature Census I 

[k~d~ ~ 1rla:b& ,le 
yf;(},ut,, d/Q,,(.1wafa diuUu.! tr/i;;ti:o Jc 
~½itdldw,J~ ,,:i/4 /4.-

~ , 

I . ,: 

-~ ,' 
_ . .,_· ___,_-'_ ·,..·- ''::-......· _ , . ' , _ .-'--_ - · ·_ . /;' :,__~· _ '._{;.__ ____ ..· .;_-

~ '~)\~ f,'~!fa/4/ 
ltJG~ z~~~\!1,, :::r:: 
•U__\,1..-. ,:::. /?I ~ 1-v..ke !ll 16 
&ill Q.o ~, f-md-: 4ee $f:ll7 
[lJr,,2 letrtP f5gMttr-, r(5]..Uff ~ • 

p; /ip /k-:?'½) u UJ,'ck fcLIA~.~ 

Mn:pa. 
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TITLE ONE 

General Provisions 

CHAPTER SECTION 

1. Bill of Rights. . . . . . . 1 
3. Great Seal and Flag . . 101 
6. Navajo Nation . . 301 
7. Membership in Tribe . . 601 
9. Hopilndians . ; . . . . . . . . 701 

General Croa References 
Constitutional rights of Indiana, see Appendix Part 2, 1968, § 1301 et seq. 
Federal laws of a permanent and general nature relatinit to Navajo Indiana, 

1ee United State ■ Code, TiUe 25, Indians. 
Federal regulatio~ relatinit to Navajo Indiana, see Code of Federal Repla­

:tiom, TiUe 25, Indians. 
Text treatment of-Federal statute and cue law, 1ee Federal Indian Law (1958). 

Chapter 1. Bill of Rights 

SECTION 

1. Freedom of religion, speech, press, and right of assembly 
and petition 

2. Right to keep and bear arms 
3. Government.al use of houses 
4. Searches and seizures 
6. Double jeopardy; self-incrimination; deprivation of prop-

erty 
6. Rights of accused 
7. Cruel and unusual punishments; excessive bail and fines 
8. Other rights not impaired • 

Croa Referencea 
-United Statea Code. Civil action for deprivation of riithta, 42 U.S.C. H 1983, 

1984. 
Equal rights under the law, 42 U.S.C. § 1981. 
Federal civil righta law regarding public accom;inodations, facilitie■, education 

and progrllDlll, employment and voting, 42 U.S.O. H 2000a et seq. 
Offenses, pr011eeutions and proceedings in Yindication of righta, 42 U.S.C. 

H 1985-1991. 
f 
.I Orpnization of Indian tribes, constitution and bylaw■, 25 U.S.C. § 476 . 
I 

137 
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T.1 § 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS Ch.I 

Code of Federal ReiUlations. Adoption of ordinances by tribal council, 
25 C.F.R. 11.l(e). 

-Federal Indian !Aw (1958). Derivation of tribal powers, p. 398. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Authority of Indian governments. While Congress retains paramount 
authority to legislate for and enforce its laws on all the tribes in certain re­
spects, it has recognized the authority of Indian governments over their reserva­
tion and if this power is to be taken away from them it is for Congress to do it. 
Ollverv. Udall (1962) 306 F.2d 819. 

Indian tribes have a status higher than that of states and are subordinate and 
dependent nations possessed of all powers as such only to the extent that they 
have expressly been required to surrender them by the superior sovereign, the 
United States. Native American Church v. Navajo Tribal Council (1959) 272 
F.2d 131. 

See, alao, annotations under Tribe, and Nation, and Court, in digest. 

§ 1. Freedom of religion; speech, preBB, and right of assembly and 
petition 

The Navajo Tribal Council shall make no law respecting an est.ab­
lishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or 
abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the 
people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Navajo Tribal 
Government for a redress of gri~vances. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 1, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 
Preamble. CO-63-67 contained the following preamble: 
"Whereas: A declaration of the basic Navajo human rights is deemed to be 

necemsary to the preservation of, and in keeping with, the dignity of the 
Navajo people.,, 

Crou References 
Constitutional rights of Indians, see Appendix Part 2, 1968, § 1302. 

§ 2. Right to keep and bear arms 
The right of the people to keep and bear arms for peaceful pur­

poses, shall not be infringed. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 2, passed Oct. 9,·1967. 

§ 3. Governmental use of houses 
No Governmental use shall be made of any house, without the con­

sent of the owner, except in a manner to be prescribed by resolution. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 3, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

{ 
I 
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Ch.I BILL OF RIGHTS T.1 § 5 

§ 4. Searches and seizures 
The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, pa­

pers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall 
not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, 
supported by oath, or affirmation, and particularly describing the 
place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 4, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

ANNOTATIONS 

"Plain view" rule 2 Search warrant, 3 
Searches without'warrant. 1 

1. Search wmrant. In any situation in which the police have information in 
advance of a planned operation sufficient to establish probable cause to obtain 
a search warrant, the warrant must be obtained if a search is to be made. Navajo 
Nation v. Swinonish, Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (March 14, 1977). 

2. ..Plain view" rule. The "plain 'view" search and seizure doctrine only per­
mits seizure of things actually in view, the theory being that search is not nec­
essary when a thing is in plain view; and when in a building, drawers, doors and 
cabinets may not be opened and .areas not in plain view of the thing seized may 
not be searched. Navajo Nation y. Swinonish, Navajo Nation Court of Appeals 
(March 14, 1977). ' 

3. Searches without warrant. Court would reverse conviction of selling liquor 
in violation of 17 N.T.C. § 561 if it was found that police, who searched house 
without a warrant, could have obtained a warrant, or that liquor alleged in plain 
view from door was not in fact in plain view, or that evidence illegally seized was 
material to the conviction. Navajo Nation v. Swinonish, Navajo Nation Court of 
Appeals (March 14, 1977). 

§ 5. Double jeopardy; self-incrimination; deprivation of property 
No pe:nl'on shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in 

jeopardy of liberty, or property; nor shall he. be compelled in any 
criminal case to be a witness against himself; nor shall private prop­
erty be taken for public use, without just compensation. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 6, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 
Croa References 

-United States Code. Double Jeopardy, 42 U.S.C. § 2000h-1. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Eminent domain. The Navajo Tribe has the power to take or authorize the 
taking of property withou~ the consent of the owners of the property or of any 
interest therein, provided that the owners are given due process of law and just 
compensation. Dennison v. Tucson Gu and Electric Co., Navajo Nation Court of 
Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

Under the customary division of governmental power into three separate 
branches, a division which exista in the Navajo Nation, the right to exercise the 
power of eminent domain may be authorized only by the legislature and there 
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T.1 § 5 GENERAL PROVISIONS Ch.l 

can be no taking of private property for public use against the will of the owner 
without direct authority from the legislature and then the taking must be only 
in the manner prescribed by the legislature. Dennison v. Tucson Gas and Electric 
Co., Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

Where Chairman of the Navajo Tribe, on behalf of the tribe, granted gns and 
electric company a right-of-way across land of plaintiffs, who had a grazing per· 
mit and had a home and other improvements on the land, to build and maintain 
a power line, and jWlt compensation was not given plaintiffs, the taking of the 
land was illegal and not in accord with 16 N.T.C. §§ 661 et seq., and defense of 
sovereign immunity from suit was not available to the tribe in plaintiffs suit for 
damages, an injunction against further trespass and cancellation of their allegedly 
fraudulently obtained consent to the taking. Dennison v. Tucson Gas and Elec· 
ttic Co., Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

§ 6. llights of accused 
In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a 

speedy and public trial, and shall be informed of the nature and cause 
of the accusation; shall be confronted with the witnesses against him; 
and shall have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his 
favor. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 6, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

CrOSII References 
-United States Code. Right to speedy trial, 42 U.S.C. § 1992. 

§ 7. Cruel and unusual punishments; excessive bail and fines 
Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, 

nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 7, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

§ 8. Other rights not impaired 
The enumeration herein of certain rights, shall not be construed 

to deny or disparage others retained by the people. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 8, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Due process. Where judge who issued order that District Prosecutor spend 
30 days training newly appointed District Prosecutor, and who at the same time 
vacated order holding District Prosecutor in contempt of court for failing to 
appoint a Disttict Prosecutor for over six months, made extra-judicial statements 
to the effect that he did not believe District Prosecutor's "witchcraft" claims 
and thought it was wrong for District Prosecutor to avoid bench warrant com· 
manding his arrest for failure to comply with first order, there was no denial of 
due process. Navajo In re Appointment of Tuba City District Prosecutor, Navajo 
Nation Court of Appeals (July 27, 1977). 
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TITLE ONE 

General Provisions 

CHAPTER SECTION 

1. Bill of Rights. . . . . . . . 1 
3. Great Seal and Flag . . . . . . . . . . 101 
5. Navajo Nation . . 301 
7. Membership in Tribe . 501 
9. Hopilndians. ; . . 701 

General Croll References 
Constitutional rights of Indiana, see Appendix Part 2, 1968, I 1301 et seq. 
Federal laws of a permanent and general nature relatint to Navajo Indiana, 

1ee United State, Code, Title 25, Indians. 
Federal regulatlo~ relating to Navajo Indiana, see Code of Federal ReiWa· 

,tions. Title 25, Indiana. 
Text treatment of Federal statute and case law, 1ee Federal Indian Law (1958). 

Chapter 1. Bill ofRights 

SECTION 

1. Freedom of religion, speech, press, and right of assembly 
and petition 

2. Right to keep and bear arms 
3. Governmental use of houses 
4. Searches and seizures 
5. Double jeopardy; self-incrimination; deprivation of prop-

erty 
6. Rights of accused 
7. Cruel and unusual punishments; excessive bail and fines 
8. Other rights not impaired 

Croa Reference1 
-United Statea Code. Civil action for deprivation of rights, 42 U.S.C. II 1983, 

1984. 
Equal rights under the law, 42 U.S.C. I 1981. 
Federal civil rights law regarding public accom:modations, faclllties, education 

and programs, employment and voting, 42 U.S.O. I§ 2000a et 1eq. 
Offenses, prosecutions and proceedinp in Yindication of rights, 42 U.S.C. 

H 1985-1991. 
Orpnlzation of Indian tribes, constitution and bylaws, 25 U.S.C. I 476. 
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Code of Federal ReiiuJations. Adoption of ordinances by tribal council, 
25 C.F.R. 11.l(e). 

-Federal Indian IAw (1958). Derivation of tribal powers, p. 398. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Authority of Indian governments. While Congress retains paramount 
authority to legislate for and enforce its laws on all the tribes in certain re­
apects, it has recognized the authority or Indian governments over their reserva­
tion and if this power Is to be taken away from them it is for Congress to do it. 
Oliver v. Udall (1962) 306 F.2d 819. 

Indian tribes have a status higher than that or states and are subordinate and 
dependent nations possessed or all power:11 as such only to the extent that they 
have expressly been required to surrender them by the superior sovereign, thP. 
United States. Native American Church v. Navajo Tribal Council (1959) 272 
F.2d 131. 

See, also, annotations under Tribe, and Nations and Courts in digest. 

§ 1. Freedom of religion, speech, press, and right of assembly and 
petition 

The Navajo Tribal Council shall make no law respecting an est.ab­
lishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or 
abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the 
people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Navajo Tribal 
Government for a redress of gri~vances. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 1, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 
Preamble. CO-63-67 contained the following preamble: 
"Whereas: A declaration of the basic Navajo human rights is deemed to be 

necemsary to the preservation or, and in keeping with, the dignity or the 
Navajo people." • 

Crosa References 
Constitutional rights of Indiana, ,ee Appendix Part 2, 1968, § 1302. 

§ 2. Right to keep and bear arms 
The right of the people to keep and bear arms for peaceful pur­

poses, shall not be infringed. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 2, passed Oct. 9,-1967. 

§ 3. Governmental use of houses 
No Governmental use shall be made of any house, without the con­

sent of the owner, except in a manner to be prescribed by resolution. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 3, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 
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§ 4. Searches and seizures 
The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, pa­

pers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall 
not be violat.ed, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, 
support.ed by oath, or affirmation, and particularly describing the 
place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 4, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

ANNOTATIONS 

"Plain view" rule, 2 Search warrant, 3 
Searches without warrant. 1 

1. Search warrant. In any situation in which the police have information in 
advance of a planned operation sufficient to establish probable cause to obtain 
a search warrant, the warrant must be obtained If a search is to be made. Navajo 
Nation v. Swlnonish, Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (March 14, 1977). 

2. "Plain view" rule. The "plain "view" search and seizure doctrine only per­
mits seizure of things actually In view, the theory being that search is not nec­
essary when a thing Is In plain view; and when In a building, drawers, doors and 
cabinets may not be opened and ,areas not in plain view of the thing seized may 
not be searched. Navajo Nation y. Swinonish, Navajo Nation Court of Appeal.I 
(March 14, 1977). • 

3. Searches without warrant. Court would reverse conviction of selling liquor 
In violation of 17 N.T.C. I 661 If it was found that police, who searched house 
without a warrant, could have obtained a warrant, or that liquor alleged in plain 
view from door was not In fact in plain view, or that evidence illegally seized was 
material :to the conviction. Navajo Nation v. Swinonish, Navajo Nation Court of 
Appeals (March 14, 1977). 

§ 5. Double jeopardy; self-incrimination; deprivation of property 
No pemon shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in 

jeopardy of liberty, or property; nor shall he. be compelled in any 
criminal case to be a witness against himself; nor shall privat.e prop­
erty be taken for public use, without just compensation. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, I 6, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 
Cross References 

-United States Code. Double jeopardy, 42 U.S.C. I 2000h-1. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Eminent domain. The Navajo Tribe bu the power to take or authorize the 
taking of property wlthoui the consent of the owners of the property or of any 
Interest therein, provided that the owners are given due process of law and just 
compensation. Dennison v. Tucson Gas and Electric Co., Navajo Nation Court of 
Appeala (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

Under the customary division of governmental power into three separate 
branches, a dlvl■ion which exists in the Navajo Nation, the right to exercise the 
power of eminent domain may be authorized only by the legislature and there 
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can be no taking of private property for public use against the will of the owner 
without direct authority from the legislature and then the taking must be only 
in the manner prescribed by the legislature. Dennison v. Tucson Gas and Electric 
Co., Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

Where Chairman of the Navajo Tribe, on behalf of the tribe, granted gns and 
electric company a right-of-way across land of plaintiffs, who had a grazing per­
mit and had a home and other improvements on the land, to build and maintain 
a power line, and just compensation was not given plaintiffs, the taking of the 
land was illegal and not in accord with 16 N.T.C. §§ 661 et seq., and defense of 
sovereign immunity from suit was not available to the tribe in plaintiffs snit for 
damages, an injunction against further trespass and cancellation of their allegedly 
fraudulently obtained consent to the taking. Dennison v. Tucson Gas and Elec­
tric Co., Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

§ 6. llight.s of accused 
In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a 

speedy and public trial, and shall be informed of the nature and cause 
of the accusation; shall be confronted with the witnesses against him; 
and shall have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his 
favor. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 6, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

Crosa References 
-United States Code. Right to speedy trial, 42 U.S.C. § 1992. 

§ 7. Cruel and unusual punishments; excessive bail and imes 
Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, 

nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 7, passed Oct~ 9, 1967. 

§ 8. Other right.a not impaired 
The enumeration herein of certain rights, shall not be construed 

to deny or disparage others retained by the people. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Rea. CO-63-67, § 8, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Due process. Where Judge who issued order that District Prosecutor spend 
30 days training newly appointed District Prosecutor, and who at the same time 
vacated order holding District Prosecutor in contempt of court for failing to 
appoint a District Prosecutor for over six months, made extra-judicial statements 
to the effect that he did not believe District Prosecutor's "witchcraft" claims 
and thought It was wrong for District Prosecutor to avoid bench warrant com­
manding his arrest for failure to comply with first order, there was no denial of 
due process. Navajo In re Appoinbnent of Tuba City District Prosecutor, Navajo 
Nation Court of Appeals (July 27, 1977). 
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TITLE ONE 

General Provisions 

CHAPTER SECTION 

1. Bill of Rights. 1 
3. Great Seal and Flag 101 
6. Navajo Nation . . 301 
7. Membership in Tribe . 601 
9. Hopi Indians . ; . . 701 

General Croll References 
Coru1titutional rights of Indiana, see Appendix Part 2, 1968, § 1301 et seq. 
Federal laws of a permanent and general nature relatina to Navajo Indians, 

aee United State■ Code, Title 25, Indians. 
Federal regulatio~ relatina to Navajo Indiana, see Code of Federal ReauJa­

:tiona, Title 25, IndillDI. 
Text treatment of Federal statute and case law, aee Federal Indian Law (1958). 

Chapter 1. Bill of Rights 
SECTION 

1. Freedom of religion, speech, press, and right of assembly 
and petition 

2. Right to keep and bear arms 
3. Governmental use of houses 
4. Searches and seizures 
6. Double jeopardy; self-incrimination; deprivation of prop-

erty 
6. Rights of accused 
7. Cruel and unusual punishments; excessive bail and fines 
8. Other rights not impaired 

Croa Reference1 
-United States Code. Civil action for deprivation of rights, 42 U.S.C. H 1983, 

1984. 
Equal rights under the law, 42 U.S.C. § 1981. 
Federal civil rights law regarding public acco~rnodationa, facilities, education 

and programs, employment and voting, 42 U.S.O. H 2000a et aeq. 
Offenses, prosecutions and proceedings in Yindication of rights, 42 U.S.C. 

H 1985-1991. 
Orpnization of Indian tribes, constitution and bylaws, 25 U.S.C. § 476. 
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Code of Federal Regulations. Adoption of ordinances by tribal council, 
25 C.F.R. 11.l(e). 

-Federal Indian Law (1958). Derivation of tribal powers, p. 398. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Authority of Indian governments. While Congress retains paramount 
authority to legislate for and enforce its laws on all the tribes in certain re­
apects, it has recognized the authority of Indian governments over their reserva­
tion and if this power is to be taken away from them it is for Congress to do it. 
Oliverv. Udall (1962} 306 F.2d 819. 

Indian tribes have a status higher than that of states and are subordinate anrl 
dependent nations possessed of all powers as such only to the extent that they 
have expressly been required to surrender them by the superior sovereign, the 
United States. Native American Church v. Navajo Tribal Council (1959) 272 
F.2d 131. 

See, al■o, annotations under Tribe, and Nation, and Court, in digest. 

§ 1. Freedom of religion; speech, preBB, and right of assembly and 
petition 

The Navajo Tribal Council shall make no law respecting an estab­
lishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or 
abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the 
people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Navajo Tribal 
Government for a redress of griE;vances. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Rea. CO-63-67, § 1, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 
Preamble. CO-63-67 contained the following preamble: 
"Whereas: A declaration of the basic Navajo human rights is deemed to be 

necessary to the preservation of, and in keeping with, the dignity of the 
Navajo people.11 

• 

Cross References 
Constitutional rights of Indians, see Appendix Part 2, 1968, § 1302. 

§ 2. Right to keep and bear arms 
The right of the people to keep and bear arms for peaceful pur­

poses, shall not be infringed. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 2, passed Oct. 9,·1967. 

§ 3. Governmental use of houses 
No Governmental use shall be made of any house, without the con­

sent of the owner, except in a manner to be prescribed by resolution. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 3, passed Oct. 91 1967. 
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§ 4. Searches and seizures 
The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, pa­

pers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall 
not be violat.ed, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, 
supported by oath, or affirmation, and particularly describing the 
place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 4, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

ANNOTATIONS 

"Plain view" rule, 2 Search warrant, 3 
Searches without warrant. 1 

1. Search wammt. In any situation in which the police have infonnation in 
advance of a planned operation sufficient to establish probable cause to obtain 
a search warrant, the warrant mu11t be obtained if a search i11 to be made. Navajo 
Nation v. Swinoniah, Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (March 14, 1977). 

2. "Plain view" rule. The "plain "view" search and seizure doctrine only per­
mits seizure of things actually in view, the theory being that search ill not nec­
essary when a thing 111 in plain view; and when in a building, drawer11, door11 and 
cabinets may not be opened and ,area11 not in plain view of the thing seized may 
not be searched. Navajo Nation y. Swinonillh, Navajo Nation Court of Appeals 
(March 14, 1977). , 

3. Searches without warrant. Court would reverse conviction of selling liquor 
in violation of 17 N.T.C. § 661 if it WBII found that police, who searched house 
without a warrant, could have obtained a warrant, or that liquor alleged in plain 
view from door wa11 not in fact in plain view, or that evidence illegally seized wa11 
material to the conviction. Navajo Nation v. Swinonillh, Navajo Nation Court of 
Appeals (March 14, 1977). 

§ 5. Double jeopardy; self-incrimination; deprivation of property 
No peI'll'on shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in 

jeopardy of liberty, or property; nor shall he. be compelled in any 
criminal case to be a witness against himself; nor shall privat.e prop­
erty be taken for public use, without just compensation. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 6, pa1111ed Oct. 9, 1967. 

Cross References 
-United States Code. Double jeopardy, 42 U.S.C. § 2000h-1. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Eminent domain. The Navajo Tribe bu the power to take or authorize the 
taking of property without the consent of the owner11 of the property or of any 
interest therein, provided that the owners are given due proceSII of law and ju11t 
compensation. Denniaon v. Tucson Gu and Electric Co., Navajo Nation Court of 
Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 
• Under the customary diviaion of governmental power into three separate 
branches, a division which exists in the Navajo Nation, the right to exercise the 
power of eminent domain may be authorized only by the legislature and there 
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can be no taking of private property for public use against the will of the owner 
without direct authority from the legislature and then the taking must be only 
in the manner prescribed by the legislature. Dennison v. Tucson Gas and Electric 
Co., Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

Where Chairman of the Navajo Tribe, on behalf of the tribe, granted gns and 
electric company a right-of-way across land of plaintiffs, who had a grazing per· 
mit and had a home and other improvements on the land, to build and maintain 
a power line, and juat compensation was not given plaintiffs, the taking of the 
land was illegal and not in accord with 16 N.T.C. §§ 551 et seq., and defense of 
sovereign immunity from suit was not available to the tribe in plaintiffs suit ior 
damages, an injunction against further trespass and cancellation of their allegedly 
fraudulently obtained consent to the taking. Dennison v. Tucson Gas and Elec· 
tric Co., Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

§ 6. Rights of accUBed 
In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a 

speedy and public trial, and shall be informed of the nature and cause 
of the accusation; shall be confronted with the witnesses against him; 
and shall have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his 
favor. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 6, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

Crosa References 
-United States Code. Right to speedy trial, 42 U.S.C. § 1992. 

§ 7. Cruel and unusual punishments; excessive bail and fines 
Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, 

nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 7, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

§ 8. Other rights not impaired 
The enumeration herein of certain rights, shall not be construed 

to deny or disparage others retained by the people. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 8, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Due process. Where Judge who issued order that District Prosecutor spend 
30 days training newly appointed District Prosecutor, and who at the same time 
vacated order holding District Prosecutor in contempt of court for failing to 
appoint a District Prosecutor for over six months, made extra-judicial statements 
to the effect that he did not believe District Prosecutor's "witchcraft" claims 
and thought it was wrong for District Prosecutor to avoid bench warrant com­
manding his arrest for failure to comply with fi:tst order, there was no denial of 
due process. Navajo In re Appointment of Tuba City District Prosecutor, Navajo 
Nation Court or Appeals (July 27, 1977). 
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TITLE ONE 

General Provisions 

CHAPTER SECTION 

1. Bill of Rights. 1 
3. Great Seal and Flag 101 
6. Navajo Nation . . 301 
7. Membership in Tribe . 601 
9. Hopilndians . ; . . 701 

Genenl Crou References 
Constitutional rights of Indiana, see Appendix Part 2, 1968, § 1301 et seq. 
Federal laws of a permanent and general nature relatini to Navajo Indiana, 

1ee United State■ Code, Title 25, Indians. 
Federal regulatio~ relatini to Navajo Indiana, see Code of Federal RelUla· 

:tiom, Title 25, Indians. 
Text treatment of.Federal 1tatute and cue law, 1ee Federal Indian Law (1958). 

Chapter 1. Bill of Rights 
SECTION 

1. Freedom of religion, speech, press, and right of assembly 
and petition 

2. Right to keep and bear arms 
3. Governmental use of houses 
4. Searches and seizures 
6. Double jeopardy; self-incrimination; deprivation of prop-

erty 
6. Rights of accused 
7. Cruel and unusual punishments; excessive bail and fines 
8. Other rights not impaired 

Croa Refennces 
-United States Code. Civil action for deprivation of rights, 42 U.S.C. H 1983, 

1984. 
Equal righta under the law, 42 U.S.C. § 1981. 
Federal civil rights law regarding public accommodations, faclllties, education 

and programs, employment and voting, 42 U.s.o: H 2000a et aeq. 
Offenses, prosecutions and proceedings in Yindication of rights, 42 U.S.C. 

H 1985-1991. 
OriaDfzation of Indian tribes, comtitution and bylaw■, 26 U.S.C. § 476. 
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Code of Federal ReiiuJatlons. Adoption of ordinances by tribal council, 
25 C.F.R. 11.l(e). 

-Federal Indian !Aw (1958). Derivation of tribal powera, p. 398. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Authority of Indian governments. While Congress retains paramount 
authority to legislate for and enforce its laws on all the tribes in certain re­
spects, it has recognized the authority of Indian governments over their reserva· 
tion and lf this power ls to be taken away from them it is for Congress to do it. 
Oliverv. Udall (1962) 306 F.2d 819. 

Indian tribes have a status higher than that of states and are subordinate and 
dependent nations po&1essed of all powers as such only to the extent that they 
have expressly been required to surrender them by the superior sovereign, the 
United States. Native American Church v. Navajo Tribal Council (1959) 272 
F.2d 131. 

See, mo, annotations under Tribe, and Nations arid Courts in digest. 

§ 1. Freedom of religion; speech, press, and right of assembly and 
petition 

The Navajo Tribal Council shall make no law respecting an estab­
lishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or 
abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the 
people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Navajo Tribal 
Government for a redress of grievances. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 1, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 
Preamble. CO-63-67 contained the following preamble: 
"Whereas: A declaration of the basic Navajo human rights is deemed to be 

necessary to the preservation of, and in keeping with, the dignity of the 
Navajo people." • 

Crou References 
Constitutional rights of Indians, 1ee Appendix Part 2, 1968, § 1302. 

§ 2. Right to keep and bear arms 
The right of the people to keep and bear arms for peaceful pur­

poses, shall not be infringed. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 2, passed Oct. 9, ·1957. 

§ 3. Governmental use of houses 
No Governmental use shall be made of any house, without the con­

sent of the owner, except in a manner to be prescribed by resolution. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 3, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 
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§ 4. Searches and seizures 
The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, pa­

pers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall 
not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, 
supported by oath, or affirmation, and particularly describing the 
place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 4, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

ANNOTATIONS 

"Plain view" rule, 2 Search warrant, 3 
Searches without warrant. 1 

1. Search warrant. In any situation in which the police have information in 
advance of a planned operation sufficient to establish probable cause to obtain 
a search warrant, the warrant must be obtained ff a search is to be made. Navajo 
Nation v. Swfnonish, Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (March 14, 1977). 

2. "Plain view" rule. The "plain "view" search and seizure doctrine only per­
mits seizure of things actually in view, the theory being that search is not nec­
essary when a thing is in plain view; and when in a building, drawers, dooIS and 
cabinets may not be opened and ,areas not in plain view of the thing seized may 
not be searched. Navajo Nation-,. Swinonish, Navajo Nation Court of Appeals 
(March 14, 1977). • 

8. Searches without warrant. Court would reverse conviction of selling liquor 
in violation of 17 N.T.C. § 561 if it was found that police, who searched house 
without a warrant, could have obtained a warrant, or that liquor alleged in plain 
view from door was not in fact in plain view, or that evidence illegally seized was 
material to the conviction. Navajo Nation v. Swinonish, Navajo Nation Court of 
Appeal■ (March 14, 1977). 

§ 5. Double jeopardy; self-incrimination; deprivation of property 
No penfon shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in 

jeopardy of liberty, or property; nor shall he. be compelled in any 
criminal case to be a witness against himself; nor shall private prop­
erty be taken for public use, without just compensation. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 6, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 
Croa Reference■ 

-United State■ Code. Double jeopardy, 42 U.S.C. § 2000h-1. 

ANNOTATIONS 

1. Eminent domain. The Navajo Tribe has the power to take or authorize the 
taking of property without the consent of the owners of the property or of any 
interest therein, provided that the ownen are given due process of law and just 
compensation. Dennison T. Tucson Gu and Electric Co., Navajo Nation Court of 
Appeals (Decided Dec. 28, 1974). 
• Under the customary division of governmental power into three 1eparate 
branches, a divi■lon which exists in the Navajo Nation, the right to exercise the 
power of eminent domain may be authorized only by the legislature and there 
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can be no taking of private property for public use against the will of the owner 
without direct authority from the legislature and then the taking must be only 
in the manner prescribed by the legislature. Dennison v. Tucson Gas and Electric 
Co., Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

Where Chairman of the Navajo Tribe, on behalf of the tribe, granted gns and 
electric company a right-of-way across land of plaintiffs, who had a grazing per· 
mit and had a home and other improvements on the land, to build and maintain 
a power line, and just compensation was not given plaintiffs, the taking of the 
land was illegal and not in accord with 16 N.T.C. §§ 661 et seq., and defense of 
sovereign immunity from suit was not available to the tribe in plaintiffs snit for 
damages, an injunction against further trespass and cancellation of their allegedly 
fraudulently obtained consent to the taking. Dennison v. Tucson Gas and Elec­
tric Co., Navajo Nation Court of Appeals (Decided Dec. 23, 1974). 

§ 6. Rights of accused 
In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a 

speedy and public trial, and shall be informed of the nature and cause 
of the accusation; shall be confronted with the witnesses against him; 
and shall have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his 
favor. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 6, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

Cross References 
-United States Code. Right to speedy trial, 42 U.S.C. § 1992. 

§ 7. Cruel and unusual punishments; excessive bail and fines 
Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, 

nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 7, passed Oct. 9, 1967. 

§ 8. Other rights not impaired 
The enumeration herein of certain rights, shall not be construed 

to deny or disparage others retained by the people. 

HISTORY 

Source. Tribal Council Res. CO-63-67, § 8, passed Oct. 9, 1967. .. 
ANNOTATIONS 

1. Due process. Where judge who issued order that District Prosecutor spend 
30 days training newly appointed District Prosecutor, and who at the same time 
vacated order holding District Prosecutor in contempt of court for failing to 
appoint a District Prosecutor for over six months, made extra-judicial statements 
to the effect that he did not believe District Prosecutor's "witchcraft" claims 
and thought it was wrong for District Prosecutor to avoid bench warrant com­
manding his arrest for failure to comply with first order, there was no denial of 
due process. Navajo In re Appoinbnent of Tuba City District Prosecutor, Navajo 
Nation Court of Appeals (July 27, 1977). 
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TITLE ONE 

General Provisions 
Chapter 1. Bill of Rights 

NEW SECTION 

9. Denial or abridgement of rights on the basis of sex 

Cro1111 Referencea 
Federal Indian Law (1982). Derivation of tribal powers, pp. 232-235. 

§ 6. Rights of accused 
1. Sufficiency of complaint. This section requires that prosecutors -prepare

criminal complaints which allege the basic parts of the statute creating the 
crime and sufficient facts fitting within the statute to enable the defendant and 
his defense attorney to prepare their case. Navajo Nation v. Benson Lee (C.A.
1983) 4 Nav. R. 185. 

§ 9. Denial or abridgement of rights on basis of sex 
Eqyality of rights under the law shall not be denied or abridged 

by t~e Navajo Nation on account of sex. 
Source. Tribal Council Res. CF-9-80, pa1111ed Feb. '1, 1980. 
Preamble.. CF-9-80 contained the following preamble: 
"WHEREAS: 
"1. The tradition and culture of the Navajo Nation baa always emphasized

the importance of the woman in Navajo society; and 
"2. Navajo culture and society ia both matrilineal and matrilocal; and 
"3. The Navajo Tribal· Council by Resolution CO-63-67 of October 9, 1967, 

passed the Navajo Bill of Rights; and . 
"4. No provision was made in the Navajo Bill of Rigbta for equal protection 

of the laws for both men and women; and 
"6. Such a declaration would be in keeping with the tradition of the Navajo

people." 
1. Interpretation. The proper interpretation of the Navajo .:Equal Rights 

guarantee is that there can be·nq legal result on account of a person's sex 
no presumption in giving benefits or disabilities gauged by a person's sex and 
no legal policy which has the effect of favoring one sex or the other. Help v. 
Silvers a.k.a. Silver Fox (C.A.1983) 4 Nav. R. 46. , . 

2. Presumptions, Under Navajo Equal Rights Amendment, there can be no 
presumption, in a child custody dlspute, that a _young child should be in the 
care of the mo~her. H~lp v. S!~vers a.k.a. Silver Fox (C.A. 1983) 4 Nav. R. 46. 

Chapter 5. Navajo Nation 
SUBCHAPTER 1. DESIGNATION 

SECTION 

301. Use of term "Navajo Nation"; certification of resolutions; 
address 

302. Spelling of "Navajo" 
21 
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JULY 18, 1988 

MR. EDWIN MEESE III 
ATTORNEY GENERAL 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 

DEAR ATTORNEY GENERAL MEESE: 

I AM GREATLY INTERESTED IN AND SUPPORT THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF 
JUSTICE'S INQUIRY INTO THE AMENDMENT OF THE INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS 
ACT OF 1968. 

SPECIFICALLY, I BELIEVE AMENDMENT OF THE INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT 
TO ENSURE FEDERAL COURT REVIEW OF ACTIONS OF INDIAN TRIBAL 
GOVERNMENTS IN CIVIL RIGHTS MATTERS, IS NEEDED TO ENSURE ADEQUATE 
PROTECTION OF THE .INDIVIDUAL LIBERTIES AND CONSTITUTIONAL 
GUARANTEES OF INDIANS AND NON-INDIANS. 

MY CONCERN INVOLVES A PERSONAL EXPERIENCE WHICH I HAVE NOT 
HERETOFORE BROUGHT TO YOUR ATTENTION, BOT WHICH I FEEL NEEDS TO BE 
ADDRESSED IN ASSESSING THE NEED FOR AMENDMENT OF THE ICRA. I HAVE 
PREVIOUSLY COMMUNICATED THIS CONCERN, ORALLY AND IN WRITING TO MR. 
BRIAN MILLER, ATTORNEY FOR THE U.S. CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION, WHO 
HAS WORKED CLOSELY WITH THE COMMISSION TO ASSESS ABUSES IN INDIAN 
TRIBAL JUDICIAL SYSTEMS. I HAVE ALSO COMMUNICATTED MY CONCERNS 
ORALLY TO THE NAVAJO AREA BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS ASSISTANT AREA 
DIRECTOR, MR. GEORGE GOVER, GALLUP, NEW MEXICO. 

I AM A NON-NAVAJO. I WORKED FOR THE NAVAJO NATION DEPARTMENT OF 
JUSTICE AS A LAW CLERK AND HELD AN EXEMPLARY EMPLOYMENT RECORD 
FROM AUGUST 1982 UNTIL I WAS TERMINATED ON FEB. 20, 1987 BY 
MICHAEL UPSHAW, ATTORNEY GENERAL FOR THE NAVAJO TRIBE. THE BASIS 
FOR MY TERMINATION STATED BY UPSHAW WAS THAT I WAS NOT A NAVAJO 
AND THAT NAVAJO PREFERENCE DICTATED I SHOULD BE DISPLACED. I 
ADVISED UPSHAW THAT THIS WAS IN CLEAR VIOLATION OF THE 
LONG-STANDING NAVAJO PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL 
WHICH RECOGNIZES THE USE OF NAVAJO PREFERENCE IN HIRING. PRACTICES 
BUT DOES NOT ALLOW TERMINATIONS ON THE BASIS OF RACE. I REQUESTED 
THAT UPSHAW RECONSIDER HIS DECISION, INDICATING THAT THE U.S. 
CONSTITUTION AND THE TREATY OF 1868 BETWEEN THE NAVAJO NATION AND 
THE UNITED STATES, AND THE INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT AND THE NAVAJO 
NATION BILL OF RIGHTS AND THE TRIBAL PERSONNEL POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES PROHIBITED UPSHAW FROM TAKING THESE DISCRIMINATORY 
ACTIONS BASED SOLELY UPON MY RACE. UPSHAW REFUSED TO RECONSIDER 
AND I WAS TERMINATED. 

IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE TRIBAL PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, 
I REQUESTED A GRIEVANCE HEARING BY THE TRIBAL PERSONNEL GRIEVANCE 
COMMITTEE. THIS REQUEST WAS UNILATERALLY DENIED BY MR. KIM 
WILLIAMS, PERSONNEL DIRECTOR. 

I THEN RETAINED AN ATTORNEY AND FILED THE REQUIRED NOTICES OF, 
INTENT TO SOE. THE NECESl?ARY TIMELINES WERE MET AND MY COMPLAINT 

344 



Exhibit No. 6 (cont.) 

FOR NEGLIGENCE AND DEPRIVATION/VIOLATION OF MY CIVIL RIGHTS AND 
REQUESTING TRIAL BY A JURY COMPRISED OF NAVAJO AND NON-NAVAJOS WAS 
FILED IN THE WINDOW ROCK TRIBAL DISTRICT COURT. UPON THE 
INSISTENCE OF THE NAVAJO DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, MY ATTORNEY 
SUBSEQUENTLY REMOVED HERSELF FROM THE CASE AND BECAUSE I WAS, AND 
CONTINUE TO BE, UNEMPLOYED, I PROCEEDED PRO SE. 

APPROXIMATELY SIX MONTHS AFTER I WAS TERMINATED, AND HAD REQUESTED 
A GREIVANCE HEARING, AND AFTER SUIT HAD BEEN FILED, WILLIAMS,THE 
PERSONNEL DIRECTOR MAGICALLY HAD A "CHANGE OF HEART" AND OFFERRED 
ME A GRIEVANCE HEARING. I REFUSED THE HEARING BECAUSE I HAD 
ALREADY EXHAUSTED THE FULL ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS AND BECAUSE THE 
GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE DID NOT HAVE THE POWER TO REMEDY MY SPECIFIC 
INJURIES, AND BECAUSE THE ALLOWANCE OF THE GRIEVANCE REQUEST WAS 
NOT MEANINGFUL DUE PROCESS AND NOT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
PROVISIONS OF THE NAVA,IO TRIBAL CODE. THE MATTER THEN CONTINUED 
WITHIN THE NAVAJO TRIBAL COURTS WHERE IT IS STILL PENDING 
LITIGATION. 

IN APRIL 1988, WELL OVER A YEAR AFTER MY TERMINATION BASED UPON 
MY RACE, UPSHAW SERVED ME WITH WRITTEN "SUPPLEMENTARY REASONS" FOR 
MY TERMINATION. INCLUDED IN THESE "SUPPLEMENTARY REASONS" ARE 
LETTERS AND COPIES OF MINUTES OF MEETINGS WHICH IN ADDITION TO 
BEING IRRELEVANT, OCCURRED TWO TO THREE YEARS PRIOR TO UPSHAW'S 
EMPLOYMENT WITH THE NAVAJO NATION. FURTHER, UPSHAW'S PREDECESSOR, 
CLAUDEEN BATES ARTHUR, HAD NEVER TAKEN ANY ADVERSE ACTIONS-AGAINST 
ME AND I ENJOYED EXEMPLARY EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS FROM HER AND MY 
IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR, THE LATEST OF WHICH WAS ONLY 6 MONTHS BEFORE 
MY TERMINATION. 

I HAVE BEEN ADVISED BY CURRENT AND/OR FORMER EMPLOYEES THAT THEY 
WERE BEING "ASKED TO TESTIFY" AGAINST ME BY TRIBAL OFFICIALS, AND 
THE UNDERLYING MESSAGE WAS THAT IF THEY DID NOT COOPERATE, THAT 
THEY MIGHT CEASE TO BE EMPLOYED BY THE NAVAJO NATION OR NEVER BE 
EMPLOYED AGAIN. IN A COMMUNITY WHERE UNEMPLOYMENT EXCEEDS SIXTY 
PERCENT, THE THREAT BECOMES VERY REAL. 

I THEN MOVED TO AMEND MY COMPLAINT TO SUE UPSHAW, WILLIAMS, AND 
OTHER DEFENDANTS IN THEIR INDIVIDUAL CAPACITIES BECAUSE I 
CONSIDERED THEIR INDIVIDUAL AND COLLECTIVE ACTIONS TO BE IN BAD 
FAITH AND MALICIOUSLY MOTIVATED. 

THE DEFENDANTS' NAVAJO NATION, UPSHAW, WILLIAMS ET. AL. HAVE 
RAISED THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY AND THAT THE 
ATTORNEY GENERAL CAN ONLY BE SUED FOR MALPRACTICE, AND ONLY WHEN 
AUTHORIZED BY THE TRIBAL COUNCIL'S ADVISORY COMMITTEE, WHICH IS 
APPOINTED BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE TRIBE, AND I MIGHT ADD, WHICH HAS 
TO MY KNOWLEDGE NEVER RENDERED A DECISION CONTRARY TO THE 
CHAIRMAN'S POSITION. 

IN ORDER TO PROTECT MY RIGHTS, I HAVE HAD TO EXPEND AN ENORMOUS 
AMOUNT OF EMOTIONAL AND FINANCIAL EXPENSE, AND BECAUSE THE PROCESS 
HAS ALREADY ENTAILED OVER A YEAR AND SIX MONTHS, I ANTICIPATE AN 
EQUAL AMOUNT OF TIME BEFORE THIS MATTER IS RESOLVED. ONE OF THE 
CRITICAL PROBLEMS I FACE, IS THAT IF I AM NOT ALLOWED TO AMMEND MY 
COMPLAINT OR IF THE JUDGE RULES AGAI'NST ME ON ANY OF THE PENDING 
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MOTIONS, I AM PRECLUDED FROM REVIEW OF THE DISTRICT COURT'S 
DECISION BY THE NAVAJO SUPREME COURT BECAUSE THERE IS NO PROVISION 
FOR INTERLOCUTORY APPEALS. THIS WILL HAVE A TREMENDOUSLY HARSH 
AND INEQUITABLE FINANCIAL AND EMOTIONAL BURDEN ON ME, ESPECIALLY 
SINCE I WILL HAVE TO PAY THE FULL COSTS OF A TRIAL AND THEN A 
RETRIAL IF THE CASE IS REMANDED ON A TECHNICAL POINT. 

I AM ALSO AWARE OF AND AM HEREBY NOTIFYING YOU THAT THERE ARE AT 
LEAST FOUR (4) OTHER PLAINTIFFS (NAVAJO AND NON-NAVAJO) WHO ARE 
ALSO IN LITIGATION AGAINST THE NAVAJO NATION FOR ALLEGED 
VIOLATIONS OF CIVIL RIGHTS WHICH ALSO ARISE OUT OF DISCRIMINATORY 
TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. THESE INDIVIDUALS ARE BEING 
REPRESENTED BY MR. JAY MASON, GALLUP, N.M. ATTORNEY. ANOTHER 
CLASS-ACTION LAW SUIT INVOLVING NAVAJOS AND NON-NAVAJOS WAS 
SETTLED OUT-OF-COURT WITHIN THE PAST YEAR. 

BECAUSE OF THE CLAIMED SOVEREIGNTY OF THE NAVAJO NATION, I, AND 
OTHER NON-NAVAJOS SIMILARLY SITUATED HAVE NO RECOURSE TO THE STATE 
OR FEDERAL COURTS, EVEN THOUGH WE ARE STATE CITIZENS, PAY STATE 
TAXES, COMPLY WITH AND ARE SUBJECT TO ALL STATE LAWS, VOTE IN 
STATE AND MUNICIPAL (BUT NOT TRIBAL) ELECTIONS AND QUALIFY TO 
RECEIVE ALL OTHER STATE SERVICES, UNLESS THE NAVAJO NATION HAS AN 
EXCLUSIVE COVERAGE, SUCH AS WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION PROGRAM, WHICH 
IS ALSO SUBJECT TO APPOINTMENT OF BOARD MEMBERS BY THE CHAIRMAN OF 
THE NAVAJO TRIBAL COUNCIL, AND SUBJECT TO FURTHER POLITICAL 
DIRECTION AND/OR CORRUPTION. 

I OPPOSE THE VIEW THAT TRIBAL COURTS SHOULD BE ABLE TO ESCAPE 
FEDERAL REVIEW IN CIVIL RIGHTS CASES USING THE GUISE OF TRIBAL 
SOVEREIGNITY, AS INDIANS AND NON-INDIANS ALIKE ARE STILL CITIZENS 
OF THE UNITED STATES ENTITLED BY LAW TO HAVE THOSE BASIC 
PROTECTIONS THAT ALL OTHER U.S. CITIZENS ENJOY. A TECHNICAL 
RESERVATION BOUNDARY WITHIN THE UNITED STATES SHOULD NOT SERVE TO 
CIRCUMVENT THE PROVISIONS OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND PRECLUDE 
AMERICAN CITIZENS FROM THESE PROTECTIONS EVEN IF THEY LIVE AND 
WORK ON INDIAN RESERVATIONS. I CANNOT BELIEVE CONGRESS INTENDED 
ANYTHING LESS. 

FURTHER, THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS WITH AND/OR 
SUBSIDIZES NAVAJO TRIBAL PROGRAMS. I AM SURE THAT THE NAVAJO 
TP.IBE IN APPLYING FOR AND RECEIVING THESE FUNDS, HAS CERTIFIED 
THAT THERE ARE NO VIOLATIONS OF ANY INDIVIDUALS CIVIL RIGHTS, WHEN 
IN REALITY THERE ARE NUMEROUS ABUSES PRACTICED BY THE NAVAJO 
NATION GOVERNMENT AGAINST INDIVIDUALS, AND HAS FURTHER AGREED AS A 
CONDITION PRECEDENT TO RECEIVING THESE FUNDS, THAT IT WILL COMPLY 
WITH AND ADHERE TO THE CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES. IN 
EFFECT, THE NAVAJO TRIBE HAS THEREFORE WAIVED ANY CLAIMS TO ANY 
ABORIGINAL AND/OR TRIBAL SOVEREIGNITY. 

BECAUSE THE NAVAJO GOVERNMENT IS NOT SUBJECT TO A CONSITUTION, 
THERE IS NO SEPARATION OF POWERS. THOUGH IT MAY APPEAR THAT A 
DISTINCTION EXISTS BECAUSE THERE IS AN EXECUTIVE, A JUDICIAL AND A 
LEGISLATIVE BRANCH, THE REALITY IS THAT THE CHAIRMAN OF THE THE 
NAVAJO TRIBE IS THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND ALSO SERVES AS THE 
CHAIRMAN OF THE LEGISLATIVE BODY (TRIBAL COUNCIL) AND WHO FURTHER 
HAS PRIMARY RECOMMENDING AUTHORITY FOR APPOINTMENT AND RETENTION 
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OF ALL JUDGES. FURTHER, THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH PROVIDES 
RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE JUDICIAL BRANCH'S BUDGET. TAKING THESE TWO 
ITEMS TOGETHER, THE APPOINTMENT OF JUDGES AND FUNDING OF THEIR 
BRANCH, IT IS NOT DIFFICULT TO ENVISION THE PROBLEMS FACING A 
JUDGE WHO IS BOUND TO EXCERCISE HIS JUDICIAL DUTIES INDEPENDENT OF 
ALL INFLUENCES. THE RESULT, SADLY, IS THAT THE JUDICIARY ARE IN 
MY VIEW AND THE VIEW OF MANY OTHERS, UNABLE TO ESCAPE THE CLOUD OF 
THE EXECUTIVE IN THEIR EXERCISE OF LAWFUL AND IMPARTIAL JUDGMENT. 

I AM SURE THAT YOU ARE AWARE OF THE NAVAJO TRIBAL GOVERNMENT'S 
REFUSAL TO ATTEND U.S. CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION HEARINGS, AND MORE 
DISAPPOINTINGLY, THE GOVERNMENT'S PROHBITION OF TRIBAL EMPLOYEES 
SPEAKING AT THESE HEARINGS WHICH I BELIEVE IS A VIOLATION OF THEIR 
RIGHT TO EXERCISE FREEDOM OF SPEECH. ALSO, RECENTLY, THERE WAS A 
DISTURBING NEWSPAPER ARTICLE IN THE GALLUP INDEPENDENT COVERING 
THE LOCKING DOWN OF THE NAVAJO EDUCATION SCHOLARSHIP FOUNDATION 
(NESF) OFFICE BY THE CHAIRMAN'S STAFF USING THE POLICE POWERS OF 
THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH. A NAVAJO DISTRICT COURT OF COMPETENT 
JURISDICTION HAD PREVIOUSLY HELD THE N.E.S.F. TO BE A PRIVATE 
FOUNDATION AND NOT AN ENTITY OF THE TRIBAL GOVERNMENT, AND ISSUED 
AN INJUNCTION. THE MATTER WAS THEN APPEALED TO THE NAVAJO SUPREME 
COURT. HOWEVER, THE TRIBAL GOVERNMENT IGNORED AND IN CLEAR 
VIOLATION OF THE INJUNCTION ISSUED BY THE DISTRICT COURT AND USING 
ITS POLICE POWER, OUSTED AND LOCKED OUT THE EMPLOYEES AND OFFICERS 
OF THE FOUNDATION. THE COMMENT OF THE DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL OF 
THE NAVAJO TRIBE REPORTED IN THE LOCAL NEWSPAPER WAS THAT THE 
NAVAJO POLICE WHO LOCKED OUT THE FOUNDATION EMPLOYEES WORKED FOR 
THE CHAIRMAN'S OFFICE AND NOT FOR THE JUDICIAL BRANCH OR THE JUDGE 
AND THEREFORE DID NOT HAVE TO (AND IN FACT DID NOT) OBEY THE 
COURT'S INJUNCTION TO DESIST FROM REMOVING THE N.E.S.F. OFFICIALS 
FROM THEIR OFFICES. CLEARLY, YOU CAN SEE FROM THAT STATEMENT, 
THAT THE TR~BAL COURT ORDER HAD NO FORCE AND/OR EFFECT AND 
RESULTED IN A BLATANT DISREGARD FOR THE JUDICIAL BRANCH BY THE 
EXECUTIVE. WITHIN THE NAVAJO RESERVATION, THERE IS NO OTHER 
AVAILABLE TRIBAL, STATE, OR FEDERAL SYSTEM WHERE RELIEF CAN BE 
OBTAINED. 

THUS, EVEN IF I PREVAIL IN MY CASE BEFORE THE TRIBAL COURT, I HAVE 
EVERY REASON TO BELIEVE THAT MY JUDGMENT WOULD NOT BE HONORED BY 
THE NAVAJO GOVERNMENT, AND I WOULD BE WITHOUT ANY FORUM TO ENFORCE 
THE JUDGEMENT, THEREFORE, FOR ALL OF THE ABOVE REASONS I AM IN 
COMPLETE SUPPORT OF FEDERAL REVIEW OF TRIBAL COURT DECISIONS. 

I TRUST THAT THIS LETTER WILL BE OF ASSISTANCE TO YOU IN YOUR 
EFFORTS TO ENSURE A FULL AND FAIR APPLICATION OF THE LAWS OF THE 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. I STAND READY TO PROVIDE WRITTEN AND OR 
ORAL TESTIMONY CONSISTENT WI'TH THE INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THIS 
LETTER UPON YOUR R.EQUEST AND DIRECTION. 

E .• CHAVEZ (Sos} '2sG s-t~IS { /,.,,,..)
BOX 2453 
P, NEW MEXICO cs~~J "8, 3 - s ;z.q~ <l,.)~.r/:.) 
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CHIEF JUDGE: ASSOCIATE JUDGE: 
Robert H. Ames 

HOPI TRIBAL COURT 
P.O. BOX 156 

KEAMS CANYON, ARIZONA 86034 
July 18, 1988 

U. s. Commission on Civil Rights 
c/o Monte Vista Hotel 
100 North San Francisco 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

In re: Hopi Tribal Court 
Complaint by Attorney for 
Katney, Tso and Scott 
(Navajos) 

Members of U. s. Commission on Civil Rights: 

It has come to my attention that some complaint has been made by an. attorney who 
represented Katney, Tso and Scott, Navajo Indians, before the Hopi Tribal Court. I am 
aware of, and familiar with the circumstances which occurred in the Tribal Court and 

·the Decision and final resolution In that matter, as well as other cases involving
Navajos and other Indians in the Hopi Tribal Court. 

By way of background, please be advised that I am an attorney in private practice with 
my own law firm in Salinas, California. I completed my undergraduate studies at 
Stanford University, Palo Alto, California, and received my JD from the Stanford Law 
School in 1954. I have been practicing continuously since 1955 when I was admitted in 
the California and Federal Courts. My law firm is involved heavily in a litigation 
practice, primarily family law, personal Injury, condemnation, criminal and probate. I 
have personally tried cases in numerous Superior and lower Courts in California, and 
have taken or responded to appeals before the Appellate Courts of California, includ­
ing the California Supreme Court. 

Most recently I represented a client in a condemnation action which resulted in recov­
ery for the property owners in a condemnation· action in the sum of approximately 
Eight Million Dollars which was appealed by the State of California through the Appel­
late Court System_ i_n the State of California. 
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U.S. Commission on Civil Rights 
Page 2 
July 18, 1988 

It has been my pleasure to serve the Hopi People on its Courts and as Chief Judge for 
approximately the last fifteen years. I am familiar with, I advise concerning and 
monitor the procedural and substantive training of the Associate Judges who serve in 
that Court. It is my belief that the Hopi Tribal Court is one of, if not the best Indian 
Court in the United States. I sincerely believe this opinion is shared by the Advocates 
and .A,ttorneys practicing In that Court and the Civil and Appellate Courts in the State 
of Arizona. In the not too distant past a decision rendered in the Hopi Tribal Court 
was appealed to the Federal and the Arizona State Courts and that decision was 
ultimately affirmed by the Arizona Supreme Court. 

With respect to the subject matter involving the Defendants Katney, Tso and Scott in 
a criminal action brought against them by the Hopi Tribal it must be brought to your 
attention that a full and complete written Opinion was rendered by Associate Judge 
Leslie in that matter which was not appealed by the attorney representing those de­
fendants or the attorney who now apparently is making some complaint to your Com­
mission. 

It must also be brought to your attention that the subject case (Hopi Tribe vs. Katney, 
Tso and Scott) was finally resolved by a Stipulated Judgment, which must have been 
fully and completely explained tb the De~endants by their attorneys, one of which (I 
believe) is the attorney who is now making some complaint to your Commission. 

It is certainly most unusual, in my experience,.for an attorney to advise his clients to 
accept a Stipulated Judgment and then complain that his clients have been treated 
unfairly. 

lt also appears that a complaint is made that the subject Defendants in that criminal 
action would not have received a fair jury trial because only Hopis sit on the jury. 
This also is a most unique argument in view of the number of Navajo and other Indians 
I have personally observed appear In the Hopi Tribal Court and receive full and com­
plete preservation of their civil rights In numerous and various matters, including 
criminal actions. 

On a prior occasion I personally sat as Judge in a jury trial involving a Navajo as 
Defendant In a criminal action. I am not sure whether or not the attorney who is now 
making the complaint was the attorney representing the Defendant in that matter or 
not. At the beginning of the trial the attorney representing the Navajo moved to have 
the matter dismissed on the grounds that his Navajo client (an employee of the.Navajo 
Tribe who was distributing anti-Hopi material concerning the land dispute) could not 
receive a fair jury trial. I suggested that we proceed with the jury selection and trial, 
suggesting that I take his motion under subm~ion and reserve decision until a later 
time. He agreed. Trial of the matter proceeded, evidence and testimony was received 
and considered by the jury to make a determination of whether or not the Navajo was 
driving the Navajo Tribal vehicle while under the influl!nce of an intoxicating bever­
age. The jury returned a verdict of not~-
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U.S. Commission on Civil Rights 
Page 3 
July 18, 1988 

I then suggested to this attorney that if he wished to do so I would allow him to renew 
his motion to dismiss the matter or he could accept the verdict of not guilty. He 
withdrew his motion and accepted the verdict rendered by the jury composed entirely 
of Hopis. 

The Hopi People and the Hopi Courts take very seriously their responsibilities as citi­
zens and as jurors in trials brought to them for decision. 

On more than one occasion attorneys practicing in states from Washington to Arizona, 
New Mexico and the East Coast have complimented our Court and the Hopi People for 
the organization and responsibility they observe in the Court. 

I respectfully submit that the complaint, as I understand it to have been made, is not 
well taken. 

ROBERT H. AMES 
Chief Judge, Hopi Tribal Court 

lfg 

P.S. Over the years the Hopi Appellate Court has included Judge James Ogg, 
a sitting Justice of the Arizona Appellate Court, Arizona Superior
Court Judges and Judge Paul Rosenblatt, now a Federal Court Judge in 
Phoenix, Arizona. 

RHA 

Via Express Mail 
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UNITED STATES 1121 Vermont Avenue. N.W.
COIIMISSIOH OH w..,,.,,,..,.,, O.C. 20<25 
CMLRIGHTS 

July 13, 1988 FEDERAL EXPRESS 

Claudeen Bates Arthur, Esq. 
General Counsel 
White Mountain Apache Tribe 
Post Office Box 700 
Whiteriver, Arizona 85941 

Dear Ms. Arthur: 

This will confirm our invitation to you to testify at the 
Commission"s public hearing on enforcement of the Indian Civil 
Rights Act, which will be held on July 20, 1988, in the 100 
North Banquet Room of the Monte Vista Hotel, 100 North San 
"Francisco Street, Flagstaff, Arizona 86001. 

Ms. Maria Sims of our office will call you to arrange travel 
and hotel accommodations. Should you wish to discuss any of 
these matters further, please feel free call me at (202) 
376-8351. 

We appreciate your willingness to testify and look forward to 
seeing you in Flagstaff. 

BRIAND. MILLER 
Deputy General Counsel 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ·JU[ Z1}~8 / ( 
~ !'i,.• OERK 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONTANA •.. --,LOU AlEKSIOI, QERI: 

BILLINGS DIVISION 

LITTLE HORN STATE BANK, 
A Montana Banking Corporation, 

CV 88-155-BLG-JFB 
Plaintiff, 

vs. 

CROW TRIBAL COURT and DAN MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 
OLD ELK, SR. , 

Defendants. 

on July 18, 1988, a hearing was held before the 

undersigned to show cause why a preliminary injunction should 

not be entered in this matter. Appearing for the plaintiff was 

Christine A. Cooke. Neither defendant appeared before the 

Court to contest plaintiff's motion. Having reviewed the 

evidence presented by the plaintiff during such hearing, the 

Court concludes that plaintiff's due process rights were 

violated and that plaintiff will suffer irreparable harm if an 

injunction is not granted. The Court further finds that the 

facts surrounding this case have been fully developed and that 

there exists a cognizable danger that plaintiff's rights will 

be violated again. Therefore, the Court issues a permanent 

injunction: restraining, enjoining and prohibiting the 

defendants from enforcing the Crow Tribal Court Order dated 

June 30, 1988. 

l 
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PROCEDURAL FACTS 

The facts of this case strongly support a gross 

violation of plaintiff's due process rights. on November 21, 

1985, plaintiff Little Horn State Bank filed a complaint in the 

Thirteenth Judicial District Court of the State of Montana, in 

and for the County of Big Horn. The complaint alleged that 

Daniel C. Old Elk,· Sr. and Old Elk Building Supply had 

defaulted on a promissory note executed to plaintiff and 

secured by a purchase money security interest in a forklift. 

After the foreclosure proceedings were initiated by 

plaintiff, defendants were duly served with a summons and 

complaint. No appearance was ever made by the defendants and a 

default was entered. On July 20, 1986, District court Judge 

Charles Luedke issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and 

Decree of Foreclosure, together with ~n Order of Sale. 

Subsequent to obtaining this judgment, plaintiff filed 

a complaint for Enforcement of Foreign Judgment in the Crow 

Tribal Court on April ll, 1987. Again, defendants Daniel Old 

Elk, Sr. and Old Elk Building Supply were duly served with 

copies of the complaint and summons which was issued by the 

crow Tribal Court. The defendants failed to -make any 

appearance in this proceeding and a default was entered ,by the 

Crow Tribal Court on May 12, 1986. On May 20, 1986, the Clerk 

of the Crow Tribal Court set a hearing on default judgment May 

27, 1986. At said hearing plaintiff Little Horn State Bank 

appeared and presented evidence to the Crow Tribal Court. Once 

2 
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again, defendants failed to appear before the crow Tribal 

Court. 

At the conclusion of the hearing, Tribal Judge Rowena 

Gets Down advised counsel for the plaintiff that the Court 

would issue its ruling in five working days. Plaintiff Little 

Horn state Bank also submitted to the Court proposed Findings 

of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Depree of Foreclosure. 

Although this hearing transpired more than two years ago, no 

decision has been issued by the Crow Tribal Court. 

Since the default hearing concluded, plaintiff's 

counsel has made numerous inquiries about the status of said 

case. Throughout all her communication with the Crow Tribal 

Court, plaintiff has only been advised that Tribal Judge Rowena 

Gets Down is no longer sitting on the bench and that a decisio~ 

as to the underlying default is still pending. 

Op June 20, 1988, plaintiff acquired possession of the 

forklift and removed it from the exterior boundaries of the 

crow Indian Reservation. 

On June 30, 1988, the Crow Tribal Court issued an Ex 

Parte Order in the original lawsuit filed by Little Horn state 

Bank nearly two years ago. This order mandated that the 

forklift in the possession of Little Horn state Bank was to be 

returned to the Crow Tribal Court impoundment yard for 

disposition by the Court. Prior to the issuance of this order, 

plaintiff's counsel of record was not notified of any motion or 

hearing on this matter. 

3 
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on July 5, 1988, defendant Daniel C. Old Elk, Sr., 

delivered a certified copy of the June 30, 1988 Tribal Court 

order to State District Court Judge G. Todd Baugh. Again, 

without notification to plaintiff, defendant Daniel c. Old Elk 

requested the Thirteenth Judicial District Court of Montana to 

honor said Crow Tribal Court order. 

Having been advised of • this ex parte collllDunicatiqn 

with Judge Baugh, plaintiff's counsel travelled to crow Agency, 

Montana, where she spoke with Chief Judge Dennis Big Hair of 

the Crow Tribal Court. Counsel for Little Horn State Bank 

attempted to file with the Tribal Court a motion to set a 

hearing on the order dated June 30, 1988 and to hold the 

enforcement of said order in abeyance until a hearing could be 

held. Judge Big Hair advised plaintiff's counsel that no 

hearing would be scheduled and that no motion would be accepted 

by the C~ow Tribal Court from Little Horn State Bank. Judge 

Big Hair further advised counsel that the crow Tribal Appellate 

Court was a nonfunctioning body, but that the Appellate court 

might begin hearing cases at Judge Big Hair's request. 

On July 6, 1988, plaintiff Little Horn State Bank 

fi1ed this action a1leging a violation of its due process 

rights under the Indian Civil Rights Act of Title 25 u.s.c. 

§1302(8). Plaintiff also filed a Motion for Temporary 

Restraining Order seeking to enjoin defendants from enforcing 

the Crow Tribal Court Order dated June 30, 1988. Defendants 

were duly served with notice of plaintiff's motion for a 
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temporary restraining order. Defendant Dan Old Elk, Sr., did 

appear in Chambers and in Court with respect to the Temporary 

Restraining Order issued on July 7, 1988. However, he did not 

appear at the hearing of July 18, 1988 on plaintiff's Motion 

for a Preliminary Injunction although given notice of the 

hearing. Defendant Crow Tribe did not appear to contest either 

Motion. 

DISCUSSION 

Plaintiff invokes the jurisdiction of this Court 

pursuant to Title 28 u.s.c. §1331, 28 u.s.c. §1343, and 25 

u.s.c. §1302(8). 

The most compelling basis for jurisdiction in this 

matter is found at 25 u.s.c. §1302(8) since plaintiff alleges a 

violation of the Indian Civil Rights Act (ICRA). The Court is 

quite mindful that the Supreme Court has long held that federal 

courts haye no jurisdiction to entertain actions to redress 

violations of the ICRA other than by habeas corpus petition 

pursuant to Title 25 u.s.c. §1303. Sarita Clara Pueblo v. 

Martinez, 436 U.S. 49, 98 s.ct. 1670, 56 L.Ed.2d 106 (1978). 

Nevertheless, the United States Court of Appeals for 

the Tenth Circui.t has fashioned a narrow exception tq Martinez 

which appears to be applicable in this case. Dry Creek Lodge, 

Inc. v. Arapahoe and Shoshone Tribes, 623 F.2d 682 (10th Cir. 

1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 1118, 101 s.ct. 931, 66 L.Ed.2d 

847, reh. denied, 450 U.S. 960, 101 s.ct. 1421, 67 L.Ed.2d 385 

(1981). In Dry creek, the Court of Appeals distinguished 
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Martinez, noting that the Supreme Court had focused on three 

factors in determining that federal courts do not have 

jurisdiction of §1302 claims. The Court identified those 

factors as: l) the availability of Tribal remedies; 2) a 

dispute which is peculiarly intra-tribal in nature; and 3) an 

action in which all the parties are Indians. 623 F.2d at 685. 

Those factors were found not to be present in the Dry creek 

Case. 

After considering those same factors, the Court 

concludes that they are similarly absent in this case and that 

the Martinez holding should not preclude this Court from 

exercising jurisdiction. First, all parties to this action are 

not Indians. Plaintiff is a financial institution located 

outside the exterior boundaries of the reservation. One of the 

significant factors distinguishing Dry creek Lodge from 

Martinez, was the presence of non-Indian parties in the former 

case. 623 F.2d at 684. 

Secondly, the underlying dispute in this case is not 

of intra-tribal nature contemplated by the Supreme court in 

Martinez. The underlying cause of action arises out of an 

executed promissory note and purchase money security interest 

in a forklift. This transaction occurred outside the exterior 

boundaries of the reservation and is not of tribal importance. 

Third, the r~cord clearly reflects that there are no 

further adequate tribal remedies available to plaintiff. 

Plaintiff has recognized the establishment of the Tribal Court 
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and carefully followed its procedures. Notwithstanding its 

diligence in providing notice to the defendants and complying 

with the Tribal court system, plaintiff has been unable to 

obtain a simple default judgment. Plaintiff has no other 

tribal remedies available. The Tribal Court of Appeals has not 

functioned in some time and will only operate at the whim of 

the current Judge Dennis Big Hair. Plaintiff's counsel has 

inquired on numerous occasions as to the status of their 

underlying action to no avail. counsel's last contact with the 

Tribal Court resulted in the court refusing to file any 

pleadings which plaintiff's counsel wished to file with the 

court. certainly plaintiff has exhausted all known tribal 

remedies and should not be required to expend any futile 

efforts with tribal authorities. With this in mind, the Court 

concludes that jurisdiction does exist to determine this Motion 

for Preliminary Injunction. 

The factors to be considered in-deciding whether an 

injunction is appropriate in a given case are as follows: 

(1) a strong likelihood of success on the merit; 
(2) the possibility of irreparable injury if relief is not 

granted; 
(3) the balance of hardships; and 
(4) advancement of the public interest. 

Los Angeles Memorial Colosseum Commission v. National Football 

League, 634 F.2d 1197. 1200 (9th Cir. 1980). 

In the Ninth Circuit, defendants_, as moving parties, 

have the burden of demonstrating either (1) a combination of 

probable success on the merits and the possibility of 

7 
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irreparable injury £!:: (2) that serious questions are raised and 

the balance of hardship tips sharply in its favor. Id., at 

1201. These tests are not separate, but represent the "outer 

reaches of a single continuum". Id. This court must balance 

the equities in the case to determine at which point along the 

continuum a stay is justified. With those points in mind, the 

Court will proceed to consider the present case in light of 

those factors. 

I. Probability of success on the merits and the 

possibility of irreparable injury. 

In this case, plaintiff alleges that enforcement of 

the Tribal Court's order will result in a deprivation of its 

property without due process. Specifically, plaintiff claims 

that the order was entered without notice or hearing, in 

violation of its rights under the ICRA. The ICRA, at 25 u.s.c. 

§1302(8), -requires at least a minimal amount of process before 

the property of any person may be taken. The court need not 

inquire into the precise amount of due process required in this 

matter, since it is clear that this plaintiff was afforded 

absolutely none. By requiring the plaintiff to relinquish 

control of the forklift in question, the Tribal Court will 

deprive the bank of its property interest in the equipment, 

without the courtesy of any notice, hearing or other pretense 

of due process. Plaintiff has a strong probability of success 

in its claims regarding a denial of due process, in violation 

of the ICRA. 
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Further, with respect to the second factor, 

plaintiff's only remedy lies with its possession of the 

forklift, and its right to resell the equipment to recover the 

outstanding indebtedness owed by defendants. Enforcement of 

the Tribal Court order would deprive plaintiff of this remedy. 

It is abundantly clear to this Court that the Tribal Court 

would be of no assistance in plaintiff's quest to recover any 

amount due. The Tribal court's refusal to enforce the validly 

obtained state court judgment against defendant Dan Old Elk 

deprives plaintiff of any adequate remedy at law. Therefore, 

this Court must enjoin the Tribal Court from compelling 

plaintiff to return the forklift to the impoundment yard of the 

Tribal Court, since failure to do so would subject plaintiff to 

the possibility of irreparable injury. 

At this juncture, the Court finds that the first test 

for a preliminary injunction has been met, and thus the 

remaining factors need not be evaluated. However, the Court 

feels compelled to comment more about the situation at hand. 

over the past decades, Indian tribes have cried out 

for and received judicial recognition of their status as 

sovereign, or quasi-sovereign nations. The supreme Court has 

repeatedly fostered the federal government's policy of 

encouraging tribal self-government. Iowa Mutual Ins. Co. v. La 

Plante, __u.s.__, 107 s.ct. 971, 975 (1987); ·Three Affiliated 

Tribes v. Wold Engineering, 476 U.S.877, 106 s.ct. 2305, 90 

E.Ed.2d 881 (1986); Merrion v. Jicarilla Apache Tribe, 455 U.S. 
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130, 102 s.ct. 894, 71 L.Ed.2d 21 (1982); White Mountain Apache 

Tribe v. Bracker, 448 U.S. 136, 100 s.ct. 2578, 65 L.Ed.2d 665 

(1980); Williams v. Lee, 358 U.S. 217, 79 s.ct. 269, 3 L.Ed.2d 

251 (1959). As a vital role in tribal self-government, the 

federal government has consistently urged the development of 

tribal courts. U.S. v. Wheeler, 435 U.S. 313, 98 s.ct. 1079, 

55 L.Ed.2d 303 (1978). 

This Court is well aware of the continued promotion of 

tribal self-government and self-determination. In National 

Fanners Union Ins. Co. v. Crow Tribe, 471 u.s. 845, 105 s.ct. 

2447, 85 L.Ed.2d 818 (1985), the supreme Court directed the 

federal district court to give tribal legal institutions the 

"proper respect" by staying its hand in order to allow the 

Tribal Court a "full opportunity to consider the issues before 

them." 471 U.S. at 857, 105 s.ct. at 2454. This Court, in 

keeping witn its obligation to uphold the law, wiil honor that 

directive. 

However, it has become extremely difficult to do so in 

the face of such decidedly egregious facts as are presented 

herein. Plaintiff has recognized the sovereignty of the Tribe 

and has valianl:ly tried to operate within the Tribal court 

system, seeking its approval of a valid judgment entered in the 

courts of the State of Montana, and assistance in enforcing the 

same. The Crow Tribal Court, acting as a sort of "kangaroo 

court", has made no pretense of due process or judicial 

integrity. Plaintiff was met not only with bias and 
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uncooperativeness, but with a blatantly arbitrary denial of any 

semblance of· due process. The tribal judge's conduct makes a 

mockery of any orderly system of justice, and renders any 

attempt to deal with the Tribe in a professional and competent 

manner a farce. The Court seriously questions whether the 

conduct of the Tribal Court is befitting the title of a 

sovereign, and the respect and deference customarily accorded 

along with that status. 

It would appear that the Crow Tribal government 

changes judges at a whim, to the detriment of non-Indian 

litigants, and of the Tribe. As a result, the Tribal court 

lacks any continuity and uniform precedent which is the 

foundation of our judicial system. While the tribal members 

enjoy the protection of their rights under both the United 

States Constitution and the ICRA, depending on the forum, it 

appears that non-Indians are not granted the same privilege of 

dual citizenship in Tribal Court. If the Crow Tribe wishes to 

earn the respect and cooperation of its non-Indian neighbors, 

it must do more to engender that respect and cooperation, not 

abuse those neighbors who attempt to work within its system. 

Ordinarily, the Court would proceed to enter a 

preliminary injunction at this time, setting a schedule for 

later determination of the propriety of a permanent 

injunction. See, Shanks v. city of Dallas, TX, 752 F.2d 1092, 

1097 (10th Cir. 1985). However, the factual context of the 

case is sufficiently established, and need not be further 

developed to permit a ruling on the issues raised by a request 

ORDER\88155\02 
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for permanent injunction. Moreover, the plaintiff has shown 

that "there exists some cognizable danger of recurrent 

violation." United States v. W.T.Grant Co., 345 U.S. 629, 633, 

73 s.ct. 894, 898, 97 L.Ed. 1303 (1953). The Court deems it 

appropriate at this time to enter a permanent injunction, 

barring enforcement of the Tribal Court Order obtained ex 

parte, without notice or hearing. Therefore, 

IT IS ORDERED that defendants crow Tribal Court and 

Dan Old Elk, Sr., are hereby permanently restrained, enjoined, 

and prohibited from pursuing enforcement of the crow Tribal 

Order dated.June 30, 1988, commanding plaintiff, Little Horn 

States Bank, to relinquish the forklift which is the subject of 

the underlying action. 

The Clerk is directed forthwith to notify counsel for 

the respective parties of the making of this order . 
.IJ I £r

Done and dated this <QJ... day of July, 1988. 

Chief Judge 
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THE NAVAJO NATION 
PETER MacDONALD, CHAIRMAN 

rm-: N.-U",IJC, TR/8AI. C"OU:VCIL 
JOHNNY R. THOMl'SON, VICE CHAIRMAN 

THE NAYAJO TRIBAL COUNCIL 

August 18, 191111 

BY EXPP.ESS MAIL, RETURNED RECEIPT REQUESTED 

Willlam B. Allin, Chairman 
Subcommltt11 on Enforcemsnt of 
the lndlan Civil Rights Act 
U.S. Commission on Civil Rights 
1121 Vermont Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D, C. 201125 

Dear Mr, Allen: 

Enclos1d ls II Supplemental Statement of the Navajo Nation for 

Inclusion In the rec:ord of your July 20, 1988 h111rlng. 

4/ Michael P, Upshaw, Atto ney Oeneral 
NavaJo Nation Department of Justice 
Post Office Drawer 2010 
Window Rock, Arizona 86515 
(602) 871-631111 

MPU/OLN/rJ 
Enclosure 
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SUPPLEMENTABY STATEMENT OF THE NAV1'JO NATION 

U.S. COMMISSION ON CIVIL RIGHTS HEARING 
OF JULY 20, 1988 

Sumnitted August 18, 1988 

Thi• statement is submitted for the record in the 

purported investigation by the United State ■ C=i ■ aion on 

Civil Right■ l"Ccmmi ■■ ion•J into th• enforcem•nt of th• 

Indian Civil Right■ Act of 1968, 25 U.S.C. S 1301 ~.!_!g., 

by Navajo and oth•r Indian Tribal Court■, Th• Navajo Nation 

and it• Judicial Branch have previously stated our concerns 

that the C01Tlllli ■■ ion i ■ exce•ding it ■ ■tatutory authority by 

conducting this inv• ■tigation and by iaauing aubpoenaa to 

Navajo judge• and attorney■. .§!!. Statem•nt of the Navajo 

Nation ■umnitt•d S•ptemb•r 1.1, 19171 L•tter of July 19, 1988 

from Attorney G•n•ral M~cha•l Up ■haw to C011'111'1iaaioner All•n1 

Letter of Au~•t 3, 1988 from Chief Juatice Tom Tao to 

Comniaaioner All•n ll•tt•r• attach•d aa Exhibit• A and BJ. 

Th• Comniaaion Sul:lc0111111itt•• and its ataff have aa ■ured 

Indian Nation■ that they have not r•ached any concluaion ■ 

about .legialative rec0111111endationa which. might dimini ■ h 

tribal sovereignty) Evan if that aaaurance 1• truatworthy, 

I Th• Navajo Nation ju■tifiably distrusts the 
•aasuranc••• made by the Commi ■■ ion and it■ staff. Th• 
Commission assured tho•• at the h•aring that it waa- not 
inveatigating th• Indian Child Wel~are Act, yet it a ■ k•d 
ext•nsiv• que ■tion ■ about Navajo law r•gardini the domicile 
of an Indian child. Such an inquiry into Nava o aubatantive 
~aw r•garding child welfare cases ·cannot po ■a bly relat• to 
civil right• and lead■ to th• rea ■ onabl• suspicion that 
•vid•nc• ia being gathered for ■ om• oth•r purpose. 

I continued ... I 
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th• Ccmmisaicn's inva ■ tigaticn ha ■ already bean used by 

faderal· officials tc prcpcsa a drastic intarferanca with tha 

indapandanc• cf tribal courts. Thll U.S. Juatica Dapartmant 

haa prcpcsad &mandmants to the Indian Salf-Oatarmination Act 

which would allow~ ~ review of tribal court daciaiona 

by th• fadaral courts. Senator Orrin Hatch ha ■ intrcducad 

lagislation which would amend the Indian Civil Rights Act to 

allow such fadaral review, thu■ overruling longstanding 

Supreme Court pr ■ cadant. S.2747, Conq. Rae. August 11, 

1988. 

Mcracvar, Commissioner Allan, in ccrra ■ pcndanca with at 

least on ■ Indian rapra ■ entativa, has 

predisposition to recommend drastic changes in Indian 

governmental status, including th• te:i:mination of many 

tribal govarnmanta. §!.!. Exh~bit C. Ccmmis ■ ionar Allan's 

suqgastiqns are disturbing to Indian people, who remember 

former federal policies of allotment and termination which 

decimated many tribes. 

Th• focus of the C0111111ission's investigation casts doubt 

upon it ■ intentions. The investigation has focused on th• 

structure of tribal government, not on any significant, 

1 1••. continu11dl 
The C0111111i ■ sion gav ■ a ■ surances• that it would not seek0 

advisory opinions from tribal court judqes, nor ask tham 
quastions which would violate judicial ethics, yet it aslcad 
Hopi tribal judges how pri~cipl•• of sovereign immunity
would be applied in Hopi Tribal Court. 

A Commission ataff member •assured" the attorney ~or 
Navajo judges that ha would provide a list of written 

'questions for their review by July 15. Whan that attorney
called en July 15, no list had bean prepared. 
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unredressed deprivations of civil rights. The Commission is 

seeking to learn if native people have adopted Anglo­

American governmental atructures. It is addressing 

questions about •separation of powers,• "judicial review,• 

and •adversary proceedings,• which are honorable traditions 

in the ~nglo->.merican governmental system but may or may not 

be appropriate for tribal governments. The Hatch Bill, as 

well, focuses on alleged structural defects in tribal 

government. 

In fact, the Navajo Council and Courts have adopted 

most, if not all, of these Anglo-1\merican concepts. They 

should not, however, be forced wholeaale on all Native 

Americans simply because they are familiar to non-Indian 

Such a course would not be consistent with the 

status of Indian Nations or Congress• policy of promoting 

Indian self-deterpiination. 

Indian Nations are unique governmental entities. For 

over 150 years the United States has recognized them as 

"distinct, ind~pendent political communities retaining their 

original natural right• as undisputed possessors of the 

soil, from time immemorial • Worcester v. Georgia, 

6 Pet. 515, 519, 8 L.Ed, 483 (U.S. 18321, •Indian tribes 

are unique aggregations possessing attributes of sovereignty 

over both their members and their territory.• United States 

v. Mazurie, 419 U.S. 544, 557 (1976). Tribal authority is 

subject to express restriction by Congress, but for many 

years the policy of Congress, and of the Reag&n 

Administration, has b!Jen to support Indian" self-
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determination. E.g., 2S U.S.C. §§ 450, 450ai Santa Clara 

Pueblo v. Martinez, 436 U.S. 49, 62-64 (1978). 

Self-determination is critical to Native Marican 

paopla. We have centuries-old traditions by which wa have 

governed our internal affairs. We have a rich heritage 

which wa ~eaarve to lllilintain, allow to grow, or change as wa 

sea fit. All too often, unfortunately, past policies of 

Congress and federal administrative agencies have resulted 

in sanselass destruction of Native Marican lives and 

culture. Thankfully, those are not Congress' current 

pol,!.cias. 

Tp Indian people, self-determination means the right to 

live under traditional rules and, when appropriate, to adopt 

other rules and interpret them•in ways that ara consistent 

with our traditions. Th• Navajo Nation has a long history 

of protect~ng individual civil liberties. ·Basic concepts of 

fairnesa in decisionmaking are deeply imbaddad i.n Navajo 

tradition, For axampla, local disputes are often resolved 

at a meeting where decisions are reached by thorough 

discussion, compromise, and consensus. 

The Navajo Courts consist of judges who have a solid 

grounding in Navajo culture and tradition and can usa that 

knowledge to dacid■ the disputes that coma before them. 

Increasingly, they are also educated in principles of Anglo-

Merican law, which are being adopted by the Navajo Nation 

as its legislative and judicial branch•• deem appropriate. 

The Nation has enacted a Bill of Rights, 1 N.T.C .. §§ 1 ,!i 

,!!g, which is very similar to the Bill of Rights-found in 
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the United States Constitution. That law was enacted 

before, and is more extensive than, tha Indian Civil Rights 

Act. The Navajo Bill of Rights is a law that the Navajo 

Courts are bound to apply and the Navajo Nation is bound to 

obey! 

Self-determination is a fundamental right of every 

Native American person which is essential to the survival of 

our cultures. It can indeed be classified as a civil right, 

at least as important as the rights listed in the Indian 

Civil Rights Act. Self-determination must not be sacrificed 

simply because some tribal governmental structures and 

traditions may be unfamiliar to non-Indian lawyers. 

For these reasons, the Navajo Nation opposes fe~eral 

court review of Navajo court decisions. Federal judges, 

though generally highly intelligent individuals, are not 

Native Americans. They could not be expected to know or 

understand Indian traditions, ■ van if they were authorized 

to apply those traditions in cases brought before them. 

Self-determination, if it is to continue as a viable policy, 

demands that traditional and non-traditional legal 

principles be applied and interpreted in the Navajo Nation 

1 Some of the questions posed by the Ccmmission in its 
hearings focused on whether the Navajo Courts and Government 
believe that the federal Indian Civil Rights Act applies or 
can be enforced in the Navajo Nation. Why should the label 
make a difference? Navajo traditional and statutory law 
protect civil liberties to a greater extent than does the 
Civil Rights Act. The questions posed suggest that tha 
Navajo people should submit to superior federal power even 
-when our laws are more extensive than federal law. That 
suggestion is not consistent with a policy of self­
determination. 
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by Navajo judg••• and in other Indian Nations by native 

members of thoa• National 

The Navajo Nation, for th• same reasons, opposes any 

more drastic change in tribal governm•ntal status, such as 

the termination proposal suggested by Commissioner Allen in 

tha letter attached as Exhibit C. 

Proposals designed to strengthen tribal court sy■tema 

are a different matter. Most, if not all, tribal court 

systems are relatively young and underfunded. Additional 

funding and training would be positive steps fo::::ward. 

Establishing informal or formal contacts between tribal and 

federal judges for th• exchange of knowledge about tribal 

and federal law could also prove beneficial. 

Finally, if there are problems perceived by the public 

or tha United States with tha functioning of any particular 

tribal court systemf then thoae problems should be formally 

3 An intertribal court of appeals, while somewhat lesa 
intrusive than federal court review, would suffer from th• 
same defect. Indian people have many varied traditions. A 
Navajo appeals court ~udg• could no more readily apply Acoma 
or Hopi tradition, or visa versa, than could a federal court 
judge. 

1 'l'h• testimony presented at th• July 20 hearing reveals 
no such problema with the Navajo courts. Their independence
and fairneas were demonstrated even by those, like the Pitts 
family, who would criticize the Navajo Nation. Certainly 
attorneys for tha Navajo Nation, in accordance with their 
profea ■ ional re ■ponaibilities, may vigorously represent tha 
interests of their client. Oppoaing counsel in the Navajo
Education Scholarship Foundation case clearly does so as 
well, as indicated by Ms. Han ■ en•a admission of ex parta 
contact with the Chinl• District Court Clerk in wiITch she 
stated she would seek sanctions against the Judge .. Written 
Statement of Sandy Hansen dated July 15, 1988 at 14. 

The fairness of the Navajo judicial system cannot be 
judged by the litigation atrateg1•• of the parties in hctly

(continued... l 
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co!TIT\unicated to that tribe, along· with any con~~ructive 

auggastiona !or change. If those problems are real, then 

tribal lagislatur•• or courts can correct them in a suitable 

manner. If tho suggeotion~ ar• necessary and good ones, and 

are consistent with culture and tradition, they will almost 

certainly be adopted. Those are decisions, however, that 

we, as Native Americana, must make for ourselves. That is 

aelf-detarmination. 

Respectfully submittod, 

August 18, 1988 

1 ( .. . continued) 
disputed matters, but only by th• ultimate manner in which 
the cour~s re&olve th• ca&•• before them. 

I., 
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